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numbers are included solely for the convenience of bondholders and no representation is made as to the correctness of such CUSIP numbers.  
CUSIP numbers assigned to securities may be changed during the term of such securities based on a number of factors including, but not limited 
to, the refunding or defeasance of such issue or the use of secondary market financial products.  None of the Commission or the Underwriters has 
agreed to, and there is no duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or correction in the CUSIP numbers set forth 
above. 

PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION 

$198,595,000 OIL FRANCHISE TAX SENIOR REVENUE 

REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES A OF 2016 

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

  Maturity   CUSIP No.** 
 (December 1) Amount Interest Rate  Yield  Price    (709221)

2017 $8,795,000    4.000%    0.630% 104.132 TU9 

2018   9,160,000 4.000 0.700 107.299 TV7 

2019   9,535,000 5.000 0.830 113.275 TW5 

2020   3,315,000 5.000 0.970 116.673 TX3 

2021   3,485,000 5.000 1.160 119.441 TY1 

2022 11,625,000 5.000 1.340 121.815 TZ8

2023 12,225,000 5.000 1.480 124.059 UA1

2024   3,525,000 5.000 1.620 125.951 UB9 

2025 14,790,000 5.000 1.730 127.791 UC7

2026 15,395,000 5.000 1.850 129.241 UD5

2027 16,050,000 5.000 1.950   128.167* UE3 

2028 16,695,000 5.000 2.040   127.210* UF0 

2029 17,390,000 5.000 2.100   126.576* UG8 

2030 18,125,000 5.000 2.130   126.260* UH6 

2031 18,855,000 5.000 2.180   125.737* UJ2 

2032 19,630,000 5.000 2.230   125.216* UK9 

$115,395,000 OIL FRANCHISE TAX SUBORDINATED 

REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS, SERIES B OF 2016 

MATURITY SCHEDULE 

  Maturity    CUSIP No.** 
 (December 1) Amount Interest Rate Yield Price  (709221) 

2017 $6,205,000    4.000%   0.850%    103.855 UL7 

2018   6,465,000 5.000    0.850    109.160 UM5 

2019   6,800,000 5.000    1.000    112.693 UN3 

2020   1,460,000 5.000    1.170    115.771 UP8 

2021   1,535,000 5.000    1.330    118.491 UQ6 

2022   8,325,000 5.000    1.520    120.619 UR4 

2023   8,755,000 5.000    1.670    122.597 US2 

2026   6,000,000 5.000    2.060    126.998 UT0 

2027   6,310,000 5.000    2.170  125.841* UU7 

2028 11,420,000 5.000    2.260  124.904* UV5 

2029 11,990,000 5.000    2.330  124.181* UW3 

2030 12,580,000 5.000    2.370  123.770* UX1 

2031 13,210,000 5.000    2.420  123.259* UY9 

2032 14,340,000 5.000    2.470  122.750* UZ6 
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the Commission or the 
Underwriters to give any information or to make any representations, other than those contained in 
this Official Statement, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be 
relied upon as having been authorized by any or either of the foregoing.  This Official Statement 
does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of 
the 2016 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make 
such offer, solicitation or sale.  The information set forth herein has been obtained from the 
Commission and other sources which are believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to 
accuracy or completeness by, and is not to be construed as representations by, the Underwriters. 
The information and expressions of opinion contained herein are subject to change without notice 
and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any 
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in any of the information set 
forth herein since the date hereof.  This Official Statement will be made available through the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access System ("EMMA"), which is the sole Nationally Recognized 
Municipal Securities Information Repository. 

The 2016 Bonds are not and will not be registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or 
under any state securities laws, and the Indenture has not been and will not be qualified under the 
Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as amended, because of available exemptions therefrom.  Neither the 
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") nor any federal, state, municipal, 
or other governmental agency will pass upon the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of this 
Official Statement. 

The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. 
The Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and 
as part of, their responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts 
and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or 
completeness of such information. 

No quotations from or summaries or explanations of provisions of law and documents herein 
purport to be complete and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete 
statements of their provisions.  This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or 
agreement between the Commission and the purchasers or holders of any of the securities described 
herein.  Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, 
whether or not expressly, so stated, are intended merely as estimates or opinions and not as 
representations of fact.  The cover page hereof, list of officials, this page and the Appendices 
attached hereto are part of this Official Statement. 

If and when included in this Official Statement, the words "expects," "forecasts," "projects," 
"intends," "anticipates," "estimates," "assumes" and analogous expressions are intended to 
identify forward-looking statements, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of 
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those that have been 
projected.  Such risks and uncertainties, which could affect the amount of Oil Franchise Tax 
revenues collected and received by the Commission, include, among others, changes in economic 
conditions and various other events, conditions and circumstances, many of which are beyond the 
control of the Commission.  Such forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this 
Official Statement.  The Commission disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly 
any updates or revision to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any changes in 
the Commission's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or 
circumstances on which any such statement is based. 
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IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR 
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE 
2016 BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE 
OPEN MARKET.  SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 
ANY TIME WITHOUT NOTICE.  THE COMMISSION RESERVES THE RIGHT TO 
INCREASE OR DECREASE THE SIZE OF THIS OFFERING SUBJECT TO PREVAILING 
MARKET CONDITIONS. 
 
THE ORDER AND PLACEMENT OF MATERIALS IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, 
INCLUDING THE APPENDICES, ARE NOT TO BE DEEMED TO BE A DETERMINATION 
OF RELEVANCE, MATERIALITY, OR IMPORTANCE, AND THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, 
INCLUDING THE APPENDICES, MUST BE CONSIDERED IN ITS ENTIRETY.  THE 
OFFERING OF THE 2016 BONDS IS MADE ONLY BY MEANS OF THIS ENTIRE OFFICIAL 
STATEMENT. 
 
The CUSIP (Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures) numbers for the 2016 
Bonds shown on the inside cover page hereof have been assigned by an organization not affiliated 
with the Commission or the Underwriters, and such parties are not responsible for the selection or 
use of the CUSIP numbers.  The CUSIP numbers are included solely for the convenience of 
bondholders and no representation is made as to the correctness of such CUSIP numbers.  CUSIP 
numbers assigned to securities may be changed during the term of such securities based on a 
number of factors including, but not limited to, the refunding or defeasance of such issue or the use 
of secondary market financial products.  None of the Commission or the Underwriters has agreed 
to, and there is no duty or obligation to, update this Official Statement to reflect any change or 
correction in the CUSIP numbers set forth herein. 
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION 
 

$198,595,000 OIL FRANCHISE TAX SENIOR REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS,  
SERIES A OF 2016 

 
 

$115,395,000 OIL FRANCHISE TAX SUBORDINATED REVENUE REFUNDING BONDS, 
SERIES B OF 2016 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside front cover and the Appendices 
hereto, is furnished by the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission (the "Commission") in connection with 
the issuance of $313,990,000 aggregate principal amount of Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission Oil 
Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds, consisting of $198,595,000 aggregate principal amount Oil 
Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2016 (the "2016A Bonds"), and 
$115,395,000 aggregate principal amount Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Refunding Bonds, 
Series B of 2016  (the "2016B Bonds" and, together with the 2016A Bonds, the "2016 Bonds"). 
 
 Certain information concerning the Commission is attached hereto as APPENDIX A.  Audited 
financial statements of the Commission for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2014 and May 31, 2015 are 
attached hereto as APPENDIX B.  A summary of certain provisions of the Indenture (as defined below) is 
attached hereto as APPENDIX C.  A form of the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel to be delivered in 
connection with the issuance of the 2016 Bonds is attached hereto as APPENDIX D.  While the audited 
financial statements of the Commission attached hereto as APPENDIX B pertain to the Commission as a 
whole, payment of the 2016 Bonds is secured by revenues derived from the Oil Franchise Tax.  See 
"SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS" below. 
 
 All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the same meanings ascribed to them 
in the definitions set forth in APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE 
INDENTURE - DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS."  All references herein to the Enabling Acts (as 
defined below), the 2016 Bonds, the Indenture and the Disclosure Undertaking (as defined herein) are 
qualified in their entirety by reference to the complete texts thereof.  Copies of drafts of such documents, 
except for the Enabling Acts, may be obtained during the initial offering period from the principal offices 
of the Underwriters and, thereafter, executed copies may be obtained from The Bank of New York Mellon 
Trust Company, N.A., as successor trustee (the "Trustee").  All statements in this Official Statement 
involving matters of opinion, estimates, forecasts, projections or the like, whether or not expressly so 
stated, are intended as such and not as representations of fact.  No representation is made that any of such 
statements will be realized. 
 
Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission 
 
 The Commission is an instrumentality of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the 
"Commonwealth") created by the Enabling Acts, with the power to construct, operate and maintain the 
System (as defined below) and to perform other functions authorized by Act 44 (as defined below).  Its 
composition, powers, duties, functions, duration and all other attributes are derived from the Enabling 
Acts as amended and supplemented from time to time.  See APPENDIX A - "THE PENNSYLVANIA 
TURNPIKE COMMISSION" herein.  Except as provided therein, the Enabling Acts may be modified, 
extended, suspended or terminated at any time by further legislation. 
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Indenture and Enabling Acts 
 
 The 2016 Bonds are being issued pursuant to a Seventh Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of 
September 1, 2016 (the "Seventh Supplemental Indenture") between the Commission and the Trustee, 
which supplements a Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 1998 (the "Original Indenture"), as amended 
and supplemented by a First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 2003 (the "First 
Supplemental Indenture"), a Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 2003 (the 
"Second Supplemental Indenture"), a Third Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of November 1, 2006 
(the "Third Supplemental Indenture"), a Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of April 15, 2008 
(the "Fourth Supplemental Indenture"), a Fifth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 1, 
2009 (the "Fifth Supplemental Indenture") and a Sixth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of October 
1, 2013 (the "Sixth Supplemental Indenture" and, collectively with the Original Indenture, the First 
Supplemental Indenture, the Second Supplemental Indenture, the Third Supplemental Indenture, the 
Fourth Supplemental Indenture, the Fifth Supplemental Indenture and the Seventh Supplemental 
Indenture, the "Indenture"), and pursuant to and authorized by an Act of the General Assembly of 
Pennsylvania approved July 18, 2007, P.  L. 169, No.  44 ("Act 44") and various Acts of the General 
Assembly approved on several dates, including the Act of May 21, 1937, P.L. 774, Act 211; the Act of 
May 24, 1945, P.L. 972; the Act of February 26, 1947, P.L. 17; the Act of May 23, 1951, P.  L. 335; the 
Act of August 14, 1951, P.L. 1232; and the Act of September 30, 1985, P.L. 240, No.  61 ("Act 61") to the 
extent not repealed by Act 44; the Act of August 5, 1991, P.L. 238, No.  26 ("Act 26") and the Act of 
November 25, 2013, P.L. 974, No. 89 ("Act 89") (collectively, the "Enabling Acts"), and the Resolutions 
adopted by the Commission on June 21, 2016 (the "Bond Resolutions").  The Act of April 17, 1997, No.  
3 ("Act 3") revises certain of the provisions of Act 26 which contains the appropriation of the Commission 
Allocation (as defined herein) of the Oil Franchise Tax.  See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Act 3." 
 
Security 
 
 The 2016 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable solely from (i) all Tax 
Revenues (as defined in "SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS - Additional Bonds"), (ii) the 
Commission's right to receive the Commission Allocation and any portion of the Commission Allocation 
actually received by the Commission, (iii) all moneys deposited into accounts or funds created by the 
Indenture (other than the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund which is pledged only for the 
benefit of the Subordinated Bonds, including the 2016B Bonds, and other than the Rebate Fund), (iv) all 
Swap Receipts, (v) the Issuer Subsidy (as defined herein), and (vi) all investment earnings on all moneys 
held in accounts and funds established by the Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund and other than 
earnings on moneys held in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund which are pledged only 
for the benefit of the Subordinated Bonds).  The aforementioned (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) are 
collectively herein referred to as the "Trust Estate." See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX." Pursuant to the 
Indenture, the Trust Estate has been pledged and assigned by the Commission to the Trustee to pay 
principal of and interest on the Bonds (as hereinafter defined), any amounts due under Parity Swap 
Agreements and Reimbursement Obligations (as such terms are defined herein).  The Commission has 
irrevocably directed the Treasurer of the Commonwealth (the "State Treasurer") to make payment of the 
Commission Allocation directly to the Trustee, and has directed the Trustee, upon receipt of such 
amounts, to deposit the moneys, as received, into the Revenue Fund created under the Indenture. 
 
 Under the Indenture, prior to an Event of Default, the Issuer Subsidy will be held solely for and 
applied to debt service on the Oil Franchise Tax Build America Bonds (as defined herein).  See 
APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Issuer Subsidy 
Funds." 
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 The General Assembly has allocated a portion of the Oil Franchise Tax imposed by the 
Commonwealth and appropriated it to the Commission.  This allocation consists of the revenues from 
14% of the additional 55 mills of the Oil Franchise Tax imposed beginning in 1991 (the "Commission 
Allocation").  The Oil Franchise Tax receipts, including the Commission Allocation, are to be deposited 
into the Commonwealth's Motor License Fund each month.  See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX." 
 
 Senior Bonds and Additional Senior Bonds are senior in right of payment and security to the 
Subordinated Bonds; provided, however, that the Subordinated Bonds have a first lien on the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund.  See "SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS - Security 
for the 2016 Bonds; Remedies and - Additional Bonds" and APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS." 
 
 A Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund has been established under the Indenture 
solely for the benefit of the holders of the Subordinated Bonds.  The Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Reserve Requirement is an amount equal to one-half the maximum Principal and Interest Requirements 
for any succeeding Fiscal Year on account of the Subordinated Bonds.  THERE IS NO DEBT SERVICE 
RESERVE FUND FOR THE SENIOR BONDS.  See APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN 
PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS" and "SECURITY FOR 
THE 2016 BONDS - Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund." Unlike the Subordinated Bonds, 
Senior Bonds have no dedicated debt service reserve fund, although excess balances in the Revenue Fund 
are transferred from time to time to an Oil Franchise Tax General Fund held by the Trustee which is 
available, among other things, to make up deficiencies in the various funds and accounts established under 
the Indenture.  See "SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS - Revenue Fund Excess Balance and Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund." 
 
THE 2016 BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE A DEBT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OR A 
PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COMMONWEALTH.  THE 2016 BONDS ARE 
OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMMISSION PAYABLE SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE, 
INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THAT PORTION OF THE OIL FRANCHISE TAX PAID TO 
THE COMMISSION OR THE TRUSTEE BY THE COMMONWEALTH, AND CERTAIN FUNDS 
HELD UNDER THE INDENTURE AND THE EARNINGS THEREON. 
 
Purpose 
 
 The 2016A Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current and 
advance refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds 
and (ii) issuing the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 The 2016B Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current and 
advance refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue 
Bonds and (ii) issuing the 2016B Bonds.   
 
Existing Obligations 
 
 The 2016A Bonds upon issuance will be Senior Bonds (as defined below), and the 2016B Bonds 
upon issuance will be Subordinated Bonds (as defined below), with all Bonds (as defined below) now or 
hereafter issued under or secured by the Indenture consisting of all senior bonds (the "Senior Bonds") and 
all subordinated bonds (the "Subordinated Bonds" and, together with the Senior Bonds and all bonds to 
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be issued under the Indenture, the "Bonds").  The Bonds issued by the Commission under the Indenture 
and outstanding as of the date of this Official Statement, are the following1: 
 

 $16,440,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2003 (“2003 
Subordinated Bonds”; 

 $160,000,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds Series C of 2003 (the "2003C 
Bonds"); 

 $75,425,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2006 (the 
“2006A Bonds”);  

 $129,350,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2006 (the 
“2006B Bonds”); 

 $13,245,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series A of 2009 (Tax-Exempt) (the 
“2009A Bonds”); 

 $127,170,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2009 (Federally 
Taxable  - Issuer Subsidy - Build America Bonds) (the “2009B Bonds”); 

 $15,461,246 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series C of 2009 (Tax-Exempt 
Capital Appreciation Bonds) (the "2009C Bonds" and, together with the 2009A Bonds and 
the 2009B Bonds, the "2009 Senior Bonds") of which $21,871,078 was outstanding 
(including compounded amount as of June 1, 2016); 

 $25,290,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series D of 2009 (Tax-
Exempt) (the “2009D Bonds”);  

 $102,505,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series E of 2009 (Federally 
Taxable – Issuer Subsidy – Build America Bonds) (the “2009E Bonds);   

 $23,120,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2013 (the 
“2013A Bonds”); and 

 $24,215,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series B of 2013 
(the “2013B Bonds”). 

 The Commission has entered into various interest rate swap agreements which constitute Parity 
Swap Agreements under the Indenture. 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 BONDS 

General 
 
 The 2016 Bonds will bear interest at fixed rates and will mature, subject to prior redemption, on 
the dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement.  Interest on 

                                                 
1 See "PLAN OF FINANCING" below for a summary of which of such Bonds are to be refunded with proceeds of 
the 2016 Bonds. 
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the 2016 Bonds will accrue from their Dated Dates and will be payable semi-annually to maturity (or 
earlier redemption) on each June 1 and December 1, commencing on December 1, 2016 (each, an 
"Interest Payment Date"). 
 
 The 2016 Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in Authorized Denominations (as 
described below).  The principal of and the redemption premium, if any, on all 2016 Bonds shall be 
payable by check or draft at maturity or upon earlier redemption to the persons in whose names such 2016 
Bonds are registered on the Bond Register at the maturity or redemption date thereof, upon the 
presentation and surrender of such 2016 Bonds at the designated office of the Trustee or of any Paying 
Agent named in the 2016 Bonds.  Interest on the 2016 Bonds shall be paid to the person whose name 
appears on the Bond Register as the holder thereof as of the close of business on the Record Date (as 
defined below) for each Interest Payment Date.  Payment of the interest on the 2016 Bonds shall be made 
by check mailed by first class mail to such holder at its address as it appears on such Bond Register or at 
such other address as is furnished to the Trustee in writing or, upon the written request of any holder of at 
least $1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the 2016 Bonds, submitted to the Trustee and the 
Paying Agent not later than ten Business Days before the applicable Record Date, by electronic transfer in 
immediately available funds to an account within the United States designated by such holder.  If the 
Commission defaults in the payment of interest due on any Interest Payment Date, Defaulted Interest (as 
defined below) will be payable to the person in whose name such 2016 Bond is registered at the close of 
business on a Special Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest.  The Commission shall 
notify the Trustee in writing of the amount of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each 2016 Bond 
and the date of the proposed payment (which date shall be such as will enable the Trustee to comply with 
the next sentence hereof), and shall deposit with the Trustee at the time of such notice an amount of 
money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to be paid in respect of such Defaulted Interest or shall 
make arrangements satisfactory to the Trustee for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment; 
money deposited with the Trustee shall be held in trust for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds entitled 
to such Defaulted Interest.  Following receipt of such funds the Trustee shall fix a Special Record Date for 
the payment of such Defaulted Interest which shall be not more than 15 nor less than 10 days prior to the 
date of the proposed payment and not less than 10 days after the receipt by the Trustee of the notice of the 
proposed payment.  The Trustee shall promptly notify the Commission of such Special Record Date and, 
in the name and at the expense of the Commission, shall cause notice of the proposed payment of such 
Defaulted Interest and the Special Record Date therefor to be mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to each 
Owner of a 2016 Bond entitled to such notice at the address of such owner as it appears on the Bond 
Register not less than 10 days prior to such Special Record Date. 

 Upon original issuance, the 2016 Bonds will be registered in the name of and held by Cede & Co., 
as registered holder and nominee for DTC.  The 2016 Bonds initially will be issued as one fully registered 
certificate for each maturity and series.  Purchases of the 2016 Bonds will initially be made in book-entry 
form.  See "DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 Bonds – Book-Entry Only System" herein.  As long as the 
2016 Bonds are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co., payments of the principal of, 
redemption premium, if any, and interest on the 2016 Bonds will be paid directly to Cede & Co. by wire 
transfer by the Paying Agent on each Interest Payment Date.  While the book-entry only system is in 
effect, transfers and exchanges of the 2016 Bonds will be affected through DTC's book-entry system. 
 
 DTC may determine to discontinue providing its service with respect to the 2016 Bonds at any 
time by giving notice to the Commission and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto under 
applicable law or the Commission may determine to discontinue the system of book-entry-only transfers 
through DTC (or a successor securities depository).  Under such circumstances, the 2016 Bonds will be 
authenticated and delivered as provided in the Indenture to the Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds, who 
shall then become the registered owners thereof. 
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 If the book-entry-only system is discontinued and the Beneficial Owners become registered 
owners of the 2016 Bonds, the Commission shall immediately advise the Trustee in writing of the 
procedures for transfer of the 2016 Bonds from book-entry-only form to a fully registered form. 
 
 The "Record Date" for determining the Owner entitled to payment of interest with respect to the 
2016 Bonds on any given Interest Payment Date is the fifteenth (15th) day (whether or not a Business 
Day) of the month immediately preceding such Interest Payment Date. 
 
 In the event interest on any 2016 Bond is not paid when due ("Defaulted Interest"), the 
provisions relating to Defaulted Interest under the Seventh Supplemental Indenture shall apply.  See 
APPENDIX C, "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – THE 
INDENTURE" for information with respect to the payment of Defaulted Interest. 
 
 So long as the 2016 Bonds are in book-entry only form, the principal and redemption price of, and 
interest on, such 2016 Bonds are payable by check mailed or wire transferred to Cede & Co., as nominee 
for DTC and Registered Owner of the 2016 Bonds, for redistribution by DTC to its Participants and in 
turn to Beneficial Owners as described under "DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 BONDS – Book- Entry 
Only System." 
 
 Authorized Denominations.  The 2016 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds in 
authorized denominations of $5,000 and any integral multiple thereof. 
 
 Registration, Transfer and Exchange.  The Trustee has been appointed Bond Registrar and as 
such shall keep the Bond Register at its Principal Office.  The Person in whose name any 2016 Bond shall 
be registered on the Bond Register shall be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner of such 2016 
Bond for all purposes, and payment of or on account of the principal of and interest on any such 2016 
Bond shall be made only to or upon the order of the Registered Owner thereof or his legal representative.  
All such payments shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such 2016 Bond, 
including the interest thereon, to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 
 
 Any 2016 Bond may be transferred only upon the Bond Register upon surrender thereof to the 
Trustee duly endorsed for transfer or accompanied by an assignment duly executed by the Registered 
Owner or his attorney or legal representative in such form as shall be satisfactory to the Trustee.  Upon 
any such transfer, the Commission shall execute and the Trustee shall authenticate and deliver in 
exchange for such 2016 Bond a new 2016 Bond or 2016 Bonds, registered in the name of the transferee, 
of any Authorized Denomination and of the same maturity and series and bearing interest at the same rate. 
 
 The Commission, the Securities Depository or the Trustee may charge an amount sufficient to 
reimburse it for any tax or other governmental charge required to be paid in connection with any transfer 
or exchange.  The Trustee shall not be required to: transfer or exchange any 2016 Bond during a period 
beginning at the opening of business fifteen (15) days before the day of the mailing of a notice of 
redemption of such 2016 Bond and ending at the close of business on the day of such mailing or transfer 
or exchange any 2016 Bond so selected for redemption in whole or in part, or during a period beginning at 
the opening of business on any Record Date for such 2016 Bond and ending at the close of business on 
the relevant Interest Payment Date therefor.   See also "DESCRIPTION OF THE 2016 BONDS - Book-
Entry Only System" herein for further information regarding registration, transfer and exchange of the 
2016 Bonds. 
 
 The Indenture, and all provisions thereof, are incorporated by reference in the text of the 2016 
Bonds, and the 2016 Bonds provide that each Registered Owner, Beneficial Owner, Participant or Indirect 
Participant (as such terms are defined hereinafter), by acceptance of a 2016 Bond (including receipt of a 
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book-entry credit evidencing an interest therein), assents to all of such provisions as an explicit and 
material portion of the consideration running to the Commission to induce it to issue such 2016 Bond. 
 
Redemption of 2016 Bonds 
 
 Optional Redemption. 
 

2016A Bonds.  The 2016A Bonds maturing on or after December 1, 2027, are subject to 
redemption prior to maturity at any time on and after December 1, 2026, as a whole or in part (and if in 
part, in such order of maturity as directed by the Commission and within a maturity by lot), at the option 
of the Commission at par, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided by 
the Indenture. 

 
2016B Bonds.  The 2016B Bonds maturing on or after December 1, 2027, are subject to 

redemption prior to maturity at any time on and after December 1, 2026, as a whole or in part (and if in 
part, in such order of maturity as directed by the Commission and within a maturity by lot), at the option 
of the Commission at par, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, all in the manner provided by 
the Indenture. 

 
 Selection of 2016 Bonds to be Redeemed. 
 

2016 Bonds shall be redeemed only in Authorized Denominations.  Any partial optional 
redemption of the 2016 Bonds may be made in any order of maturity and in any principal amount within a 
maturity as designated by the Commission.  The particular 2016 Bonds within a maturity to be redeemed 
in part shall be selected by the Trustee by lot or in such manner as the Trustee in its discretion may 
determine. 

 
In the case of a partial redemption of 2016 Bonds, when 2016 Bonds of a series of denominations 

greater than the minimum Authorized Denomination are then Outstanding, then for all purposes in 
connection with such redemption each principal amount equal to the minimum Authorized Denomination 
shall be treated as though it was a separate 2016 Bond of the minimum Authorized Denomination.  If it is 
determined that a portion, but not all, of the principal amount represented by any 2016 Bond is to be 
selected for redemption, then upon notice of intention to redeem such portion, the Owner of such 2016 
Bond or such Owner's attorney or legal representative shall forthwith present and surrender such 2016 
Bond to the Trustee (1) for payment of the redemption price (including the premium, if any, and interest 
to the date fixed for redemption) of the principal amount called for redemption, and (2) for exchange, 
without charge to the Owner thereof for a new 2016 Bond or 2016 Bonds of the aggregate principal 
amount of the unredeemed portion of the principal amount of such 2016 Bond.  If the Owner of any such 
2016 Bond shall fail to present such 2016 Bond to the Trustee for payment and exchange as aforesaid, 
said 2016 Bond shall, nevertheless, become due and payable on the redemption date to the extent of the 
principal amount called for redemption (and to that extent only). 
 

Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption.  Official notice of any such redemption shall be given 
by the Trustee on behalf of the Commission by mailing a copy of an official redemption notice by first 
class mail at least thirty (30) days and not more than sixty (60) days prior to the redemption date to each 
Registered Owner of the 2016 Bonds to be redeemed at the address shown on the Bond Register or at 
such other address as is furnished in writing by such Registered Owner to the Trustee.  Official notice of 
redemption having been given as aforesaid, the 2016 Bonds or portions of 2016 Bonds so to be redeemed 
shall, on the redemption date, become due and payable at the redemption price specified therein, and from 
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and after such date (unless the Commission shall default in the payment of the redemption price) such 
2016 Bonds or portions of 2016 Bonds shall cease to bear interest. 

 
As long as DTC remains the sole Registered Owner of the 2016 Bonds, notice of redemption shall 

be sent solely to DTC as provided in the Indenture.  Any failure of DTC to advise any DTC Participant, or 
of any DTC Participant or Indirect Participant to notify the Beneficial Owner, of any such notice and its 
content or effect will not affect the validity of the redemption of the 2016 Bonds called for redemption or 
of any other action premised on such notice.  See "BOOK–ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM." 

 
An optional redemption notice may state (1) that it is conditioned upon the deposit of moneys, in 

an amount equal to the amount necessary to effect the redemption, with the Trustee no later than the 
redemption date and/or (2) that the Commission retains the right to rescind such notice at any time prior to 
the scheduled redemption date if the Commission delivers a certificate of a Commission Official to the 
Trustee instructing the Trustee to rescind the redemption notice (in either case, a "Conditional 
Redemption"), and such notice and redemption shall be of no effect if such moneys are not so deposited 
or if the notice is rescinded as described below. 

 
Any Conditional Redemption may be rescinded in whole or in part at any time prior to the 

redemption date if the Commission delivers a certificate of a Commission Official to the Trustee 
instructing the Trustee to rescind the redemption notice.  The Trustee shall give prompt notice of such 
rescission to the affected Bondholders.  Any 2016 Bonds subject to Conditional Redemption where 
redemption has been rescinded shall remain Outstanding, and the rescission shall not constitute an Event 
of Default. 

 
Further, in the case of a Conditional Redemption, the failure of the Commission to make funds 

available in part or in whole on or before the redemption date shall not constitute an Event of Default. 
 
Failure to give any notice to any Owner, or any defect therein, shall not affect the validity of any 

proceedings for the redemption of any other 2016 Bonds.  Any notice mailed shall be conclusively 
presumed to have been duly given and shall become effective upon mailing, whether or not any Owner 
receives the notice. 
 
Book-Entry Only System 
 

THE INFORMATION PROVIDED UNDER THIS SUBHEADING HAS BEEN 
PROVIDED BY THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY ("DTC"), NEW YORK, NEW YORK.  
NO REPRESENTATION IS MADE BY THE COMMISSION OR THE UNDERWRITERS AS TO 
THE ACCURACY, COMPLETENESS  OR ADEQUACY OF SUCH INFORMATION 
PROVIDED BY DTC OR AS TO THE ABSENCE OF MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGES IN 
SUCH INFORMATION SUBSEQUENT TO THE DATE HEREOF. 

DTC will act as securities depository for the 2016 Bonds.  The 2016 Bonds will be issued as 
fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such 
other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  One fully-registered bond 
certificate will be issued for each maturity for each Series of the 2016 Bonds, each in the aggregate 
principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized 
under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York 
Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of 
the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions 
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of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 
3.6 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money 
market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit 
with DTC.  DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other 
securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and 
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts.  This eliminates the need for physical movement of 
securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company 
for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which 
are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the 
DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, 
banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship 
with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & 
Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of 2016 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the 2016 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The ownership interest of each actual 
purchaser of each 2016 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records.  Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their 
purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of 
the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the 
2016 Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants 
acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their 
ownership interests in the 2016 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the 2016 
Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all 2016 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of the 2016 Bonds with DTC and their 
registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not affect any change in beneficial 
ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds; DTC’s records 
reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such 2016 Bonds are credited, which 
may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible 
for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory 
requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds may wish to 
take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the 
2016 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the 2016 Bond 
documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee 
holding the 2016 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  
In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and 
request that copies of notices be provided directly to them. 
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Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC.  If less than all of the 2016 Bonds within an issue are 
being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 
Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the 2016 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI Procedures.  
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Commission as soon as possible after 
the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct 
Participants to whose accounts the 2016 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing 
attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal and interest payments on the 2016 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other 
nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  DTC’s practice is to credit Direct 
Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the 
Commission or the Trustee, on payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on 
DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions 
and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or 
registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its 
nominee), the Trustee or the Commission, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be 
in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as 
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Commission or the 
Trustee, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and 
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect 
Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the 2016 Bonds at any 
time by giving reasonable notice to the Commission or the Trustee.  Under such circumstances, in the 
event that a successor depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and 
delivered. 

The Commission may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through 
DTC (or a successor securities depository).  In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered. 

So long as Cede & Co., or any successor thereto, is the registered owner of the 2016 Bonds, as 
DTC’s partnership nominee, references herein to the Bondholders or owners or registered owners of the 
2016 Bonds shall mean DTC and shall not mean the Beneficial Owners of the 2016 Bonds.  During such 
period, the Trustee and the Commission will recognize DTC or its partnership nominee as the owner of all 
of the 2016 Bonds for all purposes, including the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest on the 2016 Bonds, as well as the giving of notices and voting. 

THE COMMISSION AND THE TRUSTEE WILL NOT HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR 
OBLIGATIONS TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF THE 2016 
BONDS WITH RESPECT TO: (1) THE 2016 BONDS; (2) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS 
MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DTC PARTICIPANT; (3) THE PAYMENT BY DTC OR ANY DTC 
PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIAL OWNER 
IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF, REDEMPTION PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND INTEREST ON 
THE 2016 BONDS; (4) THE DELIVERY OR TIMELINESS OF DELIVERY BY DTC TO ANY 
DIRECT PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY DTC PARTICIPANT TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER OF 
ANY NOTICE WHICH IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE 2016 
BONDS OR THE INDENTURE TO BE GIVEN TO BENEFICIAL OWNERS; (5) THE SELECTION 
OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF ANY PARTIAL 
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REDEMPTION OF THE 2016 BONDS; OR (6) ANY CONSENT GIVEN OR OTHER ACTION 
TAKEN BY DTC, OR ITS NOMINEE, CEDE & CO., AS BONDHOLDER. 

In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued and the Beneficial Owners become 
registered owners of the 2016 Bonds, the 2016 Bonds will be transferable in accordance with the 
provisions of the Indenture. 

PLAN OF FINANCING 
 

The 2016A Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current 
refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series 
A of 2006 (the "Refunded 2006A Bonds"); (ii) the advance refunding of all of the Commission's 
outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series C of 2003 (the "Refunded 2003C Bonds"); 
(iii) the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior 
Revenue Bonds, Series A-2 of 2009 (the "Refunded 2009A-2 Bonds"); and (iv) issuing the 2016A Bonds. 

 
The 2016B Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current 

refunding of all of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series 
B of 2003 (the "Refunded 2003B Bonds"); (ii) the current refunding of a portion of the Commission's 
outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2006 (the "Refunded 2006B 
Bonds"); (iii) the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax 
Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Series D-2 of 2009 (the "Refunded 2009D-2 Bonds")and (iv) issuing the 
2016B Bonds.   

 
The Refunded 2006A Bonds, the Refunded 2003C Bonds, the Refunded 2009A-2 Bonds, the 

Refunded 2003B Bonds, the Refunded 2006B and the Refunded 2009D-2 Bonds are referred to 
collectively herein as the "Refunded Bonds."  

 
Summary of Bonds to be Refunded with Proceeds of the 2016 Bonds 

 
Series Serial/Term Maturity Date Interest Rate Principal Amount CUSIP (709221) 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2024 5.000% $5,300,000 QS7 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2025 5.000% 16,650,000 QT5 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2026 5.000% 17,350,000 QU2 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2027 5.000% 18,100,000 QV0 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2028 5.000% 18,850,000 QW8 
2003C SERIAL 12/1/2029 5.000% 19,650,000 QX6 
2003C TERM 12/1/2032 5.000% 64,100,000 QY4 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2017 5.000%   9,885,000 LL7 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2018 5.000% 10,395,000 LM5 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2019 5.000% 10,925,000 LN3 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2020 5.000%   4,275,000 LP8 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2021 5.000%   4,495,000 LQ6 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2022 5.000% 12,695,000 LR4 
2006A SERIAL 12/1/2023 5.000% 13,355,000 LS2 

2009A-2 TERM 12/1/2023 5.000%   2,120,000 RZ0 
2003B SERIAL 12/1/2032 4.750% 16,440,000 GL3 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2017 5.000%   7,455,000 MC6 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2018 5.000%   7,840,000 MD4 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2019 5.000%   8,245,000 ME2 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2020 4.000%   2,975,000 MF9 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2021 4.125%   3,095,000 MG7 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2022 5.000%   9,520,000 MH5 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2023 5.000% 10,005,000 MJ1 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2026 5.000%   7,770,000 MK8 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2027 5.000%   8,170,000 ML6 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2028 4.375% 13,370,000 MM4 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2029 4.375% 13,955,000 MN2 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2030 4.750% 14,555,000 MP7 
2006B SERIAL 12/1/2031 4.750% 15,250,000 MQ5 

2009D-2 TERM 12/1/2023 4.000%      860,000 TE5 

 



 

  
 

12 

Escrow Deposit 
 

Concurrently with the closing on the 2016A Bonds, the Commission shall deposit into the escrow 
fund a portion of the proceeds of the 2016A Bonds, pursuant to the Escrow Deposit Agreement dated 
September 7, 2016 (the "Escrow Deposit Agreement") between the Commission and The Bank of New 
York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent") for the redemption of the 
Refunded 2003C Bonds, Refunded 2006A Bonds and for the Refunded 2009A-2 Bonds.  Such deposits 
will be invested in cash and/or defeasance securities as required by the Indenture, and such deposits and 
other available funds, together with interest earnings thereon, shall be calculated to be sufficient to pay the 
respective principal of and interest on, when due, and redemption prices, if any, of the Refunded 2003C 
Bonds, the Refunded 2006A Bonds and the Refunded 2009A-2 Bonds through December 1, 2018, 
respectively, the date that the Refunded 2003C Bonds will be called for redemption, through December 1, 
2016, the date that the Refunded 2006A Bonds will be called for redemption and through December 1, 
2019, the date that the Refunded 2009A-2 Bonds will be called for redemption. 

 
 Concurrently with the closing on the 2016B Bonds, the Commission shall deposit a portion of the 
proceeds of the 2016B Bonds into the escrow fund pursuant to the Escrow Deposit Agreement between 
the Commission and the Escrow Agent for the Refunded 2006B Bonds and the Refunded 2009D-2 
Bonds.  Such deposits will be invested in cash and/or defeasance securities as required by the Indenture, 
and such deposit and other available funds, together with interest earnings thereon, shall be calculated to 
be sufficient to pay the principal of and interest on, when due, and redemption price, if any, of the 
Refunded 2006B Bonds and the Refunded 2009D-2 Bonds through December 1, 2016, the date that the 
Refunded 2006B Bonds will be called for redemption and through December 1, 2019, the date that the 
Refunded 2009D-2 Bonds will be called for redemption. 
 
 There will be no escrow for the Refunded 2003B Bonds as they will be redeemed on the date the 
2016B Bonds are issued. 
  

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 
 

SOURCES OF FUNDS 
 

2016A Bonds 2016B Bonds Total 

Principal Amount $198,595,000.00 $115,395,000.00 $313,990,000.00 
Original Issue Premium    46,779,234.50    24,222,429.00    71,001,663.50 
Release of funds from the Debt 
Service Fund 

      3,041,933.33       1,766,246.66       4,808,179.99  

Release of funds from the 
Subordinated Debt Service Reserve 
Fund 

-      1,879,032.00      1,879,032.00 

  
TOTAL SOURCES 
 

$248,416,167.83 $143,262,707.66 $391,678,875.49 

USES OF FUNDS 
 

 

Deposit to Escrow Funds $247,370,569.11 $125,995,640.78 $373,366,209.89 
Redemption of the Refunded 2003B 
Bonds 

-     16,648,240.00     16,648,240.00 

Costs of Issuance*     1,045,598.72         618,826.88      1,664,425.60 
  
TOTAL USES $248,416,167.83 $143,262,707.66 $391,678,875.49 

 
* Includes underwriters’ discount, fees and expenses of co-bond counsel, disclosure counsel and counsel 
to the underwriters, rating agency fees, printing expenses, fees and expenses of the financial advisors, 
trustee fees, escrow agent fee, verification agent fees and other miscellaneous costs and expenses 
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SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS 

Sources of Payment; Oil Franchise Tax 
 
Funds received by the Trustee from Oil Franchise Tax revenues in the amount of the Commission 

Allocation are the primary source of payment of the Bonds.  The Commission Allocation of the Oil 
Franchise Tax consists of 14% of the additional 55 mills of the Oil Franchise Tax which 55 mills became 
effective pursuant to Act 26.  Information concerning the Oil Franchise Tax, its collection and distribution 
to the Commission and the Commonwealth's Motor License Fund are described in this Official Statement 
under the caption "OIL FRANCHISE TAX." 
 

The 2016 Bonds are limited obligations of the Commission payable solely from the Trust Estate 
which consists of the following: (i) all Tax Revenues, (ii) the Commission's right to receive the 
Commission Allocation and any portion of the Commission Allocation actually received by the 
Commission, (iii) all moneys deposited into accounts or funds created by the Indenture (other than the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund which is pledged only for the benefit of the Subordinated 
Bonds and other than the Rebate Fund), (iv) all Swap Receipts, (v) the Issuer Subsidy and (vi) all 
investment earnings on all moneys held in accounts and funds established by the Indenture (other than 
earnings on moneys held in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund which are pledged only 
for the benefit of the Subordinated Bonds and other than the Rebate Fund). 
 

Under the Indenture, prior to an Event of Default, the Issuer Subsidy will be held solely for and 
applied to debt service on the Oil Franchise Tax Build America Bonds.  See APPENDIX C – 
"SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – Issuer Subsidy Funds." 
 
 In addition to the Trust Estate, the Commission also receives toll revenues from the operation of 
the System and revenue derived from a portion of the Commonwealth's vehicle registration fee revenues. 
 
HOWEVER, THE COMMISSION'S TOLLS AND REGISTRATION FEE REVENUES, AS 
WELL AS OTHER SOURCES OF THE COMMISSION'S REVENUES NOT DERIVED FROM 
TOLL REVENUE, INCLUDING CONCESSION REVENUE, ARE EXCLUDED FROM THE 
TRUST ESTATE PLEDGED FOR THE 2016 BONDS. THE TRUST ESTATE ALSO EXCLUDES 
ALL MONEYS HELD IN THE REBATE FUND. 
 
THE COMMISSION'S ALLOCATION OF THE OIL FRANCHISE TAX IS THE ONLY 
REVENUE SOURCE FOR THE 2016 BONDS. 
 
THE 2016 BONDS SHALL NOT BE DEEMED TO BE A DEBT OF THE COMMONWEALTH 
OR A PLEDGE OF THE FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE COMMONWEALTH. 
 
Security for the 2016 Bonds; Remedies 
 

The Trust Estate is pledged in the Indenture to the Trustee as security for the payment of the 
Bonds and the interest thereon and as security for the satisfaction of any other obligation assumed by the 
Commission in connection with the 2016 Bonds, including any Parity Swap Agreements (as defined 
below) and Reimbursement Obligations (as defined below).  

 
A Parity Swap Agreement means an interest rate swap agreement, currency swap agreement, 

forward payment conversion agreement, futures contract, contracts providing for payments based on 
levels of or changes in interest rates, currency exchange rates, stock or other indices or contracts to 
exchange cash flows or a series of payments, and contracts including, without limitation, interest rate 
floors or caps, options, puts or calls to hedge payment, currency rate, spread or similar exposure under 
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which some or all of the amounts payable by the Commission or the Trustee pursuant to such agreement 
may be secured by the Tax Revenues on parity with the Bonds to which such agreement relates.  Under 
the Indenture, amounts payable by the Commission on such a Parity Swap Agreement shall be secured on 
a parity basis with the Bonds to which such contract relates but only to the extent so provided in such 
contract and only if, among other requirements, each Rating Agency which then has a rating assigned to 
any Bond that would be secured on parity with the Commission's obligation under said contract confirms 
in writing to the Trustee that the Commission's execution and delivery of such contract will not result in a 
reduction or withdrawal of such rating. 

 
A Reimbursement Obligation means an obligation of the Commission pursuant to a 

Reimbursement Agreement to repay any amounts drawn under a Credit Facility, to pay any interest on 
such drawn amounts pursuant to such Reimbursement Agreement and to pay any Bank Fee owed pursuant 
thereto.  A Reimbursement Agreement means an agreement between the Commission and one or more 
Banks pursuant to which, among other things, such Bank or Banks issues a Credit Facility with respect to 
Bonds of one or more series and the Commission agrees to reimburse such Bank or Banks for any 
drawings made thereunder. 

 
Senior Bonds, Additional Senior Bonds, certain amounts payable under Parity Swap Agreements 

relating to Senior Bonds are senior in right of payment and security to the Subordinated Bonds; provided, 
however, that the Subordinated Bonds have a first lien on the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Fund.  Certain amounts payable under Parity Swap Agreements relating to the Subordinated Bonds are on 
parity with the debt service on the Subordinated Bonds.   See APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – THE INDENTURE." Upon any failure to make a 
principal, interest, or redemption payment with respect to the Senior Bonds, the Trustee may, and upon 
the written request of the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the Senior Bonds then 
outstanding shall, declare the principal of all of the Bonds, including the Senior Bonds and the 
Subordinated Bonds, to be due and payable.  The failure to make any payment with respect to the 
Subordinated Bonds shall not constitute a default with respect to the Senior Bonds.  Upon any other 
default specified in the Indenture including any failure to make a principal, interest or redemption 
payment with respect to the Subordinated Bonds, the Trustee may proceed, and upon the written request 
of the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of the Bonds Outstanding (provided that if said 
event of default pertains only to one series of Bonds, then the written request of the holders of 25% or 
more of the principal amount solely of such series of Bonds) shall proceed to protect and enforce its rights 
and the rights of the Bondholders under the laws of the Commonwealth or under the Indenture by such 
suits, actions, or special proceedings in equity or at law either for the specific performance of any 
covenant or agreement in the Indenture or in aid of execution of any power granted in the Indenture or for 
the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall 
deem reasonable or necessary to protect and enforce such rights.  See APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF 
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE – THE INDENTURE - Remedies." 

 
Flow of Funds 
 

The Oil Franchise Tax is collected by the Commonwealth Department of Revenue (the 
"Department of Revenue") and deposited into the Motor License Fund of the Commonwealth held by the 
Department of Transportation.  Once each month on or prior to the 20th day of the month, the Department 
of Transportation pays to the Commission the Commission Allocation collected and deposited into the 
Motor License Fund during the immediately preceding calendar month; provided, however, that if in any 
year the actual Commission Allocation to be distributed to the Commission exceeds the amount included 
in the Governor's executive authorization at the beginning of such year, distribution of the excess amount 
to the Commission may be delayed until a new executive authorization is obtained, which may not occur 
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until the beginning of the next fiscal year of the Commonwealth.  The Commission has irrevocably 
directed the Treasurer to make payment of all such amounts directly to the Trustee, and the Trustee, upon 
receipt of such amounts, shall deposit the moneys, as received, into the Revenue Fund created under the 
Indenture.  See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX - Commission Allocation." 

 
The Indenture also creates a Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund and a Subordinated Bonds Debt 

Service Fund.  Within the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund, the Indenture establishes Interest Accounts, 
Principal Accounts, and the Insured Swap Payment Account.  Within the Subordinated Bonds Debt 
Service Fund, the Indenture establishes Interest Accounts, Principal Accounts.  The Commission 
Allocation and any other Tax Revenues received by the Trustee, whether directly from the 
Commonwealth or received by the Commission and paid to the Trustee, are to be deposited into the 
Revenue Fund.  Additionally, Subsidy Payments are to be deposited into the Issuer Subsidy Fund for 
transfer to the applicable Debt Service Fund prior to the next applicable Interest Payment Date.  Swap 
Receipts are to be deposited into the Revenue Fund.  The Indenture provides that the Trustee shall 
withdraw from the Revenue Fund and deposit to the applicable accounts in the Debt Service Funds, on an 
equal monthly basis, such amounts as shall be sufficient to make the required semi-annual interest 
payments and the required annual redemption or maturity payments on the Bonds. 

 
The Trustee shall withdraw from the Revenue Fund and deposit into the applicable Fund, on or 

before the last Business Day of each calendar month, in the following order of priority: 
 
(1) In the same order of priority, (a) a deposit to the Interest Account of the Senior Bonds 

Debt Service Fund in an amount equal to one-sixth of the interest due on the Senior Bonds on the next 
succeeding Interest Payment Date and the Insured Swap Payment (regularly scheduled payments and 
Insured Termination Payments) payable to the Parity Swap Agreement Counterparty pursuant to the 
Parity Swap Agreements; (b) a deposit to the Principal Account of the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund in 
an amount equal to one-twelfth of the amount necessary to pay the principal amount of any Senior Bonds 
maturing on the next succeeding maturity date occurring on or before the second Interest Payment Date 
following such deposit; and (c) without duplication, a deposit to the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund in an 
amount equal to one-twelfth of the principal amount required on the next succeeding mandatory 
redemption date of the Senior Bonds occurring on or before the second Interest Payment Date following 
such deposit; 

 

(2) In the same order of priority, (a) a deposit to the Interest Account of the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Fund in an amount equal to one-sixth of the interest due on the Subordinated Bonds 
on the next succeeding Interest Payment Date; (b) a deposit to the Principal Account of the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Fund in an amount equal to one-twelfth of the amount necessary to pay the principal 
amount of any Subordinated Bonds maturing on the next succeeding maturity date occurring on or 
before the second Interest Payment Date following such deposit; and (c) without duplication, a deposit to 
the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund in an amount equal to one-twelfth of the principal amount 
required on the next succeeding mandatory redemption date of the Subordinated Bonds occurring on or 
before the second Interest Payment Date following such deposit; and 

 
After making the deposits described above, on or before the Business Day immediately preceding 

each Interest Payment Date, the Trustee shall make from the Revenue Fund a deposit to the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount, if any, required to make the funds deposited in the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund equal to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement to be made on or before the Business Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date. 

 



 

  
 

16 

The Trustee shall make payments from the applicable Funds, without further authorization from 
the Commission, for the purposes for which such Funds were established. 

 
After making all the aforesaid deposits, the Trustee is required to transfer from the Revenue Fund, 

on or before the Business Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date, to the credit of the Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund the balance, if any, in excess of $10,000,000 remaining in the Revenue Fund.  
As of July 1, 2016, the balance in the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund was $250,361,911.01.  As of July 
1, 2016, the balance in the Revenue Fund was $22,092,290.78.  Funds in the Oil Franchise Tax General 
Fund represent excess oil franchise tax revenues not required for debt service and such funds may be used 
by the Commission for any of its purposes.  The Commission currently intends to use a portion of these 
funds towards Act 61 eligible projects and to provide certain support to the MVR Bonds.  See 
"SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS - Revenue Fund Excess Balance and Oil Franchise Tax General 
Fund" and "OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Act 3." 

 
SEE APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - THE 

INDENTURE - Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund - Senior Bonds Sinking Fund - Subordinated Bonds 
Debt Service Fund - Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund - Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund, 
and - Oil Franchise Tax General Fund." 

 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund 
 

The Indenture established a Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund (the "Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund") for the benefit of the holders of the Subordinated Bonds on a parity 
basis.  The Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Requirement for the Subordinated Bonds Debt 
Service Reserve Fund is an amount equal to one-half of the maximum Principal and Interest 
Requirements for any succeeding Fiscal Year on account of the Subordinated Bonds.  As of the date of 
this Official Statement, the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund is fully funded with cash and 
securities. 

 
Moneys held for the credit of the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be used 

for the purpose of paying interest on, maturing principal of, and mandatory sinking fund redemption 
payments of the Subordinated Bonds whenever and to the extent that the moneys held for the credit of the 
Subordinated Bond Debt Service Fund or any applicable account in any Sinking Fund shall be insufficient 
for such purpose.  For purposes of calculating the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement, debt service is reduced by the Subsidy Payments. 

 
In lieu of the deposit of money into the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund, the 

Commission may, with the written consent of MBIA Insurance Corporation, predecessor interest to 
National Public Finance Guarantee ("National") (which consent will no longer be required upon 
cancellation of the swap insurance policy provided by National), cause to be provided a surety bond or 
insurance policy (which shall be approved in writing by National) payable to the Trustee for the benefit of 
the holders of the Subordinated Bonds.  The surety bond or insurance policy shall be payable (upon the 
giving of one Business Days' notice) on any Interest Payment Date on which moneys will be required to 
be withdrawn from the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund and applied to the payment of the 
principal of or interest on the Subordinated Bonds to the extent that such withdrawals cannot be made 
from amounts credited to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund.  The insurer providing 
such surety bond or insurance policy shall be an insurer whose municipal bond insurance policies insuring 
the payment, when due, of the principal of and interest on municipal bond issues result in such issues 
being rated in the highest rating category by each Rating Agency.  It is anticipated that funds on deposit 
securing the Subordinated Bonds will be sufficient to pay principal of and interest on, when due, on the 
Subordinated Bonds, even taking into account debt service requirements with respect to the 2016B Bonds. 
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If the issuer of a surety bond or insurance policy on deposit in the Subordinated Bonds Debt 

Service Reserve Fund  shall cease to have a rating described in the immediately preceding paragraph, the 
issuer of such surety bond or insurance policy shall immediately notify the Commission, National, and the 
Trustee in writing, and the Commission shall use reasonable efforts to replace such surety bond or 
insurance policy with one issued by an issuer having a rating so described, consented to in writing by 
National, but shall not be obligated to pay, or commit to pay, increased fees, expenses, or interest in 
connection with such replacement or to deposit Tax Revenues in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Reserve Fund in lieu of replacing such surety bond or insurance policy with another; provided, however, 
that the Commission shall at all times fund the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund with cash or with a 
surety bond or an insurance policy acceptable to National.  Holders of the Senior Bonds, including the 
2016A Bonds, shall have no claim to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund. 

 
See APPENDIX C – "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE - THE 

INDENTURE - Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund." 
 
Revenue Fund Excess Balance and Oil Franchise Tax General Fund 
 

The Commission transferred $10,000,000 from the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund into the 
Revenue Fund on the date of issuance of the $310,475,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, 
Series A of 1998 and the $228,405,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series B of 
1998.  All Tax Revenues to be received from the Commonwealth are to be paid to the Trustee for deposit 
into the Revenue Fund.  The Indenture provides that, after first having made the required debt service 
sinking fund and reserve fund payments out of the Revenue Fund, the Trustee shall transfer from the 
Revenue Fund on or before the Business Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date to the 
credit of the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund the balance, if any, in excess of $10,000,000 remaining in 
the Revenue Fund. 

 
The Oil Franchise Tax General Fund shall be used to make up deficiencies in any funds or 

accounts created under the Indenture and, in the absence of any such deficiency, may be expended by the 
Commission: (a) to purchase or redeem Bonds or any other obligations issued by the Commission; (b) to 
make payments into the Construction Fund; (c) to fund improvements, extensions and replacements of the 
Pennsylvania Turnpike System; (d) to make any payment due under the Parity Swap Agreements that was 
not paid by moneys withdrawn from the Revenue Fund (provided the Commission has moneys available 
to pay debt service on the Senior Obligations for the next 12 months); or (e) to further any lawful 
corporate purpose permitted by the Enabling Acts.  The balance in the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund as 
of July 1, 2016 was $250,361,911.01 and the balance in the Revenue Fund as of July 1, 2016 was 
$22,092,290.78.  See APPENDIX C - "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE 
INDENTURE – THE INDENTURE – Oil Franchise Tax General Fund." 
 
Additional Bonds 
 

The Indenture provides for the issuance of Additional Senior Bonds and Additional Subordinated 
Bonds.  The Additional Bonds may be issued under and secured by the Indenture at any time or times for 
the purpose of paying the cost of all or any part of any Project or completion of any Project or for the 
purpose of refunding or advance refunding all or any portion of the Bonds then outstanding and, in each 
case, paying costs incurred in connection with the issuance of such Additional Bonds and making any 
necessary contributions to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund.  Among other things, a 
certificate signed by the Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer, or Deputy Executive 
Director/Finance and Administration of the Commission demonstrating and concluding that the Historic 
Tax Revenues (as described below) were not less than 200% of the Maximum Principal and Interest 
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Requirements on account of all Senior Bonds to be outstanding under the Indenture after the issuance of 
the Additional Senior Bonds and not less than 115% of the Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements 
on account of all Bonds to be outstanding under the Indenture after the Issuance of the Additional 
Subordinated Bonds must be filed with the Trustee as a condition precedent to the issuance of any 
Additional Bonds except with respect to certain Additional Bonds issued for refunding purposes, as 
described in "Additional Bonds for Refunding Purposes" set forth below.  For purposes of calculating the 
Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements as set forth above, debt service does not include interest to 
the extent of the Subsidy Payments. 
 

In any computation of Historic Tax Revenues for purposes of the test described above, if the rate 
or rates at which the Oil Franchise Tax are imposed or the percentage of Tax Receipts to be received by 
the Commission during all or any part of the period for which any such calculation is made shall be 
different from the rate or rates at which the Oil Franchise Tax is imposed or the percentage of Tax 
Receipts received by the Commission in effect at the time such calculation is made, there shall be added 
to or deducted from said Tax Revenues so calculated, any increase or decrease in the Tax Revenues for 
such period which would result from such different rate or rates or percentage. 
 
"Tax Receipts" are defined in the Indenture as the amounts received by the Trustee from the 
Commonwealth and paid from the Oil Franchise Tax. 
 
"Tax Revenues" are defined in the Indenture as the Tax Receipts or any receipts, revenues and other 
money received by the Trustee on or after the date of the Indenture from any tax or other source of funds 
from the Commonwealth in substitution and/or replacement of the Tax Receipts and the interest and 
income earned on any fund or account where said interest or income is required to be credited to the 
Revenue Fund pursuant to the Indenture, but excluding any moneys received by way of grant or 
contribution from any governmental agency or other entity specifically designated by the grantor or 
contributor for a particular purpose. 
 
"Historic Tax Revenues" are defined in the Indenture, as the Tax Revenues for any 12 consecutive 
calendar months within the preceding 24 calendar months with such adjustments as may be required 
pursuant to the Indenture and shall exclude the $10,000,000 initially deposited in the Revenue Fund. 
 
Additional Bonds for Refunding Purposes 
 

If the Additional Senior Bonds to be issued are for refunding purposes, the Commission shall 
deliver to the Trustee, among other things, a Certificate signed by the Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, 
Chief Financial Officer, or Deputy Executive Director/Finance and Administration of the Commission 
demonstrating that the percentage derived by dividing the amount of the Historic Tax Revenues by the 
Maximum Annual Principal and Interest Requirements on Senior Bonds outstanding after delivery of such 
Additional Senior Bonds shall be either (i) at least 200% or (ii) not less than the percentage obtained by 
dividing such amounts prior to delivery of such Additional Senior Bonds.  If the Additional Subordinated 
Bonds to be issued are for refunding purposes, the Commission shall deliver to the Trustee, among other 
things, a Certificate signed by the Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer, or Deputy 
Executive Director/Finance and Administration of the Commission demonstrating that the percentage 
derived by dividing the amount of the Historic Tax Revenues by the Maximum Principal and Interest 
Requirements on Bonds outstanding after delivery of such Additional Subordinated Bonds shall be either 
(i) at least 115% or (ii) not less than the percentage obtained by dividing such amounts prior to delivery of 
such Additional Subordinated Bonds. 
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Obligations Secured by Other Revenue Sources 
 

The Commission has also issued Turnpike Senior Revenue Bonds that as of the date of this 
Official Statement are outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $4,937,390,000.00, Registration 
Fee Revenue Bonds that as of the date of this Official Statement are outstanding in the aggregate principal 
amount of $394,695,000.00, Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds that as 
of the date of this Official Statement are outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$993,029,953.30 (including compounded amounts as of June 1, 2016), and Subordinate Revenue Bonds 
that as of the date of this Official Statement are outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$4,510,667,001.00  (including compounded amounts as of June 1, 2016).  The Commission has entered 
into various interest rate exchange agreements with respect to certain Turnpike Revenue Bonds and 
Registration Fee Revenue Bonds.  Neither the Turnpike Revenue Bonds, the Registration Fee Revenue 
Bonds nor the Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds are secured by or have 
any interest in the Trust Estate.  Furthermore, neither the Senior Toll Revenues, Registration Fee 
Revenues nor the Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bond revenues are 
pledged to secure the 2016 Bonds. See APPENDIX A - “THE PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE 
COMMISSION – REVENUE SOURCES OF THE COMMISSION – Revenue Sources of the 
Commission; Bonds of the Commission.” 

 
Parity Swaps 

In connection with the issuance of the 2003C Bonds, the Commission entered into interest rate 
swap agreements (the “Parity Swaps”) in order to manage interest rate risk on such Bonds.  The notional 
amounts of the Parity Swaps were originally structured to amortize in a manner consistent with the 
outstanding principal amounts of the related 2003C Bonds. 

In conjunction with the refunding of the 2003C Bonds, the Commission will reassign the swap 
agreements currently associated with such 2003C Bonds to other series of Senior Bonds issued under the 
1998 Indenture and will cancel the swap insurance policy issued by National and insuring one of the 
Parity Swaps.  For two of these agreements (both with JP Morgan), the Commission successfully 
negotiated modifications of certain credit terms for the continuation of the Parity Swaps.  The Office of 
the Attorney General has also approved these modifications to the Parity Swaps.   

The following chart summarizes certain terms of the Parity Swaps and shows the series of bonds 
to which the Parity Swaps will relate after the issuance of the 2016 Bonds. 

PARITY SWAPS OF THE COMMISSION 
(as of July 1, 2016) 

Bond 
Series 

 
 

Notional 
Amount Counterparty Effective Date 

 
 

Type of 
Transaction 

Bond Series 
to be 

Transferred 
2003C $48,000,000 Bank of New 

York Mellon 
8/14/2003 SIFMA/LIBOR 

Basis 
2016A Bonds 
2009B Bonds 

2003C $112,000,000 JP Morgan 8/14/2003 SIFMA/LIBOR 
Basis 

2016A Bonds 
2009B Bonds 

 
2003C $80,000,000 Wells Fargo 

Bank, N.A. 
5/15/2014 CMS Reversal 2016A Bonds 

2009B Bonds 

2003C $80,000,000  JP Morgan 
(originally Bear 
Stearns) 

5/15/2014 LIBOR/CMS 
Basis 

2016A Bonds 
2009B Bonds 

2003C $80,000,000 Royal Bank of 
Canada 

5/10/2018 LIBOR/CMS 
Basis 

2016A Bonds 
2009B Bonds 
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OIL FRANCHISE TAX 

 
The Oil Franchise Tax was first imposed in 1981 by Act 35, in the amount of 35 mills on each 

gallon of petroleum sold.  The tax was increased by an additional 25 mills in 1983 by Act 32 and an 
additional 55 mills in 1991 by Act 26.  With Act 3 of 1997, the tax was increased by an additional 38.5 
mills to a total of 153.5 mills on all liquid fuels (primarily gasoline) and an additional 55 mills (for a total 
increase of 93.5 mills) for a total of 208.5 mills on liquid fuels and other fuels (diesel fuel and all other 
special fuels except dyed diesel fuel, liquid fuels and alternative fuels).  Following the passage of Act 89, 
the distribution of the revenues derived from the Oil Franchise Tax was adjusted as reflected below.  
Additionally, the changes to the collection of additional revenue from the Oil Franchise Tax authorized by 
Act 89 has increased the amount of revenue available to the Commission for the purposes discussed 
herein.  See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Act 89" below. 
 

The additional 55 mills added in 1991, imposed on liquid fuels and fuels, are distributed pursuant 
to Act 89 as follows beginning on June 1, 2016: 
 

(i) 19% Maintenance; 
 
(ii) 40% Highway capital projects; 
 
(iii) 13% Bridges; 
 
(iv) 2% County and forestry bridges; 
 
(v) 12% Municipalities; 
 
(vi) 14% Toll Roads. 
 

Commission Allocation 
 

The Commission Allocation of the Oil Franchise Tax consists of 14% of the additional 55 mills of 
the Oil Franchise Tax which became effective pursuant to Act 26 beginning on September 1, 1991.  The 
law provides for monthly payments to the Commission.  As the revenues from the Oil Franchise Tax are 
collected by the Department of Revenue, they are required to be deposited into a restricted account of the 
Motor License Fund of the Commonwealth held by the Department of Transportation.  No administrative 
fees or expenses are deducted and no earnings are added. 
 

The administrative process for paying the Commission Allocation involves an executive 
authorization, based on official revenue estimates, executed by the Governor each year at or prior to the 
beginning of the Commonwealth's fiscal year which ends on June 30 each year.  The Commission's fiscal 
year ends on May 31 each year.  The Governor is required by law to authorize payment of the 
Commission Allocation.  
 

Such authorization is based on estimated Oil Franchise Taxes at the beginning of the year and 
authorizes payment of the Commission Allocation monthly as described above based on such estimates.  
If the amount collected during the year varies from the estimate, a reconciliation is prepared by the 
Commonwealth and there is a subsequent adjustment of payments.  Payments to the Commission are 
made in accordance with the current Department of Revenue administrative procedure, on a priority basis 
over other uses of the Oil Franchise Tax.  This priority procedure is not mandated by statute. 
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Pledge and Appropriation 
 

Section 9511(h) of Chapter 95 of Title 75 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes provides as 
follows: 
 

The Commonwealth does hereby pledge to and agrees with any person, firm or 
corporation acquiring any bonds to be issued by the Pennsylvania Turnpike 
Commission and secured in whole or in part by a pledge of the portion of the tax 
known as the "oil company franchise tax for highway maintenance and construction" 
which is imposed by Section 9502(a)(2) and distributed in the manner indicated in 
that section, including 14% for toll roads designated under the Turnpike 
Organization, Extension and Toll Road Conversion Act, that the Commonwealth will 
not limit or alter the rights vested in the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission to the 
appropriation and distribution of such tax revenues. 

 
In connection with the issuance of the 2016 Bonds, Co-Bond Counsel will deliver their opinion 

that, pursuant to the Oil Franchise Tax Act, the Commission Allocation has been appropriated by the 
Commonwealth and the payment of the Commission Allocation to the Commission by the 
Commonwealth does not require further legislative appropriation or approval.  See APPENDIX D - 
"FORM OF OPINION OF CO-BOND COUNSEL." 
 

In the Indenture, the Commission also covenants that it will seek to enforce the pledge and 
appropriation of the Commonwealth with respect to the Oil Franchise Tax and covenants that the 
Commission will petition the General Assembly for additional funds in the event that the Tax Revenues 
are inadequate to pay amounts due under the Indenture. 
 

The Trustee may and, upon receipt of written direction from the holders of not less than twenty- 
five (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding and upon being indemnified to its 
satisfaction, shall institute and prosecute in a court of competent jurisdiction any appropriate action to 
enforce the pledge and appropriation of the Commonwealth with respect to the Oil Franchise Tax. 
 
Act 3 
 

Act 3 revised certain of the provisions of Act 26 which contains the appropriation of the 
Commission Allocation of the Oil Franchise Tax.  These revisions include the clarification of the 
definitions of liquid fuels and fuels as the subjects of the tax.  In addition, Act 3 designated distributors 
rather than the previously designated dealers to be the payors of the Oil Franchise Tax. 
 

Act 3 requires that each distributor obtain an annual fuels permit in order to engage in the sale and 
delivery of liquid fuels within the Commonwealth.  The renewal of such permit is conditioned on the 
filing of a surety bond or letter of credit as security for the distributor's obligation to pay the tax and the 
distributor faithfully complying with the requirement to pay the Oil Franchise Tax.  The amount of the 
surety bond or letter of credit is based on each distributor's historic tax payments. 
 

Act 3 further provides that all appropriate Oil Franchise Taxes collected by the distributors shall 
constitute a trust fund for the Commonwealth.  The trust is enforceable against the distributor and any 
person, other than a purchaser to whom a refund has been properly made, receiving any part of the fund 
without consideration or knowing that the distributor is committing a breach of trust.  Unpaid taxes for 
which a trust is enforced against the officers of the distributor are a lien upon the franchise and property 
of such distributor and officers. 
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Pursuant to Act 3, the first $28 million of statewide motor vehicle registration fees collected 

annually is deposited in the Motor License Fund and is allocated to the Commission.  The Commission 
has fully leveraged those monies to secure bonds issued by the Commission in 2005 (the "MVR Bonds").  
When the Commission issued the MVR Bonds, it pledged to use any available balances in the Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund to replenish either of two liquidity accounts (the "MVR Liquidity Accounts") 
supporting the MVR Bonds.  The MVR Bonds are secured under a separate indenture and by a trust estate 
entirely separate and distinct from the Trust Estate supporting the 2016 Bonds, with the sole exception of 
the supplemental credit pledge of the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund.  Funds in the Oil Franchise Tax 
General Fund represent excess oil franchise tax revenues not required for debt service and such funds may 
be used by the Commission for any of its purposes.  The MVR Liquidity Accounts are each required to 
maintain a $22.5 million balance and collectively, the combined accounts are required to maintain a $45 
million aggregate balance.  The MVR Liquidity Accounts are used to make up for an anticipated short fall 
in available MVR revenues versus MVR fixed and variable rate debt service plus swap payments. 

 
In prior years, the fixed $28 million received by the Commission pursuant to Act 3 was sufficient 

to pay all debt service on the MVR Bonds as issued and outstanding between 2005-2015.  However, 
based on current rates and the updated structure of the 2015 direct placement of the MVR Bonds, it is 
expected that there could be up to a $600,000 draw annually on the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund to 
support the MVR Bonds from 2015-2020.  As of July 1, 2016, the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund had a 
balance of $250,361,911.01 and it is not anticipated that the required annual $600,000 from the Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund to pay debt service on the MVR Bonds will materially adversely impact the 
Commissions ability to pay debt service on the 2016 Bonds. 
 
Act 89  

 
On November 25, 2013, Act 89 was enacted to provide substantial additional and sustained 

investment in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s aging transportation infrastructure. With respect 
specifically to the Commission, the revenue enhancements enacted in Act 89, once fully implemented by 
Fiscal Year 2018, are projected to generate substantial additional funds each year for investment in the 
Commission’s transportation infrastructure.  Among other things, Act 89 amended provisions that over a 
period of five years eliminate the cap on the average wholesale price per gallon of all taxable liquid fuels 
and fuels for purposes of calculating the Oil Franchise Tax.  See “OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Collection 
and Calculation of Oil Franchise Tax.”  The additional revenues to be made available to the Commission 
pursuant to Act 89 will be used generally for construction, reconstruction, maintenance and repair of and 
safety on public highways and bridges and costs and expenses incident thereto, including security for all 
Bonds outstanding under the Indenture, including the 2016 Bonds. 

Liquid Fuels and Fuels as the Subjects of Oil Franchise Tax 
 

The Oil Company Franchise Tax, which is designated as a tax for highway maintenance and 
construction, is imposed by Section 9502 of Chapter 95 of Title 75 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated 
Statutes upon all "liquid fuels" and "fuels." Ethanol currently is not treated as a "liquid fuel" or a "fuel" so 
the Oil Franchise Tax is not imposed upon ethanol or other "alternative fuels," as that term is defined in 
the above-referenced Section 9502. 
 
"Liquid fuels" are defined as all products derived from petroleum, natural gas, coal, coal tar, vegetable 
ferments, and other oils.  The term includes gasoline, naphtha, benzol, benzine, or alcohols, either alone or 
when blended or compounded, which are practically and commercially suitable for use in internal 
combustion engines for the generation of power or which are prepared, advertised, offered for sale, or sold 
for use for that purpose.  The term does not generally include kerosene, fuel oil, gas oil, diesel fuel, tractor 
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fuel by whatever trade name or technical name known having an initial boiling point of not less than 200 
degrees Fahrenheit and of which not more than 95% has been recovered at 464 degrees Fahrenheit 
(ASTM method D-86), liquefied gases which would not exist as liquids at a temperature of 60 degrees 
Fahrenheit and pressure of 14.7 pounds per square inch absolute, or naphthas and benzols and solvents 
sold for use for industrial purposes. 
 
"Fuels" are defined as including diesel fuel and all combustible gases and liquids used for the generation 
of power in aircraft or aircraft engines, or used in an internal combustion engine for the generation of 
power to propel vehicles on the public highways.  The term does not include liquid fuels or dyed diesel 
fuel.   
 
"Alternative Fuels" are defined as natural gas, compressed natural gas (CNG), liquefied natural gas 
(LNG), liquid propane gas and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG), alcohols, gasoline-alcohol mixtures 
containing at least 85% alcohol by volume, hydrogen, hythane, electricity and any other fuel used to 
propel motor vehicles on the public highways which is not taxable as fuels or liquid fuels. 
 

The Commonwealth's liquid fuels tax statute exempts fuel used by or sold to the United States 
government, the Commonwealth and its political subdivisions, volunteer fire companies, volunteer 
ambulance services and volunteer rescue squads, second class county port authorities and nonpublic 
schools not operated for profit.  Such exemptions also are applied to the Oil Franchise Tax.  The 
Department of Revenue may require purchasers of liquid fuels and fuels to provide the selling oil 
company with documentation to substantiate any portion of its purchases which are to be used for a 
nontaxable purpose. 
 
Collection and Calculation of Oil Franchise Tax 
 

The Department of Revenue is charged with the enforcement of the provisions of Chapters 90 and 
95 of Title 75 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes.  All taxes, interest and penalties imposed by 
Chapter 95 of Title 75 of the Pennsylvania Consolidated Statutes are to be deposited in the Motor License 
Fund and that amount resulting from the 55 mills is allocated, as described above under this caption "OIL 
FRANCHISE TAX." 
 

The Oil Franchise Tax is imposed and collected upon all gallons of taxable liquid fuels and fuels 
on a "cents-per-gallon equivalent basis." Distributors are liable to the Commonwealth for the collection 
and payment of this tax which is required to be collected by the distributor at the time the liquid fuels and 
fuels are used or sold and delivered by the distributor. 
 

The collection on a "cents-per-gallon equivalent basis" (millage rate) is defined as the average 
wholesale price per gallon multiplied by the decimal equivalent of the tax imposed which, in the case of 
the Commission, is the additional 55 mills added in 1991 multiplied by 14%.  The average wholesale 
price means the average wholesale price per gallon of all taxable liquid fuels and fuels, excluding the 
federal excise tax and all liquid fuels taxes, as determined by the Department of Revenue for the 12-
month period ending on the September 30 immediately prior to January 1 of the year for which the rate is 
to be set.  Prior to the enactment of Act 89, there was a statutorily imposed cap on the average wholesale 
price for purposes of calculating the Oil Franchise Tax in which the average wholesale price was capped 
at a maximum of $1.25 per gallon.  This level was well below wholesale market prices for fuel and had 
the effect of artificially reducing Oil Franchise Tax revenues to both the Commonwealth and the 
Commission.  With the enactment of Act 89 in November 2013, the Commonwealth, over a period of five 
years ending in fiscal year 2018, is eliminating the cap on the average wholesale price for the purpose of 
calculating the Oil Franchise Tax.  In addition to eliminating the statutory cap on the average wholesale 
price, Act 89 also establishes minimum levels, or “floors,” to be used in the calculation of average 
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wholesale price.  From January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 Act 89 set the average wholesale price at 
$1.87 per gallon.  From January 1, 2015 to December 31, 2016 the average wholesale price is statutorily 
set at $2.49 per gallon.  Further, for any period after December 31, 2016, the Pennsylvania Department of 
Revenue shall calculate the average wholesale price for the 12-month period ending on September 30 
immediately prior to the January 1 of the year for which the rate is to be set.  More importantly, Act 89 
also states that in no case shall the average wholesale price be less than $2.99 per gallon after December 
31, 2016.  With respect to Oil Franchise Tax receipts of the Commission, revisions to Act 89, once fully 
implemented by fiscal year 2018 are expected grow from an average of $61 million annual to over $144 
million annually.  
 
Amounts of Oil Franchise Tax Collected 
 

The following table lists the amounts of Oil Franchise Tax collected by the Commonwealth and 
deposited into the Motor License Fund in each of the last six fiscal years of the Commonwealth and sets 
forth the estimated Oil Franchise Tax collections for fiscal years 2017 through 2021 as set forth in the 
Governor's Executive Budget for the Commonwealth's fiscal year 2017, which commenced on July 1, 
2016.   The historical Commission Allocation presented below reflects actual receipts by the Commission. 

 
 

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands) 
(Reported on a Cash Basis) 

 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30 

 
Tax Collected1 Commission Allocation2,3 

Actual   
2011 $439,060 $60,996 
2012   441,932   61,897 
2013   429,543   60,285 
2014   515,346   65,089 
2015   721,220   95,638 

 2016*   865,214 121,130 
 

Estimated** 
  

2017    924,200   129,388 
2018 1,030,800   144,312 
2019 1,039,400   145,516 
2020 1,047,300   146,622 
2021 1,054,700   147,658 

   
*Preliminary, unaudited 
**The estimates set forth in the preceding table are those used or are otherwise derived from the Governor's Executive Budget for 

Fiscal Year 2016-17 and are estimates only.  The estimates are calculated based on prior year revenues and reasonable expectations of receipts 
based on prior year revenues.  There can be no assurance that the Commission allocation or the estimated available revenues in the years shown 
will not vary materially and/or adversely from the estimates. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1  Amount determined at the end of the Commonwealth’s fiscal year ending June 30 of each year. 
2  Amount determined at the end of the Commission’s fiscal year ending May 31 of each year. 
3  The amount of the Commission’s Allocation does not equal exactly 14% of the tax collected from the added 55 mills because of the difference 
between the Commonwealth’s and the Commission’s fiscal years. 
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Historical Consumption Amounts 
 
 The following table lists historic gallonage consumed for the primary fuels on which the Oil 
Franchise Tax is imposed.  The table provided below does not purport to include all fuels on which the 
Oil Franchise Tax is calculated.  For a full description, see "OIL FRANCHISE TAX - Liquid Fuels and 
Fuels as the Subjects of Oil Franchise Tax." 

 
Historical Gallonage Consumption for Oil Franchise Tax Gasoline and Diesel Fuels 

 
Commonwealth Fiscal 

Year  
Ending June 30 

 
 

Gasoline 

 
 

Diesel 

 
 

Total Gallonage 
2007 5,037,203,786 1,427,926,624 6,465,130,410 
2008 4,924,688,321 1,359,136,424 6,283,824,745 
2009 4,910,855,824 1,286,139,537 6,196,995,361 
2010 4,956,397,661 1,268,327,770 6,224,725,431 
2011 5,022,408,136 1,335,960,491 6,358,368,627 
2012 5,009,865,770 1,359,890,824 6,369,756,594 
2013 4,930,872,445 1,346,217,079 6,277,089,524 
2014 4,894,799,583 1,368,234,811 6,263,034,394 
2015 4,901,588,125 1,377,637,478 6,279,225,603 

First Half 2015* 2,519,871,177    713,534,498 3,233,351,675 
First Half 2016* 2,474,801,400    664,850,069 3,139,651,469 

 
*Reflect data from months July through December 
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Debt Service Schedule* 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ending 
May 31 

Existing Debt 
Service on 

Senior 
Bonds 

Series 
2016A 

Bonds Debt 
Service 

Total Debt 
Service on 

Senior Bonds 

Existing Debt 
Service on 

Subordinated 
Bonds 

Series 
2016B 

Bonds Debt 
Service 

Total Debt 
Service on 

Subordinated 
Bonds 

Combined Total 
Debt 

Service** 

2017 $26,648,194 $2,275,047 $28,923,241 $20,119,121 $1,331,797 $21,450,917 $50,374,158

2018 8,040,412 18,545,200 26,585,612 7,626,643 11,912,700 19,539,343 46,124,955

2019 8,043,212 18,558,400 26,601,612 7,628,243 11,924,500 19,552,743 46,154,355

2020 8,042,712 18,567,000 26,609,712 7,618,243 11,936,250 19,554,493 46,164,205

2021 14,001,187 11,870,250 25,871,437 12,862,043 6,256,250 19,118,293 44,989,730

2022 14,016,537 11,874,500 25,891,037 12,876,943 6,258,250 19,135,193 45,026,230

2023 6,898,137 19,840,250 26,738,387 6,666,393 12,971,500 19,637,893 46,376,280

2024 6,896,737 19,859,000 26,755,737 6,666,593 12,985,250 19,651,843 46,407,580

2025 15,403,337 10,547,750 25,951,087 17,165,593 3,792,500 20,958,093 46,909,180

2026 5,213,587 21,636,500 26,850,087 17,161,506 3,792,500 20,954,006 47,804,093

2027 5,365,702 21,502,000 26,867,702 9,940,138 9,792,500 19,732,638 46,600,340

2028 5,501,510 21,387,250 26,888,760 9,957,149 9,802,500 19,759,649 46,648,408

2029 5,681,403 21,229,750 26,911,153 5,136,946 14,597,000 19,733,946 46,645,100

2030 5,843,412 21,090,000 26,933,412 5,149,109 14,596,000 19,745,109 46,678,521

2031 6,002,930 20,955,500 26,958,430 5,199,121 14,586,500 19,785,621 46,744,051

2032 6,199,761 20,779,250 26,979,011 5,215,264 14,587,500 19,802,764 46,781,775

2033 6,392,129 20,611,500 27,003,629 4,768,827 15,057,000 19,825,827 46,829,456

2034 29,639,839  29,639,839 21,949,589 21,949,589 51,589,428

2035 29,623,568  29,623,568 21,940,367 21,940,367 51,563,935

2036 29,604,253  29,604,253 21,928,468 21,928,468 51,532,721

2037 29,590,514  29,590,514 21,912,601 21,912,601 51,503,114

2038 29,305,576  29,305,576 18,956,476 18,956,476 48,262,052

2039 29,000,000  29,000,000 29,000,000

2040 29,000,000  29,000,000 29,000,000

Total $359,954,650 $301,129,147 $661,083,797 $268,445,376 $176,180,497 $444,625,873 $1,105,709,670

*Totals may not add due to rounding.

** Debt Service reflects receipt of the Issuer Subsidy with respect to Oil Franchise Tax Build America Bonds. For each fiscal 

year, assumes a reduction of 6.9% of the Issuer Subsidy due to sequestration.  See "CERTAIN RISK FACTORS; Reduction in 

federal subsidy payable to the Commission for its outstanding Build America Bonds due to sequestration.". 
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Debt Service Coverage 

Based on the information set forth on the previous page, the following table has been compiled to 
show historical debt service coverage for the Bonds with receipt of the Issuer Subsidy. 

HISTORICAL OIL FRANCHISE TAX DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 

Commission 
Fiscal Year 

Ending May 315 Tax Receipts1 
Senior Debt 

Service2,5 
Senior 

Coverage 
Total Debt 
Service 3,5 

Total 
Coverage4 

2010 $59,733,000 $17,818,075   3.35x $33,218,144   1.80x 

2011   60,996,000   28,885,444 2.11   52,127,246 1.17 

2012   61,897,480   29,194,211 2.12   50,774,598 1.22 

2013   60,285,069   29,209,311 2.06   50,770,248 1.19 

2014   65,088,995   28,841,619 2.26   49,995,301 1.30 

2015 95,637,803   28,542,786 3.35   49,766,420 1.92 
2016 121,130,001   29,295,709 4.13   50,515,902 2.40 

1 Actual Commission Allocation received.  Amount of Commission Allocation received for fiscal year 2016 is unaudited. 

2 Computed on a fiscal year basis. 

3 Computed on a fiscal year basis, but with the addition of the Principal and Interest Requirements on Subordinated Bonds. 

4 Debt Service Reserve Fund earnings, if any, are available only for the Subordinated Bonds.  This table does not assume any Debt 

Service Reserve Fund earnings. 

5 Debt Service reflects receipt of the Issuer Subsidy with respect to Oil Franchise Tax Build America Bonds. See "CERTAIN RISK 

FACTORS; Reduction in federal  subsidy payable to the Commission for its outstanding Build America Bonds due to sequestration." 
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CERTAIN RISK FACTORS 

There are various factors which could adversely affect the sufficiency of the Trust Estate and 
which, if present, may result in an inability of the Commission to meet the debt service requirements on 
the 2016 Bonds.  The following is intended only as a summary of certain risk factors attendant to an 
investment in the 2016 Bonds and is not intended to be exhaustive.  In order to identify risk factors and 
make informed investment decisions, potential investors should be thoroughly familiar with the entire 
Official Statement (including each Appendix hereto), and the Indenture in order to make a judgment as to 
whether the 2016 Bonds are an appropriate investment.  The following risk factors are among those which 
should be considered by a potential investor: 

Oil Franchise Tax Revenues 
may decline 

The statistical information in this Official Statement regarding Oil 
Franchise Tax revenues collected and received by the Commission 
is historical.  The actual amount of future Oil Franchise Tax 
revenues collected and received by the Commission depends upon a 
number of factors, including specifically the rate of consumption of 
motor fuels and the substitution of alternative energy sources for 
motor vehicles which may be affected by a number of factors 
including but not limited to: 

 Increasing costs of motor fuels reducing demand;

 Increasing fuel efficiency of motor vehicles and the substitution
of alternative energy sources for motor vehicles;

 Development of alternative energy sources;

PROJECTED OIL FRANCHISE TAX DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE 

Commission 
Fiscal Year 

Ending May 31 
Senior Debt 

Service2,5 

Estimated 
Senior 

Coverage 
Total Debt 
Service3,5 

Estimated 
Total 

Coverage4 

2017 

Estimated 
Tax Receipts1 

$129,388,000 $28,923,241 4.47 $50,374,158 2.57 
2018 144,312,000 26,585,612 5.43 46,124,955 3.13 
2019 145,516,000 26,601,612 5.47 46,154,355 3.15 
2020 146,622,000 26,609,712 5.51 46,164,205 3.18 
2021 147,658,000 25,871,437 5.71 44,989,730 3.28 

____________________________ 

1 Projected Commission Allocation based on the Fiscal Year 2017 Governor's Executive Budget. 

2 Computed on a fiscal year basis.  Includes debt service from the 2016A Bonds and takes into account the reduction of debt 
service from the bonds refunded by the 2016A Bonds. 

3 Computed on a fiscal year basis and includes senior debt service described in footnote 2, but with the addition of the Principal 
and Interest Requirements on Subordinated Bonds.  Includes debt service from the 2016B Bonds and takes into account the 
reduction of debt service from the bonds refunded by the 2016B Bonds. 

4 Debt Service Reserve Fund earnings, if any, are available only for the Subordinated Bonds.  This table does not assume any 
Debt Service Reserve Fund earnings. 

5 Debt Service reflects receipt of the Issuer Subsidy with respect to Oil Franchise Tax Build America Bonds. For each fiscal 
year, assumes a reduction of 6.9% of the Issuer Subsidy due to sequestration.  See "CERTAIN RISK FACTORS; Reduction 
in federal subsidy payable to the Commission for its outstanding Build America Bonds due to sequestration." 
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 Development of mass transit; and 

 Changing demographics within the Commonwealth. 

Investors in the 2016B Bonds 
bear greater risk of non- 
payment because the priority 
of payment of interest and 
principal payments on the 
2016B Bonds is subordinate to 
all Senior Obligations under 
the Indenture 

The 2016B Bonds are subordinate in right of payment to the 
payment of all Senior Bonds under the Indenture and payments 
under Parity Swap Agreements to Senior Bonds.  In addition, it is 
possible that additional senior bonds and other senior obligations 
may be issued in the future by the Commission under the Indenture, 
which would increase the amount of Senior Bonds and such other 
payments to which payment on the 2016B Bonds is subordinated, 
thus increasing the risk of nonpayment to 2016B Bondholders. 

The Commission's financial 
condition may be adversely 
affected as a consequence of 
adverse changes in the 
financial condition of third- 
party financial institutions 

Adverse changes in the financial condition of certain third-party 
financial institutions, including swap counterparties, providers of 
credit facilities (including providers of direct-pay letters of credit 
and bond insurers which have issued or may issue insurance 
policies on one or more series of Bonds) may adversely affect the 
Commission's financial position.  Different types of investment and 
contractual arrangements may create exposure for the Commission 
to such institutions including: 

  Risk to the Commission's investment portfolio due to defaults 
or changes in market valuation of the debt securities of such 
institutions; 

 Counterparty risk related to swaps used by the Commission to 
hedge its cost of funds; and 

 Risk of rating changes of the Commission's credit enhancers or 
liquidity providers which may adversely affect the interest costs 
on the Commission's variable rate debt or which may render 
such variable rate debt unmarketable. 

Certain legislative actions may 
result in adverse changes to the 
Commission or Act 44 

From time to time legislation is introduced in the Pennsylvania 
General Assembly which may affect the Commission and therefore 
may affect certain of the assumptions made in this Official 
Statement.  The Commission cannot predict if any of such bills or 
other legislation will be enacted into law, or how any such 
legislation may affect the Commission's ability to timely pay the 
2016 Bonds.   See APPENDIX A - "THE PENNSYLVANIA 
TURNPIKE COMMISSION." 

Bankruptcy risk; Lien position The rights and remedies of Bondholders could be limited by the 
provisions of the Federal Bankruptcy Code, as now or hereafter 
enacted (the "Bankruptcy Code"), or by other laws or legal or 
equitable principles which may affect the enforcement of creditors' 
rights.  Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code permits, under prescribed 
circumstances, a political subdivision or public agency or 
instrumentality of a state, such as the Commission, to commence a 
voluntary bankruptcy proceeding and to file a plan of adjustment in 
the repayment of its debts, if such entity is generally not paying its 
debts as they become due (unless such debts are the subject of a 
bona fide dispute), or is unable to pay its debts as they become due.  
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Under the Bankruptcy Code, an involuntary petition cannot be filed 
against a political subdivision, public agency or instrumentality of a 
state. 

 In order to proceed under Chapter 9 of the Bankruptcy Code, state 
law must authorize the political subdivision, public agency or 
instrumentality to file a petition under the Bankruptcy Code.  THE 
ENABLING ACTS DO NOT CURRENTLY AUTHORIZE THE 
COMMISSION TO FILE A PETITION UNDER THE 
BANKRUPTCY CODE. 

Reductions in federal subsidy 
payable to the Commission for 
its outstanding Build America 
Bonds due to sequestration 

 

As of July 1, 2016, the Commission had $1,104,675,000 in 
principal amount of Build America Bonds outstanding, and is 
entitled to receive approximately $22,387,000 in federal subsidy 
(the "Issuer Subsidy") annually with respect to such Build America 
Bonds.  The Commission has pledged the Issuer Subsidy as security 
for 2009B Bonds and the 2009E Bonds.  A series of automatic 
federal deficit reduction spending cuts known as "sequestration" 
became effective on March 1, 2013 as a result of the failure by 
Congress to adopt alternative deficit reduction legislation.  
Sequestration will affect the amount of the Issuer Subsidy with 
respect to the Commission's outstanding Build America Bonds.  The 
Commission currently has $229,675,000 in principal amount of 
Build America Bonds outstanding which are secured pursuant to the 
Indenture, and is entitled to receive approximately $4,891,134 in 
federal subsidy annually with respect to such Oil Franchise Tax 
Build America Bonds.  Based on guidance issued by the Internal 
Revenue Service in March 2013, the amount of such federal subsidy 
payable to the Commission regarding its Oil Franchise Tax Build 
America Bonds outstanding was reduced by 8.7% or approximately 
$212,764 applicable to the June 1, 2013 debt service payment 
during fiscal year 2014.  Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 
2013 (Public Law 113-67), such federal subsidy was reduced by 
7.2% or approximately $352,162 for payments through September 
30, 2014.  Based on guidance issued by the IRS, such federal 
subsidy was reduced by 7.3% or approximately $357,053 for 
payments from October 1, 2014 through September 30, 2015, by 
6.8% or approximately $332,597 for payments from October 1, 
2015 through September 30, 2016 and by 6.9% or approximately 
$337,488 for payments from October 1, 2016 through September 
30, 2017.  Reductions in future federal fiscal years are currently 
unknown.  Adverse changes in the amount of the Issuer Subsidy the 
Commission receives may require the Commission to use other 
funds to offset the loss of this subsidy. 

Possible changes in federal or 
Commonwealth tax laws could 
affect the excludability or 
deductibility of interest on tax-
exempt bonds such as the 2016 
Bonds 

Current and future legislative proposals, if enacted into law, could 
cause interest on the 2016 Bonds to be subject, directly or 
indirectly, to federal income taxation, or to be subject to or not be 
exempted from income taxation imposed by the Commonwealth, or 
otherwise prevent the owners of the 2016 Bonds from realizing the 
full current benefit of the tax status of such interest.  The 
introduction and/or enactment of any such legislative proposals may 
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also affect the market price for, or marketability of, the 2016 Bonds.  
Prospective purchasers of the 2016 Bonds should consult their own 
tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed federal tax 
legislation, as to which Co-Bond Counsel will express no opinion.  
See "TAX MATTERS." 

The 2016 Bonds may be repaid 
early due to the exercise of the 
redemption option.  If this 
happens, yield may be affected 
and Bondholders will bear 
reinvestment risk 

The 2016 Bonds may be redeemed prior to their final maturities if 
the Commission exercises its option to redeem 2016 Bonds.  
Bondholders bear the risk that monies received upon such 
redemptions cannot be reinvested in comparable securities or at 
comparable yields. 

Uncertainty as to available 
remedies 

The remedies available to owners of the 2016 Bonds upon an Event 
of Default under the Indenture or other documents described herein 
are in many respects dependent upon regulatory and judicial actions 
which often are subject to discretion and delay.  Under existing 
constitutional and statutory law and judicial decisions, the remedies 
specified by the Indenture and such other documents may not be 
readily available or may be limited.  The various legal opinions to 
be delivered concurrently with the issuance of the 2016 Bonds will 
be qualified, as to the enforceability of the various legal 
instruments, by limitations imposed by bankruptcy, reorganization, 
insolvency or other similar laws affecting the rights of creditors 
generally. 

  

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 The financial statements of the Commission for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and May 31, 
2014 are set forth in APPENDIX B – "AUDITED 2015 AND 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS" 
certified by Zelenkofske Axelrod, LLC, in its capacity as independent auditor.  The Commission has not 
asked Zelenkofske Axelrod, LLC to perform any additional review procedures in connection with this 
Official Statement.  The basic financial statements of the Commission for fiscal years ended May 31, 
2016 and May 31, 2015 are expected to be released in September 2016 and made available through 
EMMA (defined below) as discussed under "CONTINUING DISCLOSURE" herein.  While the 
audited financial statements of the Commission pertain to the Commission as a whole, payment of 
the 2016 Bonds is secured solely by the Trust Estate which includes a portion of the revenues 
derived from the Oil Franchise Tax but not certain other revenues of the Commission which are 
reported in such audited financial statements (e.g. revenues derived from Tolls, Registration Fee 
Revenues and certain other revenues of the Commission are not part of the Trust Estate securing 
the 2016 Bonds.) 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 
 
 The Commission will enter into a Continuing Disclosure Undertaking for the benefit of the 
Registered Owners from time to time of the 2016 Bonds (the "Disclosure Undertaking") pursuant to Rule 
15c2-12 promulgated by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") under the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 
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 Pursuant to the Disclosure Undertaking, the Commission will provide or cause to be provided to 
the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the "MSRB"), which is currently the sole nationally 
recognized municipal securities information repository ("Repository") under the Rule, via electronic 
transmissions pursuant to the MSRB's Electronic Municipal Market Access System ("EMMA"), 
accessible at http://emma.msrb.org, the following information and notices: 
 

(a) Within 180 days of the end of each fiscal year of the Commission commencing 
with the fiscal year ended May 31, 2016, annual financial information (collectively, the "Annual 
Financial Information"), consisting of: the Commission's annual audited financial statements 
and financial and operating data of the type set forth in this Official Statement regarding the 
annual amounts of the Oil Franchise Tax revenues collected by the Commonwealth and the 
annual amounts of the Commission Allocation, and those in Tables I, II and III of APPENDIX A 
– "THE PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION," as well as a summary of any material 
legislative or regulatory developments affecting Act 44 or Act 89.  In the event that audited 
financial statements are not available within 180 days after the close of the applicable fiscal year, 
the Annual Financial Information will contain unaudited financial statements and the audited 
financial statements will be provided for filing when available. 

(b) Notice of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the 2016 
Bonds, within ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such event: (i) principal and interest 
payment delinquencies; (ii) non-payment related defaults, if material; (iii) unscheduled draws on 
debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (iv) unscheduled draws on credit 
enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (v) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or 
their failure to perform; (vi) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the IRS of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material 
notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the 2016 Bonds or other events affecting 
the tax status of the 2016 Bonds; (vii) modifications to rights of holders of the 2016 Bonds, if 
material; (viii) 2016 Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (ix) defeasances; (x) release, 
substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the 2016 Bonds, if material; (xi) rating 
changes; (xii) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar proceeding of the Commission; 
(xiii) consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the Commission or the 
sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Commission, other than in the ordinary course of 
business, the entry of a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a 
definitive agreement relating to such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and 
(xiv) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material. 

The foregoing fourteen (14) events are quoted from the Rule.  The SEC requires inclusion 
of the events listed in clauses (i) through (xiv) above, although some of such events may not be 
applicable to the 2016 Bonds. 

The Commission may amend the Disclosure Undertaking and waive any of the provisions 
thereof, but no such amendment or waiver shall be executed and effective unless: (i) the 
amendment or waiver is made in connection with a change in legal requirements, change in law 
or change in the identity, nature or status of the Commission or the governmental operations 
conducted by the Commission; (ii) the Disclosure Undertaking, as modified by the amendment or 
waiver, would have been the written undertaking contemplated by the Rule at the time of original 
issuance of the 2016 Bonds, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule; 
and (iii) the amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of the Registered 
Owners of the 2016 Bonds.  Evidence of compliance with the foregoing conditions shall be 
satisfied by delivery to the Commission of an opinion of counsel having recognized skill and 
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experience in the issuance of municipal securities and federal securities law to the effect that the 
amendment or waiver satisfies the conditions set forth in the preceding sentence.  Notice of any 
amendment or waiver shall be filed by the Commission with each Repository (presently only the 
MSRB by electronic transmissions under EMMA) and shall be sent to the Registered Owners of 
the 2016 Bonds. 

The Disclosure Undertaking will recite that it is entered into for the benefit of the Registered 
Owners from time to time of the 2016 Bonds.  For the purposes of the Disclosure Undertaking, for so long 
as the 2016 Bonds are registered in the name of DTC or its nominee, "Registered Owner" shall mean and 
include the holder of a book-entry credit evidencing an interest in the 2016 Bonds.  Holders of book-entry 
credits may file their names and addresses with the Commission for the purposes of receiving notices or 
giving direction under the Disclosure Undertaking. 
 

A default under the Disclosure Undertaking shall not be deemed to be a default under the 2016 
Bonds or the Indenture, and the sole remedy to enforce the provisions of the Disclosure Undertaking shall 
be the right of any Registered Owner, by mandamus, suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity, to 
compel the Commission to perform the provisions and covenants contained in the Disclosure 
Undertaking. 
 

The Disclosure Undertaking will terminate (1) upon payment or provision for payment in full of 
the 2016 Bonds, (2) upon repeal or rescission of Section (b)(5) of the Rule, or (3) upon a final 
determination that Section (b)(5) of the Rule is invalid or unenforceable.  A copy of the Disclosure 
Undertaking is on file at the principal office of the Commission. 

 
Approximately 62 separate continuing disclosure undertakings were in effect during the five (5) 

year period preceding the date of this Official Statement relating to over 100 series and subseries of bonds 
issued by the Commission.  In connection with approximately six (6) of those undertakings (which cover 
approximately eighteen (18) series and subseries of bonds), the Commission failed to provide (on or 
before the required deadlines) certain annual disclosure concerning either Act 3 Registration Fee Revenue 
or Oil Franchise Tax Revenue collected by the Commonwealth for fiscal years ending 2011-2014, as 
applicable.  

 
Each of the forgoing described disclosures was subsequently filed through EMMA on or about 

September 30, 2015.  Notice of the failure to timely provide such disclosures was filed with the MSRB 
(via EMMA) on July 22, 2016.   Additionally, a notice of change in trustee in April of 2012 was filed 
approximately 16 days late. None of the forgoing described instances of late filings should be construed 
as an acknowledgement by the Commission that any such instance was material. 

 
Except as may be otherwise described herein, during the five (5) year period preceding the date of 

this Official Statement, the Commission has complied in all material respects with all of its continuing 
disclosure undertakings entered into pursuant to the Rule in connection with its other series of bonds.   
 

RELATIONSHIPS OF CERTAIN PARTIES 
 

Public Financial Management, Inc., Financial Advisor to the Commission and its affiliate PFM 
Asset Management, LLC are engaged to provide other services to the Commission.  Buchanan Ingersoll 
& Rooney PC, Disclosure Counsel in this transaction, is engaged from time to time to provide certain 
other services to the Commission. 
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J.P. Morgan Securities LLC ("JPMS") is serving as one of the underwriters to the Commission on 
the 2016 Bonds.  JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association is acting as a counterparty under certain 
interest rate swap agreements with the Commission. In addition it is also acting as credit provider.  J.P. 
Morgan Securities LLC is an affiliate of JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association.   

 
UNDERWRITING 

 
Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., L.L.C., on behalf of itself and the other Underwriters shown on 

the cover page hereof (the "Underwriters"), are expected to enter into one or more purchase contracts (the 
"Purchase Contracts") with the Commission pursuant to which the Underwriters will agree, subject to 
certain customary conditions precedent to closing, to: (i) purchase the 2016A Bonds from the 
Commission at a purchase price equal to $244,730,796.48 (representing the par amount of the 2016A 
Bonds less an Underwriters' discount of $643,438.02 and plus original issue premium of $46,779,234.50); 
and (ii) purchase the 2016B Bonds from the Commission at a purchase price equal to $139,233,917.65 
(representing the par amount of the 2016B Bonds less an Underwriters' discount of $383,511.35 and plus 
original issue premium of $24,222,429.00); 

 
Pursuant to the Purchase Contracts, the Underwriters will be obligated to purchase all of the 

2016A Bonds and 2016B Bonds if any of such 2016A and 2016B Bonds are purchased.  The 2016 Bonds 
may be offered and sold to certain dealers (including the Underwriters and other dealers depositing such 
2016 Bonds into investment trusts) at prices lower than such public offering prices (and such public 
offering prices may be changed, from time to time, by the Underwriters) only after a public offering of the 
2016 Bonds at the initial offering price.  The Commission has agreed to be liable to the Underwriters to 
the extent of all losses, claims, damages and liabilities arising out of incorrect statements or information 
contained in this Official Statement or material omissions therein, except for information furnished by the 
Underwriters, and with respect to certain other matters.   

 
The Underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in 

various activities, which may include sales and trading, commercial and investment banking, advisory, 
investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, brokerage 
and other financial and non-financial activities and services.  Certain of the Underwriters and their 
respective affiliates have provided, and may in the future provide, a variety of these services to the 
Commission and to persons and entities with relationships with the Commission, for which they received 
or will receive customary fees and expenses. 

 
In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Underwriters and their respective 

affiliates, officers, directors and employees may purchase, sell or hold a broad array of investments and 
actively trade securities, derivatives, loans, commodities, currencies, credit default swaps and other 
financial instruments for their own account and for the accounts of their customers, and such investment 
and trading activities may involve or relate to assets, securities and/or instruments of the Commission 
(directly, as collateral securing other obligations or otherwise) and/or persons and entities with 
relationships with the Commission.  The Underwriters and their respective affiliates may also 
communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and/or publish or 
express independent research views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any 
time hold, or recommend to clients that they should acquire, long and/or short positions in such assets, 
securities and instruments. 

 
Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., L.L.C. ("SBS") has entered into an agreement with Muriel 

Siebert & Co. for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings, at the original issue prices.  
Pursuant to said agreement, if applicable to the 2016 Bonds, Muriel Siebert & Co. will purchase 2016 
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Bonds at the original issue price, less the selling concession with respect to any 2016 Bonds that Muriel 
Siebert & Co. sells.  SBS will share a portion of its underwriting compensation with Muriel Siebert & Co. 

 
Wells Fargo Securities is the trade name for certain securities-related capital markets and 

investment banking services of Wells Fargo & Company and its subsidiaries, including Wells Fargo 
Bank, National Association, which conducts its municipal securities sales, trading and underwriting 
operations through the Wells Fargo Bank NA Municipal Products Group, a separately identifiable 
department of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission as a municipal securities dealer pursuant to Section 15B(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934.  

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, acting through its Municipal Products Group 
("WFBNA"), one of the underwriters of the 2016 Bonds, has entered into an agreement (the "WFA 
Distribution Agreement") with its affiliate, Wells Fargo Advisors, LLC ("WFA"), for the distribution of 
certain municipal securities offerings, including the 2016 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFA Distribution 
Agreement, WFBNA will share a portion of its underwriting or remarketing agent compensation, as 
applicable, with respect to the 2016 Bonds with WFA. WFBNA has also entered into an agreement (the 
“WFSLLC Distribution Agreement”) with its affiliate Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (“WFSLLC”), for the 
distribution of municipal securities offerings, including the 2016 Bonds. Pursuant to the WFSLLC 
Distribution Agreement, WFBNA pays a portion of WFSLLC’s expenses based on its municipal 
securities transactions. WFBNA, WFSLLC, and WFA are each wholly-owned subsidiaries of Wells Fargo 
& Company. 

 
JPMS, one of the underwriters of the 2016 Bonds, has entered into negotiated dealer agreements 

(each, a "Dealer Agreement") with each of Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. ("CS&Co.") and LPL Financial 
LLC ("LPL") for the retail distribution of certain securities offerings at the original issue prices.  Pursuant 
to each Dealer Agreement, each of CS&Co. and LPL may purchase 2016 Bonds from JPMS at the 
original issue price leas a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any 2016 Bonds that 
such firm sells. 

 
The Commission has recommended and the Underwriters have accepted the appointment of 

Cohen & Grigsby, P.C., as counsel to the Underwriters in connection with the purchase of the 2016 
Bonds.  

 
RATINGS 

 
Moody's Investors Service, Inc.  ("Moody's") and Fitch Ratings Services ("Fitch") have assigned 

their municipal bond ratings of "Aa3" (stable outlook), "AA" (stable outlook), respectively, to the 2016A 
Bonds. 

 
Moody's and Fitch have assigned their municipal bond ratings of "A2" (stable outlook), "A+" 

(stable outlook), respectively, to the 2016B Bonds. 
 
An explanation of the significance of each of such ratings and any outlook may be obtained from 

the rating agency furnishing the same at the following addresses: Moody's Investors Service, Inc., 7 
World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007; and Fitch Ratings Services, 
33 Whitehall Street, New York, New York 10004.  Certain materials and information not included in this 
Official Statement may have been furnished to such rating agencies.  A rating is not a recommendation to 
buy, sell or hold securities.  There is no assurance that such ratings will continue for any given period of 
time or that they may not be lowered or withdrawn entirely by the rating agencies, or either of them, if, in 
their or its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such downward change in or withdrawal of such 
ratings, or any of them, may have an adverse effect on the market price of the 2016 Bonds. 
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Except as provided in the Disclosure Undertaking, neither the Underwriters nor the Commission 

have undertaken any responsibility to bring to the attention of the holders of the 2016 Bonds any 
proposed or actual change in or withdrawal of any rating and neither the Underwriters nor the 
Commission have undertaken any responsibility to oppose any proposed change or withdrawal. See 
"CONTINUING DISCLOSURE" above. 
 

LITIGATION 
 

There is no controversy or litigation of any nature now pending or threatened restraining or 
enjoining the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the 2016 Bonds, or in any way contesting or 
affecting the validity of the 2016 Bonds or any proceedings of the Commission taken with respect to the 
offer or sale thereof, or the pledge or application of any moneys or security provided for the payment of 
the 2016 Bonds, including Oil Franchise Taxes or the collection thereof, the existence or powers of the 
Commission or the construction of the Commission's capital improvement program. 

 
The Commission is covered by Act No.  152 approved September 28, 1978, which provides for a 

limited waiver of sovereign immunity by the Commonwealth.  Damages for any loss are limited to 
$250,000 for each person or $1,000,000 in the aggregate. 

 
The Commission is subject to claims for personal injury and/or property damage pertaining to 

matters normally incidental to routine operations, none of which, individually or in the aggregate, are 
currently deemed by the Commission to expose the Commission to a material risk of loss. 

 
On March 13, 2013, as a result of a statewide grand jury investigation, the Pennsylvania Attorney 

General filed criminal charges against a former Commission Chairman, the former Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Operating Officer of the Commission, two individuals at companies doing business 
with the Commission and two former Commission employees.  These individuals were charged with a 
variety of offenses, including conspiracy, commercial bribery, bid- rigging, theft, conflict of interest and 
corrupt organization violations.  No criminal charges have been filed against current Commissioners, 
senior executives, or employees of the Commission.    See "THE COMMISSION –Recent Developments 
and Pending Legislation – Statewide Investigating Grand Jury Investigation and Recent Criminal 
Charges" in APPENDIX A hereto for a detailed discussion of the matters summarized above. 
 

LEGAL MATTERS 
 

Certain legal matters with respect to the 2016 Bonds will be passed upon by Obermayer Rebmann 
Maxwell & Hippel LLP, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania and Houston Harbaugh, P.C., Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania, Co-Bond Counsel.  A copy of the proposed form of opinion of Co-Bond Counsel which 
will be delivered on the dates of issuance and delivery of the 2016 Bonds is set forth in APPENDIX D – 
"FORM OF OPINION OF CO-BOND COUNSEL." Certain other legal matters will be passed upon for 
the Underwriters by their Counsel, Cohen & Grigsby, P.C., Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and for the 
Commission by its Chief Counsel, Doreen A.  McCall, Esquire, and Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney PC, 
Disclosure Counsel. 

 
The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the 2016 Bonds 

express the professional judgment of the attorneys rendering the opinion as to the legal issues explicitly 
addressed therein.  In rendering a legal opinion, the attorney does not become an insurer or guarantor of 
that expression of professional judgment, of the transaction opined upon, or the future performance of the 
parties to the transaction.  In addition, the rendering of an opinion does not guarantee the outcome of any 
legal dispute that may arise out of the transaction. 
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FINANCIAL ADVISORS 

 
The Commission has retained Public Financial Management, Inc., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 

and G-Entry Principle, P.C., Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as Co-Financial Advisors with respect to the 
authorization and issuance of the 2016 Bonds.  The Co-Financial Advisors are not obligated to undertake 
or assume responsibility for, nor have they undertaken or assumed responsibility for, an independent 
verification of the accuracy, completeness or fairness of the information contained in this Official 
Statement.  Each of the Co- Financial Advisors is an independent advisory firm and is not engaged in the 
business of underwriting, trading, or distributing municipal securities or other public securities. 
 

VERIFICATION OF MATHEMATICAL COMPUTATIONS 
 

When the 2016 Bonds are issued, BondResource Partners, LP, a wholly owned subsidiary of PFM 
Asset Management LLC (“Verification Agent”), will deliver to the Commission a report indicating that it 
has verified the arithmetic accuracy of (a) the mathematical computations of the adequacy of the cash and 
the maturing principal amounts of, and the interest on, the escrow securities to pay the principal, interest 
and redemption price coming due on the Refunded Bonds; and (b) certain yield calculations relating to the 
Refunded Bonds. The Verification Agent expressed no opinion on the assumptions provided to it, nor as 
to the exemption from taxation of the interest on the 2016 Bonds. 

 
TRUSTEE AND PAYING AGENT 

 
The Commission has appointed The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, as the successor Trustee and Manufacturers and Traders Trust Company, as 
Paying Agent under the Indenture.  The obligations and duties of the Trustee are as described in the 
Indenture.  The Trustee has not evaluated the risks, benefits or propriety of any investment in the 2016 
Bonds, and makes no representation, and has reached no conclusions, regarding the validity of the 2016 
Bonds, the security therefor, the adequacy of the provisions for payment thereof or the tax status of the 
interest on the 2016 Bonds.  The Trustee has relied upon the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel for the validity 
of the 2016 Bonds and tax status of the interest on the 2016 Bonds as well as other matters set out in that 
opinion.  Furthermore, the Trustee has no oversight responsibility, and is not accountable, for the use or 
application by the Commission of any of the 2016 Bonds authenticated or delivered pursuant to the 
Indenture or for the use or application of the proceeds of such 2016 Bonds by the Commission. 
 

Under the terms of the Indenture, the Trustee shall not be responsible for any loss or damage 
resulting from any action or inaction taken in good faith in reliance upon an opinion of counsel and the 
Trustee is liable only for those damages caused by its gross negligence or willful misconduct.  Under the 
Indenture, the Trustee is not required to take notice, and is not deemed to have notice, of any default 
under the Indenture, unless the Trustee has been specifically notified in writing of such default by the 
owners of at least 10% in aggregate principal amount of the Outstanding 2016 Bonds affected by such 
default.  All notices or other instruments required by the Indenture to be delivered to the Trustee must be 
delivered at the designated office of the Trustee.  The summary of the Trustee's rights, duties, obligations 
and immunities is not intended to be a complete summary and reference must be made to the Indenture for 
a complete statement of the Trustee's rights, duties, obligations and immunities. 
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TAX MATTERS  

Federal Tax Exemption 
 
The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") contains provisions relating to the 

tax-exempt status of interest on obligations issued by governmental entities which apply to the 2016 
Bonds.  These provisions include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to the use and investment 
of the proceeds of the 2016 Bonds and the rebate of certain investment earnings derived from such 
proceeds to the United States Treasury Department on a periodic basis.  These and other requirements of 
the Code must be met by the Commission subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the 2016 Bonds in 
order for interest thereon to be and remain excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income 
taxation.  The Commission has covenanted to comply with such requirements. 

 

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, interest on the 2016 Bonds will be excluded from gross 
income for purposes of federal income taxation under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court 
decisions.  The opinion of Co-Bond Counsel is subject to the condition that the Commission complies 
with all applicable federal income tax law requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance 
of the 2016 Bonds in order that interest thereon continues to be excluded from gross income.  The 
Commission has covenanted to comply with all such requirements.  Failure to comply with certain of such 
requirements could cause the interest on the 2016 Bonds to be includable in gross income retroactive to 
the date of issuance of the 2016 Bonds.  Interest on the 2016 Bonds is not treated as an item of tax 
preference under Section 57 of the Code for purposes of the individual and corporate alternative minimum 
taxes; however, under the Code, to the extent that interest on the 2016 Bonds is a component of a 
corporate holder's "adjusted current earnings," a portion of that interest may be subject to the corporate 
alternative minimum tax. 

 

In addition to the matters addressed above, prospective purchasers of the 2016 Bonds should be 
aware that ownership of the 2016 Bonds may result in collateral tax consequences to certain taxpayers, 
including, but not limited to, foreign corporations, certain S corporations, recipients of social security and 
railroad retirement benefits, financial institutions and property or casualty insurance companies.  Co-Bond 
Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences relating to the 2016 Bonds or 
the receipt of interest thereon, and prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors as to 
collateral federal income tax consequences. 

 

No assurance can be given that amendments to the Code or other federal legislation will not be 
introduced and/or enacted which would cause the interest on the 2016 Bonds to be subject, directly or 
indirectly, to federal income taxation or adversely affect the market price of the 2016 Bonds or otherwise 
prevent the holders of the 2016 Bonds from realizing the full current benefit of the federal tax status of the 
interest thereon. 

 
Original Issue Premium 

An amount equal to the excess of the purchase price of a 2016 Bond over its stated redemption 
price at maturity constitutes premium on such 2016 Bond.  Those maturities of the 2016 Bonds sold at 
such a premium are referred to herein as "OIP Bonds."  A purchaser of an OIP Bond must amortize any 
premium over such OIP Bond's term using constant yield principles, based on the purchaser's yield to 
maturity.  As premium is amortized, the purchaser's basis in such OIP Bond is reduced by a 
corresponding amount, resulting in an increase in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for 
federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such OIP Bond prior to its maturity.  Even 
though the purchaser's basis is reduced, no federal income tax deduction is allowed.  Purchasers of any 
OIP Bonds, whether at the time of initial issuance or subsequent thereto, should consult with their own 
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tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes, 
and with respect to state and local tax consequences of owning such OIP Bonds. 

 

State Tax Exemption 
 

In the opinion of Co-Bond Counsel, under the existing laws of the Commonwealth, the interest on 
the 2016 Bonds is free from Pennsylvania personal income taxation and Pennsylvania corporate net 
income taxation, but such exemption does not extend to gift, estate, succession or inheritance taxes or any 
other taxes not levied or assessed directly on the 2016 Bonds or the interest thereon.  Profits, gains or 
income derived from the sale, exchange or other disposition of the 2016 Bonds are subject to state and 
local taxation within the Commonwealth. 
 

This summary is based on laws, regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which may 
change.  Any change could apply retroactively and could affect the continued validity of this summary.  
Prospective purchasers should consult their tax advisors about the consequences of purchasing or 
holding the 2016 Bonds. 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from the 
Commission's records, audited financial statements and other sources which are believed to be reliable.  
No guarantee is given that any of the assumptions, forecasts or estimates contained herein will be realized. 
 

The references herein to the Enabling Acts, the 2016 Bonds, the Indenture and the Disclosure 
Undertaking are brief summaries of certain provisions thereof.  Such summaries do not purport to be 
complete and, accordingly, are qualified by reference to and are subject to the full texts thereof. 
 

Neither this Official Statement nor any other disclosure in connection with the 2016 Bonds is to 
be construed as a contract with the holders of the 2016 Bonds.  Any statements made in this Official 
Statement involving matters of opinion or estimates, whether or not expressly so identified, are intended 
merely as such and not as representations of fact. 
 

 
 
 

PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION 
 
 

By:               /s/ Nikolaus H. Grieshaber   
           Chief Financial Officer 
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APPENDIX A1,2 

THE PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION 

NOTE:  This Appendix A contains general information about the Commission, the System 
(defined herein) and the Commission’s obligations under Act 44 (defined herein) and Act 89 
(defined herein).  Certain financial information, including information about revenue 
derived from Tolls and a discussion of Registration Fee Revenues (as such terms are defined 
herein) is also provided.  POTENTIAL INVESTORS IN THE 2016 BONDS ARE ADVISED 
THAT THIS INFORMATION IS PROVIDED AS BACKGROUND ONLY.  THE 2016 
BONDS ARE NOT PAYABLE FROM TOLLS OR REGISTRATION FEE REVENUES.  
THE 2016 BONDS ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMMISSION PAYABLE 
SOLELY FROM THE TRUST ESTATE. 
 

THE COMMISSION 
General 

The Commission is an instrumentality of the Commonwealth existing pursuant to an Act of 
the General Assembly of Pennsylvania approved on July 18, 2007, P.  L. 169, No.  44 ("Act 44") 
and various Acts of the General Assembly approved on several dates, including the Act of May 21, 
1937, P.L. 774, Act 211; the Act of May 24, 1945, P.L. 972; the Act of February 26, 1947, P.L. 
17; the Act of May 23, 1951, P.  L. 335; the Act of August 14, 1951, P.L. 1232; the Act of 
September 30, 1985, P.L. 240, No.  61 ("Act 61") to the extent not repealed by Act 44; the Act of 
August 5, 1991, P.L. 238, No.  26 ("Act 26") and the Act of November 25, 2013, P.L. 974, No. 89 
("Act 89") (collectively, the "Enabling Acts").  The Act of April 17, 1997, No.  3 ("Act 3") revises 
certain of the provisions of Act 26 which contains the appropriation of the Commission Allocation 
of the Oil Franchise Tax.  See "OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Act 3" in the forepart of this Official 
Statement for further discussion on Act 3. 

 
 Pursuant to the Enabling Acts, the Commission has the power to construct, operate and 

maintain the Pennsylvania Turnpike System (as further described herein, the “System” or the 
“Turnpike System”). The Commission’s composition, powers, duties, functions, duration and all 
other attributes are derived from the Enabling Acts. The Enabling Acts may be modified, 
suspended, extended or terminated at any time by further legislation. 

The Commission is composed of five members, including one ex officio member, the 
Secretary of the Department of Transportation of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 
(“PennDOT”). Any vacancy in the membership of the Commission (other than the Secretary of 
Transportation) must be filled by appointment of the Governor, with the advice and consent of 
two-thirds of the members of the Pennsylvania Senate.  Act 89 enacted additional provisions 

                                                 
1 Capitalized terms used in this Appendix A and not otherwise defined have the meanings ascribed in the forepart of 
this Official Statement or in Appendix C of this Official Statement. 

2 Included in this Appendix A are links to certain additional materials.  Unless otherwise noted herein, this Appendix 
A includes by reference the information contained in the linked materials, but only as such information appears on the 
linked websites as of the date of this Official Statement.  The inclusion of these links is not intended to be a 
republication herein of any information contained on such websites. 
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pertaining to membership of the Commission. The term of confirmed members of the Commission 
(other than the Secretary of Transportation) is a period of four years and members may serve a 
maximum of two terms. Upon the expiration of a term, a member may continue to hold the office 
of Commissioner for a period of 90 days or until his or her successor is appointed and qualified, 
whichever is less. The limitations on Commissioner terms under Act 89 do not apply to members 
of the Commission originally confirmed prior to Act 89’s effective date. 

The present members of the Commission and the expiration dates of their respective terms 
(which, in the case of all of the members of the Commission except Commissioner Drew, would 
be extended until reappointment or until a successor is appointed and confirmed) are as follows: 

Sean F. Logan was elected as Chairman of the Commission in January 2015.  He was 
appointed to the Commission in July 2013. Mr. Logan is currently the Executive Director/CEO of 
the Convention and Visitors Bureau of Greater Monroeville. He is also a former Vice President of 
Community Relations for the University of Pittsburgh Medical Center. Mr. Logan is a former state 
Senator, having served from January 2001 until August 2010. Prior to his service in the 
Pennsylvania Senate, Mr. Logan served as the Mayor of Monroeville from 1997 to 2000. His term 
expires in June 2017. 

William K. Lieberman is the current Vice Chairman of the Commission, and he was 
appointed to serve as a Commissioner in July 2010. Mr. Lieberman previously served as Chairman 
of the Commission from January 2011 until January 2015.  Mr. Lieberman has been President of 
The Lieberman Companies, an insurance and pension provider, since 2003. He serves on the board 
of AMPCO Pittsburgh. A graduate of The Pennsylvania State University, he is a University of 
Pittsburgh Trustee and former Chairman of the Manchester-Bidwell Corp., Pittsburgh, 
Pennsylvania.  He was reappointed to serve as a Commissioner in January 2015.  Mr. Lieberman 
received a unanimous recommendation for confirmation by the Senate Transportation Committee 
in April 2015 and was confirmed in May 2015 by the Senate.  His term expires in May 2019. 

Pasquale T. Deon, Sr., an established businessman and lifelong resident of Bucks County, 
Pennsylvania, is the current Secretary-Treasurer of the Commission. Mr. Deon has served as a 
member of the Commission since 2002. Commissioner Deon was reappointed to the Commission 
in December 2013. Mr. Deon is Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Southeastern 
Pennsylvania Transportation Authority (SEPTA). He is also a service-industry entrepreneur 
involved in real-estate development, beverage distribution and construction services. He is the 
owner of WBCB-1490AM Radio, Levittown, Pennsylvania. His term expires in December 2017. 

Barry Drew was nominated on September 2, 2015 by Governor Tom Wolf and confirmed 
by the Senate on December 9, 2015 to serve as a Commissioner.  Mr. Drew previously served as 
the Deputy Secretary of Administration at the Pennsylvania Department of Revenue from 1995 
until 2011. Prior to that, he was Solicitor for the City of Erie, Pennsylvania, then Director of 
Administration for the County of Erie. Mr. Drew is a Vietnam War veteran who served as a 
Sergeant in the United States Air Force. He holds a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from 
Gannon University and a Juris Doctor from the Western New England College School of Law.  
His term expires in December 2019. 

Leslie S. Richards was nominated by Governor Tom Wolf as Acting Secretary of 
Transportation of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania in January 2015 and was confirmed as 
Secretary of Transportation by the Senate on May 11, 2015.  Secretary Richards is a graduate of 
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Brown University, where she concentrated in economics and urban studies.  She received a 
master’s of regional planning from the University of Pennsylvania.  In the private sector, Ms. 
Richards served as a senior project manager at a woman-owned civil engineering firm and served 
as a public involvement specialist at a consulting firm. She is experienced with managing multi-
million dollar infrastructure projects and writing annual and long-range strategic plans. In the 
public sector, Secretary Richards focused on transportation and planning issues.  She served as the 
vice chair of the Montgomery County Board of Commissioners; served as chair of the Delaware 
Valley Regional Planning Commission; as well as served on the boards of the Southeastern 
Pennsylvania Transportation Authority (SEPTA) and the Greater Valley Forge Transportation 
Management Association (GVFTMA). Before being elected county commissioner, she served as 
the chair and vice chair of the Whitemarsh Township Board of Supervisors.  

Executive Personnel 

Mark P. Compton assumed the position of Chief Executive Officer of the Commission on 
February 1, 2013. Mr. Compton previously served as Deputy Secretary of Administration of 
PennDOT, overseeing eight bureaus within the agency, including: human resources, information 
systems governance, business solutions and services, infrastructure and operations, and fiscal 
management. Before joining PennDOT, Mr. Compton served as Director of Government Affairs 
for all four companies of American Infrastructure, a heavy duty civil construction company 
headquartered in Worcester, Pennsylvania. Prior to that, he worked in various public and private 
operations, focusing largely on transportation, construction and economic development. 

Craig R. Shuey is the Chief Operating Officer of the Commission. He joined the 
Commission in August 2009 as Director of Government Affairs and was named Chief Operating 
Officer in January 2011. Mr. Shuey served as Acting Chief Executive Officer from October 2012 
to February 2013. Prior to joining the Commission, Mr. Shuey was executive director of the 
Pennsylvania Senate Transportation Committee from 2001 to 2009. He also served as a 
representative on the Senate Transportation Commission and on various advisory committees in 
areas such as air, rail, freight movement and safety. 

Nikolaus H. Grieshaber was named Chief Financial Officer in June 2008. Prior to that, he 
held positions of Director of Treasury Management and Treasury Manager with the Commission. 
Before joining the Commission in 2000, he was a finance manager and portfolio manager for ADP 
Capital Management, assistant treasurer for BTR Dunlop Finance, cash manager for Silo, Inc. and 
investment analyst for American Life Insurance Company. 

Bradley J. Heigel, P.E., was named Chief Engineer in April 2012. He was previously 
employed by the Commission from 1990 to 2010, and served as the Total Reconstruction Program 
Manager from 2000 to 2010. From 2010 to 2012, he was employed as a Vice President with 
Michael Baker, Jr., Inc., an engineering unit of Michael Baker Corporation. 

Doreen A. McCall, Esq., has been the Chief Counsel since July 2005. Prior to that time, 
she served as Chief Counsel to the Pennsylvania Historical and Museum Commission from 
February 2003 to July 2005 and as Deputy General Counsel in the Governor’s Office of General 
Counsel from April 2000 to January 2003. From September 1996 to April 2000, she was an 
Assistant General Counsel and from November 1993 to August 1996, she was a staff attorney in 
the Office of Inspector General. 
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Ray A. Morrow was named the Chief Compliance Officer in July 2014.  Prior to being 
named the Chief Compliance Officer, Mr. Morrow served the Commission as its Acting Chief 
Compliance Officer and Inspector General. Mr. Morrow joined the Commission in January 2014.  
Prior to joining the Commission, Mr. Morrow had an extensive career with the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (FBI) first from 1977 to 1978.  From 1978 to 1980, Mr. Morrow served with the 
U.S. Secret Service Uniformed Division assigned to the White House and the Presidential 
Protective Detail.  From 1980 to 1987, Mr. Morrow served as an Executive Protection Specialist 
for Allegheny International (“AI”), a Fortune 500 company, assigned to protect the President of 
AI.  Then, from 1987 to 2007, Mr. Morrow once again joined the FBI as a Special Agent 
culminating his career as the Special Agent in Charge of the FBI’s Pittsburgh Field Office.  Mr. 
Morrow served as a Senior Compliance Investigator for the Siemens Corporation from 2010-2013.  

Enabling Acts  

Act 26 and Act 3 

 For a discussion of Act 26, Act 3 and other legislative authority relating to the portion of 
the Oil Franchise Tax allocated by law to the Commission, see “OIL FRANCHISE TAX” in the 
forepart of this Official Statement.   

Act 44 and the Act 44 Funding Agreement 

On July 18, 2007, Act 44 was enacted, creating a “public-public partnership” between the 
Commission and PennDOT to provide funding for roads, bridges and transit throughout the 
Commonwealth. Subsequently, in order to, among other things, effectuate the provisions of Act 44 
requiring the Commission to make substantial annual payments to PennDOT as described below, 
the Commission and PennDOT entered into a Lease and Funding Agreement (the “Act 44 
Funding Agreement”), incorporating many of the terms of Act 44.  

The Act 44 Funding Agreement also granted the Commission the option to lease the 
portion of Interstate I-80 (“I-80”) located in the Commonwealth from PennDOT upon, among 
other things, the approval of the Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) of the conversion of 
such portion into a toll road (the “Conversion”). The Conversion was not approved by FHWA and 
neither the Commission nor PennDOT appealed the decision. The Commission did not exercise its 
option to lease such portion of I-80, and the period during which the Commission could exercise 
its option under the Act 44 Funding Agreement lapsed on October 14, 2010 without the 
Commission effectuating Conversion or having the ability to do so in the future. Under existing 
law, including Act 89, all legal, financial and operational responsibility for I-80 remains with 
PennDOT. 

Pursuant to Act 44 and the Act 44 Funding Agreement, because the Conversion did not 
occur, the Commission was obligated to make scheduled annual payments, payable in equal 
quarterly installments, of $450 million to PennDOT through 2057 with $200 million of the 
scheduled annual payment supporting road and bridge projects and $250 million supporting transit 
projects throughout the Commonwealth.  But see “Act 89 and Act 89 Amendment” below as to 
subsequent changes to such annual payments. 



 

A-5 
 

Act 89 and the Act 89 Amendment 

On November 25, 2013, Act 89 was enacted to provide substantial additional and sustained 
investment in the Commonwealth’s aging transportation infrastructure. Once fully implemented 
by Fiscal Year 2018, the revenue enhancements enacted in Act 89 are projected to generate 
substantial additional funds each year for investment in the Commonwealth’s transportation 
infrastructure.  

Act 89 also enacted substantial revisions to the Commission’s transportation funding 
obligations under Act 44 and authorized the Commission and PennDOT to immediately amend the 
Act 44 Funding Agreement to reflect the statutory provisions of Act 89. On April 4, 2014 the 
Commission and PennDOT executed Amendment Number One to Lease and Funding Agreement 
(the “Act 89 Amendment” and together with the Act 44 Funding Agreement, the “Amended 
Funding Agreement”). The Amended Funding Agreement terminates on October 14, 2057. 

In accordance with Act 89 and the Amended Funding Agreement, the Commission’s 
aggregate annual payment to PennDOT for Fiscal Year 2013-2014 through Fiscal Year 2021-2022 
is $450 million and, in accordance with Act 89, the Commission must pay at least $30 million of 
such amount from current revenues. Commencing in Fiscal Year 2022-2023 through the term of 
the Amended Funding Agreement, the Commission’s aggregate annual payment to PennDOT is 
$50 million, which amount shall be paid from then current revenues of the Commission.   Act 89 
relieves the Commission from over $15 billion in future transfers to PennDOT during Fiscal Years 
2023 through 2057.  Further, Act 89 revises the use of the Commission’s scheduled annual 
payments. Effective on July 1, 2014, none of the Commission’s scheduled annual payments may 
be used to support Commonwealth road and bridge projects. Instead, $420 million of the 
scheduled annual payment may be used to support mass transit capital and operating needs and 
alternative energy transportation capital projects, and $30 million shall be used to support multi-
modal projects, which may include: aviation projects; rail freight projects; port projects; bicycle 
projects and pedestrian projects. The Commission’s $50 million scheduled annual payment, which 
commences in Fiscal Year 2022-2023, will support mass transit capital and operating needs. The 
table under “Act 44 Payments to PennDOT for Roads, Bridges and Transit” below indicates the 
amounts that have been paid to date by the Commission. The Commission’s obligation to pay the 
annual debt service on any Special Revenue Bonds (hereinafter defined) on a timely basis 
continues to be part of its payment obligation under the Amended Funding Agreement.  

The Enabling Acts provide that if the Secretary of the Budget notifies the Commission of a 
failure to make a payment to PennDOT under the Amended Funding Agreement, all actions of the 
Commission taken by a vote of the Commissioners thereafter must be approved by a unanimous 
vote of all Commissioners until such time as the payment is made. However, a unanimous vote is 
not required if it would prevent the Commission from complying with covenants with “current 
bondholders, debt holders or creditors.” The Amended Funding Agreement does not refer to 
“current bondholders, debt holders or creditors,” but provides that a unanimous vote is not 
required if it would prevent the Commission from complying with covenants with “bondholders, 
debt holders or creditors having such status as of the Effective Date,” which under the Amended 
Funding Agreement is defined as October 14, 2007. These voting procedures have not become 
effective as the Commission has not missed any payments under the Amended Funding 
Agreement. 
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The Commission is required by the terms of the Amended Funding Agreement and Act 44 
to fix and adjust tolls at levels that will generate revenues (together with other available moneys) 
sufficient to pay, among other things, amounts to PennDOT pursuant to the Amended Funding 
Agreement when due and other obligations of the Commission, and the Commission has 
covenanted in the Subordinate Revenue Indenture (hereinafter defined) to set tolls at a level 
sufficient to meet its coverage obligations taking into account any additional debt incurred in order 
to make such payments. The Commission believes that System revenues should enable it to satisfy 
its reduced payment obligations as set forth in the Amended Funding Agreement. 

Act 44 Payments to PennDOT for Roads, Bridges and Transit 

The Enabling Acts provide that all required payments under the Amended Funding 
Agreement or as required by the Enabling Acts shall be subordinate obligations of the 
Commission payable solely from the General Reserve Fund after meeting all other Commission 
requirements pursuant to any financial documents, financial covenants, liquidity policies or 
agreements in effect at the Commission. Pursuant to Act 44 and the Act 44 Funding Agreement, 
the Commission’s payments to PennDOT over the seven fiscal years ended May 31, 2014 have 
been allocated between deposits to the Commonwealth Motor License Fund (the “Motor License 
Fund”) for road and bridge work and deposits into the Public Transportation Trust Fund for 
distribution to Pennsylvania’s local and regional public transportation agencies for operating and 
capital purposes.   

No portion of the payments of the Commission to be deposited into the Public 
Transportation Trust Fund may be made with proceeds of Special Revenue Bonds.  In accordance 
with Act 89 and the Amended Funding Agreement, effective July 1, 2014, 100 percent of the 
scheduled annual payments of the Commission to PennDOT is being deposited into the Public 
Transportation Trust Fund and may be used to support transit operating and capital costs, multi-
modal transportation capital project costs and alternative energy transportation capital project 
costs. 

To date, the Commission has paid a total amount of $5,200,000,000 under the Amended 
Funding Agreement, as set forth in the following table (dollar amounts in millions).  

Fiscal Year 
Ended May 31, 

 
Payments to 

Motor License 
Fund 

 Payments to 
Public 

Transportation 
Trust Fund 

 

Total 

2008   $450.0   $300.0   $750.0 
2009     500.0     350.0     850.0 
2010     500.0     400.0     900.0 
2011     200.0     250.0     450.0 
2012     200.0     250.0     450.0 
2013     200.0     250.0     450.0 
2014     200.0     250.0     450.0 
2015         0.0     450.0      450.0 
2016         0.0    450.0       450.0 
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Issuance of Bonds; Commission Payments 

Under the Enabling Acts, the Commission is authorized and empowered, among other 
things, to issue turnpike revenue bonds, notes or other obligations (either senior on a parity basis 
or subordinate) to pay (i) pursuant to the Amended Funding Agreement, if applicable, the costs of 
construction, reconstructing, widening, expanding or extending I-80 or any other costs of I-80 and 
the System, (ii) certain amounts to PennDOT pursuant to the Amended Funding Agreement for 
purposes of funding PennDOT highway, road and bridge construction and maintenance programs 
in the Commonwealth (provided that, commencing in Fiscal Year 2014-2015, all payments to 
PennDOT under the Amended Funding Agreement will be deposited into the Public 
Transportation Trust Fund), (iii) costs of improvements to the System, and (iv) certain amounts 
into a Public Transportation Trust Fund pursuant to the Amended Funding Agreement, to be used 
for mass transit programs, multi-modal transportation programs and alternative energy 
transportation programs (provided that, pursuant to the terms of the Amended Funding 
Agreement, the proceeds of any Special Revenue Bonds may not be applied for payments to mass 
transit programs, multi-modal transportation programs or alternative energy transportation 
programs). 

The bonds authorized to be issued by the Commission under Act 44 include up to $5 
billion of Special Revenue Bonds, as described below.  Proceeds of such bonds may be applied 
toward the satisfaction of the Commission’s scheduled annual payment obligations under the 
Amended Funding Agreement and the Enabling Acts, except for that portion of the annual 
payment obligations to be deposited in the Public Transportation Trust Fund pursuant to the terms 
of the Amended Funding Agreement. Since all of the Commission’s payments to PennDOT under 
the Amended Funding Agreement are being deposited into the Public Transportation Trust Fund 
commencing July 1, 2014, as of such date, the Commission is no longer issuing Special Revenue 
Bonds to fund its obligations under the Amended Funding Agreement. See “Statutory Limitations 
on the Incurrence of Special Revenue Bonds” below. The Amended Funding Agreement provides 
that the Commission is obligated to pay all debt service due with respect to the Special Revenue 
Bonds. 

Pursuant to the terms of that certain Subordinate Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 2008 
between the Commission and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “Subordinate Revenue Indenture 
Trustee”), as amended and supplemented (the “Subordinate Revenue Indenture”), the 
Commission has covenanted to pay to the Subordinate Revenue Indenture Trustee, and it has 
instructed U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (the “Senior Revenue Indenture Trustee”) 
under that certain Amended and Restated Trust Indenture originally dated as of July 1, 1986 and 
Amended and Restated as of March 1, 2001, between the Commission and the Senior Revenue 
Indenture Trustee, as supplemented and amended (the “Senior Revenue Indenture”) to pay to the 
Subordinate Revenue Indenture Trustee, after payment of all required debt service on all Senior 
Revenue Indenture Obligations (defined below) and subject to the provisions of the Senior 
Revenue Indenture, out of the General Reserve Fund established under the Senior Revenue 
Indenture, such amounts as are required by the Subordinate Revenue Indenture, by a supplemental 
indenture to the Subordinate Revenue Indenture or by a parity swap agreement to pay, at the times 
specified, all amounts due in respect of the Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations (defined 
below) outstanding under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture or under a parity swap agreement. 

Accordingly, the Commission is required to instruct and furnish a debt service schedule to 
the Senior Revenue Indenture Trustee providing (i) for the payment to the Subordinate Revenue 
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Indenture Trustee out of available funds held in the General Reserve Fund of the amount from 
time to time necessary to satisfy all required deposits under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture to 
the Commission Payments Fund established under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture and (ii) for 
the payment of debt service on the outstanding Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations and all 
other payments required from time to time under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture and in any 
supplemental indenture to the Subordinate Revenue Indenture (collectively, the “Commission 
Payments”). 

Under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture, the Commission may, from time to time, issue 
additional bonds to satisfy its payment obligations under the Enabling Acts, including (a) bonds 
issued for the purpose of making payments to PennDOT to finance transit programs and other 
purposes pursuant to Act 44, as amended by Act 89, and which are not secured by payments from 
the Motor License Fund, but have a senior claim on Commission Payments (the “Subordinate 
Revenue Bonds”) and (b) Special Revenue Bonds (hereinafter defined).  The Commission intends 
that any long-term indebtedness to be issued under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture is to be 
paid solely from Commission Payments. Such obligations, if issued, are subordinate to the 
Turnpike Revenue Bonds (hereinafter defined) issued under the Senior Revenue Indenture. Such 
Subordinate Revenue Bonds will be parity obligations with the outstanding Subordinate Revenue 
Bonds already issued under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture.  As of the date of this Official 
Statement, there is $4,510,667,001 aggregate principal amount of Subordinate Revenue Bonds 
outstanding under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture (including compounded amounts as of June 
1, 2016 for outstanding capital appreciation bonds).  The foregoing amount includes $50,000,000 
aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes (FRNs).  Special Revenue Bonds have a right to 
payment from Commission Payments that is subordinate to the rights of payment of the holders of 
Subordinate Revenue Bonds issued under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture.  

Statutory Limitations on the Incurrence of Special Revenue Bonds 

Under the Enabling Acts, the Commission is authorized to issue, by resolution, Special 
Revenue Bonds (as defined in § 9511.2 of Act 44, and as issued as such under the Subordinate 
Revenue Indenture, the “Special Revenue Bonds”) up to an aggregate principal amount of $5 
billion, exclusive of original issue discount, for the purpose of paying bond related expenses and 
costs of PennDOT, including the costs of highway, road, tunnel and bridge construction, 
renovation and expansion, including acquisition of land, rights, machinery and equipment and 
certain finance charges relating thereto, planning, engineering, administrative and other expenses, 
and debt service. No more than $600 million in aggregate principal amount of such Special 
Revenue Bonds, exclusive of original issue discount, may be issued in any calendar year. No such 
bonds may be issued unless the Amended Funding Agreement is in effect, and no such bonds may 
be outstanding beyond the stated term of the Amended Funding Agreement at the time of 
issuance. Special Revenue Refunding Bonds (as defined in § 9511.2 of Act 44) shall not be 
deemed to count against the total or annual maximum issuance volume under Act 44. Pursuant to 
Act 89, Special Revenue Bonds may not be issued by the Commission to fund any portion of its 
annual payment obligation commencing July 1, 2014, as all of such annual payment obligation is 
to be deposited in the Public Transportation Trust Fund after such date, although Special Revenue 
Refunding Bonds could be issued. 

Special Revenue Bonds have been issued under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture.   As 
of the date of this Official Statement, there is $993,029,953.30 aggregate principal amount of 
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Special Revenue Bonds outstanding under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture (including 
compounded amounts as of June 1, 2016 for capital appreciation bonds). 

Should the Commission fail to timely make required debt service deposits for Special 
Revenue Bonds, the Subordinate Revenue Indenture Trustee shall proceed under the terms of Act 
44 and a Memorandum of Agreement between PennDOT, the Office of the Budget of the 
Commonwealth and the Pennsylvania State Treasurer, dated July 16, 2010 (the “MOA”), to notify 
PennDOT of such default, and thereafter, PennDOT shall give notice to the Office of the Budget 
of the Commonwealth of such deficiency, the Office of the Budget of the Commonwealth shall 
request that the Treasurer of the Commonwealth transfer funds to the Subordinate Revenue 
Indenture Trustee in an amount necessary to cure such deficiency, and  the Treasurer of the 
Commonwealth shall transfer such funds to the Subordinate Revenue Indenture Trustee but only 
from amounts available for such purpose in the Motor License Fund. The appropriation of money 
in the Commonwealth’s Motor License Fund in respect of Special Revenue Bonds issued by the 
Commission under Act 44 is continuing and non-lapsing. The Commonwealth has no obligation to 
appropriate any funds, other than available funds on deposit in the Motor License Fund, for the 
payment of any such Special Revenue Bonds. Pursuant to the MOA, certain funds equal to the 
maximum annual debt service on outstanding Special Revenue Bonds are to be set aside (but not 
pledged) in the Motor License Fund for this purpose upon the issuance of Special Revenue Bonds. 
Funds in such amounts were set aside in the Motor License Fund in connection with the issuance 
of the Commission’s Motor License Fund-Enhanced Turnpike Subordinate Special Revenue 
Bonds, Series A of 2010, Series B of 2010, Series A of 2011, Series B of 2011, Series A of 2012, 
Series B of 2012, Series A of 2013, Series B of 2013 and Series A of 2014. The Commission is 
obligated pursuant to the Amended Funding Agreement to reimburse the Treasurer of the 
Commonwealth for any amounts withdrawn from the Motor License Fund in order to cure a 
default in the payment by the Commission with respect to the annual debt service on any such 
Special Revenue Bonds. This reimbursement obligation is subject to and junior to the payment 
obligations of the Commission under the Special Revenue Bonds. 

Rules Relating to Governance and Accountability Under the Enabling Acts 

The Enabling Acts sets forth certain rules relating to governance and accountability of the 
Commission, including, but not limited to: requiring the Commission to file an annual financial 
plan with the Pennsylvania Secretary of the Budget no later than June 1 of each year; to have an 
audit of the Commission’s finances (including a review of its performance, procedures, operating 
budget, capital budget and debt) conducted by the Auditor General every two years (such audit to 
be paid for by the Commission); to adopt a comprehensive code of conduct for Commissioners 
and executive-level employees, which the Commission adopted on October 31, 2007 and further 
expanded and strengthened on January 7, 2014 and January 28, 2015; and upon request, at least 
one Commission member shall testify annually before the appropriations committee of the 
Pennsylvania House of Representatives and the Senate of Pennsylvania. 

On May 18, 2016, the Commission submitted its financial plan for Fiscal Year 2017 (the 
“Financial Plan”). The Financial Plan incorporates the Commission’s adopted Ten Year Capital 
Plan (the “Capital Plan”), which provides for approximately $5.62 billion, net of federal 
reimbursements, in capital spending over the period from Fiscal Year 2017 through Fiscal Year 
2026. The Capital Plan enables the Commission to undertake a number of capital improvements 
and to pursue new initiatives to maintain and improve the System ensuring that it remains in a 
state of good repair. The Financial Plan indicates that in Fiscal Year 2016 the Commission was 
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able to meet all of its financial covenants and obligations under the Enabling Acts and was able to 
progress with its Capital Plan. Given the ongoing and moderate recovery of both the national and 
state economies, the Commission plans to continue the cost containment and efficiency measures 
it implemented within the past few years. These measures, together with future toll increases, are 
expected to allow the Commission to meet its financial covenants, obligations under the Enabling 
Acts, and capital needs during Fiscal Year 2017.   See “THE COMMISSION – Recent 
Developments and Pending Legislation – Federal Surface Transportation Reauthorization” for 
discussion of the 2015 Transportation Act and federal reimbursements thereunder. 

The Financial Plan for Fiscal Year 2017 includes modestly higher estimated toll revenue 
and traffic, based on the Traffic and Revenue Study (hereinafter defined), than what was included 
in the prior year’s financial plan.  Further, the Financial Plan for Fiscal Year 2017 continues to 
restrain projected growth in the Commission’s operating budget to its targeted four percent (4%) 
annual levels and maintains adequate levels of liquidity.  The Financial Plan also reflects an over 
$2 billion reduction in future debt issuances, based on an increase in pay-as-you-go capital and a 
modest downward revision to the Commission’s Capital Plan, versus that which was contained in 
the prior year’s financial plan.  The Financial Plan also includes more conservative debt 
structuring assumptions to reduce the Commission’s interest costs.  These include assuming 30 
year terms versus 40 year terms to amortize principal more quickly, eliminating the planned use of 
capital appreciation bonds and other deferred interest products in the future, and assuming future 
debt issuances based on level debt service assumptions rather than on escalating debt service.  
Finally, the Financial Plan for Fiscal Year 2017 maintains debt service coverage ratios for all toll 
revenue supported debt above policy level constraints. 

 
The Financial Plan concludes that the Commission will continue to meet all of its 

indenture covenants and all of its other obligations through the Fiscal Year 2057. However, as a 
forward-looking report, the Financial Plan makes certain assumptions, including future toll 
increases, to reach its conclusion that the financial covenants, obligations under the Enabling Acts, 
and capital needs will be met beyond Fiscal Year 2016. Key among these assumptions is the 
Commission’s ability to raise all tolls throughout the System. The Financial Plan reflects the full 
year effects of the January 2016 toll increase and the partial year impacts of an expected January 
2017 toll increase. The Financial Plan assumes the $450 million reduced level of funding 
obligations required by the Enabling Acts through Fiscal Year 2022 and the $50 million funding 
level from Fiscal 2023 through Fiscal Year 2057. No assurances can be made by the Commission 
with respect to the assumptions made or conclusions reached in the Financial Plan. A complete 
copy of the Financial Plan is available on the Commission’s website at 
https://www.paturnpike.com/pdfs/business/finance/PTC_Fiscal_2017_Act_44_Financial_Plan.pdf.    
See “THE COMMISSION – Enabling Acts” above. 
 

For information on the most recent performance audit by the Auditor General, see 
“CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Performance Audit by the Auditor General” below. 

Recent Developments and Pending Legislation 

Act 88 of 2012 (formerly House Bill 3 and Senate Bill 344) (“Act 88”) was signed into law 
on July 5, 2012. Act 88 authorizes “public-private” transportation partnership arrangements in the 
Commonwealth. The law allows the Commission, among other public entities, to enter into 
public-private partnerships for the construction of transportation infrastructure and facilities and 
for the lease of such facilities through long-term agreements. Act 88 prohibits a lease of the 
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Turnpike Mainline without the further express approval of the General Assembly. However, the 
law does not restrict the Commission from entering into public-private partnership agreements 
which do not involve granting substantial oversight and control over the Turnpike Mainline to 
another entity, nor does it limit or preempt in any way the Commission’s ability to enter into 
certain types of public-private partnership agreements currently allowed under its Enabling Acts. 
The Public Private Transportation Partnership Board, established pursuant to Act 88, has issued an 
Implementation Manual & Guidelines for Public-Private Transportation Partnerships. 

Pennsylvania Legislative Proposals 

From time to time, legislation is introduced in the Pennsylvania General Assembly (with 
respect to the Enabling Acts and otherwise) and in the United States Congress, the nature and 
content of which may affect the Commission. The Commission cannot predict whether any such 
legislation will be enacted into law, or how any such legislation may affect the Commission’s 
ability to pay the Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations, the Subordinate Revenue Indenture 
Obligations, the Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds or the Registration Fee Revenue Bonds, or to 
perform its financial obligations pursuant to the Enabling Acts. 

The Pennsylvania House of Representatives and the Pennsylvania Senate convene for a 
two-year session on the first Tuesday after New Year’s in odd numbered years and adjourn (Sine 
Die) on November 30 of the next even numbered year.  Legislation which was not enacted by 
November 30, 2014 expired, but may be reintroduced during the 2015-16 legislative session, 
which began on January 6, 2015.  

Legislation either in discussion or introduced in the General Assembly that could 
materially affect the Commission includes the following:  

 On July 7, 2016 a bill was introduced in the Pennsylvania House of Representatives 
(HB 2248) which, if enacted, would cap the average wholesale price of fuel subject 
to the Oil Franchise Tax at the current level of $2.49.  Under existing law, Act 89 
of 2013, the floor for the average wholesale price of fuel subject to the Oil 
Franchise Tax is scheduled to rise to $2.99 on January 1, 2017.  HB 2248 has been 
referred to the House Transportation Committee. 

 Legislation which proposes to offer a 50% reduction to E-ZPass fares for disabled 
veterans using the Turnpike System who are Commonwealth residents. (Senate Bill 
1167, introduced March 22, 2016 and referred to Transportation Committee on 
March 22, 2016). 

 Legislation which would affect future pension contributions by the Commission 
(and other employers of public employees) by switching future state employees 
(including Commission employees) from a defined benefit plan to a defined 
contribution plan, or a variation thereof. (House Bill 727, introduced March 6, 
2015, amended May 12, 2015, with various procedural actions thereafter to 
maintain such bill for consideration). 

 Legislation which would affect future pension contributions by the Commission by 
restructuring the public pension system to enroll all new state employees (including 
Commission employees) in a mandatory Defined Contribution Plan and increasing 
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contributions for future earnings for current state employees. (Senate Bill 1, 
introduced May 8, 2015, amended June 27, 2015, passed by the House and the 
Senate on June 30, 2015, vetoed by the Governor on July 9, 2015, and removed 
from table on July 13, 2015). 

 Senate Bill 1086 which would amend Title 75 to allow for the suspension of 
vehicle registration for unpaid tolls (referred to Senate Appropriation Committee 
on January 27, 2016).  A similar companion bill, House Bill 1782, was introduced 
in the Pennsylvania House of Representatives. 

 Senate Bill 1086 and House Bill 1782 provide language which would redefine 
“electronic toll collection” to include additional technology such as all-electronic 
tolling, video tolling, and any other similar structural or technological 
enhancements related to tolling.  Senate Bill 1086 was re-referred to the Senate 
Appropriations Committee on January 27, 2016 and House Bill 1782 was referred 
to the House Transportation Committee on January 12, 2016. 

 Legislation requiring the Commission to improve its tunnel maintenance and 
inspection procedures, expand its customer service telephone access, post 
Commissioner expenses on-line, and enact various restrictions concerning the 
Commission’s travel policies. (Senate Co-Sponsor Memo #45 from Senator Rob 
Teplitz, filed December 1, 2014 and as of yet not introduced).  

 Legislation requiring a majority vote of the Pennsylvania Senate to confirm the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Commission. (Senate Bill 474, introduced February 
13, 2015, passed by the Senate on July 13, 2015, and referred to the House 
Transportation Committee on July 16, 2015). 

 Legislation which would prevent the Commission from placing tolls on Interstate 
80 without first obtaining approval from the General Assembly. (House Bill 506, 
introduced February 17, 2015). 

 Legislation which would prevent the conversion of an existing and free roadway 
into a toll road without the General Assembly’s approval. (House Bill 1166, 
introduced May 11, 2015). 

 Legislation which would require the Commission to waive tolls for vehicles 
accompanying a fallen firefighter, ambulance service or rescue squad member, law 
enforcement officer or armed service member killed in the line of duty.  (Senate 
Bill 891, introduced June 15, 2015 passed by the Senate on December 4, 2015, and 
referred to House Transportation Committee on December 6, 2015). 

 Legislation which would abolish the Commission and shift all of the Commission’s 
operations, maintenance, construction and reconstruction powers and duties to 
PennDOT and shift the issuance and payment of bonds to the State Treasurer’s 
office.  (Senate Bill 1051, introduced November 2015 and referred to 
Transportation Committee). 
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 Legislation which would implement annual reductions in the Commission’s 
statutory Act 44 funding obligations through Fiscal Year 2022.  (Co-Sponsorship 
Memo from Representative John Lawrence, filed July 21, 2015 and as of yet not 
introduced). 

The Commission cannot predict what other legislation may be considered by the General 
Assembly during the 2015-2016 or future legislative sessions or if any other proposals or 
initiatives may lead to the adoption of legislation that may affect the Commission. 

Federal Surface Transportation Reauthorization 

On December 4, 2015, President Obama signed into law a five-year $305 billion federal 
transportation funding bill (the “2015 Transportation Act”). The 2015 Transportation Act 
provides continued funding for federal transportation programs at approximately $61 billion per 
year. While the operations of the Commission do not depend, significantly, upon the continued 
availability of federal funding, the Commission does, however, anticipate receiving a significant 
amount of reimbursement from the Federal Highway Trust Fund related to its I-95 Connector 
project. 

Statewide Investigating Grand Jury and Related Criminal Charges 

In May, 2009, a statewide grand jury investigation was commenced as a result of public 
allegations of potential public corruption and criminal misconduct within the Commission (the 
“Grand Jury Investigation”).3  As part of this investigation, covering Turnpike System operations 
during an approximate period from February 2000 through early 2013, the Grand Jury heard 
testimony from hundreds of witnesses and reviewed numerous exhibits, including correspondence, 
e-mails, campaign contribution records, audio recordings, invoices, bank records, internal 
Commission policies and memoranda, and expense reports, among other items. The Grand Jury 
Investigation spanned forty-four months and culminated on March 13, 2013, when the Grand Jury 
issued its 85-page Presentment (the “Grand Jury Presentment”), detailing its findings of fact, 
conclusions, and recommendations of charges. 

The Grand Jury found that certain elected state officials, a former Commissioner, officials, 
and employees, and vendors and consultants that had business dealings with the Commission 
engaged and attempted to engage in systemic illegal bid-rigging, commercial bribery, conflict of 
interest crimes, theft by unlawful taking, theft by deception, criminal conspiracy and corrupt 
organization crimes. The former Commissioner, who resigned, was granted immunity in 
connection with his testimony before the Grand Jury. The Grand Jury concluded that these 
criminal acts resulted in the public losing millions of dollars. The Grand Jury further concluded 
that the Commission had been corrupted by improper political influence from certain of its own 
former officials as well as politicians in state government. 

The Grand Jury identified a former Pennsylvania state senator, a former chairman of the 
Commission, a former Chief Executive Officer of the Commission, a former Chief Operating 

                                                 
3 The Grand Jury investigation was initially commenced before the 31st Statewide Investigating Grand Jury in May of 
2009. Upon the expiration of that Grand Jury, the investigation was transferred to the 33rd Statewide Investigating 
Grand Jury in June of 2011.  For purposes of this disclosure, the 31st Statewide Investigating Grand Jury together with 
the 33rd Statewide Investigating Grand Jury, will be referred to as the “Grand Jury”. 
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Officer of the Commission, two other Commission employees and two individuals associated with 
vendors providing services to the Commission as having criminal responsibility for the crimes 
outlined in its Presentment. 

In addition, the Grand Jury found that during the time that the eight identified individuals 
were employed by or served at the Commission, the Commission operated under a system that 
rewarded vendors with multi-million dollar contracts in exchange for the payment of political 
contributions to public officials and political organizations and the payment of gifts and 
entertainment expenses. In particular, the Grand Jury found that the named former state senator, 
during his tenure as Democratic Floor Leader, was actively involved in securing Commission 
contracts for key contributors and supporters, and imposing fundraising participation on 
individuals at the Commission to provide political support and raise campaign funds on his behalf. 

The Grand Jury cited specific political contributions that were allegedly solicited in 
exchange for awarding various contracts with the Commission. These campaign contributions 
were allegedly made during the approximate period of February, 2000 through October, 2010. The 
Grand Jury also identified specific contracts that it determined were awarded to vendors as a result 
of their political contributions and other payments. 

On March 13, 2013, the Pennsylvania Attorney General filed criminal charges against the 
individuals referred to above. These individuals were charged with a variety of offenses, including 
conspiracy, commercial bribery, bid-rigging, theft, conflict of interest, and corrupt organization 
violations. No criminal charges were filed against current Commissioners, senior management, or 
employees. All Commission employees and officials against whom criminal charges were filed 
left the Commission between March 2009 and November 2011.  Of the eight individuals charged, 
a Dauphin County Court Judge on September 30, 2014, approved admission of the two individuals 
associated with vendors into the county’s Accelerated Rehabilitative Disposition Program.  The 
Attorney General’s Office ultimately dismissed all charges against the former state senator.  On 
November 13, 2014, the former Commission chairman pled guilty to one misdemeanor count of 
commercial bribery and was sentenced to 24 months of probation, 100 hours of community 
service, and fined $2,500.  The remaining charges against him were dismissed.  On November 20, 
2014, the former Chief Executive Officer and the former Chief Operating Officer pled guilty to a 
single felony count of conflict of interest and each received five years’ probation, 250 hours of 
community service, and a fine of $2,500. 

  With respect to the “two other former Commission employees”, one was sentenced to two 
years’ probation and ordered to pay restitution and the other pled guilty and was sentenced to 
eighteen months’ probation, ordered to pay restitution and fines and perform 50 hours of 
community service. 

The Commission’s current Chief Executive Officer, Mark Compton, issued a statement 
following the publication of the Grand Jury Presentment. Mr. Compton explained that the 
Commission began revamping its procurement process resulting in more transparency and greater 
accountability two years prior to the Grand Jury Presentment.  Moreover, the Commission 
continues to evaluate the procurement process and is committed to making improvements where 
needed.  Mr. Compton also announced that he directed the Commission’s Office of Compliance to 
launch a thorough review of every professional-services contract cited in the Grand Jury 
Presentment, and provide each of the Commission’s professional-service providers a copy of the 
Commission’s employee code of conduct and the professional services procurement policy that 
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was enacted in April 2012.  Additionally, the Commission initiated a comprehensive, mandatory 
code of conduct and ethics training program for its employees which commenced as of September 
2013.  Further, on January 7, 2014, the Commission adopted an expanded and more 
comprehensive code of conduct for all Commission employees which included, among other 
revisions, required participation in annual training.  The code of conduct and procurement policies 
have since been, and continue to be, updated.  The most recent update to the code of conduct was 
approved on January 28, 2015 with the addition of a complete ban on all gifts to any 
Commissioners or Commission employees.  Finally, the Commissioners directed Mr. Compton to 
convene a special advisory group to review and critique Commission policies and procedures 
relating to contracting and other business practices to make improvements to the Commission’s 
existing practices. 

A special independent advisory committee (the “Advisory Committee”) composed of three 
members was appointed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Commission in the spring of 2013. 
The members were a retired Judge of the Superior Court of the Commonwealth and member of the 
Board of Education of the Commonwealth, a former PennDOT Chief Highway Engineer and 
construction company executive, and a former Vice-Dean of Widener University School of Law 
and a retired law professor.  The Advisory Committee members initially met monthly with the 
Commission’s executive staff and additionally met independently to review and critique 
Commission procurement and business practices and to research best-practices at comparable 
agencies to determine where further improvements could be made. 

After 12 months of review, the Advisory Committee submitted to the Commission its 
formal report, which focused primarily on the Commission’s contracting and professional services 
procurement procedures.  The report, which the Commissioners accepted on October 21, 2014, 
commended the Commission’s implementation and continued consideration of significant reforms 
and made recommendations for the enhancement and establishment of policies and procedures in 
the areas of ethics, procurements, transparency and accountability, and governance.  The Advisory 
Committee continued to meet on a quarterly basis for one year following the submission of the 
report, after which it is scheduled to meet once every three years. Among some of the reforms and 
recommendations implemented to date include: 1) a revised employee code of conduct has been 
adopted; 2) business/vendor code of conduct has been adopted; and 3) all Commission employees 
have been trained on the employee code of conduct and by the end of fiscal year 2016, all 
Commission vendors of construction related services will have received training on both codes of 
conduct. Additionally, the Commission will conduct periodic policy reviews for ethics, 
procurement and transparency matters.  

The complete report of the Advisory Committee is available on the Commission’s website 
at https://www.paturnpike.com/pdfs/about/Advisory_Committee_Report.pdf. See “Commission 
Compliance Department” under “CERTAIN OTHER INFORMATION” for additional 
information.  

Additional Matters 

Consistent with recommendations of the Commonwealth’s Transportation Funding 
Advisory Commission, the Commission continues to be actively engaged with other 
Commonwealth administrative agencies in initiatives to streamline project delivery and increase 
operational efficiencies.  Among such undertakings are a number of collaborative programs with 
PennDOT in various administrative and technical areas, including integration of communication 



 

A-16 
 

and information systems, standardization of manuals and publications, and coordination of 
training, operations, project planning and construction phasing (all as outlined in an August 2011 
report entitled Mapping the Future between the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission and the 
Pennsylvania Department of Transportation). Meetings of Commission management with 
executives of both Pennsylvania Department of Environmental Protection and PennDOT continue 
to be held on a regular basis to discuss issues, define direction and explore future collaborative 
initiatives. 

THE TURNPIKE SYSTEM 

General 

The present Turnpike System is composed of: 

● the 359-mile Turnpike Mainline traversing the southern portion of Pennsylvania 
from east to west; 

● the 110-mile north/south section identified as the Northeast Extension;   

● the approximately 16-mile north/south connection, known as the Beaver Valley 
Expressway, which intersects the Turnpike Mainline in the southwestern portion of 
the Commonwealth; 

● the approximately 13-mile Amos K. Hutchinson Bypass which adjoins the 
Turnpike Mainline near the New Stanton Interchange; 

● the completed portion of the Mon/Fayette Expressway project totaling 
approximately 48 miles; and 

● a 6-mile section of the Southern Beltway project from PA 60 to US 22.  

For a more complete description of the Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway 
projects, see “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS – Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway” 
herein. 

The Turnpike Mainline connects with the Ohio Turnpike at its western terminus and with 
the New Jersey Turnpike at its eastern terminus. The Turnpike Mainline commences on the 
eastern boundary of Pennsylvania at the Delaware River Bridge which connects the System to the 
New Jersey Turnpike. The Turnpike Mainline traverses the state in a westerly direction generally 
paralleling the southern border of the state immediately north of Philadelphia and south of 
Harrisburg to the vicinity of Somerset. West of Somerset, the highway follows a northwesterly 
direction to the northeast of Pittsburgh and to the Ohio state line, south of Youngstown, Ohio. 

The System was constructed prior to the development of the National Interstate Highway 
System and no Federal Highway Trust Fund monies have been utilized in the construction of the 
Turnpike Mainline, Northeast Extension, Beaver Valley Expressway or Amos K. Hutchinson 
Bypass section of the Turnpike System. However, portions of the System have been designated as 
Interstate Routes. The Turnpike Mainline has been designated as Interstate Route 276 between the 
area where Interstate Route 95 crosses the System and the Valley Forge Interchange. The portion 
of the Turnpike Mainline west of the Valley Forge Interchange to the western terminus at the Ohio 
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state line has been designated as Interstate Route 76. In addition, the Turnpike Mainline between 
the New Stanton and Breezewood Interchanges has been designated as Interstate Route 70. The 
Northeast Extension has been designated as Interstate Route 476. Portions of the Beaver Valley 
Expressway are designated as Interstate Route 376.   

The System was constructed and opened to traffic in sections. The original Turnpike 
Mainline segment between Irwin and Carlisle was opened in 1940. Ten years later, in 1950, the 
100-mile section between Carlisle and King of Prussia was completed and opened. After 1950, 
construction of new segments of the System occurred at more frequent intervals with the Turnpike 
Mainline segment placed in service as of May 1956. The initial segment of the Northeast 
Extension between the Turnpike Mainline and the temporary interchange just south of the Lehigh 
Tunnel was opened in 1955. The final segment, from the temporary interchange to Scranton, was 
completed and opened for traffic in November 1957. 

The Delaware River Bridge, which connects the Turnpike Mainline with the New Jersey 
Turnpike System, is owned jointly by the Commission and the New Jersey Turnpike Authority. 

Interchanges and Service Plazas 

The System has a total of 68 toll interchanges which connect it with major arteries and 
population centers along its 552 mile traffic corridor. Thirty-two of the interchanges are located on 
the Turnpike Mainline, including Turnpike Mainline barriers at the New Jersey and Ohio state 
lines, and 11 interchanges are situated on the Northeast Extension. The additional 25 interchanges 
are located on the Beaver Valley Expressway, Amos K. Hutchinson Bypass, and completed 
segments of the Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway. In addition, the System also has 
four E-ZPass Only interchanges as discussed below under “E-ZPass Only”. 

There are 17 service plazas along the System providing gasoline and diesel fuel, other 
automotive supplies and services, and restaurant services. The Commission has entered into long 
term service plaza redevelopment agreements with HMSHost Restaurants, LLC and Sunoco, Inc. 
to design, reconstruct, finance, operate and maintain all of the service plazas. The Commission has 
no responsibility for maintaining the service plazas under the agreements. Since the Commission 
entered into the agreements in 2005, all 17 rebuilt service plazas have opened. Cumulatively, the 
two companies have invested approximately $190 million in service renovation projects, at no cost 
to the Commission. The Commission recorded income of approximately $3.7 million and $3.5 
million under the service plaza agreements in Fiscal Years 2014-2015 and 2013-2014, 
respectively, which is based on volume rental payments plus a percentage of revenue generated. 

Additional Services 

In addition to 789 field personnel in 22 facilities available to keep the roadway open and 
safe in the event of unfavorable road conditions, the Commission has a 24/7 Traffic Operations 
Center which monitors conditions on the System and provides emergency dispatch. 

A Turnpike Roadway Information Program provides real-time data to drivers. Travelers 
are alerted to roadway conditions via Variable Message Signs, Highway Advisory Radio and 
alerts via e-mail and mobile phone. 
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With funding from the PaDEP, the Commission built its first Truck Space Electrification 
(“TSE”) facility in 2010 at the New Stanton Service Plaza. The TSE provides service towers 
equipped with modules that fit into truck cab windows to provide heat, air conditioning, internet, 
TV and electrical power while the truck’s engine remains off. The TSE will help operators of 
diesel trucks comply with new environmental regulations and will relieve surrounding 
neighborhoods from noise and pollution from idling diesel engines. 

In September 2011, Commission officials along with representatives from sponsor State 
Farm Insurance released a smartphone application that enhances safety for those traveling the 
System. The free iPhone and Android application is an innovative method for travelers to keep up-
to-date on current conditions on the roadway. 

In December 2011, the PaDEP announced a $1 million grant award to help develop electric 
vehicle infrastructure on the System. The grant recipient, Car Charging Group Inc., will install 
charging stations at all 15 of the System’s mainline service plazas. The Commission has also 
committed additional funding of up to $500,000 to upgrade the electrical systems at the plazas to 
accommodate the charging stations. The first three phases of the work have been 
completed.  Phase 4 has been awarded and includes Sideling Hill, Blue Mountain, Cumberland 
Valley, Highspire, Lawn, and Valley Forge.  The estimated Phase 4 completion date is June of 
2017.  

In February 2013, the Commission announced that free Wi-Fi service is available at all 
operational service plazas. The amenity was added to accommodate Turnpike System customers 
who want to use smartphones, tablets, laptops or other portable devices to access the internet while 
traveling.  

In September 2013, the Commonwealth Financing Authority announced a $500,000 grant 
to Sunoco, Inc., a portion of which was used to partially fund a compressed natural gas refueling 
station located at the New Stanton service plaza, the first natural gas refueling station on the 
System. Construction was completed and the refueling station opened in November 2014.   

E-ZPass Lanes 

The Commission has installed E-ZPass, a form of electronic toll collection, throughout the 
System. Not only has E-ZPass enhanced safety and convenience for users of the System, but the 
technology has improved traffic flow and reduced congestion at the System’s busiest interchanges, 
especially in southeastern Pennsylvania. The use of electronic tolling has enhanced the overall 
efficiency of the Commission’s toll collections operations and has resulted in a reduction in the 
number of required full-time and part-time toll collectors. Express E-ZPass lanes have been 
constructed at three interchanges and permit E-ZPass customers to travel through the toll plaza at 
highway speeds. In addition, E-ZPass customers traveling in 16 other states that have implemented 
E-ZPass technology are able to use E-ZPass in those states. Currently, E-ZPass is available on the 
entire System, including the western extensions. The Commission has not experienced any 
material problems in connection with the installation or operation of the E-ZPass system. 

To help ensure, protect and preserve the collection of toll revenue due to the Commission, 
a violation enforcement system (“VES”) has been installed at all interchanges where E-ZPass has 
been installed to identify violators (customers who travel through E-ZPass lanes and do not have 
E-ZPass) and motorists with problem tags that are unreadable. VES enables the Commission to 
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collect appropriate tolls and other additional fees relating to violations. Legislation passed in 2000 
included enforcement provisions for E-ZPass, including, among other things, certain evidentiary 
presumptions with respect to whether the registered vehicle owner was the operator of the vehicle, 
procedures for notifying the vehicle owner of the violation charged and the imposition upon the 
vehicle owner of civil penalties for violations. Act 89 included enhanced fare evasion measures 
and criminal penalties pertaining to E-ZPass violators. Under Act 89, motorists who commit or 
attempt to commit fare evasion on the System shall have committed a summary offense and upon 
conviction, shall be fined a sum between $100 and $1,000 in addition to civil penalties that are 
already in place. Further, motorists who take affirmative action to evade a System fare shall, upon 
conviction, have committed a misdemeanor of the third degree which will be punishable by fines 
ranging from $3,000 to $6,500 (depending on the number of offenses) and imprisonment of not 
more than six months for a second offense. Revenue generated from the additional fare evasion 
fines imposed by Act 89 is to be deposited in the Commonwealth’s Motor License Fund rather 
than with the Commission; however, restitution for the full fare is due to the Commission.  

The Commission’s annual revenues from E-ZPass users have increased to $667.8 million 
during the Fiscal Year ended May 31, 2015 from $606.17 million for the Fiscal Year ended May 
31, 2014. The Commission’s annual revenues from ticketed drivers (i.e., those not using E-ZPass) 
increased to $266.45 million during the Fiscal Year ended May 31, 2015 from $259.89 million for 
the Fiscal Year ended May 31, 2014.  The Commission expects that E-ZPass usage will continue 
to increase. The following table summarizes the Commission’s E-ZPass penetration rates among 
passenger, commercial and total users over the past eight fiscal years. 

E-ZPass Penetration Rates 
 

Fiscal Year Passenger Commercial Total 

2008 45% 75% 59% 
2009 50% 74% 53% 
2010 54% 76% 57% 
2011 58% 78% 60% 
2012 62% 80% 64% 
2013 66% 83% 68% 
2014 70% 85% 72% 
2015 73% 87% 75% 

 

The Commission is a member of the E-ZPass Interagency Group (“IAG”), a coalition of 
toll authorities throughout the United States. IAG includes the following agencies: Buffalo and 
Fort Erie Public Bridge Authority (Peace Bridge); Burlington County Bridge Commission; 
Delaware Department of Transportation; Delaware River and Bay Authority; Delaware River Joint 
Toll Bridge Commission; Delaware River Port Authority; Illinois State Toll Highway Authority;  
Indiana Toll Road Concession Company; Maine Turnpike Authority; Maryland Transportation 
Authority; Massachusetts Department of Transportation; Metropolitan Transportation Authority 
Bridges & Tunnels; New Hampshire Department of Transportation;   New Jersey Turnpike 
Authority; New York State Bridge Authority; New York State Thruway Authority; North Carolina 
Turnpike Authority; Ohio Turnpike & Infrastructure Commission; Port Authority of New York 
and New Jersey; Rhode Island Turnpike and Bridge Authority; South Jersey Transportation 
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Authority; Virginia Department of Transportation;  West Virginia Parkway Authority; Skyway 
Concession Co. LLC; Niagara Falls Bridge Commission; and Kentucky Public Transportation 
Infrastructure Authority. IAG’s stated mission is “to enable E-ZPass members and affiliated toll 
operators to provide the public with a seamless, accurate, interoperable electronic method of 
paying tolls and fees while preserving and enhancing the E-ZPass program.” 

New highway construction projects, such as the Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern 
Beltway, are being designed and built to be compatible with the E-ZPass system. The installation 
of the E-ZPass system has required the incorporation of innovative technologies into a single toll 
system that uses hardware and software adaptable to future technologies. The Commission has a 
contract, extending through 2019, with TransCore Company for the design, installation and 
maintenance of the E-ZPass system software and hardware and the operation of the E-ZPass 
Customer Service and Violations Processing Centers. The E-ZPass system implementation is a 
major component of the Commission’s Ten-Year Capital Plan. For a more complete description of 
the Commission’s Capital Plan, see “CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS – Ten-Year Capital Plan” 
herein. Plans call for enhancements to E-ZPass lane signage and the design of additional Express 
E-ZPass lanes. 

See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Toll Schedule and Rates” below for a 
discussion of the Commission’s toll rates, including recent revisions for E-ZPass customers. 

E-ZPass Plus 

In November 2009, the Commission began offering E-ZPass customers who meet specific 
criteria the ability to participate in E-ZPass Plus. E-ZPass Plus allows E-ZPass customers to use 
their transponder to pay for parking fees at participating facilities displaying the E-ZPass Plus 
logo. 

E-ZPass Only 

The Commission has constructed four E-ZPass Only interchanges which are designed for 
the exclusive use of E-ZPass customers: Virginia Drive (located east of the Fort Washington 
interchange); Street Road (located west of the Bensalem interchange); Route 29 (located west of 
the Valley Forge Interchange) and at Route 903 in Carbon County.  In addition, a cashless tolling 
location has been constructed and is operational at the Delaware River Bridge (westbound) which 
is part of the I-95 Connector in Bucks County. This cashless tolling location is one of the “pilot 
projects” converting segments of the Commission system to cashless technology.  These E-ZPass 
Only interchanges, cashless tolling and other similarly planned interchanges are expected to 
reduce congestion at the System’s busier interchanges and provide convenient access to industrial 
parks and job centers. 

Cashless Tolling 

Early in 2011, the Commission initiated a feasibility study to examine the benefits and 
potential issues associated with converting the toll road to a cashless system. The team of 
McCormick Taylor/CDM Smith (formerly Wilbur Smith Associates) was selected to conduct the 
study which included an overview of the existing toll collection system and an analysis of cashless 
systems throughout the United States, comparing the costs and benefits of various electronic 
tolling options. The feasibility report (the “Feasibility Report”) was completed in March 2012, 
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and at that time the Commission determined, based on the assumptions in the Feasibility Report, 
that conversion to a cashless system was technically feasible from both a financial and physical 
perspective.  In July 2012, the Commission selected HNTB Corporation to act as its Program 
Manager to lead and direct the multi-disciplinary efforts required to manage and coordinate the 
design and implementation of a cashless system. The Conceptual Implementation Plan report, 
including a schedule for conversion, was issued in October 2014.  

In connection with the Commission’s efforts to move forward with the initiative, the 
Commission had sought to include legislative language in House Bill 1060, during the  legislative 
session that ended in December 2014, to assist in preserving and protecting the Commission’s 
revenues from non E-ZPass customers under a cashless environment. Specifically, the 
Commission had sought legislation that would have provided the Commission with enforcement 
provisions for video tolling and reciprocity authority with other states. While language was 
adopted in the Senate during discussions on transportation funding (Senate Bill 1) by a vote of 45-
5, Senate Bill 1 was not considered in the House. The main enforcement mechanism would have 
been the ability of PennDOT to suspend the vehicle registration of video toll scofflaws. Act 89, as 
currently enacted, does not include any of the enforcement language or reciprocity language that 
the Commission had sought. Act 89 does include enhanced fare evasion penalties but this is not 
exclusive to electronic tolling. The Commission continues to pursue legislation that will provide 
the Commission with enforcement provisions for video tolling and reciprocity authority with other 
states.   Senate Bill 1086 and House Bill 1782 have been introduced during the current legislative 
session and the bills would, if enacted, assist in preserving and protecting the Commission’s 
revenues from non E-ZPass customers under a cashless environment.  The main enforcement 
mechanism would be the ability of PennDOT to suspend the vehicle registration of video toll 
scofflaws. 

Following the enactment of Act 89, the Commission revaluated the schedule, which had 
contemplated full conversion to a cashless, non-stop system by 2018, and determined that a 
modified schedule for implementation would be necessary.  Further consideration resulted in an 
approach whereby the existing toll lanes would be equipped with the necessary technology to 
allow for cashless tolling to occur at the existing plaza locations.  At present, the Commission has 
only authorized the deployment of a “pilot project” involving two segments of the cashless system 
consisting of the Delaware River Bridge, which went into operation in January 2016 and the 
Beaver Valley Expressway, which is planned for Fiscal Year 2017.  Cashless tolling is being 
implemented, in part, by a new “TOLL BY PLATE” system.  TOLL BY PLATE is a new license 
plate tolling system installed on overhead gantries at the Delaware River Bridge cashless tolling 
point. Non E-ZPass customers are invoiced for assessed tolls.   Cameras on overhead gantries 
capture a vehicle’s license plate at highway speed, and a toll invoice is mailed to the vehicle’s 
registered owner.   

At this time, no decision has been made about whether to install a cashless system on the 
Turnpike Mainline and there is no schedule extending the cashless system beyond the pilot 
locations.  Additional information regarding a cashless tolling system is available on the 
Commission’s website at http://www.paturnpike.com/cashlesstolling/cashlesstolling.asp.4 

 
 

                                                 
4 The information contained on such website link is not incorporated by reference in this Appendix A.   
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CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS 
Act 61 Projects 

In 1985, the General Assembly of the Commonwealth enacted Act 61. Act 61, among 
other things, authorized and empowered the Commission to undertake the construction of new 
projects and to operate them as part of the System. Although Act 44 repealed Act 61, it provides 
that all activities initiated under Act 61 shall continue and remain in full force and effect and may 
be completed under Act 44. 

System Maintenance and Inspection 

The Commission’s engineering and maintenance staff performs maintenance on, and 
repairs to, the System. In addition, the Commission also uses staff and consultants to perform 
periodic inspections of the System. Pursuant to the terms of the Senior Revenue Indenture, the 
Commission must arrange for the System to be inspected at least once every three years by 
engaging one or more consultants to conduct inspections and prepare a report. The report must 
state (a) whether the System has been maintained in good repair, working order and condition 
since the last inspection report and (b) any recommendations which such consultants may have as 
to revisions or additions to the Commission’s annual capital budget. The most recent inspection 
report, the Pennsylvania Turnpike Condition Assessment Report 2014 (submitted to the 
Commission in February 2015), was prepared by Michael Baker International  (the “Condition 
Assessment Report”). The next Turnpike Condition Assessment Report is scheduled for 
completion during 2017 and the Commission anticipates receiving the report in either late 2017 or 
early 2018. 

Based on reviews performed by others as well as their own observations, the authors of the 
Condition Assessment Report found that, “the overall condition of the System is good except for 
specific areas noted in the report.” 

The following summarizes certain information found in the Condition Assessment Report, 
including certain of the “specific areas” referred to in the preceding paragraph, and in inspection 
data gathered in 2014. Three of the four asset groups, including Roadway, Structures and Facilities 
are rated “Good” overall.  The asset group Technology, which only included Intelligent 
Transportation Systems is rated “Fair” to “Good.”  Each of the asset groups is in working order 
based on the condition ratings of the individual assets within the asset group. The individual asset 
condition rating was developed through an extensive evaluation of available performance data that 
was both qualitative and quantitative.  There were several different evaluation measures used 
across the array of Commission assets.  The derivation of the individual asset rating is detailed in 
each section of the report.  The following is an overall summary for each of the four asset groups. 

Roadway 

The recent roadway pavement inspection data indicate that the overall condition of the 
Commission pavement meets or exceeds established criteria with the area noted for skid resistance 
as the only exception.  The supporting roadway features guiderail, attenuators, and median barrier 
are generally in Fair to Good condition.  These assets require regular inspection and prompt repair 
when damaged for the safety of the Commission customers.  Stormwater/Best Management 
Practices facilities are in Good condition and are being inspected in accordance with permitting 
requirements; however, a continued focus on regular maintenance or repair of these facilities is 
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needed to keep them functioning as intended.  The roadway drainage system seems to be in Fair 
condition based on qualitative approach used to evaluate this asset.  More detailed inspections 
would be needed to verify the condition of drainage facilities and to establish necessary 
maintenance activities beyond the routine annual maintenance that the Commission currently 
performs.  Based on a recent visual inspection and a comparative analysis from the 2011 Rock Cut 
Evaluation, the rock cuts appear to be in Good condition.  The overall condition of signs is Good, 
and is being maintained adequately.  Recent field evaluations of the Commission’s highly 
reflective and pavement markings and waterborne pavement markings at selected locations 
indicate that the Commission’s pavement markings are in Good condition. 

Structures 

The Turnpike’s bridges and culverts are in Good condition with about 5.4 percent noted as 
structurally deficient and 62 percent exceeding 50 years in age. Condition ratings are being 
uploaded to Pontis, a bridge management software tool, for the 233 sign structures and detailed 
information is provided in the inspection reports with the overall condition being Good. Retaining 
walls/noise barriers are in Good condition overall, with only minor areas of concern and no loss of 
structural integrity.  High mast light poles appear to be in Fair condition.  High mast light poles 
are being removed with construction projects that impact them, and will ultimately be phased out.  
Turnpike tunnels are generally in Fair to Good condition with special attention to be given to 
structural elements (i.e., ceiling slabs, hanger rods) for corrective action, if needed. 

Facilities 

The service plazas were rated Good but nearly 50 percent of the facility ratings have 
declined in the last year.  Facility condition reports are shared with HMS/Host and Sunoco, who 
are contractually obligated to operate and maintain the service plazas, to assist with their 
maintenance responsibilities and capital plans reflecting maintenance needs.  A four year capital 
plan is being developed by HMS/Host.  Issues raised regarding the service plaza conditions have 
been resolved by HMS/Host and there are no current issues regarding the conditions of the service 
plazas.  Maintenance buildings are in Fair condition with a number of these buildings requiring 
maintenance.  Projects are being developed based on Condition Assessment reports with money 
being allocated to the Proposed Capital Plan to support these projects.  The overall condition for 
the following facilities types, Interchange buildings, Administration buildings, District Fare 
Collection buildings, and Stockpiles are Good.  The State Police Station facilities are rated Good 
based on the available condition data.  An overall condition for Communication Towers is not 
provided due to a limited amount of available inspection data.  Since taking responsibility for 
inspection and maintenance of the communication towers in 2012, Facilities and Energy 
Management Operations has advanced a structural analysis review program to assess the condition 
of Communications Towers to identify and fix deficiencies.   

Technology 

Intelligent Transportation System devices were the sole Commission technology that was 
included in the Condition Assessment.  The overall condition of the ITS devices that were 
evaluated is Fair to Good.  The Commission’s Information Technology Department continually 
monitors the virtual network and provides support in troubleshooting issues as needed.  The 
Commission’s ITS contractor maintains the ITS equipment through preventative and response 
maintenance plans.  
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Ten-Year Capital Plan 

The Commission prepares the Capital Plan for its facilities and equipment (exclusive of the 
Mon/Fayette and Southern Beltway projects), consisting of the Highway Program, the Technology 
Program, Fleet Equipment, and Facilities and Energy Management Operations, which it updates 
each year. All capital projects are reviewed and prioritized and the most critical and important 
projects necessary to maintain the System in a state of good repair are pursued.  The Commission 
undertook a five year program of enhanced capital spending, initiated in 2012, to address critical 
needs of the System such as structurally deficient bridges and total reconstruction projects on the 
Turnpike Mainline. As a result of the five years of enhanced capital spending, the Commission’s 
percentage of structurally deficient bridges (by count) decreased from 8.1% to 4.6% and the 
Commission’s International Roughness Index improved from 84 to 73 (lower is preferable).  Also, 
the enhanced capital spending enabled the construction of the I-95 toll modifications and primary 
connections (north/east and west/south, also known as Sections D10 and D20) between I-95 and 
the Turnpike Mainline. 

The Capital Plan for Fiscal Year 2016-2017 was adopted by the Commission on May 17, 
2016. The adopted Capital Plan calls for investment of approximately $5.62 billion, net of federal 
reimbursements, over the coming decade and is estimated to support approximately 95,000 jobs 
each year for the next 10 years. The Capital Plan provides continued investment into the System, 
with an emphasis on the total reconstruction of the Turnpike Mainline and Northeast Extension, 
addressing structurally deficient bridges and the protection of the infrastructure assets of the 
Commission.    The Capital Plan for Fiscal Year 2016-2017, at approximately $5.62 billion, 
represents a modest reduction in anticipated spending from the capital plan last adopted in May 
2014 which totaled $6.52 billion.  The Capital Plan for Fiscal Year 2017 does not represent a 
significant reduction in critical capital projects and therefore aids in the protection of Commission 
assets.  Deferred capital projects are not of a critical nature and will likely result in a reduction of 
total miles reconstructed from an average of eight miles annually to seven miles annually.  The 
Fiscal Year 2017 Capital Plan represents a return by the Commission to its historic levels of 
capital investment. 

The Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Capital Plan will require the issuance of additional debt 
throughout the ten-year period; however, such additional debt issuance is projected to be over $2 
billion lower over the ten-year period than previously anticipated. The reduced level of debt 
issuances is attributable to a $1.1 billion projected increase in Commission funded pay as you go 
capital and a $900 million reduction in overall ten year capital spending. The Commission 
believes that the capital spending and additional debt issuance, along with the continuing burden 
of Act 44 obligations to PennDOT, will require the imposition of annual toll increases throughout 
the ten-year period and beyond. A Pennsylvania Turnpike 2015 Traffic and Revenue Forecast 
Study prepared by CDM Smith dated March 17, 2015, together with a “bring down” letter 
developed by CDM Smith dated March 4, 2016 prepared by CDM Smith (formerly Wilbur Smith 
Associates) (together, the “Traffic and Revenue Study”) contemplates toll increases of 3.0% to 
6.0% in each year. 

Exhibit I attached to this Appendix A indicates budget allocations by program for the 
Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Capital Plan. 

The Highway Program consists of roadway, bridge, tunnel and toll plaza/interchange 
projects. The Technology Program consists of toll collection, communication, and other electronic 
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information management projects. The Fleet Program funds rolling stock that is required to 
maintain the System. The Facilities and Energy Management Program consists of buildings and 
large, heavy or high value equipment needs. 

The highest priority highway project for the Commission is the ongoing full depth roadway 
total reconstruction of the east/west Turnpike Mainline and Northeast Extension.  This work 
includes the reconstruction and widening of the roadway, the widening of the median, and the 
replacement of both Mainline and overhead bridges. To date, approximately 116 miles of total 
reconstruction have been completed and approximately 19 miles are currently in construction. 
Total reconstruction projects from Milepost 44 to Milepost 48, Milepost 220 to Milepost 227, 
Milepost 242 to Milepost 245, Milepost 250 to Milepost 252, and Milepost A26 to Milepost A-31 
are in construction. Currently, approximately 123 miles are in design.   

Based on the Fiscal Year 2016-2017 Capital Plan, the Commission plans to spend 
approximately $2.2 billion on total reconstruction projects and approximately $0.8 billion on 
various bridge and tunnel projects over the next ten years.  In total, the Highway Program includes 
funding of approximately $4.652 billion, net of federal reimbursements, over the next ten years. 

The Technology Program includes funding of approximately $188 million over the next 
ten years to address the Commission’s technology needs including toll collection projects, 
communication, application development and technical operational needs. The Commission has 
implemented SAP ERP to provide a set of integrated business processes supported by multi-
module application software with a centralized data repository. 

The Fleet Program includes funding of approximately $178 million to purchase rolling 
stock to insure adequate maintenance of the roadway system. 

The Facilities and Energy Management Program includes funding of approximately $366 
million to repair and replace the aging facilities of the Commission. This commitment will ensure 
that major equipment and facilities are in good repair to support ongoing Turnpike System 
operations. 

The implementation of and the potential conversion to a cashless tolling system is 
estimated to require approximately $384 million in capital funding over the next ten years. At 
present, as described above, the Commission has approved a pilot-program for cashless tolling 
implementation limited to two locations. See “THE TURNPIKE SYSTEM – Cashless Tolling” for 
additional information.   

Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway 

Four projects constructed as part of the Mon/Fayette Expressway are now in operation. 
One is an approximately six-mile toll road between Interstate Route 70 and U.S. Route 40 in 
Washington County. This project was built by PennDOT and turned over to the Commission upon 
its opening in 1990. The second is an approximately twelve-mile section of toll road from I-68 
near Morgantown, West Virginia, to Fairchance, Pennsylvania, which is located just south of 
Uniontown. The third project is an approximately sixteen-mile section of the Mon/Fayette 
Expressway from Interstate Route 70 in Washington County to Pennsylvania Route 51 in 
Allegheny County, which opened in April 2002. The fourth is an approximately fifteen-mile 
section from Uniontown to Brownsville, including a 3,022-foot bridge over the Monongahela 
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River, which opened to traffic in July 2012. These four contiguous projects, which total 48 miles 
from Morgantown, West Virginia to PA Route 51 south of Pittsburgh, are now part of the System. 
The final 14-mile section of the Mon/Fayette Expressway, extending from PA Route 51 to 
Interstate Route 376 near Monroeville east of Pittsburgh, received environmental clearance in 
December 2004. Final design through design field view has been completed.  However, based on 
various value engineering proposals and cost reduction measures, the design field view for such 
section will need to be adjusted.  The Commission has given notice to proceed for the seven (7) 
design section consultants and the design manager to advance the project to design field view.  
The Commission has also hired consultants to complete further environmental evaluations and 
traffic and revenue studies. Additional design, right-of-way acquisition and construction cannot 
progress until additional funding from Act 89 becomes available in future years.  Current 
estimates to complete the final 14 miles of the Mon/Fayette Expressway to Interstate Route 376 
are in excess of $1.6 billion. 

When eventually completed, the Mon/Fayette Expressway would extend from Interstate 68 
in West Virginia to Interstate Route 376 in Monroeville, which is east of Pittsburgh. 

The proposed Southern Beltway is to be constructed from the Mon/Fayette Expressway, 
near Finleyville, extending as part of a beltway south of Pittsburgh to Interstate 376 at the 
Pittsburgh International Airport. It is comprised of three distinct projects. The six-mile project 
from I-376 to U.S. 22 (also known as the Findlay Connector) opened to traffic in October 2006. 
The project from U.S. 22 to I-79, received environmental clearance for its 13 miles in September, 
2008 and is in final design with sections of the final design expected to be completed in 2016; 
right of way acquisition began in late 2010. In January 2014, the Commission awarded two 
contracts, one for the construction manager and the other for the construction of a major bridge to 
carry the Southern Beltway over U.S. 22, to begin the construction of this leg of the Southern 
Beltway. Bridge construction commenced in the Spring of 2014 and is completed.  Construction 
of the roadway portion of the U.S. 22 to I-79 project is expected to begin in 2016.  When 
completed, the U.S. 22 to I-79 portion of the Southern Beltway will be a cashless tolling facility.  
The remaining Southern Beltway project, from I-79 to the Mon/Fayette Expressway, received 
environmental clearance in May 2009. The final portion of the Southern Beltway is currently 
estimated to cost approximately $788 million. The proceeds of the Commission’s Oil Franchise 
Tax Revenue Bonds, Series A and B of 1998, Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds, Series A, B and 
C of 2003, and Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds, Series A-1, B, C, D-2 and E of 2009, and 
Registration Fee Revenue Bonds, Series of 2001, were applied to fund the construction of the 
Mon/Fayette and Southern Beltway projects that have been completed to date. It is anticipated that 
the remaining costs to complete the Mon/Fayette Expressway and the Southern Beltway will be 
financed with Oil Franchise Tax Revenues (as defined herein) and Registration Fee Revenues (as 
defined herein) along with other funding sources. Although the open sections of the Mon/Fayette 
Expressway and the Southern Beltway are toll roads, the Tolls (as defined herein) pledged for the 
repayment of Turnpike Revenue Bonds will not be pledged for the financing of their construction, 
which will be funded by Oil Franchise Tax Revenues and Registration Fee Revenues. 

The Commission has no legal obligation to complete the unfinished portions of the 
Mon/Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway projects at this time. However, Act 89 is expected 
to generate an estimated $86.2 million in additional annual Oil Franchise Tax revenues for the 
Commission by Fiscal Year 2017-2018. With additional Oil Franchise Tax revenues, the 
Commission is proceeding with the U.S. 22 to I-79 portion of the Southern Beltway as well as 
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actively evaluating financing options to complete additional portions of the Southern Beltway and 
portions of the Mon/Fayette Expressway. 

I-95 Interchange 

I-95 was completed in 1969 without an interchange connecting it to the Turnpike Mainline. 
Interstate travelers must either by-pass the Philadelphia area entirely or exit the interstate system 
and navigate a complex system of local roadways to access I-95 again in New Jersey. 

The Commission is currently in the first of three phases of its Pennsylvania Turnpike/I-95 
Interchange Project (the “Interchange Project”). The main objectives of the Interchange Project 
are to improve the linkage between I-95 and the Turnpike Mainline to create continuity in the 
interstate system, relieve congestion on local roads which are currently used by travelers to make 
the connection between I-95 and the Turnpike Mainline, create additional capacity on the 
Turnpike Mainline and I-95 to accommodate the transfer of traffic from the local roadway system, 
and improve travel times through the interchange area. 

The first phase of the Interchange Project includes preparatory work and construction of a 
portion of the interchange between I-95 and the Turnpike Mainline, including northbound I-95 to 
the eastbound Turnpike Mainline and southbound I-95 to the westbound Turnpike Mainline, and is 
currently under construction. This phase, which included construction of a new mainline toll plaza 
and a cashless tolling plaza westbound, opened in January 2016.  The next construction contract, 
covering Turnpike Mainline Section D10, was bid on June 5, 2014 and construction commenced 
in September 2014 and is expected to continue through 2016.  The final contract in the first phase, 
covering Turnpike Mainline Section D20, was bid in the Summer 2015 and construction will 
continue through 2018. The second phase will include the completion of the reconstruction and 
widening of the remaining interchange connectors. The third phase will be the construction of an 
additional bridge over the Delaware River. Funding for construction of the first phase is included 
in the Capital Plan. 

CERTAIN FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Revenue Sources of the Commission 

The Commission’s revenues are principally derived from three separate sources: toll 
revenues from the operation of the System, revenue derived from a portion of the 
Commonwealth’s Oil Franchise Tax, and revenue derived from a portion of the Commonwealth’s 
vehicle registration fee revenues. 

Toll Revenues 

The largest part of the Commission’s revenues is derived from the collection of all rates, 
rents, fees, charges, fines and other income derived by the Commission from the vehicular usage 
of the System and all rights to receive the same (the “Tolls”). The Tolls are presently pledged to 
secure certain senior obligations of the Commission issued under the Senior Revenue Indenture 
(the “Turnpike Revenue Bonds”), other senior parity obligations issued under the Senior Revenue 
Indenture, and any subordinate obligations issued under the Senior Revenue Indenture 
(collectively, the “Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations”).  As of the date of this Official 
Statement, the Commission has $4,937,390,000 aggregate principal amount of fixed and variable 
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rate Turnpike Revenue Bonds outstanding under the Senior Revenue Indenture. The foregoing 
amount includes certain notes evidencing and securing $200,000,000 in loans through the 
Immigrant Investor Program (known as the EB-5 visa program) administered by the U.S. 
Citizenship and Immigration Services, the proceeds of which are being used to fund a portion of 
the I-95 Interchange Project (the “EB-5 Loans”).  The EB-5 Loans were issued in four tranches (3 
tranches on March 18, 2016 and the fourth tranche on May 11, 2016), each having a five year 
term.  At the end of each five year term, the Commission will evaluate market conditions to 
determine whether to refinance the loans into either long term, privately placed or publicly offered 
Turnpike Revenue Bonds, based on numerous factors including the lowest available interest rates.    

 See http://emma.msrb.org/IssueView/NonCUSIP9IssueDetails.aspx?id=ES3614295 and 
http://emma.msrb.org/IssueView/NonCUSIP9IssueDetails.aspx?id=EP3723215 for additional 
information on the EB-5 Loans.   

Also included in the principal amount outstanding under the Senior Revenue Indenture is 
$1,010,815,000 aggregate principal amount of floating rate notes (FRNs).  Other obligations 
incurred and outstanding under the Senior Revenue Indenture include the Commission’s 
obligations under various interest rate swap agreements having a total current notional amount of 
$978,836,000.  The Tolls are not pledged to secure the Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds, the 
Registration Fee Revenue Bonds (as defined below) or the bonds and other obligations issued (or 
otherwise secured) under the Subordinate Revenue Indenture (the “Subordinate Revenue 
Indenture Obligations”). All Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations are subordinated to the 
payment of the Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations issued under the Senior Revenue Indenture. 
See “THE COMMISSION – Enabling Acts - Issuance of Bonds; Commission Payments.” 

 
Neither the Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations, the Oil Franchise Tax 

Revenue Bonds, nor the Registration Fee Revenue Bonds are secured by or have any interest 
in the trust estate established pursuant to the Senior Revenue Indenture. 

The Commission may in the future, under the terms of the Senior Revenue Indenture, 
identify in writing certain roads, other than the Turnpike Mainline and the Northeast Extension, as 
not being part of the System for the purposes of the Senior Revenue Indenture which would 
eliminate toll revenues from these portions from the definition of Tolls under the Senior Revenue 
Indenture. The Commission currently has no plans to remove any roads from the System. In 
addition, under the Senior Revenue Indenture, the Commission has covenanted that it will not sell, 
lease or otherwise dispose of real estate or personal property comprising a portion of the System 
except upon compliance with the provisions of the Senior Revenue Indenture, including a 
determination by resolution that the Net Revenues of the Commission will not be materially 
adversely affected. The Commission from time to time may consider various proposals that could 
involve the transfer or other disposition of Commission property. Any such transfer or disposition 
would be required to comply with the provisions of the Senior Revenue Indenture. 

                                                 
5 The information contained on such website link is not incorporated by reference in this Appendix A.   
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Oil Franchise Tax Revenues 

The Commission’s second principal stream of revenues consists of that portion of the 
Commonwealth’s oil company franchise tax revenues (the “Oil Franchise Tax Revenues”) 
allocated by statute to the Commission and pledged to the holders of the Bonds (also referred to 
herein as the “Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds”) as part of the Trust Estate, of which 
$718,631,078.40 aggregate principal amount is outstanding as of the date of this Official 
Statement (including compounded amounts as of June 1, 2016 for capital appreciation bonds). 
Upon the issuance of the 2016 Bonds and the refunding of the Refunded Bonds, the Commission 
will have $664,971,078.40 aggregate principal amount of Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds 
outstanding under the Indenture (including compounded amounts as of June 1, 2016).  The Oil 
Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds, including the 2016 Bonds, are secured solely by the Trust Estate 
which includes, among other things, such Commission Allocations.  The Oil Franchise Tax 
Revenues are not pledged to secure any Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations, any 
Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations or any Registration Fee Revenue Bonds.  Note, 
however, that funds in the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund may be used by the Commission for 
any purpose.  See “OIL FRANCHISE TAX – Act 3” in the forepart of this Official Statement for a 
discussion regarding expected withdrawals from the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund to, among 
other things, replenish anticipated future deficiencies in a self-liquidy fund established for certain 
Registration Fee Revenue Bonds.  

Registration Fee Revenues 

The Commission’s third principal stream of revenues consists of that portion of the 
Commonwealth’s vehicle registration fee revenues (the “Registration Fee Revenues”) allocated 
by statute to the Commission or the holders of any of the Commission’s Registration Fee Revenue 
Bonds (the “Registration Fee Revenue Bonds”), of which $394,695,000 aggregate principal 
amount is outstanding as of the date of this Official Statement. The Registration Fee Revenue 
Bonds, the proceeds of which were spent on portions of the Mon/Fayette Expressway and the 
Southern Beltway, are secured by Registration Fee Revenues. Registration Fee Revenue Bonds are 
to be paid solely from the Registration Fee Revenues. On October 8, 2015, the Commission 
converted the interest rate mode of the Series B, C, and D of 2005 Registration Fee Revenue 
Bonds through a private placement with J.P. Morgan Securities LLC. The Registration Fee 
Revenues are not pledged to secure any Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations, Subordinate 
Revenue Indenture Obligations or the Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds. 

Toll Schedule and Rates 

The current System generally employs a closed or ticket system method for toll collection. 
Tolls are determined on the basis of the length of the trip and vehicle class. There are nine vehicle 
classes determined either by axles or, in the case of commercial vehicles, by axles and weight. 
Historically, all drivers were issued a ticket upon entering the System and were required to 
surrender the ticket and pay the appropriate toll upon exiting. Electronic toll collection methods, 
however, have been implemented throughout the System. See “THE TURNPIKE SYSTEM – E-
ZPass Lanes.” 

Between 1957 and 2008, the Commission implemented only five revisions in its toll 
schedule, effective on September 1, 1969, August 1, 1978, January 2, 1987, June 1, 1991 and 
August 1, 2004. On August 1, 2004, Turnpike System tolls increased by 1.8 cents per mile for 
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passenger vehicles from 4.1 to 5.9 cents per mile. Commercial vehicles had an average increase of 
5.3 cents per mile. Such toll increase was consistent with the rate of inflation over the 13 years 
since the Commission’s prior toll increase in 1991. During such time, all incremental revenue 
generated by such toll increase was used to fund capital improvements to the System’s roads, 
tunnels and other upgrades. 

Since 2008, the Commission has implemented rate increases as follows: 

● On July 22, 2008, the Commission approved a toll increase in the amount of 25% 
(except for the Southern Beltway and the Mon/Fayette Expressway) which became 
effective on January 4, 2009, with the expectation that it would implement annual 
increases thereafter. 

● On August 18, 2009, the Commission approved a toll increase in the amount of 3% 
(except for the Southern Beltway) which became effective on January 3, 2010. 

● On July 13, 2010, the Commission adopted several revenue enhancement measures 
that took effect on January 2, 2011. For E-ZPass users, tolls increased by 3%. For 
cash customers, tolls increased by 10% (rounded to the nearest $0.05). (Tolls on the 
Southern Beltway were not increased.) Annual fees for use of E-ZPass 
transponders increased from $3 per transponder to $6 per transponder. Finally, the 
commercial discount program, which provided for tiered discounts of 10%, 15% 
and 20% off published toll rates depending on total monthly fares, was adjusted to 
provide tiered discounts of 5%, 10% and 15%. These revenue enhancements were 
used to provide funds for payments under the Amended Funding Agreement and 
other Act 44 purposes, including funding of the Commission’s capital expenditure 
program and normal operating expenditures. 

● On July 19, 2011, the Commission approved a toll increase (except on the Southern 
Beltway) which took effect on January 2, 2012. E-ZPass users did not see a toll 
increase, and cash customers saw an increase of 10%. In addition, commercial 
discounts were reduced. The 15% volume discount was eliminated and the 
remaining discounts were set at a 5% discount for $5,000-$10,000 in monthly tolls 
and a 10% discount for more than $10,000 in monthly tolls. In addition, the 
Commission also approved approximate overall toll rate increases that among E-
ZPass users and cash customers would average 3% annually for each of the 2013 
and 2014 calendar years. 

● At meetings on July 18, 2012 and September 4, 2012, the Commission approved 
toll increases which became effective on January 6, 2013. Tolls for cash customers 
generally increased by 10%, except for the Southern Beltway, and tolls for E-ZPass 
users increased by 2%. On the Southern Beltway, cash tolls for all classes (which 
had never increased since its opening in 2006) increased by 50%, and E-ZPass rates 
increased by 25%. Annual fees for non-commercial use of E-ZPass transponders 
decreased from $6 per transponder to $3 per transponder due to lower cost from the 
supplier. Finally, the commercial discount program was further adjusted. The 10% 
discount was eliminated and the minimum toll amount for discount eligibility 
increased from $5,000 to $10,000. The revised discount program provided for a 5% 
discount on total monthly fares of $10,000 or more. 
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● At its meeting on July 16, 2013, the Commission clarified its previously approved 
toll increase which was to occur in January 2014. The Commission approved a 
differential to the toll increases which became effective on January 5, 2014. Tolls 
(except on the Southern Beltway) increased by 12% for cash customers and by 2% 
for E-ZPass users. The toll increase differential kept the overall toll revenue 
increase to approximately 3%, in keeping with previous approvals of the 
Commission. Additionally, the remaining commercial discount program (5% 
volume discount on total monthly fares of $10,000 or more) was approved for 
elimination, effective January 5, 2014.  

● At its meeting on September 20, 2013, the Commission partially reinstated the 
commercial discount to provide a three percent (3%) discount to Turnpike System 
commercial E-ZPass account holders that expend $20,000 or more in tolls per 
month on the Turnpike System. 

● On June 17, 2014, the Commission approved a toll increase (except for the 
Southern Beltway) in the amount of 5% for both cash and E-ZPass users effective 
January 4, 2015. 

 On July 7, 2015, the Commission approved a toll increase in the amount of 6% for 
both cash and E-ZPass users effective January 3, 2016. 

 On July 19, 2016, the Commission approved a toll increase in the amount of 6% for 
both cash and E-ZPass users effective January 2017.  

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 
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Traffic data for the Fiscal Year ended May 31, 2015 indicates an 8.2% increase in adjusted 
gross toll revenue, with an increase in traffic volume of 1.9%, as compared to Fiscal Year 2013-
14.  Improving economic conditions and gasoline price declines have positively impacted traffic 
volumes and revenue. Unaudited traffic data for Fiscal Year 2016 indicates a 10.5% increase in 
adjusted gross toll revenue, with an increase in traffic volume of 3.1% as compared to Fiscal Year 
2015. 

The following Table I illustrates the tolls and per mile rates applicable to each vehicle class 
for a trip on the Turnpike Mainline from Interchange 1 through Interchange 353 following the toll 
increase effective January 3, 2016: 

 

Act 44 requires the Commission to fix toll rates such that revenues from tolls and other 
sources to the Commission are sufficient to pay the cost of the System’s operation, construction, 
expansion and maintenance, all Commission obligations and interest thereon, sinking fund 
requirements of the Commission, other requirements in any trust indentures, notes or resolutions, 
and payments to PennDOT under the Amended Funding Agreement.  

Five-Year Financial History  

The following Table II summarizes certain operating and revenue information with respect 
to the System for the Fiscal Years from 2011 to 2016.  The following Table III summarizes certain 
financial information with respect to the System for the Fiscal Years from 2011 to 2015 and for 
the nine-month periods ended February 28/29, in Fiscal Years 2015 and 2016. This information is 

Vehicle Toll Gross Vehicle Weight Toll Rate Cash Per Mile Toll Rate EZ-Pass Per Mile
Class (Thousand Pound) Effective 1/2016 Cash Rate Effective 1/2016 EZ-Pass Rate

1 1-7 42.30 0.129 30.32 0.092
2 7-15 62.15 0.189 44.53 0.135
3 15-19 75.05 0.228 53.74 0.163
4 19-30 90.00 0.274 64.50 0.196
5 30-45 126.20 0.384 90.60 0.275
6 45-62 158.30 0.481 113.64 0.345
7 62-80 226.65 0.689 162.77 0.495
8 80-100 297.10 0.903 213.45 0.649

9 Over 100 1634.35 4.968 ---
2

---

2
 No longer available for EZ Pass

Notes:

Beginning January 3, 2016 the Commission has implemented a new "cashless tolling" system from the Delaware River Bridge to the new Neshaminy Falls toll plaza.  The toll on 
the Delaware River Bridge to Neshaminy Falls portion is a one-way toll westbound only, and is collected by a new "toll-by-plate" system or by E-ZPass. The toll-by-plate rate as 
of January 3, 2016 is $6.75 for the first two axles, $13.50 for three axles, $20.25 for four axles, $27.00 for five axles and $33.75 for six axles. The E-ZPass rate is $5.00 for the 
first two axles, $10.00 for three axles, $15.00 for four axles, $20.00 for five axles, and $25.00 for six axles.  Permits are required for all over-dimensional loads.  

Roadway East - West Complete Trip

Neshaminy Falls
1
 - Warrendale (Ticket System)

TABLE I
Current Tolls and Per Mile Rates for Mainline

The above rates represent an “East West” trip for the ticket toll system between the Neshaminy Falls (#353) interchange and Warrendale (#30). The 30-mile Gateway to 
Warrendale roadway between Warrendale and the Ohio Turnpike has a barrier toll at the Gateway Mainline interchange (#2). For purposes of the Senior Indenture, the Mainline 
is the entire length of the roadway between Ohio and the Delaware River Bridge. The toll on the Gateway connector is payable only when traveling eastbound and is standard 
for all vehicles of a class, regardless of distance traveled. The cash rate as of January 3, 2016 is $6.60 for the first two axles, $13.00 for three axles, $19.45 for four axles, $25.80 
for five axles and $32.20 for six axles. The E-ZPass rate is $4.61 for the first two axles, $9.21 for three axles, $13.82 for four axles, $18.42 for five axles, and $23.05 for six 
axles.  

1
 Effective January 3, 2016 the eastern-most terminus of the ticket system was moved about six miles to the west from the former Delaware River Bridge toll plaza to  the new 

Neshaminy Falls toll plaza.  As a result of this change, Table I may differ from prior versions issued by the Commission.
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derived from the Commission’s regularly prepared books and records. The financial information 
presented in Table III is a combination of cash basis financial statements with certain accruals 
included. Such information is not presented in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and has not been audited. In the opinion of management of the 
Commission, the financial information for the nine-month period ended February 28/29, for Fiscal 
Years 2015 and 2016, is presented on a basis consistent with the presentation of the audited 
information below. Such interim information is not indicative of the results that may be expected 
for the entire Fiscal Year. 

Tables II and III should be read in conjunction with the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and related notes included in 
“APPENDIX B – AUDITED 2015 AND 2014 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS” of this Official 
Statement (the “Financial Statements”). 

The Commission currently makes certain operating and financial information, including its 
audited annual financial statements and information corresponding to the information set forth 
below in Tables II and III, available through the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board - 
Electronic Municipal Market Access (http://www.emma.msrb.org)6 pursuant to its undertakings in 
accordance with Rule 15c2-12 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended. Information to be provided pursuant to the Commission’s undertaking in connection 
with the bonds offered pursuant to this Official Statement is described in the forepart of this 
Official Statement under the caption “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE.” 

 TABLE II 
Number of Vehicles and Fare Revenues – Summarized by Fare Classification* 

(in thousands) 

  
 

Fiscal Year Ended May 31 
 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 
Number of Vehicles:**  

Passenger 165,230 164,960 163,690 163,788 166,192 170,992 
Commercial 23,812 24,127 24,207 24,891 26,144 27,271 

Total 189,042 189,087 187,897 188,679 192,336 198,263 

 
Fare Revenue:***  

Passenger $435,751 $455,133 $471,514 $497,671 $533,054 $588,295  
Commercial 328,105 342,646 350,226 368,395 401,198 443,325 

Total 763,856 797,779 821,740 866,066 934,252 1,031,620 
Discount -24,152 -16,981 -10,198 -4,220 -2,106 -1,398 

Net Fare Revenues $739,704 $780,798 $811,542 $861,846 $932,146 $1,030,222  

 

 *     Does not include Oil Franchise Tax Revenues or Registration Fee Revenues.   
**   Number of vehicles is unaudited. 
*** Fare revenues are audited except for Fiscal Year 2016 which are preliminary unaudited.   The 
audited basic financial statements of the Commission for fiscal years ended May 31, 2016 and May 
31, 2015 are expected to be released in September 2016 and made available through EMMA as 
discussed under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the forepart of this Official Statement. 

   
 

                                                 
6 The information contained on such website link is not incorporated by reference in this Appendix A.   
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TABLE III 
Summary of System Revenues and Operating Expenditures 

Before Interest and Other Charges (1)(2) 
(000's Omitted) 

 

              

  
Fiscal Year Ended May 31, Nine-Months ended 

February 28/29 *   

  2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 FY 2015 FY 2016 

            

Revenues           

Net Toll Revenues $739,704 $780,798 $811,542 $861,846 $932,146  $687,400 $755,745 

Concession Revenues          2,728           3,167           3,302           3,554           3,722           2,807           3,101  

Interest Income (non bond proceeds)        11,089         15,771         19,497         14,917         13,008           9,740         10,510  

Miscellaneous        16,202         19,923         16,792         15,355         13,867         10,529         12,741  

  Total Revenues $769,723 $819,659 $851,133 $895,672 $962,743  $710,476 $782,097 
              

Operating Expenditures (3)             

General & Administrative $33,528 $39,980 $41,632 $39,983 $39,541  $34,117 $34,324 

Traffic Engineering and Operations          3,979           4,078           4,455           3,966           3,986           2,875           3,188  

Service Centers        20,384         25,570         24,480         22,448         24,128         18,575         20,834  

Employee Benefits        70,441         77,563         80,670         83,810         98,475         65,010         74,732  

Toll Collection        64,944         62,239         60,862         59,139         60,429         45,165         44,671  

Normal Maintenance        65,285         58,096         65,924         74,789         73,792         56,203         50,323  

Facilities and Energy Mgmt. Operations          2,866           7,644           8,903           9,850         10,957           7,797           8,805  

Turnpike Patrol        34,056         34,658         36,171         39,818         41,234         30,075         33,367  

  Total Operating Expenditures  $295,483 $309,828 $323,097 $333,803 $352,542  $259,817 $270,244 

              

Revenues less Operating Expenditures $474,240 $509,831 $528,036 $561,869 $610,201  $450,659 $511,853 

Senior Annual Debt Service Requirement $120,570 $145,906 $142,552 $158,995 $170,155 

Coverage Ratio 3.93 3.49 3.70 3.53 3.59  

Annual Subordinate Debt Service Requirement $123,186 $130,713 $156,067 $196,475 $205,627 

Coverage Ratio 1.95 1.84 1.77 1.58 1.62  
Annual MLF Enhanced Debt Service   

Requirement $1,541 $10,063 $20,305 $29,632 $36,027  

Coverage Ratio            1.93             1.78             1.66             1.46             1.48  

 

(1) This summary of revenues and operating expenditures is not intended to present results of operations in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles.   Debt service is net of capitalized interest and receipt of Federal Subsidy on the Turnpike’s Build America Bonds. 

(2) Does not include Oil Franchise Tax Revenues or Registration Fee Revenues or debt service on the Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds or 
Registration Fee Revenue Bonds. 

(3) Certain expenditure amounts for fiscal years 2011 to 2015 have been reclassified between General  & Administrative and Toll Collection.  The 
Commission had a recent reorganization that combined the Fare Collection and ETC departments and created  a "Toll Collection" functional area.   
The reclassifications were necessary so prior year numbers were presented in a manner that is consistent with current year (FY2016) reporting.    

* Unaudited; The audited basic financial statements of the Commission for fiscal years ended May 31, 2016 and May 31, 2015 are expected to be 
released in September 2016 and made available through EMMA as discussed under “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” in the forepart of this Official 
Statement. 

Budget Process 

The Commission’s Finance and Administration Department develops preliminary budget 
information for all Commission departments. This information is provided to each of the 
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respective departments for their review and to enable them to make any proposed revisions for 
their budget requests. The information is then returned to the Finance and Administration 
Department and a Commission wide preliminary budget is prepared. This budget is reviewed by 
senior management and, in cooperation with the respective departments, revisions are made when 
necessary to conform to the annual financial plan. The final recommended budget is then 
presented to the Board of Commissioners for formal approval.   

In addition, Act 44 requires the Commission to prepare and submit an annual financial plan 
to the Secretary of the Budget of the Commonwealth no later than June 1 of each year for the 
ensuing Fiscal Year, describing its proposed operating and capital expenditures, borrowings, 
liquidity and other financial management covenants and policies, estimated toll rates and all other 
revenues and expenses. The purpose of the annual financial plan is to demonstrate that the 
Commission’s operation in accordance with such plan can be reasonably anticipated to generate 
unencumbered funds sufficient to make all payments due to PennDOT under Act 44, Act 89 and 
the Amended Funding Agreement in the upcoming year after all other Commission obligations 
and interest thereon, sinking fund requirements of the Commission, and other requirements in any 
trust indenture, notes or resolutions have been met. Any deviations and the causes therefor in prior 
year plans must be explained.  The Commission delivered to the Secretary of the Budget its Act 44 
Financial Plan for Fiscal Year 2016-17 on May 18, 2016.  See “THE COMMISSION – Enabling 
Acts – Rules Relating to Governance and Accountability Under the Enabling Acts” above. 

Performance Audit by the Auditor General 

The Enabling Acts require the Auditor General of the Commonwealth to conduct an audit 
of the accounts of the Commission and to review its performance, procedures, operating budget, 
capital budget and debt every two years. The Act of October 23, 1988, P. L. 1059, No. 122 (“Act 
122”) also requires the Auditor General to conduct a financial audit and a compliance audit of the 
Commission every four years. 

On January 8, 2013, former Auditor General Wagner issued a final report presenting the 
results of his quadrennial audit of the Commission under Act 44 and Act 122. The financial 
portion of the audit covered the period from June 1, 2005 to May 31, 2010, and the performance 
portion of the audit covered the period from June 1, 2007 to August 31, 2011. The Auditor 
General’s office did not conduct its own financial audit but reviewed audits and supporting 
documentation of the independent firm that audits the Commission’s financial statements 
annually, including working papers for the five fiscal years ended May 31, 2006 through May 31, 
2010. 

The audit report included recommendations to the Commission with respect to the 
following areas: 

● non-revenue use of the Turnpike System by Commission employees; 

● non-revenue use of the Turnpike System by nearly 5,000 consultants, contractors, 
and other state government officials; 

● the monitoring, audit and evaluation by the Commission of the E-ZPass system; 
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● continued or expanded monitoring, review and inspection of the Turnpike System’s 
tunnels; 

● reimbursement of the travel and other expenses of Commissioners; and 

● the Commission’s use of interest rate swaps as part of its overall debt-management 
practices. 

On January 2, 2013, in response to the release by the former Auditor General of a draft 
report, the Commission’s then Acting Chief Executive Officer responded by letter to former 
Auditor General Wagner, addressing the proposed recommendations of the Department of Auditor 
General. On January 8, 2013, upon release of the final report, the Commission issued a press 
release making available to the public the Commission’s response to the audit report. 

The full text of the Department of Auditor General’s final report may be found at 
https://www.paturnpike.com/pdfs/business/finance/PTC_Report_final_01082013.pdf. For the 
Commission’s response, see http://www.paturnpike.com/press/2013/20130108145419.htm. 

On October 28, 2015 the Commission was advised by the Auditor General that it will 
conduct its biennial performance audit and its Quadrennial Financial Audit, as required by statute, 
covering the five-year period of June 1, 2010 through May 31, 2015 (together, the "Current 
Audit").   While the written report has yet to be released, in prior public statements the Auditor 
General has indicated that a portion of the Current Audit will address certain financial concerns 
that relate to toll revenues.  The written report of the Auditor General relating to the Current Audit 
will be posted to the Commission's website following its release. Note that the 2016 Bonds are 
not payable from toll revenues but are limited obligations of the Commission payable solely 
from the Trust Estate, which includes, among other things, the Commission Allocation of the 
Oil Franchise Tax.  In addition, the Oil Franchise Tax Revenues are not pledged to secure 
any Senior Revenue Indenture Obligations, any Subordinate Revenue Indenture Obligations 
or any Registration Fee Revenue Bonds of the Commission.  See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION – Revenue Source of the Commission” above.   

Financial Policies and Guidelines 

The Commission’s Investment Policy and Guidelines, adopted on June 6, 1997 and 
amended from time to time thereafter (the “Investment Policy”), sets forth the purpose, objectives 
and investment guidelines for eligible securities for the investment of financial assets of the 
Commission. Eligible securities include those that are consistent with the Senior Revenue 
Indenture. For a discussion of the Commission’s concentration of credit risk to particular issuers, 
see Note 4 to the Financial Statements. 

The Investment Policy provides that appropriate benchmarks shall be developed for the 
various funds invested by the Commission and that the returns of the Commission’s individual 
portfolio segments are to be compared to such benchmarks. Pursuant to the Investment Policy, the 
Commission’s Investment Policy Committee must prepare an investment report for the 
Commissioners on a quarterly basis, including a management summary that provides a clear 
picture of the status of the current investment portfolio and transactions made over the latest 
reporting period. The report is to include investment performance and demonstrate conformity 
with the Investment Policy. 
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The Commission adopted three additional financial policies on April 20, 2004: a Liquidity 
Standard Policy, a Debt Management Policy and an Interest Rate Swap Management Policy (the 
“Swap Policy”). These financial management policies were developed in recognition of the 
increasing financial sophistication of the Commission with respect to its debt structure and to 
provide guidance governing the issuance, management, ongoing evaluation and reporting of all 
debt obligations. 

The Liquidity Standard Policy requires that the Commission maintain sufficient year-end 
fund balances to ensure levels of uncommitted reserves necessary to secure and protect its long-
term debt and other financial obligations. Under this policy, the Commission budgets and 
maintains cumulative fund balances, including balances in the Reserve Maintenance Fund and the 
General Reserve Fund, equal to the greater of maximum annual debt service on those bonds not 
secured by a debt service reserve fund or 10% of annual budgeted revenues. 

The Debt Management Policy establishes parameters and provides guidance governing the 
issuance and management of Commission debt. It addresses such issues as usage of unhedged 
variable rate debt, rate covenants and limitations on additional bonds and disclosure. 
Notwithstanding the rate covenants in the Senior Revenue Indenture and the Commission's Debt 
Management Policy, it is the internal policy of the Commission's management to maintain 2.00 
debt service coverage on the Turnpike Revenue Bonds, 1.30 debt service coverage on the 
Subordinate Revenue Bonds and 1.20 debt service coverage on the Special Revenue Bonds. For a 
discussion of the rate covenant under the Senior Revenue Indenture, see “SECURITY FOR THE 
2016A BONDS – Rate Covenant” in the forepart of this Official Statement. The Commission’s 
Debt Management Policy is available on the Commission’s website at 
https://www.paturnpike.com/pdfs/business/Debt%20Management% 20Policy%20Letter.pdf. 

  Currently, approximately 89% of the Commission’s outstanding debt is fixed rate, five 
percent is synthetic fixed and six percent is unhedged variable rate.  

The Commission’s Swap Policy establishes guidelines for the use and management of all 
interest rate management agreements, including, but not limited to, interest rate swaps, swaptions, 
caps, collars and floors (collectively, “Swaps”) incurred in connection with the incurrence of debt. 
The Commission’s Swap Policy was amended in May 2013 to reflect current regulations and best 
practices in the derivatives industry, particularly with respect to the selection requirements and on-
going monitoring related to swap advisors.  

The Swap Policy authorizes the Commission to use Swaps to hedge interest rate 
movement, basis risk and other risks, to lock in a fixed rate or, alternatively, to create synthetic 
variable rate debt. Swaps may also be used to produce interest rate savings, limit or hedge variable 
rate payments, alter the pattern of debt service payments, manage exposure to changing market 
conditions in advance of anticipated bond issues (through the use of anticipatory hedging 
instruments) or for asset/liability matching purposes. Key elements of the Swap Policy include the 
following: 

Swap Counterparties – Credit Criteria. The Commission will make its best efforts to work 
with qualified Swap counterparties that have a general credit rating of: (i) at least “A3” or “A-” by 
two of the nationally recognized rating agencies and not rated lower than “A3” or “A” by any 
nationally recognized rating agency, or (ii) have a “non-terminating” “AAA” subsidiary as rated 
by at least one nationally recognized credit rating agency. 
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Term and Notional Amount. For Swaps tied to an issued series of bonds, the term of the 
Swap agreement shall not extend beyond the final maturity date of the related bonds. The total net 
notional amount of all Swaps related to a bond issue should not exceed the aggregate principal 
amount of outstanding bonds. In calculating the net notional amount, netting credit shall be given 
to any Swaps that offset each other for a specific bond transaction. 

Security and Source of Repayment. The Commission may use the same security and 
source of repayment (pledged revenues) for Swaps as is used for bonds that are hedged by the 
Swap, if any, but shall consider the economic costs and benefits of subordinating the 
Commission’s payments and/or termination payment under the Swap. The Commission shall 
consult with Bond Counsel regarding the legal requirements associated with making the payments 
under the Swap on a parity or non-parity basis with outstanding Commission debt. 

Prohibited Agreements. The Commission will not use Swaps that: 

● Are speculative or create extraordinary leverage as risk; 

● Lack adequate liquidity to terminate without incurring a significant bid/ask spread; 
or 

● Provide insufficient price transparency to allow reasonable valuation. 

Annual Swap Report. The Commission’s Assistant Chief Financial Officer for Financial 
Management, in consultation with the Commission’s Swap Advisor and legal counsel, will 
evaluate the risks associated with outstanding Swaps at least annually and provide to the senior 
executives and the Commissioners a written report of the findings based upon criteria set forth in 
the Swap Policy. 

Disclosure and Financial Reporting. The Commission will ensure that there is full and 
complete disclosure of all Swaps to rating agencies and in disclosure documents. Disclosure in 
marketing documents, including bond offering documents, shall provide a clear summary of the 
special risks involved with Swaps and any potential exposure to interest rate volatility or 
unusually large and rapid changes in market value. With respect to its financial statements, the 
Commission will adhere to the guidelines for the financial reporting of Swaps, as set forth by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”), Commodity Futures Trading Commission, 
or other applicable regulatory agencies. 

The Commission has interest rate exchange agreements with respect to its Turnpike 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2009A, Series 2010B, Series 2013B, Series 2014B and 2016A-2.  In 
addition, the Commission has interest rate exchange agreements with respect to its Registration 
Fee Revenue Bonds, Series 2005, and Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds, Series 2003C. The 
aggregate market value of the swaps to the counterparties thereto from the Commission was 
calculated to be approximately $205,301,909 (negative value to the Commission) with respect to 
swaps relating to the Turnpike Revenue Bonds referred to above, and $109,356,044 (negative 
value to the Commission) with respect to swaps relating to the Registration Fee Revenue Bonds 
referred to above.  With respect to swaps relating to the above-referenced Oil Franchise Tax 
Revenue Bonds, the aggregate market value of the swaps to the Commission from the 
counterparties thereto was calculated to be approximately $2,044,202 (positive value to the 
Commission) as of June 30, 2016.  See Note 4, Note 7 and Note 9 to the Financial Statements for 
additional information relating to the foregoing.  The Commission does not have any interest rate 
exchange agreements associated with its Subordinate Revenue Bonds or Special Revenue Bonds. 
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There are a number of risks associated with Swaps that could affect the value of the Swaps, 
the ability of the Commission to accomplish its objectives in entering into the Swaps and the 
ability of the Commission to meet its obligations under the Swaps. These risks include, among 
others, the following: counterparty risk – the failure of the counterparty to make required 
payments; credit risk – the occurrence of an event modifying the credit rating of the Commission 
or its counterparty; termination risk – the need to terminate the transaction in a market that dictates 
a termination payment by the Commission; tax risk – the risk created by potential tax events that 
could affect Swap payments; and basis risk – the mismatch between actual variable rate debt 
service and variable rate indices used to determine Swap payments. The Commission actively 
monitors the degree of risk and exposure associated with the Swaps to which it is a party but can 
offer no assurances that compliance with its Swap Policy will prevent the Commission from 
suffering adverse financial consequences as a result of these transactions. 

More recently, the Commission has adopted additional financial policies related to post 
issuance compliance procedures and continuing disclosure. 

The Tax-Exempt Debt, Build America Bonds and Other Tax-Advantaged Debt Post-
Issuance Compliance Policies and Procedures (the “Post Issuance Compliance Policy”) became 
effective on December 21, 2011 and implemented various policies and procedures to ensure that 
the Commission complies with all applicable federal tax rules related to its tax-exempt debt, Build 
America Bonds and other tax-advantaged debt issuances.  Among other items, the policy requires 
compliance with all applicable federal tax documentation and filing requirements, yield restriction 
limitations, arbitrage rebate requirements, use of proceeds and financed projects limitations and 
recordkeeping requirements. 

The Continuing Disclosure Policy was adopted by the Commission on February 2, 2016 
and applies to all publicly offered Commission municipal securities that are subject to federal 
securities laws and/or continuing disclosure agreements.  The policy requires the Commission to 
comply with all applicable securities laws, satisfy in a timely manner all contractual obligations 
undertaken pursuant to continuing disclosure agreements or otherwise, and to adhere to best 
practices for disclosure.  The policy also requires the development, establishment and 
implementation of written procedures necessary to implement the Continuing Disclosure Policy, 
identifies key Commission participants responsible for disclosure, defines the role of Commission 
Disclosure Counsel and addresses training and document retention related to disclosure 
obligations. 

Copies of the Commission’s Investment Policy, Liquidity Standard Policy, Debt 
Management Policy, Swap Policy, Post Issuance Compliance Policy and Continuing Disclosure 
Policy can be found on the Commission’s website at: https://www.paturnpike.com/pdfs/about/ 
Policy_Letters.pdf. 

The policies of the Commission described above may be revised or amended at any time at 
the discretion of the Commission. 

Future Financing Considerations 

The Commission may issue additional bonds under the Senior Revenue Indenture and the 
Subordinate Revenue Indenture. In addition, the Commission may, from time to time, issue other 
notes and bonds payable from such sources as may be available so long as the Tolls, the Oil 
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Franchise Tax Revenues securing the Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds or the Registration Fee 
Revenues securing the Registration Fee Revenue Bonds are not pledged to such other notes and 
bonds or, if pledged, are pledged on a subordinate basis. The Commission anticipates that it will 
borrow substantial additional funds for the purpose of funding capital expenditures for the System 
pursuant to the Ten Year Capital Plan.  Borrowings for the Ten Year Capital Plan are expected to 
be undertaken principally under the Senior Revenue Indenture.  In addition, pursuant to Act 89, 
the Commission anticipates that it will borrow substantial additional funds for purposes of funding 
payments under Act 44, Act 89 and the Amended Funding Agreement through Fiscal Year 2021-
2022. Such borrowings are expected to be undertaken principally under the Subordinate Revenue 
Indenture. In addition, the Commission may from time to time increase toll rates to meet the debt, 
capital and operational obligations of the Commission.  The most recent toll increase that has gone 
into effect was on January 3, 2016.  On July 19, 2016, the Commission approved an additional toll 
increase that is scheduled to go into effect in January 2017. See “CERTAIN FINANCIAL 
INFORMATION – Toll Schedule and Rates” above for further information. 

The Commission expects to issue one or more additional series of Turnpike Revenue 
Bonds under the Senior Revenue Indenture during the Fall of 2016 for the purpose of funding 
costs of capital projects included in the Commission’s current ten year capital program.  On May 
17, 2016, the Commission passed a resolution authorizing the Commission to pursue up to an 
additional $800,000,000 in loans (issued in separate tranches) through the Immigrant Investor 
Program (known as the EB-5 visa program) administered by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration 
Services, the proceeds of which would be used to fund costs of capital projects included in the 
Commission’s current ten year capital program. Such debt, if issued, would be issued under the 
Senior Revenue Indenture on parity with the Turnpike Revenue Bonds. 

The Commission expects to issue additional bonds under the Subordinate Revenue 
Indenture, during the Fall of 2016, to finance all or a portion of its quarterly payments to 
PennDOT pursuant to the Amended Funding Agreement under the Enabling Acts. (See “THE 
COMMISSION—Enabling Acts – Issuance of Bonds; Commission Payments” above.) In addition, 
the Commission regularly evaluates market conditions with respect to the possible refunding of its 
outstanding Turnpike Revenue Bonds, Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Special Revenue Bonds, Oil 
Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds and Registration Fee Revenue Bonds.     

The ability of the Commission to repay such borrowings could be adversely affected by 
many factors, some of which are beyond the control of the Commission. For example, economic 
circumstances which result in significant declines in motor vehicle acquisition or operating cost 
increases could adversely affect the number of motor vehicles in use. An increase in the cost of 
fuel could adversely affect both the number of motor vehicles using the System and the mileage 
that such vehicles travel. Government regulations, such as Clean Air Act requirements, might also 
significantly restrict motor vehicle use and therefore diminish Tolls. 

CERTAIN OTHER INFORMATION 

Insurance 

The Commission maintains All-Risk Property, Builder’s Risk, Public Official bonds, 
Crime and Fiduciary insurance coverage and is self-insured for Workers’ Compensation, Auto 
Liability, and General Liability claims. 
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For capital projects, the Commission maintains Builders’ Risk insurance that covers 
buildings and structures, including temporary structures, while being constructed, erected or 
fabricated on Commission property. This insurance provides coverage against risk of physical 
damage and/or loss (subject to policy exclusions) to all buildings and structures during 
construction. Upon completion, a project is then covered under an All Risk insurance policy that 
has a $200 million per occurrence policy limit. 

Deductibles range in amount depending on the line of coverage and the nature of the claim. 
For bridges, tunnels, overpasses, underpasses and viaducts, the deductible is $5 million. For 
buildings (including contents), toll plazas and equipment, warehouses and similar facilities, the 
deductible is $1 million. 

Certain pre-specified construction projects are insured under an “Owner Controlled 
Insurance Program” until completion. Under these programs, the Commission, contractors and 
subcontractors are insured for Workers Compensation, General Liability, Builders Risk and other 
project-specific insurance with limits and large deductibles varying by project. 

Personnel and Labor Relations 

As of July 1, 2016, the Commission employed 2,079 persons, consisting of 491 
management employees, 1,471 full-time union members, and 117 temporary union 
employees.  Seventy one and one half percent (70.9%) of all employees are engaged in 
maintenance operations and fare collection.  There are 789 field personnel in the 22 facilities.   

 
In an effort to meet funding obligations and contain costs, in 2008 the Commission 

reduced overhead by eliminating vacant positions, offered early retirement incentives to eligible 
staff members, implemented a reduction-in-force program for positions no longer required, and 
reduced salary and benefit expenses by cutting 15 management positions. Subsequently, the 
Commission also reduced overtime by permanently shifting schedules, lowered expenses, and 
implemented a management pay freeze during Fiscal Years 2009-2010 and 2010-2011, and the 
first half of Fiscal Year 2011-2012.  As a result, the Commission currently employs 471, or 
18.47%, fewer employees than it did in 2002, the peak employment year over the past 14 years.  

 
The civil service requirements applicable to the state government do not apply to 

employees of the Commission. 

The Commission is a party to three collective bargaining agreements and one 
memorandum of understanding with Teamsters’ Local Unions covering central office, field, 
professional and first level supervisory personnel. The three collective bargaining agreements 
became effective on October 1, 2007 and expired on September 30, 2011. An agreement was 
reached with one bargaining unit, which was effective as of November 19, 2013 and extends until 
September 30, 2017.  Agreements were reached with the other two bargaining units, which were 
ratified on January 27, 2016.  Those agreements expire on September 30, 2019.  The 
memorandum of understanding, which became effective on October 1, 2007, has no termination 
date.  Since union representation began, the Commission has experienced one work stoppage 
which occurred on November 24, 2004 and lasted for seven days.  
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Retirement Plan 

The State Employee’s Retirement System of the Commonwealth (“SERS”) is one of the 
nation’s oldest and largest statewide retirement plans for public employees. SERS administers 
both a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan. The defined benefit plan is funded 
through a combination of employee contributions, employer contributions and investment 
earnings. The defined contribution plan (Commonwealth of Pennsylvania Deferred Compensation 
Program) is funded by voluntary employee contributions and investment earnings. 

Substantially all employees of the Commission are covered by SERS. The costs of the 
defined benefit plan are paid by the Commission quarterly based upon a stipulated contribution 
rate. Participating agency contributions, including those for the Commission, are mandated by 
statute and are based upon an actuarially determined percentage of gross pay that is necessary to 
provide SERS with assets sufficient to meet the benefits to be paid to SERS members. 

Article II of the Pennsylvania Constitution provides the General Assembly the authority to 
establish or amend benefit provisions. Act 2001-9, signed into law on May 17, 2001, established 
Class AA (“Class AA”) membership whereby, generally, annual full retirement benefits for 
electing active members is 2.5% of the member’s highest three-year average salary (final average 
salary) multiplied by years of service. Commission employees hired after June 30, 2001, but 
before January 1, 2011, are Class AA members. Members hired on or before June 30, 2001 had 
the option, but were not required, to elect Class AA membership. 

Those members not electing Class AA membership are considered Class A (“Class A”). 
The general annual benefit for full retirement for Class A members is 2% of the member’s final 
average salary multiplied by years of service. Retirement benefits for Class A and AA employees 
vest after 5 years of credited service. Class A and AA employees who retire at age 60 with three 
years of service or with 35 years of service if under age 60 are entitled to an unreduced annual 
retirement benefit. 

On November 23, 2010, Pennsylvania Act 120 of 2010 (“Act 120”) was enacted. Under 
this legislation, effective January 1, 2011, benefit reductions are mandated for future SERS 
members; however, benefits for current members are preserved. New employees are subject to a 
higher contribution rate, an increase in the vesting period from five to ten years, elimination of 
lump-sum withdrawals, and an increase to the normal retirement age to obtain full, unreduced 
pension benefits. Rather than the current full benefit provision of 35 years of credited service, new 
employees’ age and combined years of service must equal 92, including a minimum of 35 years of 
credited service, before they may receive full benefits. Act 120 established Class A-3 and Class A-
4 memberships. Effective January 1, 2011, all new members to the System must elect one of these 
new membership classes. New members who elect Class A-3 will accrue benefits at 2% of their 
final average salary multiplied by years of service. Those members choosing Class A-4 will accrue 
benefits at 2.5% of their final average salary multiplied by years of service. Under Act 120, 
retirement benefits for Class A-3 and A-4 vest after 10 years of credited service. Class A-3 and A-
4 members who retire at age 65 with three years of service or when the member’s age (last 
birthday) plus his/her completed years of credit service total at least 92 (Rule of 92) are entitled to 
an unreduced annual retirement benefit. Members hired prior to January 1, 2011 retain their 
current full benefit provision of 35 years of credited service. 
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Covered Class A, Class AA, Class A-3 and A-4 employees are required by statute to 
contribute to SERS at a rate of 5.00%, 6.25%, 6.25% and 9.30% respectively, of their gross pay. 
Employees’ contributions are recorded in individually identified accounts, which are also credited 
with interest, calculated quarterly to yield 4.00% per annum, as mandated by statute. Accumulated 
employee contributions and credited interest vest immediately and are returned to the employee 
upon termination of service if the employee is not eligible for other benefits. 

Participating agency contributions, including those for the Commission, are also mandated 
by statute and are based upon an actuarially determined percentage of gross pay that is necessary 
to provide SERS with assets sufficient to meet the benefits to be paid to SERS members. The 
Commission’s required retirement contribution, as a percentage of covered payroll, by class for 
the most recent five Fiscal Years of the Commonwealth is as follows: 

Year Ended June 30     
(Commonwealth’s Fiscal Year) Class A Class AA Class A-3 Class A-4 

2015 15.94% 19.92% 13.77% 13.77% 
2014 12.10 15.12 10.46 10.46 
2013 8.43 10.51 7.29 7.29 
2012 5.59 6.99 4.83 4.83 
2011 3.29 4.11 4.11 4.11 

     
The Commission’s required contributions and percentage contributed for the most recent 

five Fiscal Years are as follows: 

Year Ended May 31 
Commission Required 

Percent Contributed Contribution 
(in millions) 

2015 $22.6 100% 
2014 17.4 100 
2013 12.0 100 
2012 7.9 100 
2011 5.3 100 

 
The Commission has budgeted $30.9 million for Fiscal Year 2015-2016 SERS required 

contribution. 
 
A copy of SERS’s annual financial statements may be obtained by writing to: State 

Employees’ Retirement System, 30 North Third Street, P.O. Box 1147, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, 
17108-1147. Additional information about SERS, including its Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Reports and actuarial valuation reports, are available at http://www.sers.state.pa.us.7 

On July 6, 2010, Pennsylvania Act 2010-46 was enacted which reduced the employer 
contribution rates for Fiscal Year 2010-2011, thus reducing the Commission’s contribution rates 

                                                 
7 The information contained on such website link is not incorporated by reference in this Appendix A.   

 



 

A-44 
 

for Fiscal Year 2010-2011 from 3.80% for Class A employees and 4.75% for Class AA employees 
to 3.29% for Class A employees and 4.11% for Class AA employees. This rate reduction was only 
for one year. 

Act 120 also imposes limits referred to as “collars” on annual increases to employer 
contribution rates (i.e., the employer contribution rate for a particular year may not exceed the sum 
which results from adding the collar applicable for such year to the prior year’s contribution rate). 
The collared percentage point increases are 4.5 for the Commonwealth fiscal year ending June 30, 
2014 and 4.5 each year thereafter until no longer needed. These limitations are intended to reduce 
spikes in employer contributions.     

At fiscal year ended May 31, 2015, the Commission reported a liability of $296,271,000 
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as 
of December 31, 2014, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.  See Note 8 to the Commission’s Financial 
Statements for additional information on how such pension liability was calculated. 

For more information on SERS, including Act 120, see the SERS website at 
http://sers.pa.gov/newsroom_facts.aspx7 and the disclosure beginning on page 46 of the Official 
Statement for the Commonwealth’s General Obligation Bonds, First Series of 2016 and First 
Refunding Series of 2016 dated June 1, 2016, which may be found at the EMMA website at 
http://emma.msrb.org/ER967005-ER756420-ER1157927.pdf.7  See also Note 8 to the 
Commission’s Financial Statements and related Required Supplementary Information for 
more information on the Commission’s pension liabilities.  

During the prior legislative session of the General Assembly, which ended in December 
2014, various legislation was introduced, which, if enacted, would have affected future required 
pension contributions by the Commission (and other Commonwealth employers) for its employees 
by changing various provisions of the defined benefit plan.  None of this legislation was enacted 
prior to the conclusion of the prior legislative session. 

In March 2015, as part of his fiscal year 2015-2016 Executive Budget, Governor Wolf 
proposed a pension reform proposal focused mainly on the Public School Employees Retirement 
System (“PSERS”) rather than on SERS. However, one component of the Governor’s pension 
proposal includes a proposed reduction in the level of management fees paid to outside investment 
managers by SERS. The Governor’s pension proposal does not appear to recommend any changes 
to the level of benefits for current or new employees and does not recommend any changes to the 
employer contribution rates as contained in Act 120. Based on materials publicly available to the 
Commission, it does not appear that any portion of Governor Wolf’s pension reform proposal, in 
and of itself, would directly or materially impact the Commission’s employer contributions under 
Act 120 or any Commission employee benefits provided by SERS.  

In May, 2015 Senate Bill 1 was introduced and proposed to restructure the public pension 
system to enroll all new state employees (including Commission employees) in a mandatory 
defined contribution plan and increase contributions for future earnings for current employees. 
Various other changes to both new and current employee pension benefits were proposed in 
Senate Bill 1. The proposed legislation was passed by both the House and Senate on June 30, 2015 
but vetoed by the Governor on July 9, 2015. Discussions between the legislative and executive 
branches continue but no agreement has been reached to date.  
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Other Post-Employment Benefit Liabilities 

The Commission maintains a welfare plan program (the “Plan”), one purpose of which is 
to provide benefits to eligible retirees and their dependents. The Plan is a single employer, defined 
benefit plan. The Commission established the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission Retiree 
Medical Trust (the “Trust”) on May 30, 2008 as an irrevocable trust, tax-exempt under the 
Internal Revenue Code, to provide funding of the Plan’s other post-employment benefits (“OPEB” 
or the “Benefits”). 

The Trust is administered by five trustees appointed by the Commission and who serve 2-
year terms.  PNC Bank, N.A. serves as custodian of the assets of the Trust. Payments from the 
Trust are made by the custodian at the direction of the Trustees.  The Trust’s financial statements 
are not included in the financial statements of a public employee retirement system.  The Trust 
issues a stand-alone financial report, which can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s 
Accounting and Financial Reporting Department. 

Plan benefit provisions and retiree and dependent contribution rates are established and 
may be amended by the Commission. 

Management and Supervisory Union Employees/Retirees. The Benefits funded by the 
Trust include certain post-employment medical, prescription drug, dental and vision benefits to 
management and supervisory union employees based upon their date of hire and years of service. 
Eligibility categories generally include: 

 Employees hired before March 1, 2016, who have reached 20 years of service and are 
under age 60; benefit eligibility changes from 20 to 10 years for retirees 60 years of age or 
older.  The last five years of service must be with the Commission. 

 Employees hired on or after March 1, 2016, who have reached 30 years of service and are 
under age 60; benefit eligibility changes from 30 to 25 years for retirees 60 years of age or 
older. The last ten years of service must be with the Commission. (Some current and 
previous Commonwealth employees hired on or after this date would be grandfathered 
under the first eligibility category) 

The same coverage is provided to surviving spouses or domestic partners and dependents 
of management and supervisory union retirees who retired on or after March 1, 2001.  Surviving 
spouses or domestic partners of retirees who retired prior to March 1, 2001, may purchase medical 
coverage at the group rate and dependents are offered coverage under COBRA.  Medicare Part B 
premiums are paid by the retiree, spouse or dependent if age 65 or over, or under age 65 and 
disabled. 

Non-Supervisory Union Employees/Retirees. The Benefits also include certain post-
employment medical and prescription drug benefits to non-supervisory union employees who have 
satisfied the eligibility requirements in the applicable collective bargaining agreement.  

The Trust began making payments to benefit providers for retiree claims and related 
administrative fees in October 2008.  Prior to that time, the Commission made such payments. For 
the year ended May 31, 2015, claims and administration expenses totaled $16.9 million.  
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In accordance with the pronouncements of the GASB (Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board), the Commission implemented GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions during 
fiscal year 2008.  Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 45, the Commission is required to have 
biennial actuarial valuations of its OPEB obligations.  The most recent actuarial valuation was 
completed as of January 1, 2016.  Based on this valuation, the value of the Trust’s assets is $331.6 
million and the actuarial accrued liability is $330.4 million which nets to a funding excess of $1.2 
million and a funded percentage of 100.4%, using a 6.5% discount rate and assuming that the 
annual required contribution would be invested in an irrevocable separate trust account.  

Prior to implementing GASB Statement No. 45, the Commission funded its post-
employment benefit liabilities on a pay-as-you-go basis. As a result of GASB Statement No. 45, 
the Commission adopted a Retiree Medical Trust Funding Policy, effective September 17, 2008, 
whereby the Commission anticipates approving an annual contribution to the Trust in the amount 
of the annual required contribution (“ARC”) as determined by the Commission’s actuary during 
the approval of its annual operating budget. The Commission’s annual required contributions for 
Fiscal Year 2014 and Fiscal Year 2015, which includes the normal costs for the year, a Trust 
expense assumption, a component for the level dollar amortization of the total UAAL and a mid-
year contribution interest component, were $18.4 million and $12.7 million, respectively. The 
Commission’s actual contributions towards the ARC for Fiscal Year 2014 and Fiscal Year 2015 
were $44.2 million and $46.2 million, respectively.   

The Trust’s financial statements are not included in the financial statements of the 
Commission. For additional information regarding the Benefits and the Trust, including 
funding status and actuarial methods and assumptions, see Note 11 to the Financial 
Statements. 

Commission Compliance Department 

In 2009, an Office of Inspector General (the “OIG”) was created within the Commission to 
maintain integrity and efficiency at the Commission and to further maintain public confidence in 
the Commission.  In 2012, the OIG merged into the newly created Compliance Department. The 
functions of the former OIG currently fall under the Compliance Department and the Special 
Investigations unit within the Compliance Department.  The primary mission of the Compliance 
Department is developing, managing, and executing comprehensive audit and investigation 
programs that examine and promote the adequacy and effectiveness of the Commission’s internal 
control system.  The Compliance Department includes the office of Chief Compliance Officer and 
the departments of Toll Revenue Audit, Internal Audit Services, and Special Investigations. As 
head of the department, the Chief Compliance Officer oversees all aspects of operations auditing, 
toll revenue auditing, and internal and external investigations, enforcement of Commission rules, 
regulations, policies and strategic planning, and the Commission’s Code of Conduct.  The 
Compliance Department has conducted numerous investigations of fraud, waste, abuse and 
misconduct that have resulted in the termination of Commission employees and a vendor contract. 
In addition, the Compliance Department in response to the Advisory Committee’s Report dated, 
October 21, 2014, has conducted Code of Conduct and Business Conduct Guidelines training to 
all Commission employees, construction contractors, and vendors, consultants and other business 
partners in the construction services sector.  When appropriate, the Compliance Department refers 
cases to law enforcement authorities for possible criminal prosecution.  



EXHIBIT I 

PENNSYLVANIA TURNPIKE COMMISSION 
FISCAL YEAR 2017 TEN-YEAR CAPITAL PLAN1

1 Capital plans from prior years back to Fiscal Year 2005-2006 are available on the Commission’s website at   
   https://www.paturnpike.com/business/capital_plan.aspx 

Progra m Ca te gory FY 2 0 17 FY2 0 18 FY 2 0 19 FY 2 0 2 0 FY 2 0 2 1 FY 2 0 2 2 FY2 0 2 3 FY2 0 2 4 FY2 0 2 5 FY2 0 2 6
Tota l FINAL 

PLAN

Highway Roadway/Safety  $   82,155,504  $  112,127,825  $    91,026,150  $  74,725,440  $    60,113,650  $   56,932,461  $  72,237,303  $   60,218,820  $  66,792,847  $  72,933,597 $  749,263,598 

Highway
Bridge, Tunnel 
& Misc Structure

   62,572,598   56,400,625   75,151,206     84,019,007    78,580,440   79,967,932    85,144,691     87,986,519    92,988,509   100,970,571    803,782,098 

Highway
Total 
Reconstruction

   258,063,645   167,560,520    219,244,864   252,749,137    274,288,121   216,988,256    187,433,593   178,100,786    221,944,272   229,898,189   2,206,271,383 

Highway Interchanges    128,112,000   114,178,850    44,840,675   24,230,039   6,622,877     71,278,717    75,380,072   85,585,374   1,218,403   -       551,447,008 

Highway
Highway 
Miscellaneous

   46,251,253     43,479,512    40,195,232   34,347,857    29,107,987     27,825,175    28,172,896   29,709,299    30,756,632     31,812,786    341,658,628 

Highway Total    577,155,000   493,747,332    470,458,127   470,071,481    448,713,075   452,992,541    448,368,555   441,600,799    413,700,662   435,615,143   4,652,422,716 

FEMO Re-capitalization   1,090,000    1,276,125   525,313     538,445   551,906     565,704    579,847     594,343   609,201     624,431     6,955,316 

FEMO Sustainment    15,807,000   22,765,250   11,777,506     12,071,944   10,718,023     12,683,086    13,000,163     14,513,853    14,876,699     16,917,738   145,131,263 

FEMO Compliance   3,000,000     3,075,000   3,151,875     3,230,672   3,311,439     3,394,225   3,479,080     3,566,057   3,655,209     3,746,589   33,610,145 

FEMO
New Energy 
Initiative

  1,665,835    1,430,543   1,499,767    1,268,039   1,299,740    1,360,518   1,394,531    1,429,395   1,465,129    1,501,758   14,315,255 

FEMO Facilities Design   7,850,000     8,789,375   13,763,188     18,522,519    10,293,055     14,991,159    22,266,114     17,027,923    22,235,853   30,222,484    165,961,669 

FEMO Total    29,412,835   37,336,293    30,717,648     35,631,619   26,174,163   32,994,692    40,719,735     37,131,571    42,842,092     53,013,000    365,973,649 

Fleet 
Equipment

Fleet Equipment    15,450,000     15,938,750   16,810,000     17,230,250   17,661,006     18,102,531    18,555,095     19,018,972    19,494,446     19,981,808    178,242,858 

Technology
Functional 
Business 
Software

  13,207,179     15,492,875    16,284,688     14,538,023   14,901,474     15,274,011    15,655,861   16,047,258    16,448,439     16,809,696    154,659,503 

Technology
Infrastructure 
HW/SW

  6,932,821     394,625    -    -      -    -      -    -      -    -     7,327,446 

Technology
Toll Collection/ 
Operations

   10,900,000    1,537,500   1,575,938    1,615,336   1,655,719    1,697,112   1,739,540    1,783,029   1,827,604    1,873,294   26,205,073 

Technology Total    31,040,000     17,425,000    17,860,625     16,153,359   16,557,193     16,971,123    17,395,401     17,830,286    18,276,043     18,682,990    188,192,022 

EN-00115
Cashless Tolling 
Conversion

   21,995,000     16,461,500   4,507,181     10,230,461    18,246,027   25,682,966    41,748,963   61,811,659   90,161,814     93,140,200    383,985,773 

Grand Total 
(PSEXP)

   675,052,835   580,908,875    540,353,582   549,317,169    527,351,465   546,743,854    566,787,749   577,393,288    584,475,059   620,433,142   5,768,817,018 

Reimbursed 
Funds

   75,795,538     31,500,000    -    -      20,000,000   20,000,000    -    -      -    -       147,295,538 

Grand Total 
(PSNET)

 $599,257,297  $549,408,875  $540,353,582  $  549,317,169  $ 507,351,465  $526,743,854  $566,787,749  $577,393,288  $584,475,059  $ 620,433,142  $ 5,621,521,480 

FY 2017 Ten Year Capital Plan (YOE)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

The Commissioners 
Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission 
Middletown, Pennsylvania 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Pennsylvania Turnpike 
Commission (the “Commission”), a component unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, as 
of and for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Commission’s basic financial statements as listed in 
the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors’ 
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 



 

  

  

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Commission, as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, and the changes in 
financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements 
 
As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, in 2015 the Commission adopted the 
provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s Statement No. 67, Financial 

Reporting for Pension Plans – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 25, the provisions of  
Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions – an amendment of GASB 

Statement No. 27, the provisions of Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals 

of Government Operations, and the provisions of Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for 

Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date – an Amendment of GASB Statement 

No. 68.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
 
As more fully explained in Note 9, the Commission has committed to making significant 
payments under an Amended Lease and Funding Agreement as required under the terms of Acts 
44 and 89. The Commission’s ability to make such payments is dependent on its continuing 
capability to issue bonds to fund such payments and ultimately to raise tolls sufficient to repay its 
bonded debt and current lease payments. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 

 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
management’s discussion and analysis, the schedule of Commission’s Proportionate share of Net 
Pension Liability, the schedule of Commission Contributions, and the schedule of Funding 
Progress – Postemployment Healthcare Benefits on pages 4 through 19 and pages 93 through 95 
be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part 
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial 
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not 



 

  

  

express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 

 

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Commission’s basic financial statements. The section information on 
pages 97 through 111 and the schedules of cost of services detail on page 112 are presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The section information and schedules of cost of services detail are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to 
the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the section 
information and cost of services detail are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

 
 

 
ZELENKOFSKE AXELROD LLC 

Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 
September 10, 2015 
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The management of the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission (hereinafter referred to as the 
Commission) offers this narrative overview and analysis of the Commission’s financial activities 
for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, which should be read in conjunction with the 
Commission’s basic financial statements. Certain amounts presented in the prior period have 
been reclassified to conform to the current period financial statement presentation. 
 
Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 
 
This MD&A is intended to serve as an introduction to the Commission’s basic financial 
statements. While the Commission is considered a component unit of the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania, it is also an enterprise fund. Therefore, the Commission’s financial statements are 
presented in a manner similar to a private-sector business and have been prepared according to 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). All of the 
current year’s revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded as they are 
incurred, regardless of when the cash is received or disbursed. 
 
The statements of net position present information on all of the Commission’s assets and 
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the differences 
being reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position serve as a 
relative indicator of the change in financial position of the Commission. 
 
The statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position show the result of the 
Commission’s total operations during the fiscal year and reflect both operating and nonoperating 
activities, capital contributions, and any special items. Changes in net position (increases or 
decreases) reflect the current fiscal period’s operating impact upon the overall financial position 
of the Commission. 
 
The statements of cash flows provide a detailed analysis of all sources and uses of cash. The 
direct method of cash flows is presented, along with a reconciliation of operating income to net 
cash provided by operating activities. The statements of cash flows are divided into the following 
activities sections – operating, investing, capital and related financing, and noncapital financing. 
 
Notes to the basic financial statements contain information and offer explanations to the basic 
financial statements. The notes are intended to assist the reader in understanding the 
Commission’s basic financial statements. 
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Financial Analysis 
 

Comparative Condensed Statements of Net Position 
 

 May 31  

 2015 2014 2013  

 (In Thousands)  

Assets and deferred outflows of resources     

Current assets $  1,012,573 $    1,123,279 $    1,014,941  

Long-term investments 822,550 743,407 728,103  

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 5,189,561 4,914,361 4,831,902  

Other assets 149,275 123,055 101,708  

Total assets 7,173,959 6,904,102 6,676,654  

Total deferred outflows of resources 273,894 213,878 255,521  

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 7,447,853 7,117,980    6,932,175  

     

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources     

Current liabilities 697,388        569,919        597,007  

Debt, net of unamortized premium 10,197,258 9,523,230 8,678,370  

Net pension liability 296,271 - -  

Other noncurrent liabilities 247,041 200,726 203,766  

Total liabilities 11,437,958 10,293,875 9,479,143  

Total deferred inflows of resources 124,840 124,560 141,440  

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 11,562,798     10,418,435     9,620,583  

     

Net position     

Net investment in capital assets 271,187 372,750 613,422  

Restricted for construction purposes 269,098 237,042 225,358  

Restricted for debt service 42,826 36,801 49,655  

Unrestricted (4,698,056) (3,947,048) (3,576,843)  

Total net position $  (4,114,945) $  (3,300,455) $  (2,688,408)  
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
The Commission’s total net position decreased $814.5 million and $612.0 million for the fiscal 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  $266.4 million of the fiscal year 2015 
decrease was the result of a cumulative effect restatement of beginning net position due to the 
implementation of GASB Statements No. 68 and 71.  Please refer to Note 2, Summary of 
Significant Accounting Policies, for additional information regarding the GASB 68 and 71 
implementation and the impact on the financial statements.  The remaining $548.1 million 
decrease in net position for fiscal year 2015 and the decrease in fiscal year 2014 were largely due 
to the requirements of Act 44, Act 89 and the Amended Lease and Funding Agreement 
(Amended Funding Agreement) between the Commission and PennDOT and the related debt.  
Please refer to Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies, of the financial statements and to the 
Events That Will Impact Financial Position section of this MD&A for additional information 
regarding Act 44, Act 89 and the Amended Funding Agreement between the Commission and 
PennDOT.   
 
Restricted net position is restricted for construction projects and debt service as defined in Trust 
Indentures and applicable bond issue official statements. 
 
The Commission’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased by $329.9 million in 
fiscal year 2015. This 2015 increase is mostly related to increases in capital assets of $275.2 
million, the other post-employment benefit (OPEB) asset of $25.8 million and deferred outflows 
of resources of $60.0 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in cash and 
investments of $43.3 million. The increase in capital assets is related to capital asset additions of 
$617.6 million offset by $337.7 million of depreciation expense.  The increase in the OPEB asset 
is mostly related to the Commission’s $46.2 million contributions to the Retiree Medical Trust.  
The increase in deferred outflows of resources is primarily the result of changes in values of the 
Commission’s hedging derivatives.  For additional information, see: Note 5, Capital Assets, and 
the Capital Assets and Debt Administration section of this MD&A; Note 11, Postemployment 
Benefits; and Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies.    
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
The Commission’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased by $185.8 million in 
fiscal year 2014. This 2014 increase is mostly related to increases in cash and investments of 
$114.3 million, capital assets of $82.5 million, and the other post-employment benefit (OPEB) 
asset of $21.0 million. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in deferred outflows of 
resources of $41.6 million. The increase in capital assets is related to capital asset additions of 
$420.5 million offset by $324.0 million of depreciation expense.  The increase in the OPEB asset 
is mostly related to the Commission’s $44.2 million contributions to the Retiree Medical Trust.  
The decrease in deferred outflows of resources is primarily the result of changes in values of the 
Commission’s hedging derivatives. For additional information, see: Note 4, Cash and 
Investments; Note 5, Capital Assets, and the Capital Assets and Debt Administration section of 
this MD&A; Note 11, Postemployment Benefits; and Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies.    
 
Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources increased by $1,144.4 million in fiscal year 
2015 and by $797.9 million in fiscal year 2014. The increase for both fiscal year 2015 and fiscal 
year 2014 were mainly related to the issuance of senior debt to finance the costs of various 
capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s current ten-year plan and the issuance of 
subordinate debt to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in accordance with Act 
44, Act 89, and the Amended Funding Agreement. See Note 7, Debt, for additional information 
regarding the new issuances of debt.  Also, as noted above, the Commission implemented GASB 
68 (as discussed in Notes 2 and 8) in fiscal year 2015 which resulted in a net pension liability of 
$296.3 million at May 31, 2015.  
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 

Comparative Condensed Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
 

 Year ended May 31 

 2015 2014 2013  

 (In Thousands) 

Operating:     

Operating revenues $      949,735 $         880,755 $        831,636  

Cost of services (459,780) (438,981) (412,484)  

Depreciation (337,664) (324,010) (311,735)  

Operating income 152,291 117,764 107,417  

     

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):     

Investment earnings 17,502 27,570 30,048  

Other nonoperating revenues  55,992 23,161 19,877  

Act 44 payments to PennDOT (450,000) (450,000) (450,000)  

Capital assets transferred to PennDOT (4,499) (13,531) -  

Interest and bond expense (465,869) (427,047) (394,919)  

Nonoperating expenses, net (846,874) (839,847) (794,994)  

Loss before capital contributions and special items (694,583) (722,083) (687,577)  

Capital contributions 146,472 110,036 97,836  

Discontinued project - - (51,009)  

Decrease in net position       (548,111)               (612,047)         (640,750)  

Net position at beginning of year, before restatement (3,300,455) (2,688,408) (2,047,658)  

Cum. effect of change in accounting principle (266,379) - -  

Net position at beginning of year, as restated1 (3,566,834) (2,688,408) (2,047,658)  

Net position at ending of year $(4,114,945) $(3,300,455) $(2,688,408)  

  
1Beginning net position for fiscal year 2015 was restated as discussed in Note 2.  

 
For fiscal years ended May 31, 2015, and 2014, operating and nonoperating revenues totaled 
$1,023.2 million and $931.5 million, respectively, while operating and nonoperating expenses 
totaled $1,717.8 million and $1,653.6 million, respectively. 
 
Total operating and nonoperating revenues for fiscal year 2015 were $91.7 million or 9.8% 
higher than fiscal year 2014.  This increase in revenue was mainly related to a $70.3 million 
increase in fare revenues resulting from a January 2015 toll increase of 5% for both cash and E-  
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
ZPass customers, the full year impact of the January 2014 toll increase of 2% for E-ZPass 
customers and 12% for cash customers and a reduction in January 2014 to the post-paid, 
commercial-volume-discount program.  In addition, total traffic volumes were up slightly, 1.9%, 
in fiscal year 2015 compared to fiscal year 2014.  
 
Total operating and nonoperating revenues for fiscal year 2014 were $49.9 million or 5.7% 
higher than fiscal year 2013.  This increase in revenue was mainly related to a $50.3 million 
increase in fare revenues resulting from a January 2014 toll increase of 2% for E-ZPass 
customers and 12% for cash customers, the full year impact of the January 2013 toll increase of 
2% for E-ZPass customers and 10% for cash customers and reductions in January 2014 and 
January 2013 to the post-paid, commercial-volume-discount program.  Total traffic volumes 
were flat in fiscal year 2014 compared to fiscal year 2013.    
 
Total operating and nonoperating expenses for fiscal year 2015 were $64.2 million higher than 
fiscal year 2014 primarily due to increases in: cost of services of $20.8 million mainly related to 
an increase in employee benefits of $19.0 million driven by a $16.5 million increase in pension 
expense related to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68 (see Notes 2 and 8); 
depreciation expense of $13.7 related to an increase in assets being depreciated (see Note 5, 
Capital Assets); and interest and bond expenses of $38.8 million related to the increase in debt 
(see Note 7, Debt).  These increases were partially offset by a $9.0 million decrease in capital 
assets transferred to PennDOT. 
 
Total operating and nonoperating expenses for fiscal year 2014 were $84.4 million higher than 
fiscal year 2013 primarily due to increases in: cost of services of $26.5 million mainly related to 
increases in noncapitalizable contractor charges related to maintenance of the road, an increase in 
employee benefits of $7.0 million driven by the contribution to the State Employees’ Retirement 
System, an increase of $5.9 million for materials and supplies which is primarily a winter 
materials increase of $4.7 million; depreciation expense of $12.3 related to an increase in assets 
being depreciated (see Note 5, Capital Assets); and interest and bond expenses of $32.1 million 
related to the increase in debt (see Note 7, Debt). 
 
Capital contributions increased in fiscal year 2015 by $36.4 million and by $12.2 million in 
fiscal year 2014 primarily due to increases in the Oil Franchise Tax Revenues.  The Commission 
had no special items for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  However, 
for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2013, the Commission recorded an expense of $51.0 million 
for the write-down of assets under construction related to design costs for the west leg of the PA 
Route 51 to Interstate Route 376 project.    
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 

Capital Assets and Debt Administration  
 
Capital Assets 

 
Capital assets consist of land and intangible assets (right-of-way easements), buildings, 
improvements, equipment, infrastructure, and assets under construction. Infrastructure assets are 
typically items that are immovable such as highways, bridges, and tunnels.  The Commission’s 
investment in capital assets at May 31, 2015 amounted to $10.6 billion of gross asset value with 
accumulated depreciation of $5.4 billion, leaving a net book value of $5.2 billion.  The net book 
value of capital assets at May 31, 2014 was $4.9 billion.  Capital assets represented 69.7% and 
69.0% of the Commission’s total assets and deferred outflows of resources at May 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively. 
 
Assets under construction at the end of fiscal year 2015 were $957.0 million, which was $166.6 
million more than fiscal year 2014.  In fiscal year 2015, $406.8 million of constructed capital 
assets were completed which was $165.6 million more than the $241.2 million of constructed 
capital assets completed in fiscal year 2014. In addition to constructed capital assets, the 
Commission had capital asset additions of approximately $44.3 million and $50.5 million in 
fiscal years 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
A top priority of the Commission is to entirely reconstruct the Turnpike roadway, completely 
removing all original pavement down to the subgrade and replacing it with an entirely new 
roadway pavement section with the addition of a third lane in each direction and a wider median, 
and including all facets of the highway construction such as median barriers and guide rails, 
drainage systems and signage, as well as the construction of retaining walls and noise walls 
where warranted.  From about 1998 to date, the Commission has rebuilt approximately 114 miles 
of roadways and bridges. An additional 22 miles of roadway reconstruction has been initiated, 
and another 130 miles of reconstruction is currently in design. Also, the Commission completed 
47 miles of roadway resurfacing and six interchange resurfacings during fiscal year 2015, 
helping to maintain a quality-riding surface with a Turnpike System wide median IRI 
(International Roughness Index) of 70 which is rated as good.   
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Capital Assets (continued) 

 
The Commission completely replaced 15 aging original bridges with new bridges, rehabilitated 
another 19 bridges, completely painted six bridges, and constructed 15 new retaining walls in 
calendar year 2014. Of the Commission’s bridges, 4.5% are rated structurally deficient which is 
below the national average of 10.0%.  All 39 bridges currently rated structurally deficient are 
either in construction or design for rehabilitation.   
 
Facility projects continue to focus on environmental and safety compliance, and on the 
maintenance and repair of existing buildings including HVAC, electrical and plumbing systems. 
The Commission completed construction on the new Somerset PA State Police Barracks in 
February 2015.  Construction of the new Plymouth Meeting Maintenance Facility was completed 
in the summer of 2015.  The Commission completed construction of the new Western Training 
Facility in November 2014.   Design of the new Somerset Materials Testing Laboratory was 
completed in May 2015, and construction is anticipated to be completed in January 
2016.   Design for a new District 1 Maintenance Facility will begin in the fall of 2015.   
 
A public CNG Fueling Station opened in October 2014 at the New Stanton Service 
Plaza.   Currently, there are four service plazas that have electric vehicle (EV) charging systems 
available to users on the Turnpike System.  They are the Oakmont, New Stanton, Bowmansville 
and King of Prussia service plazas.   Over the next two years, the remaining 13 services plazas 
will have EV charging systems installed. 
 
The Mon/Fayette Expressway is open to traffic from the Pennsylvania/West Virginia line to PA 
51 in Jefferson Hills Borough, a distance of 54 miles.  The preliminary design for the remainder 
of the Mon/Fayette Expressway project, extending from PA Route 51 to Interstate Route 376 in 
Pittsburgh, has been completed.  Additional funding is required to complete the design and 
construction of this section. Due to the magnitude of the estimated costs of construction, the 
Commission believes it is unlikely to be economically feasible to complete the west leg of this 
project that goes into the city of Pittsburgh. 
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Capital Assets (continued) 

 
The Southern Beltway is a series of three independent projects that extend from the Mon/Fayette 
Expressway near Finleyville to Pennsylvania Route 60 (PA 60) at the Pittsburgh International 
Airport. One project constructed as part of the Southern Beltway, a six-mile section of toll road 
in Allegheny County that connects PA 60 to U.S. Route 22 (U.S. 22), is in operation. The project 
from U.S. 22 to I-79 is in final design and some construction has already started. The additional 
funding under Act 89 will enable the Commission to continue to construct this section.  The 
entire 13 miles of this section are anticipated to be open to traffic by 2020.  The project from 
Interstate 79 (I-79) to Mon/Fayette Expressway has completed the environmental phase and is 
inactive until additional funding is identified. 
 
The Commission has no legal obligation to complete the unfinished portions of the Mon/Fayette 
Expressway and Southern beltway projects at this time. 
 
The I-276/I-95 Interchange Project involves the construction of a direct interchange connecting 
the PA Turnpike to I-95.  The project also includes tolling modifications and reconstruction and 
widening of the interstates. 
 
The first phase of the Interchange Project includes the design and construction of a portion of the 
interchange between I-95 and the Turnpike Mainline that connects northbound I-95 to the 
eastbound Turnpike Mainline and southbound I-95 to the westbound Turnpike Mainline.  This 
first phase also includes construction of a new mainline toll plaza and a cashless toll plaza 
westbound.  Construction has commenced on the first phase and is expected to continue through 
2018.  The second phase will include the completion of the remaining interchange connectors 
and the widening and reconstruction of the Turnpike Mainline in this area.  The third phase will 
be the construction of an additional bridge over the Delaware River. 
 
The above paragraphs describe the changes in capital assets occurring during the fiscal years 
ended May 31, 2015 and 2014. Please refer to the capital assets section in the notes to the 
financial statements (Note 5) for more detailed capital asset schedules. 
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Debt Administration – Mainline 

 
In July 2013, the Commission issued $265,155,000 2013 Series B Senior Bonds at a variable rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2020.  The 2013 Series B Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of the Commission’s 2009 Series C Variable Rate Turnpike 
Revenue Bonds ($52,070,000) and the Commission’s 2011 Series D Variable Rate Turnpike 
Revenue Bonds ($17,455,000), both with maturity dates of December 1, 2013; the Commission’s 
2010 Series A-1 Multi-Modal Revenue Refunding Bonds ($97,230,000) and the Commission’s 
2010 Series A-2 Multi-Modal Revenue Refunding Bonds ($97,140,000), both with a mandatory 
redemption date of July 2013; and for the payment of the costs of issuance of the 2013 Series B 
Senior Bonds.   
 
In August 2013, the Commission issued $222,935,000 2013 Series C Senior Bonds at a fixed rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2043. The 2013 Series C Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2013 C Series Bonds. 
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $108,708,000 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2043.  The 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and for issuing the 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds. 
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $101,731,000 2013 Series B Motor License Fund-
Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 
1, 2043.  The 2013 Series B Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and for issuing the 2013 Series B Motor License Fund-Enhanced 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds. 
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Debt Administration – Mainline (continued) 

 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $236,115,000 2014 Series A Senior Bonds at a fixed rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series A Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2014 Series A Bonds. 
 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $148,300,000 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds at a fixed 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2043. The 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds were 
issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds. 
 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $59,740,000 2014 Series A Motor License Fund-
Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds as capital appreciation bonds with a maturity date 
of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds were issued primarily to provide 
funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in accordance with Act 44 and Act 
89 and for issuing the 2014 Series A Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special 
Revenue Bonds. 
 
In May 2014, the Commission issued $444,280,000 2014 Series B-1 Senior Bonds at a variable 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2021. The 2014 B Series B-1 Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of existing variable rate debt which included the 
Commission’s 2008 Series B-1 Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($100,000,000), the Commission’s 
2008 Series C Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($50,000,000), the Commission’s 2011 Series C-1 
Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($230,745,000), and the Commission’s 2011 Series C-2 Multi-
Modal Revenue Bonds ($61,500,000), all with a mandatory redemption date of May 2014.  The 
bonds were also issued for payment of the costs of issuance for the 2014 Series B-1 Senior 
Bonds. 
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Debt Administration – Mainline (continued) 

 
In June 2014, the Commission issued $69,870,000 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds at a variable 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2016. The 2014 B-2 Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of existing variable rate debt which included the 
Commission’s 2009 Series C Bonds Variable Rate Revenue Bonds ($52,070,000) and the 
Commission’s 2011 Series D Variable Rate Revenue Bonds ($17,455,000). The bonds were also 
issued for payment of the costs of issuance for the 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds. 
 
In October 2014, the Commission issued $201,395,000 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds were 
issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds. 
 
In November 2014, the Commission issued $239,620,000 2014 Series Refunding Senior Bonds 
at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2034. The 2014 Series Refunding Senior 
Bonds were issued primarily to current refund the 2004 Series A Senior Bonds and for the 
payment of the costs of issuance of the 2014 Series Refunding Senior Bonds.  
 
In December 2014, the Commission issued $294,225,000 2014 Series C Senior Bonds at a fixed 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2044.  The 2014 Series C Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2014 Series C Bonds. 
 
In April 2015, the Commission issued $209,010,000 2015 Series A-1 Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2045.  The 2015 Series A-1 Subordinate Bonds 
were issued to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in accordance 
with Act 44 and Act 89, for the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission’s 2011 Series 
A Subordinate Revenue Bonds ($50,030,000), and for paying the cost of issuing the 2015 Series 
A-1 Subordinate Bonds.  
 
  



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued) 

 

  

 16 

Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Debt Administration – Mainline (continued) 

 
In April 2015, the Commission issued $50,000,000 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds at a 
variable rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2045.  The 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds. 
 
Debt Administration – Oil Company Franchise Tax 

 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $27,785,000 2013 Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax 
Revenue Refunding Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2024.  The 2013 
Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds were issued primarily for the 
current refunding of the $30,775,000 December 1, 2024 maturity of the Commission’s Oil 
Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series A of 2003 and for the payment of the costs of 
issuance of the 2013 Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds.   
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $32,035,000 2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise 
Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2025.  The 
2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds were issued primarily 
to partially refund the $34,695,000 December 1, 2025 maturity of the Commission’s 2003 Series 
B Oil Franchise Tax Subordinate Revenue Bonds and for the payment of the costs of issuance of 
the 2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds.   
 
In September 2014, the Commission issued $288,675,000 2014 Series Special Obligation Bonds 
at a fixed rate with a maturity of December 1, 2027. The 2014 Series Special Obligation Bonds 
were issued to refund the refunded bonds of 1998 Series A Senior and 1998 Series B Subordinate 
Oil Franchise Tax Bonds, to provide additional funds to the Commission for the construction of 
part of the sections of the Mon-Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway, and for the payment 
of costs of issuance of the 2014 Series Special Obligation Bonds.  These Bonds were 
subsequently defeased on September 15, 2014.  
 
Debt Administration – Motor License Registration Fee 

 
No Motor License Registration Fee debt has been issued during the fiscal years presented in 
these statements. 
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Financial Analysis (continued) 
 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration (continued) 
 
Debt Administration 

 
The preceding paragraphs describe debt activity occurring during the fiscal years ended May 31, 
2015 and 2014. Please refer to the debt and commitments and contingencies sections in the notes 
to the financial statements (Notes 7 and 9) for more detailed schedules and descriptions of long-
term debt and swap activity. 
 
Events That Will Impact Financial Position 
 
On July 18, 2007, Act 44 was enacted, creating a “public-public partnership” between the 
Commission and PennDOT to provide funding for roads, bridges and transit throughout the 
Commonwealth. Subsequently, in order to effectuate the provisions of Act 44 requiring the 
Commission to make substantial annual payments to PennDOT, the Commission and PennDOT 
entered into a Lease and Funding Agreement (the Funding Agreement), incorporating many of 
the terms of Act 44. The term of the Funding Agreement is fifty (50) years from October 14, 
2007, its effective date. 
 
The Funding Agreement requires the Commission to make scheduled annual payments to 
PennDOT, payable in equal quarterly installments, to be used to provide funding for roads, 
bridges and transit in the Commonwealth. The Commission’s obligation to pay the annual debt 
service on any Special Revenue Bonds on a timely basis is part of its payment obligation under 
the Funding Agreement.  The Funding Agreement also granted the Commission the option to 
lease the portion of Interstate 80 (I-80) located in the Commonwealth from PennDOT upon the 
approval of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) of the conversion of such portion into 
a toll road (the Conversion). The Funding Agreement granted the unilateral option to the 
Commission to effectuate the Conversion at any time before the third anniversary of the Funding 
Agreement (the Conversion Period), with the option to extend the Conversion Period for up to 
three one-year periods.  
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Events That Will Impact Financial Position (continued) 
 
On October 13, 2007, the Commission and PennDOT submitted a joint application to the FHWA 
for approval of the Conversion. The FHWA ultimately denied the application on April 6, 2010. 
Neither the Commission nor PennDOT appealed the FHWA’s decision, nor did the Commission 
extend the Conversion Period during the notice period under the Funding Agreement or give 
notice of Conversion. Therefore, the Conversion Period lapsed on October 14, 2010 without the 
Commission effectuating Conversion or having the ability to do so in the future. The Funding 
Agreement provides that the Commission’s aggregate annual payments to PennDOT are limited 
to $450 million annually upon lapse of the Conversion option and such payment amount 
commenced with fiscal year 2011. Under existing law, all legal, financial and operational 
responsibility for I-80 remains with PennDOT. 
 
On November 25, 2013, Act 89 was enacted providing substantial revisions to the Commission’s 
transportation funding obligations under Act 44 and authorized the Commission and PennDOT 
to immediately amend the Funding Agreement to reflect the statutory provisions of Act 89.  On 
April 4, 2014, the Commission and PennDOT executed Amendment Number One to the Lease 
and Funding Agreement (the Act 89 Amendment and together with the Act 44 Funding 
Agreement, the Amended Funding Agreement).  In accordance with Act 89 and the Amended 
Funding Agreement, the Commission’s aggregate annual payment to PennDOT for fiscal year 
2014 through fiscal year 2022 remains at $450 million and at least $30 million of the payment 
must be made from current revenues.  Commencing in fiscal year 2023 through the term of the 
Amended Funding Agreement, the Commission’s aggregate annual payment to PennDOT is $50 
million, which must be paid from current revenues. 
 
In accordance with Act 44, the Commission is required to provide a financial plan to the 
Secretary of the Budget of the Commonwealth no later than June 1 of each year.  The financial 
plan must describe the Commission’s proposed operating and capital expenditures, borrowings, 
liquidity and other financial management covenants and policies, estimated toll rates and all 
other revenue and expenditures for the ensuing fiscal year.  The financial plan must also show 
that the operation of the Turnpike System can reasonably be anticipated to result in the 
Commission’s ability to meet its payment obligations to PennDOT pursuant to Act 44, Act 89 
and the Amended Funding Agreement.  It does not, however, address the funding needs for the 
Mon/Fayette or Southern Beltway projects.  
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Events That Will Impact Financial Position (continued) 
 
On June 1, 2015, the Commission submitted its financial plan for fiscal year 2016 (the Financial 
Plan).  The Financial Plan incorporates the Commission’s Proposed Capital Plan for fiscal year 
2016, which would provide $6.7 billion in capital spending over the period from fiscal year 2016 
through the fiscal year 2025.  The Proposed Capital Plan would allow the Commission to 
accelerate a number of capital improvements and to pursue new initiatives to maintain and 
improve the Turnpike System.  To date, the Proposed Capital Plan has not been approved by the 
Commission.  The Financial Plan indicates that in fiscal year 2015 the Commission was able to 
meet all of its financial covenants and Act 44 and Act 89 obligations and was able to progress 
with its Capital Plan.  Given the slow recovery of the economy, the Commission plans to 
continue the cost containment and efficiency measures it implemented within the past few years.  
These measures, together with future toll increases, are expected to allow the Commission to 
meet its financial covenants, Act 44 and Act 89 obligations, and capital needs during fiscal year 
2016.  
 
The Financial Plan concludes that the Commission will continue to meet all of its indenture 
covenants and all of its other obligations through fiscal year 2057.  However, as a forward-
looking report, the Financial Plan makes certain assumptions, including future toll increases, to 
reach its conclusion that the financial covenants, Act 44 and Act 89 obligations and capital needs 
will be met beyond fiscal year 2016.  Key among these assumptions is the Commission’s ability 
to raise all tolls throughout the Turnpike System.  The Financial Plan reflects the expected full 
year effects of the January 2015 toll increase and the expected partial year impacts of the January 
2016 toll increase.  The Financial Plan does not assume any tolling of I-80 and assumes the $450 
million reduced level of funding obligations required by Act 44 and Act 89 through fiscal year 
2022 and the $50 million funding level from fiscal year 2023 through fiscal year 2057.  No 
assurances can be made by the Commission with respect to the assumptions made or conclusions 
reached in the Financial Plan.  A complete copy of the Financial Plan is available on the 
Commission’s website. 
 
The preceding paragraphs provide a brief overview of Act 44 and Act 89 and their requirements. 
Please refer to the commitments and contingencies section in the notes to the financial statements 
(Note 9) for additional information regarding the Commission’s commitments under the 
Amended Funding Agreement. Furthermore, legislation may be introduced that could affect the 
Commission and its obligations pursuant to Act 44 and Act 89. However, the Commission 
cannot predict what other legislation may be considered by the General Assembly during the 
2015-2016 or future legislative sessions or if any other proposals or initiatives may lead to the 
adoption of legislation that may affect the Commission. 
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 May 31  

Assets and deferred outflows of resources 2015 2014  

Current assets: (In Thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents $       131,146 $         135,452  

Short-term investments 23,091 43,936  

Accounts receivable 46,752 43,218  

Accrued interest receivable 1,220 1,273  

Inventories 18,808 20,158  

Restricted current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents 652,628 712,737  

Short-term investments 117,963 155,194  

Accounts receivable 18,156 8,314  

Accrued interest receivable 2,809 2,997  

Total current assets 1,012,573 1,123,279  

Noncurrent assets:    

Long-term investments:    

Long-term investments unrestricted 224,050 158,224  

Long-term investments restricted 598,500 585,183  

Total long-term investments 822,550 743,407  

Capital assets not being depreciated:    

Land and intangibles 310,518 289,900  

Assets under construction 956,984 790,396  

Capital assets being depreciated:    

Buildings 936,517 905,235  

Improvements other than buildings 117,331 114,009  

Equipment 591,223 570,115  

Infrastructure 7,713,188 7,345,336  

Total capital assets before accumulated depreciation 10,625,761 10,014,991  

Less accumulated depreciation 5,436,200 5,100,630  

Total capital assets after accumulated depreciation 5,189,561 4,914,361  

Other assets:    

Prepaid bond insurance costs 13,669 15,761  

OPEB asset 104,931 79,149  

Other assets 30,675 28,145  

Total other assets 149,275 123,055  

Total noncurrent assets 6,161,386 5,780,823  

Total assets 7,173,959 6,904,102  

Deferred outflows of resources from hedging derivatives 109,323 49,684  

Deferred outflows of resources from refunding bonds 143,494 164,194  

Deferred outflows of resources from pensions 21,077 -  

Total deferred outflows of resources 273,894 213,878  

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $     7,447,853 $      7,117,980  
    

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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 May 31  

 2015 2014  

 (In Thousands)  

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources    

Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $       397,270 $        327,321  

Current portion of debt 238,150 184,675  

Unearned income 61,968 57,923  

Total current liabilities 697,388 569,919  

    

Noncurrent liabilities:    

Debt, less current portion, net of unamortized premium of $306,147 
and $203,526 in 2015 and 2014, respectively 10,197,258 9,523,230 

 

 Net pension liability 296,271 -  
Other noncurrent liabilities 247,041 200,726  

Total noncurrent liabilities 10,740,570 9,723,956  

Total liabilities 11,437,958 10,293,875  

    

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession arrangements 120,739 122,994  

Deferred inflows of resources from refunding bonds 1,417 1,566  

Deferred inflows of resources from pensions 2,684 -  

Total deferred inflows of resources 124,840 124,560  

    

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 11,562,798      10,418,435  

    

Net position    

Net investment in capital assets 271,187 372,750  

Restricted for construction purposes 269,098 237,042  

Restricted for debt service 42,826 36,801  

Unrestricted (4,698,056) (3,947,048)  

Total net position $  (4,114,945) $   (3,300,455)  

    

  

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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  Year Ended May 31  

 2015 2014  

 (In Thousands)  

Operating revenues:    

Fares – net of discounts of $2,106 and $4,220 for the years ended May 
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively $        932,146 $        861,846 

 

Other 17,589 18,909  

Total operating revenues 949,735 880,755  

    

Operating expenses:    

Cost of services 459,780 438,981  

Depreciation 337,664 324,010  

Total operating expenses 797,444 762,991  

    

Operating income 152,291 117,764  

    

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):    

Investment earnings 17,502 27,570  

Other nonoperating revenues  55,992 23,161  

Act 44 and Act 89 payments to PennDOT (450,000) (450,000)  

Capital assets transferred to PennDOT (4,499) (13,531)  

Interest and bond expense (465,869) (427,047)  

Nonoperating expenses, net (846,874) (839,847)  

Loss before capital contributions (694,583) (722,083)  

Capital contributions            146,472            110,036  

Decrease in net position (548,111) (612,047)  

    

Net Position – beginning, before restatement (3,300,455) (2,688,408)  

Cum. effect of change in accounting principle (266,379) -  

Net position at beginning of year, as restated1 

 
(3,566,834) (2,688,408)  

Net position at end of year $   (4,114,945) $   (3,300,455)  

    
1Beginning net position for fiscal year 2015 was restated as discussed in Note 2.  

 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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 Year Ended May 31  

 2015 2014  

 (In Thousands)  

Operating activities    

Cash received from customer tolls and deposits $         945,793 $        876,945  

Cash payments for goods and services (293,058) (297,504)  

Cash payments to employees (157,161) (153,681)  

Cash received from other operating activities 8,688 8,741  

Net cash provided by operating activities 504,262 434,501  
    Investing activities    

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 2,325,799 1,874,941  

Interest received on investments 17,477 20,177  

Purchases of investments (2,372,195) (1,819,119)  

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (28,919) 75,999  
    Capital and related financing activities    

Capital grants received 9,153 9,128  

Cash proceeds from motor license grant 28,000 28,000  

Cash proceeds from oil company franchise tax 95,638 65,089  

Construction and acquisition of capital assets (588,589) (403,813)  

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 413 620  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (5,712) (7,335)  

Payments for debt refundings (838,743) (771,610)  

Payments for debt maturities (62,475) (75,205)  

Interest paid on debt (206,244) (191,970)  

Interest subsidy from Build America Bonds 20,753 23,008  

Swap suspension payments received 39,179 -  

Proceeds from debt issuances 959,289 1,252,354  

Released escrow amounts received 246,405 -  

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities (302,933) (71,734)  
    Noncapital financing activities    

Cash payments to PennDOT (450,000) (450,000)  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (2,764) (2,946)  

Payments for debt refundings (50,030) -  

Payments for debt maturities (52,675) (49,495)  

Interest paid on debt (188,979) (176,612)  

Proceeds from debt issuances 507,623 430,039  

Net cash used for noncapital financing activities (236,825) (249,014)  
    

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (64,415) 189,752  
    

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 848,189 658,437  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $         783,774 $         848,189  
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Statements of Cash Flows (continued) 

 

 

 24 

 Year Ended May 31  

 2015 2014  

 (In Thousands)  

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by operating 
activities:   

 

Operating income $         152,291 $        117,764  

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by 
operating activities:   

 

Depreciation 337,664 324,010  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable (4,491) (3,593)  

Inventories 1,350 (3,287)  

Other assets (25,771) (19,587)  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,605 19,157  

Other noncurrent liabilities 20,614 37  

Net cash provided by operating activities $         504,262 $        434,501  

    
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statements of net 

position: 
 

  

 

Cash and cash equivalents $         131,146 $        135,452  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 652,628 712,737  

Total cash and cash equivalents $         783,774 $        848,189  
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Noncash Activities 
 
The Commission recorded a net decrease of $35.4 million and a net increase of $8.5 million in 
the fair value of its investments for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
The Commission recorded $12.0 million and $9.4 million for the amortization of bond premiums 
for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
The Commission recorded $30.3 million and $23.7 million in expenses for amortization of 
deferred losses on refundings and amortization of prepaid bond insurance costs for the years 
ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
The Commission recorded an interest expense reduction of $17.3 million and $15.7 million for 
the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, related to GASB 53 entries. 
 
The Commission recognized revenues of $4.8 million and $4.4 million for the fiscal years ended 
May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, for noncash capital contributions. These noncash capital 
contributions are the result of agreements with a food and a fuel provider to totally reconstruct 
the service plazas. The service plaza operators provide the capital for the reconstruction in 
exchange for lower rental rates. See Note 2 for further discussion on capital contributions and 
Note 6 for further discussion on the service plazas.   
 
The Commission and PennDOT entered into an agreement regarding ownership of overhead 
bridges that carry state roads. Per the agreement, once the Commission replaces these overhead 
bridges, and after final inspections and supplemental agreements are signed by both parties, 
ownership and maintenance responsibilities of the bridges are transferred from the Commission 
to PennDOT. The Commission transferred assets with a net book value of $4.5 million and $13.5 
million to PennDOT during the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively.  
 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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1. Financial Reporting Entity 
 
Generally accepted accounting principles require government financial statements to include the 
primary government and its component units.  Component units of a governmental entity are 
legally separate entities for which the primary government is considered to be financially 
accountable and for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary 
government are such that exclusion would cause the combined financial statements to be 
misleading.  The primary government is considered to be financially accountable if it appoints a 
majority of an organization’s governing body and is able to impose its will on that organization 
or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose 
specific financial burdens on the primary government.   
 
The Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission (the Commission) was created as an instrumentality of 
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania on May 21, 1937, with powers to construct, operate, and 
maintain the Turnpike System and to issue Turnpike revenue bonds, repayable solely from tolls 
and other Commission revenues. The Commission is considered a component unit of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the Commonwealth). 
 
Based on the application of the criteria set forth by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board (GASB), the Commission has determined that it has no component units based on its 
review of GASB Statements No. 14, No. 39 and No. 61. 
 
The Commission is composed of five members, one of whom is the Secretary of Transportation. 
The others are appointed by the Governor with the approval of two-thirds of the Senate. 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The financial statements of the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission have been prepared in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
(GAAP) as applied to government units. The GASB is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of 
the Commission’s accounting policies are described in the following paragraphs: 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The Commission’s basic financial statements are presented on the accrual basis of accounting. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Reclassifications 
 
Certain amounts presented in the prior period have been reclassified to conform to the current 
period financial statement presentation. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Commission considers all highly liquid debt 
investment securities that mature within three months of acquisition to be cash equivalents. 
 
Investments 
 
Investments are stated at fair value with the exception of certain nonparticipating contracts such 
as repurchase agreements and other agreements structured as repurchase agreements that are 
reported at cost, which does not materially differ from fair value. Fair values are based on quoted 
market prices. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets consist of land and intangible assets (right-of-way easements), buildings, 
improvements, equipment, infrastructure, and assets under construction. Infrastructure assets are 
typically items that are immovable such as highways, bridges, and tunnels. Capital assets are 
stated at cost. Donated capital assets are valued at their estimated fair value on the date received. 
Interest is capitalized based on average construction costs and the average bond interest rate, less 
interest earned on invested construction funds. Acquisitions of capital assets valued at $15,000 or 
greater are capitalized. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets.  Intangible assets have an indefinite life and, thus, are not 
depreciated. The following lives are used: 

 
Buildings 10 – 45 years
Improvements other than buildings 15 – 20 years
Equipment 3 – 40 years
Infrastructure 10 – 50 years
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost (determined on a first-in, first-out method) or 
market. 
 
Debt Premium/Discount and Prepaid Insurance Costs 
 
Debt premium/discount and prepaid bond insurance costs (incurred through bond issuances) are 
being amortized using the effective interest rate method over the varying terms of the bonds 
issued. 
 
Unearned Income 
 
Unearned income is primarily related to E-ZPass customer deposits. E-ZPass customers of the 
Commission are required to deposit funds in advance of anticipated travel. Since this money is 
collected prior to the customers’ travel and revenue recognition, it is recorded as unearned 
income. The Commission also had unearned income related to microwave tower leases and an 
upfront payment from a CMS swap (See Note 9). The Commission had total unearned income of 
$64.9 million and $59.2 million for fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  
Unearned income recorded as current liabilities are $62.0 million and $57.9 million for fiscal 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Unearned income recorded as other 
noncurrent liabilities are $2.9 million and $1.3 million for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 
 
Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual amounts 
may differ from those estimates. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Pensions 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the Pennsylvania State Employees’ Retirement System (SERS) and additions 
to/deductions from SERS’ fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they 
are reported by SERS.  For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  
Investments are reported at fair value. 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
  
The Statements of Net Position report separate sections for deferred outflows and deferred 
inflows of resources.  These separate financial statement elements represent a consumption or 
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
outflow or inflow of resources (expense/revenue) until then.  The Commission has four items 
that qualify for reporting in these categories: deferred outflows from its hedging derivative 
instruments, deferred inflows from its service concession arrangements, deferred 
outflows/inflows on refunding bonds and deferred outflows and inflows related to pensions. 
  
The deferred outflows of resources related to hedging derivative instruments represent the 
cumulative change in their fair values.  Deferred inflows from the Commission’s service 
concession arrangements represent unamortized capital contributions from service plaza 
operators and the present value of minimum guaranteed rent payments.  Deferred 
outflows/inflows on refundings are the result of differences in the carrying value of refunded 
debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the 
life of the refunded or refunding debt.  Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
pensions are described further in Note 8. The components of deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources, other than the difference between the projected and actual 
investment earnings on investments, are amortized into pension expense over a 5.6 year closed 
period, which reflects the weighted average remaining service life of all SERS members 
beginning the year in which the deferred amount occurs (current year).  The annual difference 
between the projected and actual earnings on SERS investments is amortized over a five-year 
closed period beginning the year in which the difference occurs (current year). 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Net Position 
 
GASB Statement No. 63 requires the classification of net position into three components – net 
investment in capital assets; restricted; and unrestricted.  These classifications are defined as 
follows: 
 

Net Investment in Capital Assets – This component of net position consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds, 
mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets or related debt are included. 
 
Restricted – This component of net position consists of restricted assets and deferred 
outflows of resources reduced by liabilities and deferred inflows of resources related to 
those assets.  The restrictions would be imposed by external parties including creditors, 
grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other governments and restrictions 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of the net amount of the assets, 
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not 
included in the determination of net investment in capital assets or the restricted 
component of net position. 

 
Operating Revenues 
 
Revenues associated with operations of the Turnpike System are considered operating revenues. 
The principal operating revenues of the Commission are fare revenues from customers. Other 
operating revenues include: service station, restaurant, property and other rental income as well 
as electronic toll collection and violation enforcement fees related to the E-ZPass program. Also 
included is revenue from various sponsorship agreements. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Operating Revenues (continued) 
 
Fare Revenues 

 
Fare revenues are recognized when vehicles exit the Turnpike System. As of May 31, 2015 and 
2014, approximately 71.5% and 70.0%, respectively, of the fare revenues were realized through 
electronic toll collection; the remainder was realized through cash collection or a credit card 
program for military and Class 9 vehicles. 
 
Operating Expenses 
 
Operating expenses relate directly to operating and maintaining the Turnpike System. The 
principal operating expenses of the Commission are cost of services and depreciation. Other 
expenses are considered nonoperating expenses. 
 
Cost of Services 

 
Cost of services includes: wages and salaries, benefits, utilities, fuels, professional fees and 
services, PA State Police services, and purchased goods, including materials and supplies. 
 
Utilization of Resources 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Commission’s 
policy to use restricted resources first and then unrestricted resources as needed. 
 
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 
 
Nonoperating revenues include: net investment earnings and other miscellaneous revenues not 
associated with the operations of the Turnpike System. Nonoperating expenses include: Act 44 
and Act 89 payments to PennDOT, capital assets transferred to PennDOT, interest and bond 
expenses, and other miscellaneous expenses not associated with the operations of the Turnpike 
System. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (continued) 
 

Act 44 and Act 89 Payments to PennDOT 

 
The Commission and PennDOT entered into a Lease and Funding Agreement, as amended, as 
required under the terms of Act 44 and Act 89. See Note 9 for more information regarding Act 
44 and Act 89. 
 
Capital Assets Transferred to PennDOT 

 
The Commission and PennDOT entered into an agreement regarding ownership of overhead 
bridges that carry state roads. Per the agreement, once the Commission replaces these overhead 
bridges, and after final inspections and supplemental agreements are signed by both parties, 
ownership and maintenance responsibilities of the bridges are transferred from the Commission 
to PennDOT. The Commission transferred assets with a net book value of $4.5 million to 
PennDOT during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2015.  The Commission transferred assets with a 
net book value of $13.5 million to PennDOT during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014.   
 
Capital Contributions 
 
Capital contributions include: Oil Company Franchise Tax revenues, Motor License Registration 
Fee revenues, grants from other governments for reimbursement of capital costs for various 
highway construction projects, capital assets received from other third parties and amortization 
of deferred inflows of resources for service concession agreements. 
 
Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenues 

 
The Commission receives 14% of the additional 55 mills of the Commonwealth’s Oil Company 
Franchise Tax revenues pursuant to Act 26 established in 1991. The revenues totaled 
$98.2 million and $68.3 million for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
These revenues are kept in a separate fund as required by the applicable bond indenture.  
 
Motor License Registration Fee Revenues 

 
The Commission received $28.0 million in registration fee revenue during each of the fiscal 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 from the Commonwealth’s Motor License Fund. These 
revenues are kept in a separate fund as required by the applicable bond indenture. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Capital Contributions (continued) 
 

Reimbursements from Other Governments 

 
The Commission receives grants from other governments for reimbursement of costs for various 
highway construction projects. During the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, the 
Commission recognized $15.5 million and $9.3 million, respectively, as capital contributions 
from the Federal government. 
 
Other Capital Contributions 

 
The Commission entered into contracts with a food and a fuel provider to totally reconstruct the 
service plazas.  The service plaza operators provide the capital for the reconstruction in exchange 
for lower rental rates.  The Commission recognized capital contribution revenues of $4.8 million 
and $4.4 million, related to these agreements for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively.  See Note 6 for further discussion on the service plazas.  
 
Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements 
 
In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans – an 

amendment of GASB Statement No. 25.  The Commission adopted this statement for its fiscal 
year ended May 31, 2015.  The adoption of this statement had no impact on the Commission’s 
financial statements for fiscal years ending May 31, 2015 and 2014. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 
 
In June 2012, the GASB issued Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Pensions – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27.  In November 2013, the GASB issued 
Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement 

Date – an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68.  The principal objective of GASB Statement 
No. 68 is to improve the usefulness of information for decisions made by the various users of the 
general purpose external financial reports of governments whose employees, both active 
employees and inactive employees, are provided with pensions.  The objective of GASB 
Statement No. 71 is to improve accounting and financial reporting by addressing an issue in 
Statement No. 68 concerning transition provisions related to certain pension contributions made 
to defined benefit pension plans subsequent to the measurement date.  The Commission adopted 
these statements for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2015.  It was not practical to determine the 
fiscal year 2015 beginning balance amounts of all deferred inflows of resources and all deferred 
outflows of resources related to pensions, except for contributions made subsequent to the 
measurement date. The Commission recorded the cumulative effect of applying these statements 
as a restatement of beginning net position as of June 1, 2014 (the beginning of the current 
financial statement period).  Net position as of June 1, 2014 was decreased by $266.4 million.  
The effect on beginning balances for fiscal year 2015 is as follows: 
 

Description 

May 31, 2014 
as Previously 

Reported 

Beginning 
Balance 

Restatement 
June 1, 2014 
as Restated 

 (in Thousands) 

 
Statement of Net Position 
 

 [Debits / (Credits)] 

Deferred outflows of resources from pensions  
(GASB 71) $               - $         8,557 $         8,557 
 
Net Pension Liability (GASB 68) - (274,936) (274,936) 
 
Net position 3,300,455 266,379 3,566,834 

    
 
See Note 8 for additional disclosures required by these statements. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Adoption of Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 
 
In January 2013, the GASB issued Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals 

of Government Operations.  The Commission adopted this statement for its fiscal year ended 
May 31, 2015.  The adoption of this statement had no impact on the Commission’s financial 
statements for fiscal years ending May 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 
Pending Changes in Accounting Principles 
 
In February 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 

Application. The Commission is required to adopt Statement No. 72 for its fiscal year ended May 
31, 2017.   
 
In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and 

Amendments to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68.  The Commission is required 
to adopt Statement No. 73 for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2017. 
 
In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment 

Benefit Plans Other Than Pension Plans.  The Commission is required to adopt Statement No. 
74 for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2018. 
 
In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  The Commission is required to adopt Statement 
No. 75 for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2019. 
 
In June 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 76, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted 

Accounting Principles for State and Local Governments.  The Commission is required to adopt 
Statement No. 76 for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2017. 
 
In August 2015, the GASB issued Statement No. 77, Tax Abatement Disclosures.  The 
Commission is required to adopt Statement No. 77 for its fiscal year ended May 31, 2017. 
 
The Commission has not yet completed the various analyses required to estimate the financial 
statement impact of these new pronouncements. 
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3. Indenture Requirements and Restrictions 
 
The Commission’s debt has been issued under the provisions of five separate Trust Indentures 
(collectively referred to as Indentures): 
 

• A Senior Trust Indenture dated July 1, 1986 which was amended and restated as of 
March 1, 2001, as supplemented, between the Commission and the Trustee, U.S. Bank 
Corp., successor to First Union National Bank; 
 

• An Oil Franchise Tax Trust Indenture dated August 1, 1998, as supplemented, between 
the Commission and the Trustee, Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 
successor to National City Bank of Pennsylvania; 

 
• A Registration Fee Revenue Trust Indenture dated August 1, 2005 between the 

Commission and the Trustee, Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., 
successor to Wachovia Bank, N.A.; 

 
• A Subordinate Trust Indenture dated April 1, 2008, as supplemented, between the 

Commission and the Trustee, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., successor to Commerce Bank, 
N.A.; and 
 

• A Special Obligation Trust Indenture dated September 1, 2014 between the Commission 
and the Trustee, Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 

 
Accordingly, certain activities of the Commission are restricted by these Indentures. 
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4. Cash and Investments 
 
Following is a summary of cash and cash equivalents and investments by type:  
 

May 31 

Cash and Cash Equivalent and Investment Types 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Corporate obligations $     395,451 $        320,486 

Municipal bonds 157,723 280,105 

Government agency securities 201,540 188,657 

U.S. Treasuries 179,971 87,580   

GNMA mortgages 5,602 8,057 

Total investment securities 940,287 884,885 

Investment derivatives 23,317 57,652 

Cash and cash equivalents 783,774 848,189 
 Total cash and cash equivalents and investments $  1,747,378 $    1,790,726 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents are held in various financial institutions.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 
are comprised of demand deposits, money market funds and other highly liquid investments that 
mature within three months of acquisition.  The Demand Deposits are secured under 
Pennsylvania Act 72 which secures public deposits in excess of the FDIC insurance limits. Cash 
Equivalents consist of permitted investments in accordance with the Indentures as noted under 
Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities. 
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4. Cash and Investments (continued) 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 
 
The following summary presents the Commission’s Cash and Cash Equivalents. 
 

 Bank Balance Book Balance 
 (In Thousands) 

May 31, 2015   
Demand Deposits $     16,298 $     21,603 
Money Market Funds 644,495 644,498 
Cash Equivalents 117,673 117,673 

             Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $   778,466 $   783,774 

   
May 31, 2014   

Demand Deposits $     13,183 $     18,013 
Money Market Funds 665,678 665,678 
Cash Equivalents 164,498 164,498 

             Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $   843,359 $   848,189 

 
Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities 
 
The Indentures (as listed in Note 3) permit investments in obligations of, or guaranteed by, the 
United States of America, its agencies, and its instrumentalities (United States Government 
obligations); certificates of deposit issued by institutions insured by the FDIC or fully 
collateralized with United States Government obligations; investment agreements with certain 
financial institutions; commercial paper and asset-backed securities rated in the highest category 
by applicable rating agencies; money market funds and auction rate certificates rated in one of 
the two highest categories by applicable rating agencies; corporate bonds and medium term notes 
with a minimum rating of “AA-”; investments in bonds or notes issued by any state or 
municipality which are rated by S&P, Moody’s and Fitch in one of their two highest rating 
categories; and repurchase agreements with banks or primary government dealers reporting to 
the Federal Reserve Bank of New York collateralized with obligations of, or guaranteed by, the 
United States of America. 
 
Debt insurers have placed additional restrictions on construction funds. For these funds, 
corporate bonds, auction rate certificates, asset-backed securities, and medium term notes are not 
allowed. 
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4. Cash and Investments (continued)  
 
Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities (continued) 
 
The Commission has an investment policy that defines guidelines and operational factors 
governing the investment of financial assets. The policy generally has the same restrictions 
regarding permitted investments as the Indentures. Permitted investments include: 
 

• U.S. Treasury Bills, Notes, Bonds, Strips; 
 

• Time Deposits issued by a banking association organized and doing business under the 
laws of the United States of America or of any state that may have a combined capital 
and surplus of at least $50,000,000; 

 

• Certificates of Deposit that are fully collateralized and issued by a bank, savings and loan 
or trust company organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof; 

 

• Investment Agreements with a bank, a bank holding company or a financial institution 
that has outstanding long-term indebtedness rated “AA” or better by Moody’s and S&P; 

 

• Obligations of any federal agencies which obligations are backed by the full faith and 
credit of the United States of America; 

 

• Senior debt obligations rated a minimum “AA” by S&P and “Aa2” by Moody’s and 
issued by government-sponsored enterprises which include Federal Home Loan Bank, 
Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation; and Federal 
National Mortgage Association; 
 

• Mortgage-backed securities issued by an approved Federal agency and collateralized 
mortgage obligations so long as such securities are rated a minimum of “Aa2” by 
Moody’s and “AA” by S&P; 
 

• Debt obligations of any state or local government entity with securities rated in the 
“Aa/AA” category; 
 

• Commercial paper rated not less than “A-1/P-1/F-1”, corporate bonds rated “Aa3/AA-” 
or better, and asset-backed securities rated “AAA”; 

 

• Repurchase agreements with banks or primary government dealers reporting to the 
Federal Reserve Bank of New York, collateralized by investments with a minimum 102% 
valuation in securities of U.S. Treasury bills, notes, bonds, strips, or obligations of any of 
federal agencies or senior debt obligations described above; and 
 

• Share or Certificates in any short-term investment fund investing not less than 90% of its 
assets in obligations of U.S. treasury bills, notes, bonds, strips or time deposits. 
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4. Cash and Investments (continued)  
 
Cash Equivalents and Investment Securities (continued) 
 
All investment ratings shall be based on security ratings at the time of purchase. The portfolio’s 
average credit quality should be rated “Aa3/AA-” or better by Moody’s/S&P. Investments are 
generally purchased with the intent of holding to maturity with flexibility to restructure and 
rebalance portfolio holdings to manage risk and benefit from market opportunities. 
 
The investment policy imposes the following additional limitations: 
 

• Investments in any single Federal agency, not carrying the full faith and credit of the U.S. 
Government, are limited to 35% of the portfolio. 
 

• Investments in certificates of deposit and investment agreements are limited to 30% of 
the portfolio. 

 

• Combined exposure to commercial paper, corporate bonds, and asset-backed securities, 
in aggregate, is limited to 35% of the total portfolio. 
 

• Investments in any single issuer, excluding U.S. Treasury and Federal Agencies, are 
limited to 5% of the portfolio. 

 
The Commission’s investment policy also limits investments to those issues expected to mature 
within five years, taking into consideration call, prepayment, or other features that may impact 
maturity.  At May 31, 2015 and 2014, the Commission held three securities totaling $22.1 
million and $21.6 million respectively. Each of these securities had a maturity greater than five 
years.  All of these securities were purchased prior to the Commission’s adoption of an 
Investment Policy. 
 
The Commission’s exposure to credit risk for investment securities as of May 31, 2015 is as 
follows: 

Quality Rating 

Investment Type AAA AA A A-1 Below A Total 

(In Thousands) 

Corporate obligations $    58,522 $  294,186 $            - $  42,099            $  644 $  395,451 

Municipal bonds 20,013 113,194 24,516 - - 157,723 

Government agency securities 35,762 165,778 - - - 201,540 

$  114,297 $  573,158 $  24,516 $  42,099 $  644 $  754,714 
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4. Cash and Investments (continued)  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk    
 
Investments guaranteed by the full faith of the U.S. Government, such as U.S. Treasuries and 
GNMA mortgages, are not considered to have credit risk and do not require disclosure of credit 
quality. 
 
As of May 31, 2015, the Commission had investments of more than 5% of its consolidated 
portfolio with the following issuer: 
 

Issuer Total Market Value 
Percentage of Total 

Portfolio 
 (in Thousands)  
Federal National Mortgage Association $  105,608 6.04% 

 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
On May 31, 2015, the effective duration of the Commission’s investments, by type, was as 
follows: 
 

Investment Type Fair Value Effective Duration  

 
(In Thousands) (In Years) 

Corporate obligations $  395,451 2.0328 
Municipal bonds 157,723 2.3798 
Government agency securities 201,540 2.7946 
U.S. Treasuries 179,971 3.1399 
GNMA mortgages 5,602 3.0603 

Total investment securities  $  940,287 
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4. Cash and Investments (continued) 
 
Investment Derivatives 
 
Following is a summary of the Commission’s investment derivatives at May 31, 2015: 
 

 

Notional 
Amount 

(Thousands) 

Weighted 
Avg. Mat. 

(Years) 
Effective 

Date 
Maturity 

Date Terms 
Fair Value 

(Thousands) Counterparty 

Credit Ratings 
Moody’s/ 

S&P’s/Fitch 
         
 $   67,452 9.4   

Pay 67% of 1-month LIBOR, 
receive 60.08% of the 10 year 
maturity of the USD-ISDA 
Swap Rate 

$        831 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- 
 60,384 10.1   607 Merrill Lynch CS* Baa1/A-/A 
 67,452 9.4   831 PNC Bank A2/A/A+ 
 75,478 10.1   910 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA 

A 270,766  7/1/2007 12/1/2030 3,179   
         

 112,000    

Pay SIFMA, receive 63% of 1-
month LIBOR + 20 bps 

(4,325) JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- 
 48,000    (1,855) Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA 

B 160,000 14.1 8/14/2003 12/1/2032 (6,180)   
         

 80,000    Pay 67% of 1-month LIBOR, 
receive 60.15% of the 10 year 
maturity of the USD-ISDA 
Swap Rate 

3,401 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- 

 80,000    1,334 Royal Bank of Canada Aa3/AA-/AA 

C 160,000 14.0 9/19/2006 11/15/2032 4,735   
    

D 80,000 3.0 5/15/2014 11/15/2018 

Pay 60.15%  of the 10 year 
maturity of the USD-ISDA 
Swap Rate, receive 67% of 1-
month LIBOR (2,066) Wells Fargo Aa2/AA-/AA 

         

E 139,625 14.5 6/1/2010 6/1/2039 
Pay SIFMA, receive 99.68% of 
3-month LIBOR 7,151 Goldman Sachs MMDP Aa2/AAA/NR 

         

F 139,625 14.5 6/1/2010 6/1/2039 
Pay SIFMA, receive 99.80% of 
3-month LIBOR 7,200 Deutsche Bank A3/A/A 

         

G 118,015 9.6 6/9/2006 12/1/2026 Receive 4.186%, pay SIFMA 9,298 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA 
         

      $   23,317   

      
 1-month LIBOR was 0.18400% at May 31, 2015     
 3-month LIBOR was 0.28375% at May 31, 2015     
 10-year maturity of the USD-ISDA swap rate was 2.195% at May 31, 2015    

 SIFMA was 0.10% at May 31, 2015     

      

 

* On November 15, 2012, the Commission executed an amendment to the swap agreements to include 
Merrill Lynch Derivative Products as guarantor. Merrill Lynch Derivative Products credit ratings were 
Aa3/A+/NR (Moody's/S&P/Fitch) as of May 31, 2015.   

 

See Note 9 for additional disclosures regarding derivative instruments including a rollforward 

from the prior year balances. 
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5. Capital Assets 
 
Summaries of changes to capital assets for the years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014 are as 
follows: 

Balance Balance

May 31, May 31,

2014 2015

Capital assets not being depreciated (cost)

Land and intangibles  $       289,900  $      20,618  $             -    $                  -    $       310,518 

Assets under construction           790,396        573,376     (406,788)                        -           956,984 

Total capital assets not being depreciated        1,080,296        593,994     (406,788)                        -        1,267,502 

Capital assets being depreciated (cost)

Buildings           905,235                    -         31,411                   129           936,517 

Improvements other than buildings           114,009                    -           3,322                        -           117,331 

Equipment           570,115            8,516         14,590                1,998           591,223 

Infrastructure        7,345,336          15,131       357,465                4,744        7,713,188 

Total capital assets being depreciated        8,934,695          23,647       406,788                6,871        9,358,259 

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings           331,972          22,402                   -                   105           354,269 

Improvements other than buildings             67,922            5,293                   -                        -             73,215 

Equipment           420,547          30,998                   -                1,744           449,801 

Infrastructure        4,280,189        278,971                   -                   245        4,558,915 

Total accumulated depreciation        5,100,630        337,664                   -                2,094        5,436,200 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net        3,834,065      (314,017)       406,788                4,777        3,922,059 

Total capital assets  $    4,914,361  $    279,977  $               -  $            4,777  $    5,189,561 

Additions Transfers Reductions

(In Thousands)
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5. Capital Assets (continued) 
Balance Balance

May 31, May 31,

2013 2014

Capital assets not being depreciated (cost)

Land and intangibles  $       271,310  $      18,717  $             -    $               127  $       289,900 

Assets under construction           661,613        369,940     (241,157)                        -           790,396 

Total capital assets not being depreciated           932,923        388,657     (241,157)                   127        1,080,296 

Capital assets being depreciated (cost)

Buildings           893,705            7,701           6,303                2,474           905,235 

Improvements other than buildings           112,632            3,186           1,652                3,461           114,009 

Equipment           549,578          10,420         12,163                2,046           570,115 

Infrastructure        7,172,878          10,502       221,039              59,083        7,345,336 

Total capital assets being depreciated        8,728,793          31,809       241,157              67,064        8,934,695 

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings           312,159          22,265                   -                2,452           331,972 

Improvements other than buildings             66,252            5,131                   -                3,461             67,922 

Equipment           392,113          30,163                   -                1,729           420,547 

Infrastructure        4,059,290        266,451                   -              45,552        4,280,189 

Total accumulated depreciation        4,829,814        324,010                   -              53,194        5,100,630 

Total capital assets being depreciated, net        3,898,979      (292,201)       241,157              13,870        3,834,065 

Total capital assets  $    4,831,902  $      96,456  $               -  $          13,997  $    4,914,361 

Additions Transfers Reductions

(In Thousands)

The Commission incurred interest costs of $15.5 million and $10.7 million for the fiscal years ended 
May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, which qualified for capitalization. For fiscal year 2015, there 
was a $0.4 million interest income offset; therefore, $15.1 million was capitalized.  For fiscal year 
2014, there was a $0.2 million interest income offset; therefore, $10.5 million was capitalized.     
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6.  Service Concession Arrangements 
 
There are 17 service plazas along the Turnpike System providing gasoline and diesel fuel, other 
automotive supplies and services, and restaurant services.  The Commission has entered into 
long term service plaza redevelopment agreements with HMSHost Restaurants, LLC and 
Sunoco, Inc. to design, reconstruct, finance, operate and maintain all of the service plazas.  The 
Commission has no responsibility for maintaining the service plazas under the agreements.  The 
Commission maintains the ability to approve and/or modify the services that the operators can 
provide and the rates that can be charged.  The service plaza operators are compensated by the 
users of the services and share a portion of that revenue with the Commission as rental payments.  
Upon completion of construction, the reconstructed assets are recognized by the Commission.  
The current contracts with HMSHost Restaurants, LLC and Sunoco, Inc. expire on August 25, 
2036 and January 31, 2022, respectively. Sunoco, Inc.’s lease may be extended for three 
additional five-year periods. The first extension shall be at the discretion of Sunoco, Inc., and the 
second and third extensions shall be mutually agreed to by both parties. 
 
As of May 31, 2015, the Commission had capitalized $108.1 million in assets representing 14 
service plazas that had fully completed construction and recorded deferred inflows of resources 
of $90.1 million related to these assets in accordance with GASB Statement No. 60. Also, as of 
May 31, 2015 and in accordance with GASB Statement No. 60, the Commission recognized a 
receivable and deferred inflow of resources in the amount of $30.6 million for the present value 
of guaranteed minimum rent payments scheduled to begin upon completion of all construction. 
 
As of May 31, 2014, the Commission had capitalized $108.1 million in assets representing 14 
service plazas that had fully completed construction and recognized deferred inflows of 
resources of $94.9 million related to these assets in accordance with GASB Statement No. 60. 
Also, as of May 31, 2014 and in accordance with GASB Statement No. 60, the Commission 
recognized a receivable and deferred inflow of resources in the amount of $28.1 million for the 
present value of guaranteed minimum rent payments scheduled to begin upon completion of all 
construction.   
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7.  Debt 
 
Following is a summary of debt outstanding: 

 May 31 

 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Mainline Senior Debt   
   

2004 Series A: Issued $269,245 in June 2004 at 5.00% to 5.50%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2034.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. Refunded in November 2014. $            - $ 269,245 
   

2006 Series A: Issued $118,015 in June 2006 at 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 
2026.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 118,015 118,015 
   

2009 Series A Build America Bonds: Issued $275,000 in July 2009 at 6.105%, due in varying installments 
through June 1, 2039.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 275,000 275,000 
   

2009 Series B: Issued $375,010 in December 2009 at 3% to 5%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2025.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 362,640 375,010 
   

2009 Series C: Issued $208,280 in December 2009 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA + 0.52% to 1.05%, paid 
the 1st of each month), due in varying installments through December 1, 2014.  Partially refunded in November 
2012 and July 2013. Refunded in June 2014. - 52,070 
   

2010 Series B Build America Bonds: Issued $600,000 in September 2010 at 5.5%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2049.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 600,000 600,000 
   

2011 Series A: Issued $68,660 in April 2011 at 4% to 5%, due in varying installments through December 1, 
2023.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 68,660  68,660 
   

2011 Series B: Issued $92,035 in April 2011 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA, reset weekly, paid the 1st of 
each month), due in varying installments through June 1, 2015.   23,770 47,040 
   

2011 Series D: Issued $52,365 in November 2011 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +0.05% to 0.55%, reset 
weekly, paid the 1st of each month), due in equal installments through December 1, 2014.  Partially refunded in 
November 2012 and July 2013. Refunded in June 2014. - 17,455 
   

2011 Series E: Issued $110,080 in November 2011 at 3.63% to 5%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2030.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 110,080 110,080 
   

2012 Series A: Issued $200,215 in July 2012 at 3% to 5%, due in varying installments through December 
2042. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 196,775      200,215 
   

2012 Series B: Issued $70,060 in November 2012 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +.55%, reset weekly, 
paid the 1st of each month). Due at December 1, 2016.  70,060      70,060 
   

2013 Series A: Issued $176,075 in January 2013 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +.60% and .68%, reset 
weekly, paid the 1st of each month). Due in varying installments through December 1, 2018 176,075      176,075 
   

2013 Series B: Issued $265,155 in July 2013 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +.40% to 1.27%, reset 
weekly, paid the 1st of each month). Due in varying installments through December 1, 2020. 265,155 265,155 
   

2013 Series C: Issued $222,935 in August 2013 at 3.00% to 5.50%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2043. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 222,935 222,935 
   

2014 Series A: Issued $236,115 in April 2014 at 4.00% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2044. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 236,115 236,115 
   

2014 Series B-1: Issued $444,280 in May 2014 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +.05% to .98%, reset 
weekly, paid the 1st of each month). Due in varying installments through December 1, 2021. 444,280 444,280 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 May 31 

 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Mainline Senior Debt (continued)   
   

2014 Series B-2: Issued $69,870 in June 2014 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA +.05% to .30%, reset 
weekly, paid the 1st of each month). Due in varying installments through December 1, 2016. $   69,870 $              - 
   

2014 Series Refunding: Issued $239,620 in November 2014 at 5.00%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2034. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 239,620 - 
   

2014 Series C: Issued $294,225 in December 2014 at 2.25% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2044.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 294,225 - 
   

Total Mainline Senior Debt Payable 3,773,275  3,547,410 
   

Mainline Subordinate Debt (consisting of Subordinate Revenue Debt and Motor License  
Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt)   
   

Mainline Subordinate Revenue Debt   
   

2008 Sub-Series A-1 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $176,565 in April 2008 at 4.125% to 5.00%, due in 
varying installments through June 1, 2038.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 176,565      176,565 
   

2008 Sub-Series A-2 Subordinate Revenue (Federally Taxable): Issued $68,290 in April 2008 at 3.74% to 
6.41%, due in varying installments through June 1, 2022.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 45,205        49,695 
   

2008 Sub-Series B-1, B-2 Subordinate Revenue (B-2 Federally Taxable): Issued $233,905 in July 2008 at 
5.00% to 7.47%, due in varying installments through June 1, 2036.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 233,905      233,905 
   

2008 Sub-Series C-1, C-3, C-4 Subordinate Revenue (C-4 Federally Taxable): Issued $411,110 in October 
2008 at 4.00% to 6.25%, due in varying installments through June 1, 2038.  Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1.  Sub-Series C-3 refunded July 2009 and Sub-Series C-4 refunded June 2010. 214,320      218,030 
   

2009 Series A Subordinate Revenue: Issued $308,035 in January 2009 at 3.00% to 5.00%, due in varying 
installments through June 1, 2039.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 281,705      287,315 
   

2009 Series B Subordinate Revenue: Issued $856,735 in July 2009 at 3.00% to 5.75%, due in varying 
installments through June 1, 2039.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 804,195      831,035 
   

2009 Series C Subordinate Revenue: Issued $99,998 in July 2009 at 6.25%, due in varying installments 
through June 1, 2033.  Interest to be compounded semi-annually from July 2009 until June 1, 2016, thereafter 
paid each June 1 and December 1.  Series C issued as Capital Appreciation Bonds (CABs).  Compounded 
interest to be paid at maturity or earlier redemption. 143,261      134,709 
   

2009 Series D Subordinate Revenue: Issued $324,745 in October 2009 at 4.00% to 5.50%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2041.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 324,745      324,745 
   

2009 Series E Subordinate Revenue: Issued $200,005 in October 2009 at 6.00% to 6.375%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2038.  Interest to be compounded semi-annually from October 2009 to 
December 1, 2017, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1.  Series E issued as CABs.  The compounded 
interest to be paid at maturity or earlier redemption. 282,694      265,737 
   

2010 Sub-Series B-1, B-2 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $273,526 in July 2010 at 5.00%.  Sub-Series B-1 
due in varying installments through December 1, 2037.  Sub-Series B-2 issued as convertible CABs.  Interest 
compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2015, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1.  
Compounded interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption. 327,626 $   315,188 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 May 31 

 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Mainline Subordinate Debt (consisting of Subordinate Revenue Debt and Motor License  
Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt) (continued)   
   

Mainline Subordinate Revenue Debt (continued)   
   

2010 Sub-Series C-1, C-2, C-3 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $138,916 in October 2010 at 4.25% to 5.45%.  
Sub-Series C-1 due in varying installments through December 1, 2040.  Sub-Series C-2 issued as convertible 
CABs.  Interest compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2015, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 
1.  Compound interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption.  Sub-Series C-3 issued as CABs with interest 
paid at maturity or earlier redemption.  $  162,025 $ 156,511 
   

2011 Series A Subordinate Revenue: Issued $135,655 in April 2011 at 5.00% to 6.50%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2041.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. Partially refunded in April 
2015. 85,625 135,655 
   

2011 Series B Subordinate Revenue: Issued $126,740 in October 2011 at 2.00% to 5.25%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2041.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 116,595 120,095 
   

2012 Series A Subordinate Revenue: Issued $123,545 in April 2012 at 3.00% to 5.00%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2042.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 116,610 120,105 
   

2012 Series B Subordinate Revenue: Issued $121,065 in October 2012 at 2% to 5%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2042. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1.  114,350 117,985 
   

2013 Series A Subordinate Revenue: Issued $71,702 in April, 2013 at 3.125% to 5%, due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2043. Sub-Series A-1 Serial bond interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 
Sub-Series A-1 Term bond interest paid each June 1 and December 1. Sub-Series A-2 issued as convertible 
CABs.  Interest compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2018, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 
1. 75,521   73,650 
   

2013 Sub-Series B-1, B-2, B-3 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $108,708 in October 2013 at 2.00% to 6.10%, 
due in varying installments through December 1, 2043. Sub-Series B-1interest paid each June 1 and December 
1. Sub-Series B-2 issued as convertible CABs. Interest compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2028, 
thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1. Compound interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption. Sub-
Series B-3 interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 111,461 109,698 
   

2014 Sub-Series A-1, A-2, A-3 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $148,300 in April 2014 at 2.00% to 5.44%, 
due in varying installments through December 1, 2043. Sub-Series A-1interest paid each June 1 and December 
1. Sub-Series A-2 issued as convertible CABs. Interest compounded semi-annually until June 1, 2024, 
thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1. Compound interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption. Sub-
Series B-3 issued as CABs with interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption. 150,295 148,485 
   

2014 Series B Subordinate Revenue: Issued $201,395 in October 2014 at 5.00% to 5.25% due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2044. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 201,395 - 
   
2015 Series A-1 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $209,010 in April 2015 at 3.00% to 5.25% due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2045.  Interest is paid each June 1 and December 1. 209,010 - 
   
2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Revenue: Issued $50,000 in April 2015 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA 
+.80%, reset weekly, paid the 1st of each month commencing on December 1, 2015). Due in varying 
installments through December 1, 2045. 50,000 - 

   
Total Mainline Subordinate Revenue Debt Payable 4,227,108 3,819,108 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 May 31 

 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Mainline Subordinate Debt (consisting of Subordinate Revenue Debt and Motor License  
Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt) (continued)   
   

Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt   
   

2010 Sub-Series A-1, A-2, A-3 Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued 
$187,816 in July 2010 at 4.50% to 5.50%.  Sub-Series A-1 due in varying installments through December 1, 
2038.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1.  Sub-Series A-2 issued as convertible CABs.  Interest will 
compound semi-annually until December 1, 2015, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1.  Compound 
interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption.  Sub-Series A-3 issued as CABs.  Compounded interest to be 
paid at maturity or earlier redemption. $  216,040 $   209,593 
   

2010 Sub-Series B-1, B-2, B-3 Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued 
$105,299 in October 2010 at 3.95% to 5.125%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2040.  Sub-
Series B-1 interest paid each June 1 and December 1.  Sub-Series B-2 issued as convertible CABs.  Interest 
compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2015, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1.  Compound 
interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption.  Sub-Series B-3 issued as CABs with interest paid at maturity or 
earlier redemption. 120,841 117,156 
   

2011 Series A Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $102,620 in April 
2011 at 5.00% to 6.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2041.  Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1. 102,620 102,620 
   

2011 Series B Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $98,910 in October 
2011 at 3.00% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2041.  Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1. 98,200  98,635 
   

2012 Series A Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $94,935 in April 2012 
at 2.00% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2042.  Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1. 94,460   94,725 
   

2012 Series B Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $92,780 in October 
2012 at 3% to 5%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2042. Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1. 92,455   92,780 
   

2013 Series A Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $92,465 in April 2013 
at 3% to 5%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2043. Interest paid each June 1 and December 
1. 92,465       92,465 
   

2013 Sub-Series B-1, B-2, B-3 Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued 
$101,731 in October 2013 at 2.00% to 5.875%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2043. Sub-
Series B-1interest paid each June 1 and December 1. Sub-Series B-2 issued as convertible CABs. Interest 
compounded semi-annually until December 1, 2028, thereafter paid each June 1 and December 1. Compound 
interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption. Sub-Series B-3 interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 103,943 102,542 
   

2014 Series A Subordinate Motor License Fund-Enhanced Special Revenue: Issued $59,740 in April 2014 
at 4.50% to 4.90%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2044. The Series A were issued as 
convertible CABs.  Interest will compound semi-annually until December 1, 2021, thereafter paid each June 1 
and December 1.  Compound interest paid at maturity or earlier redemption.   62,833 59,987 
   

Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt 983,857 970,503 
   

Total Mainline Subordinate Debt (consisting of Subordinate Revenue Debt and Motor 
License  Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Debt) 5,210,965 4,789,611 
   

Total Mainline Senior and Subordinate Debt Payable 8,984,240 8,337,021 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 May 31 
 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Oil Company Franchise Tax Senior Debt   
   

2003 Series C Oil Company Franchise Tax Multi-Modal Revenue: Issued $160,000 in August 2003 at a 
variable rate, converted to a fixed rate of 5.00% in May 2008, due in varying installments through December 1, 
2032.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1.  $  160,000 

      
$160,000 

   

2006 Series A Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding: Issued $98,705 in November 2006 at 
5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2023.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 84,365         87,595 
   

2009 Series A, B, C Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue: Issued $164,181 in October 2009.  Series A 
issued at 2.00% to 5.85%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2023.  Series B (Build America 
Bonds, Issuer Subsidy, Federally Taxable) issued at 5.85%, due in varying installments through December 1, 
2037.  Interest paid each June 1 and December 1.  Series C issued as CABs at 5.30%.  Interest on the CABs is 
deferred until maturity on December 1, 2039. 162,576       162,893 
   

2013 Series A Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding: Issued $27,785 in October 2013 at 2.50% 
to 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2024. Interest paid each June 1 and December 1. 23,120 27,785 
   

Total Oil Company Franchise Tax Senior Debt Payable 430,061       438,273 
   

Oil Company Franchise Tax Subordinate Debt   
   

2003 Series B Subordinate Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue: Issued $197,955 in August 2003 at 
2.38% to 5.50%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2032.  Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1.  Partially defeased in November 2006 and partially refunded in October 2013. 16,440        16,440 
   

2006 Series B Subordinate Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding: Issued $141,970 in 
November 2006 at 3.75% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2031.  Interest paid each 
June 1 and December 1. 131,785      134,130 
   

2009 Series D, E Subordinate Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue: Issued $134,065 in October 2009.  
Series D issued at 2.00% to 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2027.  Series E (Build 
America Bonds, Issuer Subsidy, Federally Taxable) issued at 6.378%, due in varying installments through 
December 1, 2037.   128,690      129,550 
   

2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue: Issued $32,035 in October 2013 at 
2.00% and 5.00%, due in varying installments through December 1, 2025. Interest paid each June 1 and 
December 1. 28,165 32,035 
   

Total Oil Company Franchise Tax Subordinate Debt Payable 305,080      312,155 
   

Total Oil Company Franchise Tax Senior and Subordinate Debt Payable 735,141      750,428 
 

Motor License Registration Fee Debt   
   

2005 Series A: Issued $234,135 in August 2005 at 3.25% to 5.25%, due in varying installments through July 
15, 2030.  Interest paid each January 15 and July 15. 178,455     185,505 
   

2005 Series B, C, D: Issued $231,425 in August 2005 at a variable rate (based on SIFMA, reset weekly, paid 
the 15th of each month), due in varying installments through July 15, 2041. 231,425     231,425 
   

Total Motor License Registration Fee Debt Payable 409,880     416,930 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 May 31 
 2015 2014 

 (In Thousands) 

Total Debt Payable $10,129,261 
   

$9,504,379 
Unamortized premium/discount 306,147       203,526 

Total debt, net of unamortized premium/discount 10,435,408    9,707,905 
Less current portion 238,150       184,675 

Debt, noncurrent portion $10,197,258 $ 9,523,230 

   
SIFMA was 0.10% on May 31, 2015   

 

Changes in debt are as follows: 

Balance at Balance at Due Within

June 1, 2014 May 31, 2015 One Year

Mainline debt  $      8,337,021  $       1,127,774  $     480,555  $        8,984,240  $      213,115 

Oil Company Franchise Tax debt             750,428              289,733         305,020               735,141            17,625 

Motor License Registration Fee debt             416,930                        -               7,050               409,880              7,410 

         9,504,379           1,417,507         792,625          10,129,261          238,150 

Premium (discount), net             203,526              114,310           11,689               306,147  - 

Totals  $      9,707,905  $       1,531,817  $     804,314  $      10,435,408  $      238,150 

(In Thousands)

Additions Reductions

Balance at Balance at Due Within

June 1, 2013 May 31, 2014 One Year

Mainline debt  $      7,503,037  $       1,641,554  $     807,570  $        8,337,021  $      161,280 

Oil Company Franchise Tax debt             771,623                60,825           82,020               750,428            16,345 

Motor License Registration Fee debt             423,650                        -               6,720               416,930              7,050 

         8,698,310           1,702,379         896,310            9,504,379          184,675 

Premium (discount), net             178,860                35,607           10,941               203,526                    -   

Totals  $      8,877,170  $       1,737,986  $     907,251  $        9,707,905  $      184,675 

(In Thousands)

Additions Reductions
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Debt service requirements subsequent to May 31, 2015 related to all sections of debt are as 
follows:  
 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest Total

2016 238,150$           397,210$             635,360$           

2017 262,690             427,913               690,603             

2018 266,500             426,052               692,552             

2019 284,485             439,375               723,860             

2020 293,725             433,303               727,028             

2021-2025 1,451,013          2,032,793            3,483,806          

2026-2030 1,359,378          1,772,108            3,131,486          

2031-2035 1,949,950          1,394,918            3,344,868          

2036-2040 2,240,898          950,788               3,191,686          

2041-2045 1,447,212          346,767               1,793,979          

2046-2050 335,260             56,108                 391,368             

10,129,261$      8,677,335$          18,806,596$      

(In Thousands)

 
The Commission’s purpose for issuing debt is as follows. 
 

• Mainline Senior Debt is issued for the purpose of financing the costs of various capital 
projects in the Commission’s capital plan and for refunding outstanding Mainline Senior 
Debt.   

 

• Mainline Subordinate Debt is issued for the purpose of financing a portion of the costs of 
making payments to the Pennsylvania Department of Transportation in accordance with 
Act 44 and Act 89 and for refunding outstanding Subordinate Debt.  See Note 9 for 
additional information regarding Act 44 and Act 89.    

 

• Oil Company Franchise Tax Debt and Motor License Registration Fee Debt are issued 
for the purpose of financing the costs of capital expenditures related to the Mon/Fayette 
and Southern Beltway expansion projects and to refund outstanding Oil Company 
Franchise Tax Debt and Motor License Registration Fee Debt.     
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
The issuance of new debt is conducted in accordance with the terms of the applicable Trust 
Indenture and approval of the Commissioners.   
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity 
 
The Amended and Restated Trust Indenture of 2001 requires that tolls be adequate to provide 
funds to cover current expenses and (1) provide funds in an amount not less than the greater of 
130% of the maximum principal and interest requirements for the succeeding year, or (2) 100% 
of the maximum principal and interest payments for the next fiscal year plus the amount required 
for maintenance of the Turnpike System as determined by the Commission’s Consulting 
Engineer. If any deficiencies occur, the Commission is obligated to raise tolls accordingly. 
 
As disclosed in Note 3, the Commission’s Trust Indentures impose certain restrictions and 
requirements. The Commission’s Trust Indenture for the Turnpike Subordinate Revenue Bonds 
requires that the Commission establish and maintain schedules of tolls for traffic over the 
Turnpike System as required by the Senior Indenture, and in addition, the amount paid into the 
General Reserve Fund of the Senior Indenture in each fiscal year and for each Commission 
Payment, will be at least sufficient to provide funds in an amount not less than: (1) 115% of the 
Annual Debt Service for each fiscal year on account of all outstanding Revenue Bonds and 
Revenue Bonds Parity Obligations; (2) 100% of the Annual Debt Service for such fiscal year on 
account of all Outstanding Guaranteed Bonds, Guaranteed Bonds Parity Obligations and 
Subordinated Indebtedness; and (3) any payment by the Commission required by the Subordinate 
Indenture for restoring a deficiency in the Debt Service Fund within an eighteen (18) month 
period. 
 
The Commission entered into a loan agreement to borrow up to $200 million in four tranches of 
up to $50 million each through the Immigrant Investor Program (known as the EB-5 visa 
program) administered by the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services.  The Commission 
anticipates borrowing this money periodically through 2017 to fund a portion of the I-95 
Interchange Project.  Such debt would be issued under the Senior Indenture on parity with the 
Turnpike Revenue Bonds.  As of May 31, 2015, the Commission has not borrowed any money 
under this agreement.   
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
Under the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Act 44 of 2007 (Act 44), the Commission may 
issue up to $5 billion of Special Revenue Bonds guaranteed by the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania’s Motor License Fund.  The Special Revenue Bonds authorized by Act 44 are 
subject to various limitations, including, among others, the following:  the aggregate amount of 
such Special Revenue Bonds is limited to $5 billion; no more than $600,000,000 of Special 
Revenue Bonds may be issued in any calendar year; debt service on the Special Revenue Bonds 
shall be payable from any available funds of the Commission, but are additionally secured by 
amounts payable from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Motor License Fund which is 
required to pay any debt service shortfall.  All Special Revenue Bond debt service payments are 
subordinate obligations of the Commission payable solely from certain money in, or periodically 
released from, the General Reserve Fund after meeting all other Commission requirements 
pursuant to any financial documents, financial covenants, insurance policies, liquidity policies or 
agreements in effect at the Commission.  Pursuant to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Act 
89 of 2013, Special Revenue Bonds may not be issued by the Commission to fund any portion of 
its annual payment obligation to PennDOT after July 1, 2014, although Special Revenue 
Refunding Bonds may be issued.  Through fiscal year ended May 31, 2015, the Commission 
issued $936.3 million of Special Revenue Bonds with an accreted value of $983.9 million.  The 
commitment of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Motor License Fund to provide additional 
security to pay any Special Revenue Bond debt service shortfall shall continue until the 
retirement or defeasance of any Special Revenue Bonds or until October 13, 2057, whichever is 
sooner.  To date, the Commission has made all required Special Revenue Bond debt service 
payments.  No funds have been drawn or requested from the Commonwealth’s Motor License 
Fund for Special Revenue Bond debt service during the current reporting period or any prior 
reporting periods.  In the event that the Commonwealth’s Motor License Fund would be required 
to make a Special Revenue Bond debt service payment, a provision of the Amended Lease and 
Funding Agreement, executed between the Commission and PennDOT, requires the Commission 
to reimburse the Motor License Fund for any Special Revenue Bond debt service payments plus 
interest accruing to the date of the Commission’s failure to pay the debt service.  The obligation 
of the Commission to reimburse the Motor License Fund for any Special Revenue Bond debt 
service payment is a subordinate obligation of the Commission and is payable only from 
amounts, if any, in the Commission’s General Reserve Fund as permitted by any Commission 
financing documents, financial covenants, insurance policies, liquidity policies or agreements in 
effect at the Commission. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
In July 2013, the Commission issued $265,155,000 2013 Series B Senior Bonds at a variable rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2020.  The 2013 Series B Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of the Commission’s 2009 Series C Variable Rate Turnpike 
Revenue Bonds ($52,070,000) and the Commission’s 2011 Series D Variable Rate Turnpike 
Revenue Bonds ($17,455,000), both with maturity dates of December 1, 2013; the Commission’s 
2010 Series A-1 Multi-Modal Revenue Refunding Bonds ($97,230,000) and the Commission’s 
2010 Series A-2 Multi-Modal Revenue Refunding Bonds ($97,140,000), both with a mandatory 
redemption date of July 2013; and for the payment of the costs of issuance of the 2013 Series B 
Senior Bonds. 
 
In August 2013, the Commission issued $222,935,000 2013 Series C Senior Bonds at a fixed rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2043. The 2013 Series C Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2013 Series C Bonds. 
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $108,708,000 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2043.  The 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and for issuing the 2013 Series B Subordinate Bonds. 
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $101,731,000 2013 Series B Motor License Fund-
Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 
1, 2043.  The 2013 Series B Motor License Fund-Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and for issuing the 2013 Series B Motor License Fund Enhanced 
Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds. 
 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $236,115,000 2014 Series A Senior Bonds at a fixed rate 
with a maturity date of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series A Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2014 Series A Bonds. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $148,300,000 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds at a fixed 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2043. The 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds were 
issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds. 
 
In April 2014, the Commission issued $59,740,000 2014 Series A Motor License Fund-
Enhanced Subordinate Special Revenue Bonds as capital appreciation bonds with a maturity date 
of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series A Subordinate Bonds were issued primarily to provide 
funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in accordance with Act 44 and Act 
89 and for issuing the 2014 Series A Motor License Fund Enhanced Subordinate Special 
Revenue Bonds. 
 
In May 2014, the Commission issued $444,280,000 2014 Series B-1 Senior Bonds at a variable 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2021. The 2014 Series B-1 Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of existing variable rate debt which included the 
Commission’s 2008 Series B-1 Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($100,000,000), the Commission’s 
2008 Series C Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($50,000,000), the Commission’s 2011 Series C-1 
Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds ($230,745,000), and the Commission’s 2011 Series C-2 Multi-
Modal Revenue Bonds ($61,500,000), all with a mandatory redemption date of May 2014.  The 
bonds were also issued for payment of the costs of issuance for the 2014 Series B-1 Senior 
Bonds. 
 
In June 2014, the Commission issued $69,870,000 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds at a variable 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2016. The 2014 B-2 Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily for the current refunding of existing variable rate debt which included the 
Commission’s 2009 Series C Bonds Variable Rate Revenue Bonds ($52,070,000) and the 
Commission’s 2011 Series D Variable Rate Revenue Bonds ($17,455,000). The bonds were also 
issued for payment of the costs of issuance for the 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds. 
 
In October 2014, the Commission issued $201,395,000 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2044. The 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds were 
issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2014 Series B Subordinate Bonds. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
In November 2014, the Commission issued $239,620,000 2014 Series Refunding Senior Bonds 
at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2034. The 2014 Series Refunding Senior 
Bonds were issued primarily to current refund the 2004 Series A Senior Bonds and for the 
payment of the costs of issuance of the 2014 Series Refunding Senior Bonds. The current 
refunding of the 2004 Series A Senior Bonds allowed the Commission to reduce its debt service 
by approximately $57.0 million.  The transaction resulted in an economic gain of approximately 
$40.1 million. 
 
In December 2014, the Commission issued $294,225,000 2014 Series C Senior Bonds at a fixed 
rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2044.  The 2014 Series C Senior Bonds were issued 
primarily to finance the cost of various capital expenditures set forth in the Commission’s ten-
year capital plan including, but not limited to, the reconstruction of roadbed and roadway, the 
widening, replacing and redecking of certain bridges and/or the rehabilitation of certain 
interchanges and for issuing the 2014 Series C Bonds. 
 
In April 2015, the Commission issued $209,010,000 2015 Series A-1 Subordinate Bonds at a 
fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2045.  The 2015 Series A-1 Subordinate Bonds 
were issued to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in accordance 
with Act 44 and Act 89, for the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission’s 2011 A 
Subordinate Revenue Bonds ($50,030,000), and for paying the cost of issuing the 2015 Series A-
1 Subordinate Bonds. The advanced refunding of the 2011 Series A Subordinate Bonds allowed 
the Commission to reduce its debt service by approximately $10.3 million. In addition to the debt 
service savings the Commission received additional proceeds of 2.2 million from this 
transaction, resulting in a total economic gain of approximately $10.6 million. 
 
In April 2015, the Commission issued $50,000,000 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds at a 
variable rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2045.  The 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds 
were issued primarily to provide funds to finance the costs of making payments to PennDOT in 
accordance with Act 44 and Act 89 and for issuing the 2015 Series A-2 Subordinate Bonds. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Mainline Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
Debt service requirements subsequent to May 31, 2015 related to the Mainline debt are as 
follows: 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest Total

2016  $        213,115  $        350,294  $            563,409 

2017            236,030            382,193                618,223 

2018            238,530            381,605                620,135 

2019            255,090            396,339                651,429 

2020            262,840            391,747                654,587 

2021-2025         1,275,378         1,849,446             3,124,824 

2026-2030         1,130,073         1,638,649             2,768,722 

2031-2035         1,657,955         1,321,379             2,979,334 

2036-2040         1,983,482            888,214             2,871,696 

2041-2045         1,396,487            346,718             1,743,205 

2046-2050            335,260              56,108                391,368 

8,984,240$      8,002,692$      16,986,932$        

(In Thousands)

 
Oil Company Franchise Tax Debt Requirements and Recent Activity 
 
The Oil Company Franchise Tax Revenue Bonds are secured by a pledge and assignment by the 
Commission to the Trustee of: (1) all proceeds from the Commission’s allocation of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’s Oil Company Franchise Tax; (2) the Commission’s right to 
receive its allocation of the Oil Company Franchise Tax and any portion of the allocation 
actually received by the Commission; (3) all monies deposited into accounts or funds created by 
the 1998 Indenture, as supplemented; and, (4) all investment earnings on all monies held in 
accounts and funds established by the 1998 Indenture. 
 
The 1998 Indenture requires the Commission to petition the General Assembly of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania for additional funds in the event that the Commission’s 
allocation of the Oil Company Franchise Tax is inadequate to pay maximum principal and 
interest payments for the succeeding year. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Oil Company Franchise Tax Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
The Commission issued 2014 Special Obligation Bonds in fiscal year 2015 as noted below.  
These 2014 Special Obligation Bonds are limited obligation bonds secured solely by the trust 
estate established under the 2014 Special Obligation Bonds Trust Indenture.  The 2014 Special 
Obligation Bonds are not secured by nor have any interest in the Trust Estate under the Senior 
Indenture.  Further, the trust estate established under the 2014 Special Obligation Bonds Trust 
Indenture is not pledged to secure any Subordinate Revenue Bonds, Special Revenue Bonds, 
other Senior Revenue Bonds or the Senior Indenture Parity Obligations.  
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $27,785,000 2013 Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax 
Revenue Refunding Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2024.  The 2013 
Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds were issued primarily for the 
current refunding of the $30,775,000 December 1, 2024 maturity of the Commission’s Oil 
Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series A of 2003 and for the payment of the costs of 
issuance of the 2013 Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds. The 
refunding of the 2003 Series A Senior Oil Franchise Tax Bonds allowed the Commission to 
reduce its debt service by approximately $4.8 million.  The transaction resulted in an economic 
gain of approximately $3.5 million. 
 
In October 2013, the Commission issued $32,035,000 2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise 
Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2025.  The 
2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds were issued primarily 
to partially refund the $34,695,000 December 1, 2025 maturity of the Commission’s 2003 Series 
B Oil Franchise Tax Subordinate Revenue Bonds and for the payment of the costs of issuance of 
the 2013 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds. The partial 
refunding of the 2003 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Bonds allowed the Commission to 
reduce its debt service by approximately $4.2 million.  The transaction resulted in an economic 
gain of approximately $3.0 million. 
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Oil Company Franchise Tax Debt Requirements and Recent Activity (continued) 
 
In September 2014, the Commission issued $288,675,000 2014 Series Special Obligation Bonds 
at a fixed rate with a maturity date of December 1, 2027. The 2014 Series Special Obligation 
Bonds were issued to refund the refunded bonds of 1998 Series A Senior and 1998 Series B 
Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Bonds, to provide additional funds to the Commission for the 
construction of part of the sections of the Mon-Fayette Expressway and Southern Beltway, and 
for the payment of costs of issuance of the 2014 Series Special Obligation Bonds. The refunding 
of the 1998 Series A Senior and 1998 Series B Subordinate Oil Franchise Tax Bonds did not 
change the Commission’s debt service requirements. The transaction resulted in an economic 
gain of approximately $33.8 million. These Bonds were subsequently defeased on September 15, 
2014. 
 
Debt service requirements subsequent to May 31, 2015 related to Oil Company Franchise Tax 
are as follows: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest Total

2016  $           17,625  $       37,419  $            55,044 

2017               18,885           36,613               55,498 

2018               19,785           35,758               55,543 

2019               20,780           34,789               55,569 

2020               21,815           33,773               55,588 

2021-2025             122,630         152,293              274,923 

2026-2030             160,835         118,266              279,101 

2031-2035             204,420           71,696              276,116 

2036-2040             148,366           61,858              210,224 

 $         735,141  $      582,465  $       1,317,606 

(In Thousands)
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Motor License Registration Fee Debt Requirements and Recent Activity 
 
Pursuant to Section 20 of Act 3, the Commonwealth appropriates $28.0 million of Act 3 
revenues to the Commission annually. The $28.0 million is payable to the Commission in the 
amount of $2.3 million per month. The Registration Fee Revenue Bonds are secured by a pledge 
and assignment by the Commission to the Trustee of any receipts, revenues and other moneys 
received by the Trustee on or after the date of the Indenture from the Commission’s allocation of 
Act 3 revenues and any income earned on any fund or account established pursuant to the 
Indenture. 
 
No Motor License Registration Fee debt has been issued during the fiscal years presented in 
these statements. 
 
Debt service requirements subsequent to May 31, 2015 related to Motor License Registration Fee 
debt are as follows: 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest Total

2016  $            7,410  $                9,497  $              16,907 

2017                7,775                    9,107                  16,882 

2018                8,185                    8,689                  16,874 

2019                8,615                    8,247                  16,862 

2020                9,070                    7,783                  16,853 

2021-2025              53,005                  31,054                  84,059 

2026-2030              68,470                  15,193                  83,663 

2031-2035              87,575                    1,843                  89,418 

2036-2040             109,050                       716                109,766 

2041-2045              50,725                         49                  50,774 

 $         409,880  $              92,178  $             502,058 

(In Thousands)

 
Defeased Bonds 
 
In both the current and prior years, the Commission defeased certain revenue bonds by placing 
funds in irrevocable trusts to provide for all future debt service payments on the defeased bonds. 
Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds were not included in 
the Commission’s financial statements. At May 31, 2015 and 2014, the Commission had 
$322.9 million and $249.9 million, respectively, of defeased bonds outstanding. 
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7. Debt (continued) 
 
Swap Payments and Associated Debt 
 
Net swap payments and related debt service requirements related to all sections subsequent to 
May 31, 2015, assuming current interest rates remain the same for the term of the agreements, 
are as follows: 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest

Hedging 

Derivative Total

2016  $        115,155  $           7,450  $         30,442  $           153,047 

2017            140,060              6,898             30,444               177,402 

2018             40,000              6,431             30,443                 76,874 

2019             65,000              6,093             30,443               101,536 

2020            139,150              5,092             30,442               174,684 

2021-2025            350,000              5,263           151,789               507,052 

2026-2030                    -                1,658           132,501               134,159 

2031-2035             71,650              1,425             85,236               158,311 

2036-2040            109,050                 716             32,430               142,196 

2041-2045             50,725                   49               1,410                 52,184 

 $     1,080,790  $         41,075  $        555,580  $        1,677,445 

(In Thousands)

 
Mainline net swap payments and related debt service requirements for the 2012 Series B Senior, 
2013 Series B Senior, 2014 Series B-1 Senior, and 2014 Series B-2 Senior bond issues are as 
follows:   

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest

Hedging 

Derivative Total

2016  $              115,155  $         7,118  $               20,950  $          143,223 

2017                  140,060             6,567                   20,952              167,579 

2018                    40,000             6,099                   20,951                67,050 

2019                    65,000             5,761                   20,951                91,712 

2020                  139,150             4,760                   20,950              164,860 

2021-2025                  350,000             3,605                 104,330              457,935 

2026-2030                           -                    -                     85,042                85,042 

2031-2035                           -                    -                     44,474                44,474 

2036-2040                           -                    -                     11,947                11,947 

 $              849,365  $       33,910  $             350,547  $       1,233,822 

(In Thousands)
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7.  Debt (continued) 
 
Swap Payments and Associated Debt (continued) 
 
Motor License net swap payments and related debt service requirements for the 2005 Series B, 
C, and D bond issues are as follows:  
 

Year Ending May 31

Principal 

Maturities Interest

Hedging 

Derivative Total

2016  $                       -    $            332  $                 9,492  $              9,824 

2017                           -                  331                     9,492                  9,823 

2018                           -                  332                     9,492                  9,824 

2019                           -                  332                     9,492                  9,824 

2020                           -                  332                     9,492                  9,824 

2021-2025                           -               1,658                   47,459                49,117 

2026-2030                           -               1,658                   47,459                49,117 

2031-2035                    71,650             1,425                   40,762              113,837 

2036-2040                  109,050                716                   20,483              130,249 

2041-2045                    50,725                  49                     1,410                52,184 

 $              231,425  $         7,165  $             205,033  $          443,623 

(In Thousands)

 
As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary. 
 

8. Retirement Benefits 
 
General Information about the Pension Plan 
 
Plan Description 

 
Substantially all employees of the Commission participate in the Pennsylvania State Employees’ 
Retirement System (SERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
established by the Commonwealth to provide pension benefits for employees of state 
government and certain independent agencies.  Membership in SERS is mandatory for most 
Commission (and other state) employees.  Article II of the Commonwealth’s constitution assigns 
the authority to establish and amend the benefit provision of the plan to the General Assembly.  
SERS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.sers.pa.gov. 
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8. Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
General Information about the Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided 

 
SERS provides retirement, death, and disability benefits.  Member retirement benefits are 
determined by taking years of credited service, multiplied by final average salary, multiplied by 
2%, multiplied by class of service multiplier.  Commission employees participate in one of the 
following class of service categories:  Class A, Class AA, Class A-3 or Class A-4.  According to 
the State Employees’ Retirement Code (SERC), all obligations of SERS will be assumed by the 
Commonwealth should SERS terminate. 
 
Contributions 

 
Section 5507 of the SERC (71 Pa. C.S. §5507) requires the Commonwealth and other employers 
whose employees are SERS members to make contributions to the fund on behalf of all active 
members and annuitants necessary to fund the liabilities and provide the annuity reserves 
required to pay benefits.  SERS funding policy, as set by the board, provides for periodic active 
member contributions at statutory rates.  The SERS funding policy also provides for periodic 
employer contributions at actuarially determined rates based on SERS funding valuation, 
expressed as a percentage of annual retirement covered payroll, such that they, along with 
employee contributions and an actuarially determined rate of investment return, are adequate to 
accumulate assets to pay benefits when due.  However, Act 2010-120 imposes rate increase 
collars (limits on annual rate increases) on employer contributions.  The collar for 
Commonwealth fiscal year 13/14 was 4.5% and will remain at that rate until no longer needed.  
The Commission’s retirement contribution, as a percentage of covered payroll, by class is as 
follows: 
 
Year Ended June 30 Class A Class AA Class A-3 Class A-4 

2015 15.94% 19.92% 13.77% 13.77% 
2014 12.10% 15.12% 10.46% 10.46% 
2013 8.43% 10.51% 7.29% 7.29% 

 
Contributions to the pension plan from the Commission were $22.6 million for the fiscal year 
ended May 31, 2015. 
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8. Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At May 31, 2015, the Commission reported a liability of $296,271,000 for its proportionate share 
of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2014, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an 
actuarial valuation as of that date.  The Commission’s proportion of the net pension liability was 
based on a projection of the Commission’s long-term share of contributions to the pension plan 
relative to the projected contributions of all participating agencies, actuarially determined.  At 
December 31, 2014, the Commission’s proportion was 1.99%, which was a decrease of .02% 
from its proportion measured as of December 31, 2013.   
 
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2015, the Commission recognized pension expense of $34.1 
million.  At May 31, 2015, the Commission reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 
 

 

 

 Deferred Outflows 
of Resources  

Deferred Inflows 
of Resources 

  (in Thousands) 

Differences between expected and actual                                    
$     1,608 

 
 

$           -      experience 
Net difference between projected and actual   

 
8,560 

  
- 

     investment earnings on pension plan 
     investments 
Changes of assumptions  -  - 
Differences between employer contributions    

- 
 

 
651      and proportionate share of contributions 

Changes in proportion  -  2,033 
Commission contributions subsequent to    

10,909 
 

 
-      measurement date 

  $   21,077  $   2,684 
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8. Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
 
The $10.9 million reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
Commission contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the year ended May 31, 2016.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ended May 31: (in Thousands) 

2016 $   1,906 
2017 1,906 
2018 1,906 
2019 1,906 
2020 (140) 
Thereafter - 

 
Actuarial assumptions 

 
The following methods and assumptions were used in the December 31, 2014 and 2013 actuarial 
valuations.  These methods and assumptions were applied to all periods included in the 
measurement: 
 

Investment rate of return 7.50% net of expenses including inflation 
Projected salary increases average of 6.10% with range of 4.3% - 11.05% 

including inflation 
Inflation 2.75% 
Mortality rate projected RP-2000 Mortality Tables adjusted for 

actual plan experience and future improvement 
Cost of living adjustments 
(COLA) 

ad hoc and are not considered to be substantively 
automatic 

 
Some of the methods and assumptions mentioned above are based on the 17

th
 Investigation of 

Actuarial Experience, which was published in January 2011, and analyzed experience from 2006 
through 2010.  The Commonwealth’s actuary made recommendations with respect to the 
actuarial assumptions and methods based on their analysis.   
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8. Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
 
Actuarial assumptions (continued) 

 
The long-term expected real rate of return on pension plan investments is determined using a 
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return 
(expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each 
major asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return 
by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and 
by adding expected inflation.  The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of 
return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of 
December 31, 2014 are summarized in the following table: 
 

Asset Class  
Target 

Allocation  

Long-term 
Expected Rate 

of Return 
Alternative Investments  15.00%  8.50% 
Global Public Equity  40.00%  5.40% 
Real Assets  17.00%  4.95% 
Diversifying Assets  10.00%  5.00% 
Fixed Income  15.00%  1.50% 
Liquidity Reserve  3.00%  0.00% 

Total  100.00%   

 
Discount Rate 

 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%.  The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at 
the rates applicable for each member and that employer contributions will be made based on 
rates determined by the actuary.  Based on the assumptions, SERS fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and non-
active SERS members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on SERS investments 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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8. Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Commission’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to change in the 

discount rate 

 
The following schedule presents the Commission’s proportionate share of the 2014 and 2013 net 
pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%. It also shows what the 
Commission’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated 
using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or one percentage point higher than the 
current rate: 

  
1% Decrease 

6.50%  

Current 
discount rate 

7.50%  
1% Increase 

8.50% 
    (in Thousands)   
Commission’s share of the net    

 
$  379,220 

 
 
 

$  296,271 
 

 
 

$  224,949 
     pension liability as of the  
     12/31/14 measurement date 
Commission’s share of the net     

 
356,845 

 
 
 

  274,936 
 

 
 

  204,528 
     pension liability as of the  
     12/31/13 measurement date 
 
Beginning net position for fiscal year 2015 was restated as discussed in Note 2.  
 

Pension plan fiduciary net position 

 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued SERS financial report. 
 
Payables to the Pension Plan 
 
As of May 31, 2015, the Commission reported a $5.1 million liability within the Accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities on the Statement of Net Position for the Commission’s share of 
contributions that had not yet been paid to SERS.  As of May 31, 2014, the Commission reported 
a $4.0 million liability within the Accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the Statement of 
Net Position for the Commission’s share of contributions for employee service that had not yet 
been paid to SERS. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Litigation 
 
The Commission is a defendant in a number of legal proceedings pertaining to matters normally 
incidental to routine operations. Such litigation includes, but is not limited to, claims asserted 
against the Commission arising from alleged torts, alleged breaches of contracts, and 
condemnation proceedings. Tort claims against the Commission are generally barred by 
sovereign immunity, except as waived by statute.  Further, to the extent waived, damages for any 
loss are limited by sovereign immunity to $250,000 for each person and $1,000,000 for each 
accident. Based on the current status of all of the Commission’s legal proceedings, it is the 
opinion of Commission management and counsel that they will not have a material effect on the 
Commission’s financial position. 
 
Open Purchase Order Commitments 
 
The Commission had open purchase order commitments of approximately $1,178.2 million and 
$999.3 million at May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
Act 44 and Act 89 
 
On July 18, 2007, Act 44 was enacted, creating a “public-public partnership” between the 
Commission and PennDOT to provide funding for roads, bridges and transit throughout the 
Commonwealth. Subsequently, in order to effectuate the provisions of Act 44 requiring the 
Commission to make substantial annual payments to PennDOT, the Commission and PennDOT 
entered into a Lease and Funding Agreement (the Funding Agreement), incorporating many of 
the terms of Act 44. The term of the Funding Agreement is fifty (50) years from October 14, 
2007, its effective date. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Act 44 and Act 89 (continued) 
 
The Funding Agreement requires the Commission to make scheduled annual payments to 
PennDOT, payable in equal quarterly installments, to be used to provide funding for roads, 
bridges and transit in the Commonwealth. The Commission’s obligation to pay the annual debt 
service on any Special Revenue Bonds on a timely basis is part of its payment obligation under 
the Funding Agreement.  The Funding Agreement also granted the Commission the option to 
lease the portion of Interstate 80 (I-80) located in the Commonwealth from PennDOT upon the 
approval of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) of the conversion of such portion into 
a toll road (the Conversion). The Funding Agreement granted the unilateral option to the 
Commission to effectuate the Conversion at any time before the third anniversary of the Funding 
Agreement (the Conversion Period), with the option to extend the Conversion Period for up to 
three one-year periods.  
 
On October 13, 2007, the Commission and PennDOT submitted a joint application to the FHWA 
for approval of the Conversion. The FHWA ultimately denied the application on April 6, 2010. 
Neither the Commission nor PennDOT appealed the FHWA’s decision, nor did the Commission 
extend the Conversion Period during the notice period under the Funding Agreement or give 
notice of Conversion. Therefore, the Conversion Period lapsed on October 14, 2010 without the 
Commission effectuating Conversion or having the ability to do so in the future. The Funding 
Agreement provides that the Commission’s aggregate annual payments to PennDOT are limited 
to $450 million annually upon lapse of the Conversion option and such payment amount 
commenced with fiscal year 2011. Under existing law, all legal, financial and operational 
responsibility for I-80 remains with PennDOT. 
 
On November 25, 2013, Act 89 was enacted providing substantial revisions to the Commission’s 
transportation funding obligations under Act 44 and authorized the Commission and PennDOT 
to immediately amend the Funding Agreement to reflect the statutory provisions of Act 89.  On 
April 4, 2014, the Commission and PennDOT executed Amendment Number One to the Lease 
and Funding Agreement (the Act 89 Amendment and together with the Act 44 Funding 
Agreement, the Amended Funding Agreement).  In accordance with Act 89 and the Amended 
Funding Agreement, the Commission’s aggregate annual payment to PennDOT for fiscal year 
2014 through fiscal year 2022 remains at $450 million and at least $30 million of the payment 
must be made from current revenues.  Commencing in fiscal year 2023 through the term of the 
Amended Funding Agreement, the Commission’s aggregate annual payment to PennDOT is $50 
million, which must be paid from current revenues. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Act 44 and Act 89 (continued) 
 
The Commission made payments of $450 million (recorded as nonoperating expense) in both 
fiscal years reported in these statements. 
 
The Commission is required by the terms of the Amended Funding Agreement and Act 44 to fix 
and adjust tolls at levels that will generate revenues (together with other available moneys) 
sufficient to pay, among other things, amounts to PennDOT pursuant to the Amended Funding 
Agreement when due and other obligations of the Commission, and the Commission has 
covenanted in the Subordinate Indenture to set tolls at a level sufficient to meet its coverage 
obligations taking into account any additional debt incurred in order to make such payments.  
The Commission believes that Turnpike System revenues should enable it to satisfy its reduced 
payment obligations as set forth in the Amended Funding Agreement. 
 
Due to the significance of the quarterly payments under Act 44 and Act 89, the Commission 
currently does not have excess cash from operations to finance its required payments to 
PennDOT.  Therefore, the Commission plans to continue to increase toll rates annually and to 
issue debt for the foreseeable future to finance the majority of these payments. There can be no 
assurance that the Commission will be able to continue to issue debt on terms that are acceptable, 
or at all, to finance these obligations. The sole and exclusive remedy for the failure to make the 
required payments to PennDOT under the Amended Funding Agreement is that all actions of the 
Commission taken by a vote of the Commissioners thereafter must be approved by a unanimous 
vote of all Commissioners until such time as the payment is made. However, a unanimous vote is 
not required if it would prevent the Commission from complying with covenants with “current 
bondholders, debt holders or creditors having such status as of the Effective Date,” which under 
the Amended Funding Agreement is defined as October 14, 2007.  These voting procedures have 
not become effective as the Commission has not missed any payments under the Amended 
Funding Agreement. 
 
Act 44 and Act 89 provide that all required payments under the Amended Funding Agreement or 
as required by Act 44 or Act 89 shall be subordinate obligations of the Commission payable 
solely from the General Reserve Fund after meeting all other Commission requirements pursuant 
to any financial documents, financial covenants, liquidity policies or agreements in effect at the 
Commission.  
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps 
 
The fair value and notional amount of derivative instruments outstanding at May 31, 2015 and 
May 31, 2014, classified by type and the changes in fair value of such derivative instruments for 
the years then ended as reported in the fiscal year 2015 and fiscal year 2014 financial statements 
are as follows: 

Changes in fair value Fair Value at May 31, 2015

May 31, 2014 Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional

Cash flow hedges:

Pay-fixed interest rate swap  $             (49,684) Deferred inflows  $          (59,639)

Noncurrent 

liabilities  $          (109,323)  $        685,455 

Investment derivative 

instruments:

Basis and fair value swaps                   57,652 Investment losses  (34,335)* 

Long-term 

investments                  23,317         1,068,031 

Total PTC  $                 7,968  $          (59,639)  $            (86,006)

(In Thousands)

 
 

Changes in fair value Fair Value at May 31, 2014

May 31, 2013 Classification Amount Classification Amount Notional

Cash flow hedges:

Pay-fixed interest rate swap  $             (117,369) Deferred outflows  $             67,685 

Noncurrent 

liabilities  $              (49,684)  $           685,455 

Fair value hedges:

Receive-fixed rate swap                     26,317 Deferred inflows                (26,317)

Noncurrent 

liabilities                            -                          -   

Investment derivative 

instruments:

Basis and fair value swaps                     36,525 Investment earnings                 21,127 

Long-term 

investments                    57,652            1,423,437 

Total PTC  $               (54,527)  $             62,495  $                  7,968 

(In Thousands)

 
* This investment loss was offset by a $35.9 million gain resulting from partial terminations as described 

in the Recent Activity section of this note.  
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued) 
 

Fair Values 

 
Fair values of the Commission’s derivative instruments were estimated using the zero-coupon 
discounting method.  This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the 
swap, assuming that the current forward rates implied by the yield curve are the market’s best 
estimate of future spot interest rates.  These payments are then discounted using the spot rates 
implied by the current yield curve for a hypothetical zero-coupon rate bonds due on the date of 
each future net settlement payment on the swaps.    
 
Recent Activity 

 
In June 2013, three of the Commission’s swaps with UBS AG (a Mainline hedging derivative 
with a notional amount of $38,520,000, a Mainline investment derivative with a notional amount 
of $134,733,000, and an Oil Franchise investment derivative with a notional amount of 
48,000,000) were novated to Bank of New York Mellon, with the Commission as the remaining 
party in the trades.  Since the novations were not done in response to a default or termination 
event by UBS, the hedging relationship on the Mainline swap was terminated.  A new hedging 
relationship was established using the on-market portion of the swap at the time of the novation.  
The accumulated changes in its fair value that were reported as deferred outflows of $1,329,000 
at May 31, 2013 netted with an increase in fair value of the swap in fiscal year 2014 until the 
time of novation of $952,000, are reported in the amount of $377,000 as a decrease in earnings 
within the investment earnings classification.  The change in fair value of the swap, subsequent 
to the novation, in the amount of $1,056,000 is reported as deferred outflows at May 31, 2014. 
 
In July 2013, the Commission issued 2013 Series B Senior Bonds primarily to partially refund 
the 2009 Series C Senior Bonds and the 2011 Series D Senior Bonds.  Concurrently, 
$38,520,000 of the 2009 Series C Senior Bonds related swaps and $12,832,000 of the 2011 
Series D Senior Bonds related swaps were deemed terminated and are now associated with the 
2013 Series B Senior Bonds.  The fair value of these swaps at the time of the deemed termination 
was a negative $1,847,000.  This amount is being amortized over the 16 month period ending 
December 1, 2014, which is the final maturity for both the 2009 Series C Senior Bonds and the 
2011 Series D Senior Bonds. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued) 
 

Recent Activity (continued) 

 
In December 2013, two of the Commission’s swaps with Citibank (a former Mainline hedging 
derivative with a notional amount of $118,015,000 and a Motor Vehicle Registration Fee 
hedging derivative with a notional amount of $57,860,000) were novated to Bank of New York 
Mellon, with the Commission as the remaining party in the trades.  Since the novations were not 
done in response to a default or termination event by Citibank, the hedging relationships are 
terminated.    
 
The Mainline derivative no longer meets the criteria for effectiveness and, thus, was reclassified 
as an investment derivative instrument.  Accordingly, the accumulated changes in its fair value, 
that were reported as deferred inflows of $26,317,000 at May 31, 2013, netted with the decrease 
in fair value of the swap in fiscal year 2014 of $2,960,000, are reported in the amount of 
$23,357,000 within the investment earnings classification for the year ended May 31, 2014.  
 
For the Motor Vehicle Registration Fee hedging derivative, a new hedging relationship was 
established using the on-market portion of the swap at the time of the novation.  The 
accumulated changes in fair value, that were reported as a deferred outflow of $14,238,000 at 
May 31, 2013 netted with an increase in fair value of the swap in fiscal year 2014 until the time 
of novation of $6,363,000, are reported in the amount of $7,875,000 as a decrease in earnings 
within the investment earnings classification.  The change in fair value of the swap, subsequent 
to the novation, in the amount of $4,928,000 is reported as deferred outflows at May 31, 2014. 
 
In May 2014, the Commission issued 2014 Series B-1 Senior Bonds primarily to partially refund 
the 2008 Series B-1 Senior Bonds and the 2011 Series C Senior Bonds.  Concurrently, 
$100,000,000 of the 2008 Series B-1 Senior Bonds related swaps and $200,000,000 of the 2011 
Series C Senior Bonds related swaps were deemed terminated and are now associated with the 
2014 Series B-1 Senior Bonds.  The fair value of these swaps at the time of the deemed 
termination was a negative $46,725,000.  
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued)   
 
Recent Activity (continued) 

 

During fiscal year 2015, the Commission received $35.9 million from executing partial 
terminations for portions of its CMS Basis swaps and SIFMA fixed receiver swap; in exchange 
these payments, the periodic cash flows on the swaps were partially terminated until the dates 
noted in the table below: 
 

Date of 

Reversal

Initial Notional 

Amount Underlying Bonds Counterparty

Transaction 

Type

Partial 

Termination 

To 

Amount 

Received

06/17/14  $    107,784,000 
Mainline 2012 B, 2013 B 

and 2014 B-2
JP Morgan

CMS Basis 

Swap
07/02/18  $        4,068,000 

07/02/14  $    107,784,000 
Mainline 2012 B, 2013 B 

and 2014 B-2
PNC

CMS Basis 

Swap
07/02/18  $        4,179,000 

07/22/14  $      80,000,000 
Oil Franchise Tax 2003 

C
RBC

CMS Basis 

Swap
05/15/18  $        3,270,000 

10/28/14  $    134,733,000 
Mainline 2012 B, 2013 B 

and 2014 B-2

Bank of New 

York

CMS Basis 

Swap
01/02/19  $        4,140,000 

10/29/14  $    107,784,000 
Mainline 2012 B, 2013 B 

and 2014 B-2
Merrill Lynch

CMS Basis 

Swap
01/02/19  $        3,150,000 

03/03/15  $    118,015,000 Mainline 2006A
Bank of New 

York

SIFMA Fixed 

Receiver
03/02/20  $      17,080,000 

35,887,000$      

 
In June 2014, the Commission issued 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds primarily to refund the 2009 
Series C Variable Rate Revenue Bonds and 2011 Series D Variable Rate Revenue Bonds.  
Concurrently, the remaining $51,352,000 of the Commission’s Mainline LIBOR Fixed Payer 
swaps associated with the 2009 Series C and 2011 Series D Bonds were deemed terminated and 
are now associated with the 2014 Series B-2 Senior Bonds.  The fair value of these swaps at the 
time of the deemed termination was a negative $2,957,000.  This amount was recognized in 
fiscal year 2015. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued)   
 
Recent Activity (continued) 

 
On August 26, 2014, the Commission executed a CMS reversal swap with Wells Fargo as an 
overlay to the JP Morgan CMS basis swap on the Oil Franchise Tax 2003 Series C Bonds.  The 
Commission received an upfront payment of $3.3 million.  The notional amount on these swaps 
is $80 million.  Since Wells Fargo is a new counterparty, the trade is documented as a standalone 
swap; the terms exactly match the JP Morgan CMS swap, with the only difference being the 
reversal of the Commission’s pay and receive legs.  The accruals received on the JP Morgan 
swap will exactly match the accruals due to Wells Fargo (and vice versa) until the reversal 
matures on November 15, 2018. 
 
On January 2, 2015, the Mainline CMS reversal swaps with Deutche Bank matured on schedule.  
The notional amount on those investment derivatives were $242,517,000 at maturity. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued)   
 
Following is a summary of the hedging derivatives in place as of May 31, 2015. These hedging 
derivatives contain certain risks and collateral requirements as described below (in thousands): 
 

Full Value

Notional Effective Maturity Moody's/ Book (to) from

Type Objective Amount Date Date Terms Counterparty S&P/Fitch Fair Value Counterparty

Pay fixed 100,000$           5/20/2014 12/1/2038 Goldman Sachs MMDP Aa2/AAA/NR (10,640)$         (42,345)$            

Interest 100,000             5/20/2014 12/1/2038 Merrill Lynch CS* Baa1/A-/A (10,648)              (42,335)              

Rate 100,000             5/20/2014 12/1/2038 Morgan Stanley CS A3/A-/A (10,636)              (42,338)              

Swap 300,000$           (31,924)$            (127,018)$          

Pay fixed 12,842$             6/2/2014 12/1/2030 Bank of America* A1/A/A+ (643)$              (4,265)$              

Interest 25,668               6/2/2014 12/1/2030 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- (1,286)                (8,524)                

Rate 12,842               6/2/2014 12/1/2030 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA (645)                   (4,264)                

Swap 51,352$             (2,574)$              (17,053)$            

Pay fixed 12,842$             7/23/2013 12/1/2030 Bank of America* A1/A/A+ (875)$              (4,265)$              

Interest 25,667               7/23/2013 12/1/2030 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- (1,750)                (8,524)                

Rate 12,842               7/23/2013 12/1/2030 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA (875)                   (4,264)                

Swap 51,351$             (3,500)$              (17,053)$            

Pay fixed 12,836$             11/30/2012 12/1/2030 Bank of America* A1/A/A+ 89$                 (4,262)$              

Interest 25,655               11/30/2012 12/1/2030 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- 178                    (8,519)                

Rate 12,836               6/27/2013 12/1/2030 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA (1,094)                (4,262)                

Swap 51,327$             (827)$                 (17,043)$            

Pay fixed 57,860$             12/20/2013 7/15/2041 Bank of New York Mellon Aa2/AA-/AA (11,410)$            (19,696)$            

Interest 57,845               8/17/2005 7/15/2041 JPMorgan Chase Bank Aa3/A+/AA- (19,696)              (19,696)              

Rate 57,860               8/17/2005 7/15/2041 Merrill Lynch CS* Baa1/A-/A (19,696)              (19,696)              

Swap 57,860               8/17/2005 7/15/2041 Morgan Stanley CS A3/A-/A (19,696)              (19,696)              

231,425$           (70,498)$            (78,784)$            

Total pay fixed interest rate swaps 685,455$           (109,323)$          (256,951)$          

1-month LIBOR was 0.184% at May 31, 2015.

SIFMA was 0.10% at May 31, 2015.

The full value (to) from Counterparty listed is the mid-market value at May 31, 2015. The difference between full value and book fair value is related to the value of the swaps at the time the related bonds

were refunded and/or the swap was novated.

* On November 15, 2012, the Commission executed an amendment to the swap agreements to include Merrill Lynch Derivative Products as guarantor. Merrill Lynch Derivative Products credit ratings

were Aa3/A+/NR (Moody's/S&P/Fitch).

Hedge of changes of cash flows 

of 2014 Series B-1 Bonds 

(formerly 2008 Series B-1 & 2011 

Series C Bonds)

Hedge of changes of cash flows 

of 2013 Series B Bonds (formerly 

2009 Series C & 2011 Series D 

Bonds)

Pay 4.887%, receive 

SIFMA

Pay 4.403%, receive 

67.00% of 1-month 

LIBOR

Hedge of changes of cash flows 

of 2012 Series B Bonds (formerly 

2009 Series C and 2011 Series D 

Bonds)

Pay 4.403%, receive 

67.00% of 1-month 

LIBOR

Hedge of changes of cash flows 

of 2014 Series B-2 Bonds 

(formerly 2009 Series C & 2011 

Series D Bonds)

Pay 4.403%, receive 

67.00% of 1-month 

LIBOR

Hedge of changes of cash flow 

on the 2005 Series B, C, D Bonds

Pay 4.2015%, 

receive SIFMA
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued) 
 

• Credit Risk – The Commission is at risk that a counterparty will not fulfill their 
obligations under the agreement.  Specifically, the Commission is exposed to credit risk 
for hedging derivatives that have positive full values from the counterparty and 
investment derivatives (see Note 4) that have positive fair values.  At May 31, 2015, the 
Commission is exposed to credit risk with respect to the (A), (C), (E), (F) and (G) 
investment derivatives listed in Note 4.  However, should interest rates change and the 
fair values of the other swaps become positive, the Commission would have additional 
credit risk exposure. 
 
To mitigate the exposure to credit risk, the swap agreements include collateral provisions 
in the event of downgrades to the swap counterparties’ credit ratings along with the fair 
values of the swaps exceeding certain thresholds specified in the swap agreement.  The 
Commission’s derivative agreements contain netting provisions, under which transactions 
executed with a single counterparty within a credit are netted to determine collateral 
amounts.  Collateral would be posted with a third-party custodian and would be in the 
form of cash, U.S. Treasury Obligations, or U.S. Government Agency Securities.  At 
May 31, 2015, the Commission had net credit risk exposure to three counterparties 
pursuant to the provisions of the respective derivative agreements.   
 

• Interest Rate Risk – The Commission is exposed to variable interest rates with respect to 
the fixed-to-variable swap agreement associated with the 2006 Series A Senior Bonds 
[Investment derivative (G) listed in Note 4]. Additionally, the Commission will be 
exposed to variable interest rates if the swap provider for a variable-to-fixed swap 
agreement defaults or if a variable-to-fixed swap is terminated. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued) 
 

• Basis Risk – The Commission is exposed to basis risk on its basis swaps because the 
variable-rate payments received by the Commission on these derivative instruments are 
based on rates other than the interest rates the Commission pays on these derivative 
instruments.  See the investment derivative schedule in Note 4 for the terms of the 
interest rate swap agreements.  The Commission’s exposure to basis risk for the swaps 
listed in Note 4 is as follows: 

 
(A) – To the extent 67% of 1-month LIBOR exceeds 60.08% of the 10-year maturity of 

the USD-ISDA Swap Rate 
 

(B) – To the extent SIFMA exceeds 63% of 1-month LIBOR + 20 basis points 
 

(C) – To the extent 67% of 1-month LIBOR exceeds 60.15% of the 10-year maturity of 
the USD-ISDA Swap Rate 
 

(D) – To the extent 60.15% of the 10-year maturity of the USD-ISDA Swap Rate 
exceeds 67% of 1-month LIBOR 

 
(E) – To the extent SIFMA exceeds 99.68% of 3-month LIBOR 

 
(F) – To the extent SIFMA exceeds 99.80% of 3-month LIBOR 

 
• Termination Risk – The swap agreements may be terminated due to a number of 

circumstances and the Commission retains the option to terminate the swaps at any time. 
If a swap agreement is terminated (by either party), the respective variable-rate bond 
would no longer carry a synthetic fixed interest rate. Also, if at the time of termination, 
the swap had a negative fair value, the Commission would be liable to the swap 
counterparty for a liability equal to the swap’s full value. It is generally the 
Commission’s intent at the time of swap execution to maintain the swap transactions for 
the life of the financing. 
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9. Commitments and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Interest Rate Swaps (continued) 
 

• Collateral Requirements – The Commission’s derivative instruments related to its 
Mainline Turnpike Revenue Bonds require the Commission to post collateral in the form 
of eligible securities or cash if its senior credit rating falls below specified thresholds.  
These thresholds vary from agreement to agreement, with most in the “A3” (Moody’s 
Investors Service) and “A-” (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Rating Service) levels.  The 
Commission’s Mainline senior bond rating was “A1” from Moody’s and “A+” from both 
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch at May 31, 2015.  Based on May 31, 2015 full values, the 
Commission could be required to post $159.4 million in collateral for its derivative 
instruments if its ratings fall below the agreement thresholds. 

 
The Commission’s derivative instruments related to its Oil Company Franchise Tax 
Revenue Bonds require the Commission to post collateral in the form of eligible 
securities or cash if its credit rating falls below specified thresholds.  These thresholds 
vary from agreement to agreement, with most in the “A3” (Moody’s Investors Service) 
and A- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Rating Service) levels.  The Commission’s Oil 
Company Franchise Tax senior bond rating is currently “Aa3” from Moody’s and “AA” 
from Standard & Poor’s.  Based on May 31, 2015 full values, the Commission could be 
required to post $4.8 million in collateral for its derivative instruments if its ratings fall 
below the agreement thresholds.    
 
The Commission’s derivative instruments related to its Motor Vehicle Registration Fee 
Revenue Bonds require the Commission to post collateral in the form of eligible 
securities or cash if its credit rating falls below specified thresholds and/or in the event of 
certain uncured insurer events of default.  These thresholds vary from agreement to 
agreement.  The Commission’s Motor Vehicle Registration Fee Revenue bond rating was 
“Aa3” from Moody’s, “AA” from Standard & Poor’s and “AA-” from Fitch at May 31, 
2015.  Based on May 31, 2015 full values, the Commission could be required to post 
$78.8 million in collateral for its derivative instruments if its ratings fall below the 
agreement thresholds. 
 

10. Related Party Transactions 
 
The Commission incurred costs of $43.2 million and $41.4 million for the fiscal years ended 
May 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively, related to its use of the Commonwealth’s State Police in 
patrolling the Turnpike System. 
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11. Postemployment Benefits 
 
Plan Description 
 
The Commission maintains a welfare plan program (the Plan), for the purpose of providing 
benefits to eligible retirees and their dependents. The Plan is a single employer, defined benefit 
plan. The Commission established the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission Retiree Medical 
Trust (the Trust) on May 30, 2008 as an irrevocable trust, tax-exempt under the Internal Revenue 
Code, to provide funding of the Plan’s other post-employment benefits (OPEB).  
 
The Trust is administered by the Trustees.  PNC Bank serves as custodian of the assets of the 
Trust.  Payments from the Trust are made by the custodian at the direction of the Trustees.  The 
Trust’s financial statements are not included in the financial statements of a public employee 
retirement system.  The Trust issues a stand-alone financial report, which can be obtained by 
contacting the Commission’s Accounting & Financial Reporting Department. 
 
Plan benefit provisions and retiree and dependent contribution rates are established and may be 
amended by the Commission. 
 
Management and Supervisory Union Employees/Retirees  

 
The benefits funded by the Trust include certain post-employment medical, prescription drug, 
dental and vision benefits to management and supervisory union employees who have reached 
20 years of service and are under age 60; and benefit eligibility changes from 20 to 10 years for 
retirees 60 years of age or older. The same coverage is provided to surviving spouses or domestic 
partners and dependents of management and supervisory union retirees who retired on or after 
March 1, 2001. Surviving spouses or domestic partners of retirees who retired prior to March 1, 
2001 are required to contribute the full cost of the coverage and dependents are offered coverage 
under COBRA. Medicare Part B premiums are paid by the retiree, spouse or dependent if age 65 
or over, or under age 65 and disabled. 
 
Non-Supervisory Union Employees/Retirees 

 
The benefits also include certain post-employment medical and prescription drug benefits to non-
supervisory union employees who have satisfied the eligibility requirements. 
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11. Postemployment Benefits (continued)  
 
Plan Description (continued) 
 
Non-Supervisory Union Employees/Retirees (continued) 

 
For Local 30 Professional and other non-supervisory union employees/retirees who were hired 
prior to January 1, 2011, the earlier of completion of 20 years of service or the later of attainment 
of age 60 and completion of ten years of service satisfies the eligibility requirements.  The last 
five years of service must be with the Commission. 
 
For Local 30 Professionals who were hired on or after January 1, 2011, the earlier of completion 
of 30 years of service or the later of attainment of age 60 and completion of 25 years of service 
satisfies the eligibility requirements.  The last ten years of service must be with the Commission. 
 
The same coverage is provided to spouses or domestic partners and dependents of eligible non-
supervisory union retirees until the death of the retiree. Surviving spouses or domestic partners 
are required to contribute the full cost of coverage and dependents are offered coverage under 
COBRA.  
 
Funding Policy 
 
The Commission has adopted a Retiree Medical Trust Funding Policy, effective September 17, 
2008, whereby the Commission anticipates approving an annual contribution to the Trust in the 
amount of the Annual Required Contribution (ARC) as determined by the Commission’s actuary 
during the approval of its annual operating budget. 
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11. Postemployment Benefits (continued)  
 

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Asset 
 
The following chart summarizes the components of the Commission’s annual OPEB cost, actual 
contributions, percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed, increase in the net OPEB asset and 
the net OPEB asset at the end of the fiscal year.  
 

 Year ended May 31 

 2015 2014 2013 

 (Dollar Amounts in Thousands) 

    

Normal cost $      9,536  $        9,470  $        9,019 

Trust expense assumption 150                 150                 150 

Amortization 2,235            7,825            13,095 

Interest 762              908              1,159 

Annual required contribution (ARC) 12,683            18,353            23,423 

Interest on net OPEB asset (5,540)             (4,069)             (2,021) 

Adjustment to ARC 13,255              8,922              4,110 

Annual OPEB cost 20,398            23,206            25,512 

Employer contributions 46,180            44,228            54,768 

Increase in net OPEB asset 25,782            21,022            29,256 

Net OPEB asset – beginning of year 79,149            58,127            28,871 

Net OPEB asset – end of year $    104,931  $      79,149  $      58,127 

 

Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed 226.4%           190.6%           214.7% 

 
The ARC and its components (normal cost, trust expense assumption, Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability (“UAAL”) amortization, and mid-year contribution interest) in the table above 
were obtained from the actuarial valuations, prepared by an independent actuary.  The fiscal year 
2015 ARC and Annual OPEB cost amounts were obtained from a January 1, 2014 valuation.  
The fiscal year 2014 ARC and Annual OPEB cost amounts were obtained from a March 1, 2013 
interim valuation.  The fiscal year 2013 ARC and Annual OPEB cost amounts were obtained 
from a March 1, 2012 valuation.   
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11. Postemployment Benefits (continued)  
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Asset (continued) 
 
Retiree and spouse contribution rates at May 31, 2015 are as follows: 
 

• Management employees and union employees who retired prior to July 1, 1998 and 
October 1, 1997, respectively—the retiree/spouse contributes the full cost of coverage 
less the Commission’s monthly subsidy of $19.28 once the retiree turns 65. 
 

• Union employees who retired on October 1, 1997 or later—the retiree/spouse contributes 
the full cost of coverage less the Commission’s monthly subsidy of $73.50 when the 
retiree or spouse reach age 65. 

 
• Surviving spouses and domestic partners are paying 100% of the premiums, except for 

surviving spouses of Management employees who retired after March 1, 2001. 
 

Funding Status and Funding Progress 
  
The actuarial value of assets, AAL, and UAAL amounts for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 
and 2012 in the chart below were obtained from actuarial valuations, prepared by independent 
actuaries, as of January 1, 2014 and March 1, 2012, respectively.  
 

Fiscal 

Year 

Ended 

May 31

Actuarial 

Value of 

Assets

Actuarial 

Accrued 

Liability (AAL)

Unfunded 

Actuarial 

Accrued 

Liability 

(UAAL) Funded Ratio

Covered 

Payroll

UAAL as a 

Percentage of 

Covered 

Payroll

2014 271,265$           283,133$           11,868$             95.8% 126,699$           9.4%

2012 152,341             250,750             98,409               60.8% 124,241             79.2%

(Dollar Amounts in Thousands)

 
The schedule of funding progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information (RSI) 
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information depicting 
the change in the actuarial value of Plan assets over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability 
for benefits. 
 



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  

 85 

11. Postemployment Benefits (continued) 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
 
The valuation measurements in the charts on the previous pages are, in part, the result of 
estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events in the 
long term.  Such actuarially determined estimates are subject to continual revision as actual 
results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. Also, the 
valuation measurements are based, in part, on the types of benefits provided under the terms of 
the substantive plan at the time of the valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between 
the Commission and the Plan members through the respective valuation dates. The actuarial 
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of 
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent 
with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  
 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in the January 1, 2014 valuation is as 
follows: 
 
Actuarial cost method Projected Unit Credit 
Discount rate 7% 
Rate of return on assets 7% 
Inflation rate 2.5% 
Amortization method Level dollar 
Amortization period:  

• UAAL as of March 1, 2012 10 years (closed) 

• Subsequent changes 10 years (open) 

Asset valuation method Fair value 
Benefit Assumption – increases/decreases No changes 
  
Health Cost Trend: The healthcare trend assumption for medical and pharmacy benefits and 
premiums is based on the Society of Actuaries-Getzen Model version 12.2 utilizing the baseline 
assumptions included in the model, except real GDP growth is assumed to be 1.8% per year, for 
fiscal years 2016 and later. Further adjustments are made for aging, percentage of costs 
associated with administrative expenses, inflation on administrative costs, and potential excise 
tax due to Healthcare Reform.  
 
  



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

  

 86 

11. Postemployment Benefits (continued) 
  
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions (continued) 
 
The health cost trend assumption for medical and pharmacy benefits at sample years is as 
follows: 
 

Valuation Year Pre-65 Trend Post-65 Trend 
2014 6.0% 6.3% 
2015 5.6% 5.8% 
2016 5.3% 5.6% 
2017 5.6% 5.6% 
2018 5.6% 5.6% 
2023 5.6% 5.5% 
2028 6.8% 5.4% 
2033 6.7% 5.4% 
2038 6.2% 5.2% 
2043 5.8% 5.0% 
2048 5.6% 5.6% 
2053 5.5% 5.5% 

 
The health cost trend assumptions for dental and vision benefits and premiums are assumed to be 
4.0% per year. 
 
Salary increases were not considered as OPEB benefits are not based upon pay. 
 
12. Self-Insurance 
 
The Commission is exposed to various risks of losses such as theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets, errors and omissions, third-party torts, injuries to employees, injuries to third parties 
due to accidents caused by Commission automobiles, and natural disasters. The Commission has 
purchased commercial insurance for all risks of losses, including employee medical benefits, 
except for torts, injuries to employees and injuries to third parties due to accidents caused by 
Commission automobiles. No settlements exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three 
years. 
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12. Self-Insurance (continued) 
 
The Commission recorded a liability of $38.8 million and $38.0 million for loss and loss 
adjustment expenses on claims relating to self-insurance that have been incurred but not reported 
as of May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. This liability is based on GASB Statement No. 10, 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Risk Financing and Related Insurance Issues, which 
requires that a liability for claims be recorded if information prior to the issuance of the financial 
statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the 
financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The liability is 
calculated based on the Commission’s past loss experience. The liability for automobile and 
general tort was not discounted.  The liability for workers’ compensation was discounted using a 
rate of 2.50% and 3.25% for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The 
change in the discount rate increased the liability for workers compensation by $253,866 for the 
fiscal year ended May 31, 2015. The liability includes amounts for claims adjustment expense 
and is net of any salvage and subrogation. Salvage and subrogation were not material for the 
years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014. The Commission believes the liability established is 
reasonable and appropriate to provide for settlement of losses and related loss adjustment 
expenses. 
 
Management believes that its reserve for claims incurred but not reported is determined in 
accordance with generally accepted actuarial principles and practices. However, estimating the 
ultimate liability is a complex and judgmental process inasmuch as the amounts are based on 
management’s informed estimates and judgments using data currently available. As additional 
experience and data become available regarding claim payments and reporting patterns, 
legislative developments and economic conditions, the estimates are revised accordingly and the 
impact is reflected currently in the Commission’s financial statements. 
 
The self-insurance liabilities are $38.8 million and $38.0 million for fiscal years ended May 31, 
2015 and 2014, respectively.  The self-insurance liabilities recorded as accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities are $4.0 million and $2.9 million for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 
2014, respectively. The self-insurance liabilities recorded as other noncurrent liabilities are $34.8 
million and $35.1 million for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
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12. Self-Insurance (continued) 
 
The following summaries provide aggregated information on self-insurance liabilities: 
 

Year ended May 31, 2015

Workers’ compensation  $       7,146  $       1,743  $     1,773  $     4,893  $      (624)  $   (4,211)  $      (1,831)  $       8,889 

Automobile/general tort         30,866                -             124          (206)            (36)          (856)                -           29,892 

 $     38,012  $       1,743  $     1,897  $     4,687  $      (660)  $   (5,067)  $      (1,831)  $     38,781 

(In Thousands)

Incurred Claims Paid Claims

May 31, 

2015 

Liability

Effects of 

Discount       

as of           

May 31,           

2015
Prior 

Years

Current 

Year

Current 

Year

Prior 

Years

June 1, 

2014 

Liability

Effects of 

Discount        

as of           

June 1,         

2014

 

Year ended May 31, 2014

Workers’ compensation  $       6,662  $       1,675  $     1,545  $     2,412  $      (753)  $   (2,652)  $     (1,743)  $       7,146 

Automobile/general tort         30,919                 -              772          (301)            (44)          (480)                 -           30,866 

 $     37,581  $       1,675  $     2,317  $     2,111  $      (797)  $   (3,132)  $     (1,743)  $     38,012 

(In Thousands)

Incurred Claims Paid Claims

May 31, 

2014 

Liability

Effects of 

Discount       

as of           

May 31,           

2014
Prior 

Years

Current 

Year

Current 

Year

Prior 

Years

June 1, 

2013 

Liability

Effects of 

Discount        

as of           

June 1,         

2013

 
The foregoing reflects an adjustment for a deficiency of $4.7 million and $2.1 million for the 
fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, for prior years’ incurred claims that 
resulted from a change in estimate as more information became available. 
 
13. Compensated Absences 
 
Sick leave is earned at a rate of 3.08 hours every two weeks, or ten days per year. Unused sick 
leave may be carried over from year to year up to a maximum of 18 days. In November of each 
year, employees are reimbursed for all accumulated unused sick leave above the maximum. Sick 
leave payouts were $1.8 and $1.9 million in November 2015 and 2014 respectively. 
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13. Compensated Absences (continued) 
 
Vacation leave is earned at varying rates, depending on years of service. Management and 
supervisory union employees earn between 4.62 and 8.93 hours every two weeks. Non-
supervisory union employees earn between 3.08 and 8.93 hours every two weeks. 
 
Upon termination of employment, all unused sick and vacation leave is paid to the employee. 
The compensated absences liabilities are $16.1 million and $16.6 million for fiscal years ended 
May 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The compensated absences liabilities recorded as accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities are $8.9 million and $9.1 million for the fiscal years ended May 
31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The compensated absences liabilities recorded as other 
noncurrent liabilities are $7.2 million and $7.5 million for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2015 
and 2014, respectively. 
 
A summary of changes to compensated absences for the years ended May 31, 2014 and 2013 is 
as follows: 
 

Fiscal Year 
Ended May 31 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions 

Ending  
Balance 

Due Within 
One Year 

 (In Thousands) 

          2015 $16,583 $12,071 $12,556 $16,098 $8,854 
          2014          16,730         12,291         12,438          16,583           9,121 

 
14. Letters of Credit 
 
The Commission has outstanding letters of credit with several banks as described in the 
following paragraphs: 
 
Supplemental Trust Indenture No. 13 dated as of May 1, 2008, amendment and restatement of 
the Amended and Restated Indenture of Trust dated as of March 1, 2011, between the 
Commission and U.S. Bank National Association required a Letter of Credit to be established for 
the 2008 Series B-1 Turnpike Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds.  The Commission entered into a 
Letter of Credit with Barclays Bank PLC in the amount of up to $102,137,000 for purposes of 
paying debt service obligations on the bonds.  The Commission drew against this letter of credit 
each month to fund the related debt service payments.  The Commission made monthly 
reimbursements for these draws against the letter of credit.  During fiscal year 2014, the 
Commission drew against the Letter of Credit and made reimbursements to Barclays in the 
amount of $67,000 and $67,000, respectively.  The stated expiration date on this letter of credit 
was May 25, 2014 which was not extended. 
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14. Letters of Credit (continued) 
 
Supplemental Trust Indenture No. 14 dated as of August 1, 2008, amendment and restatement of 
the Amended and Restated Indenture of Trust dated as of March 1, 2011, between the 
Commission and U.S. Bank National Association required a Letter of Credit to be established for 
the 2008 Series C Turnpike Multi-Modal Revenue Bonds.  The Commission entered into a Letter 
of Credit with Barclays Bank PLC in the amount of up to $50,855,000 for purposes of paying 
debt service obligations on the bonds.  The Commission drew against this letter of credit each 
month to fund the related debt service payments.  The Commission made monthly 
reimbursements for these draws against the letter of credit.  During fiscal year 2014, the 
Commission drew against the Letter of Credit and made reimbursements to Barclays in the 
amount of $33,000 and $33,000, respectively.  The stated expiration date on this letter of credit 
was May 25, 2014 which was not extended.  
 
Pennsylvania insurance law requires a Letter of Credit, Surety Bond, or Escrow from entities that 
self-insure their Workers Compensation. As of May 31, 2015 the Commission has three (3) 
Standby Letters of Credit to satisfy the PA Turnpike's collateral requirement under the expired 
Owner Controlled Insurance Program (OCIP) with Zurich American Insurance; there have been 
no draws against these Letters of Credit.  The Letters of Credit are as follows: 
 

• $389,000 Letter of Credit with PNC Bank, N.A. for beneficiary Zurich American 
Insurance for the Uniontown to Brownsville Phase I OCIP. 
 

• $900,000 Letter of Credit with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for beneficiary Zurich American 
Insurance for the Uniontown to Brownsville Phase II OCIP.  
 

• $255,000 Letter of Credit with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. for beneficiary Zurich American 
Insurance for the Susquehanna River Bridge and Valley Forge to Norristown Widening 
OCIPs.   

 
15. Subsequent Events 
 
On June 1, 2015, the Commission issued $385,095,000 2015 Series A-1 Senior Revenue Bonds 
and $115,635,000 2015 Series A-2 Variable Rate Revenue Bonds with a final maturity of 
December 1, 2033 and 2021, respectively.  The 2015 Series A-1 Bonds were issued primarily to 
refund the 2006 Series A Revenue Bonds.  The 2015 Series A-2 Bonds were issued primarily to 
refund the 2013 Series B Revenue Bonds maturing on December 1, 2015, the 2014 Series B-1 
Revenue Bonds maturing on June 1, 2015 and the 2014 Series B-2 Revenue Bonds maturing on 
June 1, 2015. 
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15. Subsequent Events (continued) 
 
On June 9, 2015, Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (S&P) reduced the credit ratings of 
Deutsche Bank two notches to BBB+.  Based on that rating and in accordance with the Credit 
Support Annex of the ISDA Master Agreement, the threshold for posting collateral was lowered 
to $0 and the Commission has called for collateral in the amount of the full mark-to-market 
value.  Subsequent to year end, Deutsche Bank has posted collateral of $5,980,000 with the 
Commission. 
  
On July 9, 2015, the Commission executed a partial termination of the Mainline Basis Swap 
associated with the Commission’s Series 2010 B Bonds.  This reversal was executed at a level of 
$2,255,000 which Deutsche Bank paid to the Commission.  The reversal maturity date is June 1, 
2018. 
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Schedule of Commission’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability 
 

Pennsylvania State Employees’ Retirement System 
 

Last 10 Fiscal Years* 
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands) 

 
 

  2015 

Commission’s proportion of the net                       
1.99409814%      pension liability 

Commission’s proportionate share of   
$  296,271      the net pension liability 

Commission’s covered-employee   
$  121,579      payroll 

Commission’s proportionate share of   

243.69% 

     the net pension liability as a    
     percentage of its covered-  
     employee payroll 
Plan fiduciary net position as a   

64.8% 
     percentage of the total pension  
     liability 

 
* The amounts presented for the fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end (12/31) that occurred within 
the fiscal year.  The Commission adopted GASB 68 on a prospective basis in fiscal year 2015; therefore only one 
year is presented in the above schedule. 
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Schedule of Commission’s Contributions 
 

Pennsylvania State Employees’ Retirement System 
 

Last 10 Years* 
(Dollar Amounts in Thousands) 

 
 

  2015 

Contractually required contribution  $     22,588 
Contributions in relation to the   

 
(22,588) 

     contractually required  
     contribution 

Contribution deficiency (excess)        $              - 

   
Commission’s covered-employee    

$  121,009      payroll 
Contributions as a percentage of   

18.67%      covered-employee payroll 

 
 
* The Commission adopted GASB 68 on a prospective basis in fiscal year 2015; therefore only one year is presented 
in the above schedule. 
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Schedule of Funding Progress – Postemployment Healthcare Benefits  
(In Thousands) 

Unfunded AAL Funded

UAAL as a 

Percentage

(UAAL) Ratio of Covered Payroll

January 1, 2014  $               271,265  $                 283,133  $                   11,868 95.8%  $    126,699 9.4%

March 1, 2012                   152,341                     250,750                       98,409 60.8%        124,241 79.2%

March 1, 2010                     66,436                     263,398                     196,962 25.2%        123,754 159.2%

Actuarial Valuation Date

Actuarial Value 

of Assets

Actuarial Accrued 

Liability (AAL)

Covered 

Payroll

 
Following is a listing of changes in assumptions used in the January 1, 2014 valuation compared 
with previous valuations. 
 

• Per capita claims costs were updated based on recent experience of Commission retirees 
and the healthcare trend was updated. 
 

• Assumed health plan elections for members attaining age 65 were modified from 2/3 
electing Signature 65 and 1/3 electing Freedom Blue (without Rx) to 60% electing 
Signature 65 and 40% electing Freedom Blue (without Rx). 
 

• The assumed percentage of eligible female members covering a spouse decreased from 
50% to 40%. 

 



 

  

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Other Supplementary Information 
 

  



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Other Supplementary Information 

 

  

 97 

Section Information 
 
For accounting purposes, the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission maintains its records in three 
sections: Mainline, Oil Franchise, and Motor License. These sections are based on the types of 
revenues and the associated bond issues.  
 
The Mainline section consists of income and expenses directly associated with the operations of 
the Turnpike System. In addition, all bonds pledged against this revenue source are included in 
this section. 
 
The Oil Company Franchise section consists of revenues received from the Commission’s 
allocation of the Commonwealth’s Oil Company Franchise Tax. This revenue is pledged against 
the Oil Company Franchise Tax Debt as listed in Note 7. 
 
The Motor License section consists of an annual income of $28 million which has been provided 
to the Commission pursuant to Section 20 of Act 3 of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. This 
income is pledged against the Motor License Registration Fee Debt as listed in Note 7. 
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Section Information (continued) 
Schedule of Net Position 

 May 31, 2015  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 
 

Assets and deferred outflows of resources (In Thousands)  

Current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents $    131,146  $              -  $             - $    131,146  

Short-term investments 23,091                  -                 - 23,091  

Accounts receivable 46,752                  -                 - 46,752  

Accrued interest receivable 1,220                  -                 - 1,220  

Inventories 18,808                  -                 - 18,808  

Restricted current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents 578,904 62,891 10,833 652,628  

Short-term investments 111,426 - 6,537 117,963  

Accounts receivable 8,144 10,012 - 18,156  

Accrued interest receivable 1,746 943 120 2,809  

Total current assets 921,237 73,846 17,490 1,012,573  

Noncurrent assets:      

Long-term investments:      

Long-term investments unrestricted 224,050 - - 224,050  

Long-term investments restricted 351,919 210,179 36,402 598,500  

Total long-term investments 575,969 210,179 36,402 822,550  

Capital assets not being depreciated:      

Land and intangibles 310,518 - - 310,518  

Assets under construction 956,984 - - 956,984  

Capital assets being depreciated:      

Buildings 936,517 - - 936,517  

Improvements other than buildings 117,331 - - 117,331  

Equipment 591,223 - - 591,223  

Infrastructure 7,713,188 - - 7,713,188  

Total capital assets before accumulated depreciation 10,625,761 - - 10,625,761  

Less accumulated depreciation 5,436,200 - - 5,436,200  

Total capital assets after accumulated depreciation 5,189,561 - - 5,189,561  

Other assets:      

Prepaid bond insurance costs 10,726 1,356 1,587 13,669  

OPEB Asset 104,931 - - 104,931  

Other assets 30,675 - - 30,675  

Total other assets 146,332 1,356 1,587 149,275  

Total noncurrent assets 5,911,862 211,535 37,989 6,161,386  

Total assets 6,833,099 285,381 55,479 7,173,959  

Deferred outflows of resources from hedging derivatives 38,825 - 70,498 109,323  

Deferred outflows of resources from refunding bonds 116,653 6,101 20,740 143,494  

Deferred outflows of resources from pensions 21,077 - - 21,077  

Total deferred outflows of resources 176,555 6,101 91,238 273,894  

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 7,009,654 $    291,482 $   146,717 $ 7,447,853  
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 Section Information (continued) 
 
 Schedule of Net Position (continued) 
 

  May 31, 2015  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources      

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $     373,901 $       19,417 $         3,952 $     397,270  

Current portion of debt 213,115 17,625 7,410 238,150  

Unearned income 61,236 732                    - 61,968  

Total current liabilities 648,252 37,774 11,362 697,388  

      

Noncurrent liabilities:      

Debt, less current portion, net of unamortized 
premium 9,041,635 734,330 421,293 10,197,258 

 

Net pension liability 296,271 - - 296,271  

Other noncurrent liabilities 167,133 1,798 78,110 247,041  

Total noncurrent liabilities 9,505,039 736,128 499,403 10,740,570  

Total liabilities 10,153,291 773,902 510,765 11,437,958  

      

      

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession 
arrangements 120,739 - - 120,739 

 

Deferred inflows of resources from refunding bonds - 1,417 - 1,417  

Deferred inflows of resources from pensions 2,684 - - 2,684  

Total deferred inflows of resources 123,423 1,417 - 124,840  

      

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 10,276,714 775,319 510,765 11,562,798  

      

Net position      

Net investment in capital assets 1,400,182 (715,008) (413,987) 271,187  

Restricted for construction purposes - 219,159 49,939 269,098 

Restricted for debt service 30,814 12,012 - 42,826 

Unrestricted (4,698,056) - - (4,698,056) 

Total net position $(3,267,060) $(483,837) $(364,048) $(4,114,945)  
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 Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
 

 May 31, 2015  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Operating revenues:     

 

Net fares $      932,146  $                -  $                - $      932,146  

Other 17,589                    -                    - 17,589  

Total operating revenues 949,735                    -                    - 949,735  

      

Operating expenses:      

Cost of services 457,757 2,022 1 459,780  

Depreciation 337,664                    -                    - 337,664  

Total operating expenses 795,421 2,022 1 797,444  

      

Operating income (loss) 154,314 (2,022) (1) 152,291  

      

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):      

Investment earnings 12,387 4,523 592 17,502  

Other nonoperating revenues 16,351 39,641                    - 55,992  

Act 44 and Act 89 payments to PennDOT (450,000)                    -                    - (450,000)  

Capital assets transferred to PennDOT (4,499) - - (4,499)  

Interest and bond expense (413,461) (34,284) (18,124) (465,869)  

Nonoperating expenses, net (839,222) 9,880 (17,532) (846,874)  

Loss before capital contributions (684,908) 7,858 (17,533) (694,583)  

Capital contributions 20,300 98,172 28,000 146,472  

(Decrease) Increase in net position (664,608) 106,030 10,467 (548,111)  

      

Net position at beginning of year, before restatement (2,372,230) (555,451) (372,774) (3,300,455)  

Cum. effect of change in accounting principle (266,379) - - (266,379)  

Net position at beginning of year, as restated1 (2,638,609) (555,451) (372,774) (3,566,834)  

Intersection transfers 36,157 (34,416) (1,741)                    -  

Net position at end of year $(3,267,060) $   (483,837) $   (364,048) $(4,114,945)  

      
1
Beginning net position for fiscal year 2015 was restated as discussed in Note 2.  
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Section Information (continued) 
Schedule of Cash Flows 

 May 31, 2015 

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 
License Total 

 

 (In Thousands) 
Operating activities      

Cash received from customer tolls and deposits $    945,793 $              - $               - $    945,793  

Cash payments for goods and services (291,798) (1,259) (1) (293,058)  

Cash payments to employees (156,391) (770) - (157,161)  

Cash received from other operating activities 8,688 - - 8,688  

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 506,292 (2,029) (1) 504,262  

      Investing activities      

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 2,174,598 145,569 5,632 2,325,799  

Interest received on investments 13,489 3,506 482 17,477  

Purchases of investments (2,162,327) (192,031) (17,837) (2,372,195)  

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 25,760 (42,956) (11,723) (28,919)  

      Capital and related financing activities      

Capital grants received 9,153 - - 9,153  

Cash proceeds from motor license grant - - 28,000 28,000  

Cash proceeds from oil company franchise tax - 95,638 - 95,638  

Construction and acquisition of capital assets (554,269) (34,320) - (588,589)  

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 413 - - 413  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (3,454) (1,537) (721) (5,712)  

Payments for debt refundings (338,770) (499,973) - (838,743)  

Payments for debt maturities (39,080) (16,345) (7,050) (62,475)  

Interest paid on debt (149,404) (37,543) (19,297) (206,244)  

Interest subsidy from Build America Bonds 16,219 4,534 - 20,753  

Swap suspension payments received 32,617 6,562 - 39,179  

Proceeds from debt issuances 670,614 288,675 - 959,289  

Released escrow amount received - 246,405 - 246,405  

Net cash (used for) provided by capital and related 
financing activities (355,961) 52,096 932 (302,933) 

 

      Noncapital financing activities      

Cash payments to PennDOT (450,000) - - (450,000)  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (2,764) - - (2,764)  

Payments for debt refundings (50,030) - - (50,030)  

Payments for debt maturities (52,675) - - (52,675)  

Interest paid on debt (188,979) - - (188,979)  

Proceeds from debt issuances 507,623 - - 507,623  

Net cash used for noncapital financing activities (236,825) - - (236,825)  
      (Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (60,734) 7,111 (10,792) (64,415)  
      Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 770,784 55,780 21,625 848,189  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $    710,050 $     62,891 $     10,833 $     783,774  
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Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
 Year Ended May 31, 2015  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided by (used for) operating activities:     

 

Operating income (loss) $     154,314 $     (2,022) $            (1) $    152,291  

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net 
cash provided by (used for) operating activities:     

 

Depreciation 337,664 - - 337,664  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivable (4,491) - - (4,491)  

Inventories 1,350 - - 1,350  

Other assets (25,771) - - (25,771)  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 22,612 (7) - 22,605  

Other noncurrent liabilities 20,614 - - 20,614  

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $    506,292 $     (2,029) $           (1) $    504,262  

      

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the 
statements of net position:     

 

Cash and cash equivalents $    131,146 $               - $               - $    131,146  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 578,904 62,891 10,833 652,628  

Total cash and cash equivalents $    710,050 $     62,891 $     10,833 $    783,774  
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Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
Noncash activities 
 
The Commission recorded a net decrease of $35.4 million in the fair value of its investments for 
the year ended May 31, 2015. Increases (Decreases) by section were: Mainline, $(33.4) million; 
Oil Franchise, $(2.1) million and Motor License, $0.1 million. 
 
The Commission recorded $12.0 million for the amortization of bond premium for the year 
ended May 31, 2015. Amortization by section was: Mainline, $9.8 million; Oil Franchise, 
$1.5 million and Motor License, $0.7 million. 
 
The Commission recorded $30.3 million for the amortization of deferred losses on refundings 
and amortization of prepaid bond insurance costs for the year ended May 31, 2015. Amortization 
by section was: Mainline, $29.0 million; Oil Franchise, $.4 million and Motor License, 
$0.9 million. 
 
The Commission recorded an interest expense reduction of $17.1 million in the Mainline section 
and $0.2 in the Motor License section for the year ended May 31, 2015 related to GASB 53 
entries. 
 
The Commission recognized revenues of $4.8 million for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2015 for 
noncash capital contributions. This noncash capital contribution revenue is the result of 
agreements with a food and a fuel provider to totally reconstruct the service plazas. The service 
plaza operators provide the capital for the reconstruction in exchange for lower rental rates. 
  
The Commission and PennDOT entered into an agreement regarding ownership of overhead 
bridges that carry state roads. Per the agreement, once the Commission replaces these overhead 
bridges, and after final inspections and supplemental agreements are signed by both parties, 
ownership and maintenance responsibilities of the bridges are transferred from the Commission 
to PennDOT.  The Commission transferred assets with a net book value of $4.5 million from its 
Mainline section to PennDOT during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2015. 
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Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
Noncash activities (continued) 
 
The Commission records intersection activity related to revenue, expense, asset and liability 
transfer between its sections. Some of the intersection entries are related to cash transfers; others 
are noncash transfers as required. Net intersection transfers for the year ended May 31, 2015 
were:  to Mainline, $36.1 million; from Oil Franchise, $34.4 million; and from Motor License, 
$1.7 million. 
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Section Information (continued) 
Schedule of Net Position 

 May 31, 2014  

Assets and deferred outflows of resources Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

Current assets: (In Thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents $    135,452  $              -  $             - $    135,452  

Short-term investments 43,936                  -                 - 43,936  

Accounts receivable 43,218                  -                 - 43,218  

Accrued interest receivable 1,273                  -                 - 1,273  

Inventories 20,158                  -                 - 20,158  

Restricted current assets:      

Cash and cash equivalents 635,332 55,780 21,625 712,737  

Short-term investments 154,081 - 1,113 155,194  

Accounts receivable 836 7,478 - 8,314  

Accrued interest receivable 1,990 911 96 2,997  

Total current assets 1,036,276 64,169 22,834 1,123,279  

Noncurrent assets:      

Long-term investments:      

Long-term investments unrestricted 158,224 - - 158,224  

Long-term investments restricted 391,877 163,773 29,533 585,183  

Total long-term investments 550,101 163,773 29,533 743,407  

Capital assets not being depreciated:      

Land and intangibles 289,900 - - 289,900  

Assets under construction 790,396 - - 790,396  

Capital assets being depreciated:      

Buildings 905,235 - - 905,235  

Improvements other than buildings 114,009 - - 114,009  

Equipment 570,115 - - 570,115  

Infrastructure 7,345,336 - - 7,345,336  

Total capital assets before accumulated depreciation 10,014,991 - - 10,014,991  

Less accumulated depreciation 5,100,630 - - 5,100,630  

Total capital assets after accumulated depreciation 4,914,361 - - 4,914,361  

Other assets:      

Prepaid bond insurance costs 12,665 1,448 1,648 15,761  

OPEB asset 79,149 - - 79,149  

Other assets 28,145 - - 28,145  

Total other assets 119,959 1,448 1,648 123,055  

Total noncurrent assets 5,584,421 165,221 31,181 5,780,823  

Total assets 6,620,697 229,390 54,015 6,904,102  

Deferred outflows of resources from hedging derivatives 5,586 - 44,098 49,684  

Deferred outflows of resources from refunding bonds 136,086 6,575 21,533 164,194  

Total deferred outflows of resources 141,672 6,575 65,631 213,878  

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources $ 6,762,369 $    235,965 $   119,646 $ 7,117,980  
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Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Net Position (continued) 
 

 May 31, 2014  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources      

Current liabilities:      

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $     302,556 $       20,704 $         4,061 $     327,321  

Current portion of debt 161,280 16,345 7,050 184,675  

Unearned income 57,509 414                    - 57,923  

Total current liabilities 521,345 37,463 11,111 569,919  

      

Noncurrent liabilities:      

Debt, less current portion, net of unamortized 
premium 8,341,420 752,387 429,423 9,523,230 

 

Other noncurrent liabilities 148,840 - 51,886 200,726  

Total noncurrent liabilities 8,490,260 752,387 481,309 9,723,956  

Total liabilities 9,011,605 789,850 492,420 10,293,875  

      

Deferred inflows of resources from service concession 
arrangements 122,994 - - 122,994 

 

Deferred inflows of resources from refunding bonds - 1,566 - 1,566  

Total deferred inflows of resources 122,994 1,566 - 124,560  

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 9,134,599 791,416 492,420 10,418,435  

      

Net position      

Net investment in capital assets 1,546,260 (752,431) (421,079) 372,750  

Restricted for construction purposes - 188,737 48,305 237,042 

Restricted for debt service 28,558 8,243 - 36,801 

Unrestricted (3,947,048) - - (3,947,048) 

Total net position $(2,372,230) $  (555,451) $  (372,774) $(3,300,455)  
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 Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 

 

 May 31, 2014  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Operating revenues:     

 

Net fares $      861,846  $                -  $                - $      861,846  

Other 18,909                    -                    - 18,909  

Total operating revenues 880,755                    -                    - 880,755  

      

Operating expenses:      

Cost of services 437,999 951 31 438,981  

Depreciation 324,010                    -                    - 324,010  

Total operating expenses 762,009 951 31 762,991  

      

Operating income (loss) 118,746 (951) (31) 117,764  

      

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):      

Investment earnings (loss) 32,671 2,384 (7,485) 27,570  

Other nonoperating revenues 16,389 6,772                    - 23,161  

Act 44 and Act 89 payments to PennDOT (450,000)                    -                    - (450,000)  

Capital assets transferred to PennDOT (13,531) - - (13,531)  

Interest and bond expense (373,223) (34,653) (19,171) (427,047)  

Nonoperating expenses, net (787,694) (25,497) (26,656) (839,847)  

Loss before capital contributions (668,948) (26,448) (26,687) (722,083)  

Capital contributions 13,759 68,277 28,000 110,036  

(Decrease) Increase in net position (655,189) 41,829 1,313 (612,047)  

      

Net position at beginning of year (1,732,011) (583,177) (373,220) (2,688,408)  

Intersection transfers 14,970 (14,103) (867)                    -  

Net position at end of year $(2,372,230) $   (555,451) $   (372,774) $(3,300,455)  
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Section Information (continued) 
Schedule of Cash Flows 

 May 31, 2014 

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands) 

Operating activities      

Cash received from customer tolls and deposits $    876,945  $              -  $               - $     876,945  

Cash payments for goods and services (296,993) (485) (26) (297,504)  

Cash payments to employees (153,091) (590)                   - (153,681)  

Cash received from other operating activities 8,741                  -                   - 8,741  

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 435,602 (1,075) (26) 434,501  

      
Investing activities      

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 1,774,007 82,841 18,093 1,874,941  

Interest received on investments 15,929 3,621 627 20,177  

Purchases of investments (1,706,159) (94,847) (18,113) (1,819,119)  

Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities 83,777 (8,385) 607 75,999  

      
Capital and related financing activities      

Capital grants received 9,128 -                   - 9,128  

Cash proceeds from motor license grant - -         28,000 28,000  

Cash proceeds from oil company franchise tax - 65,089                   - 65,089  

Construction and acquisition of capital assets (393,831) (9,982)                   - (403,813)  

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 620 -                   - 620  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (6,089) (521) (725) (7,335)  

Payments for debt refundings (706,140) (65,470)                   - (771,610)  

Payments for debt maturities (51,935) (16,550) (6,720) (75,205)  

Interest paid on debt (132,977) (39,198) (19,795) (191,970)  

Interest subsidy from Build America Bonds 16,236 6,772                   - 23,008  

Proceeds from debt issuances 1,185,820 66,534                   - 1,252,354  

Net cash (used for) provided by capital and related 
financing activities (79,168) 6,674 760 (71,734) 

 

      
Noncapital financing activities      

Cash payments to PennDOT (450,000) -                   - (450,000)  

Payments for bond and swap expenses (2,946) -                   - (2,946)  

Payments for debt maturities (49,495) -                   - (49,495)  

Interest paid on debt (176,612) -                   - (176,612)  

Proceeds from debt issuances 430,039 -                   - 430,039  

Net cash used for noncapital financing activities (249,014) -                   - (249,014)  

      
Increase (Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 191,197 (2,786) 1,341 189,752  

      
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 579,587 58,566 20,284 658,437  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $    770,784 $      55,780 $       21,625 $     848,189  
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Section Information (continued) 
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 

 Year Ended May 31, 2014  

 Mainline 
Oil 

Franchise 
Motor 

License Total 

 

 (In Thousands)  

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash 
provided by (used for) operating activities:     

 

Operating income (loss) $      118,746 $       (951) $         (31) $     117,764  

Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net 
cash provided by (used for) operating activities:     

 

Depreciation 324,010                    -                    - 324,010  

Change in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivable (3,593)                    -                    - (3,593)  

Inventories (3,287)                    -                    - (3,287)  

Other assets (19,587)                    -                    - (19,587)  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 19,276 (124) 5 19,157  

Other noncurrent liabilities 37                    -                    - 37  

Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities $      435,602 $    (1,075) $         (26) $     434,501  

      

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the 
statements of net position:     

 

Cash and cash equivalents $      135,452     $              -     $              - $     135,452  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 635,332 55,780 21,625 712,737  

Total cash and cash equivalents $      770,784 $     55,780 $     21,625 $     848,189  
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Section Information (continued)  
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
Noncash activities 
 
The Commission recorded a net increase of $8.5 million in the fair value of its investments for 
the year ended May 31, 2014. Increases (Decreases) by section were: Mainline, $17.5 million; 
Oil Franchise, $(1.0) million and Motor License, $(8.0) million. 
 
The Commission recorded $9.4 million for the amortization of bond premium for the year ended 
May 31, 2014. Amortization by section was: Mainline, $7.3 million; Oil Franchise, $1.4 million 
and Motor License, $0.7 million. 
 
The Commission recorded $23.7 million for the amortization of deferred losses on refundings 
and amortization of prepaid bond insurance costs for the year ended May 31, 2014. Amortization 
by section was: Mainline, $22.0 million; Oil Franchise, $0.9 million and Motor License, 
$0.8 million. 
 
The Commission recorded an interest expense reduction of $15.6 million in the Mainline section 
and $0.1 in the Motor License section for the year ended May 31, 2014 related to GASB 53 
entries. 
 
The Commission recognized $4.4 million in revenues for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014 for 
noncash capital contributions. This noncash capital contribution revenue is the result of 
agreements with a food and a fuel provider to totally reconstruct the service plazas. The service 
plaza operators provide the capital for the reconstruction in exchange for lower rental rates. 
 
The Commission and PennDOT entered into an agreement regarding ownership of overhead 
bridges that carry state roads. Per the agreement, once the Commission replaces these overhead 
bridges, and after final inspections and supplemental agreements are signed by both parties, 
ownership and maintenance responsibilities of the bridges are transferred from the Commission 
to PennDOT. The Commission transferred assets with a net book value of $13.5 million from its 
Mainline section to PennDOT during the fiscal year ended May 31, 2014. 
 
  



Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission  

A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania 

 
Other Supplementary Information (continued) 

 

  

 111 

Section Information (continued)  
 

Schedule of Cash Flows (continued) 
 
Noncash activities (continued) 
 
The Commission records intersection activity related to revenue, expense, asset and liability 
transfer between its sections. Some of the intersection entries are related to cash transfers; others 
are noncash transfers as required. Net intersection transfers for the year ended May 31, 2014 
were:  to Mainline, $15.0 million; from Oil Franchise, $14.1 million; and from Motor License, 
$0.9 million. 
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Schedules of Cost of Services Detail 
 
The following tables provide additional detail for the costs of services reported in the statements 
of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 
 
Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2015 

Mainline 
Operating 

Mainline 
Capital 

Total 
Mainline 

Oil 
Franchise 

Motor 
License Total 

General & administrative $    55,877 $   87,321 $ 143,198 $      1,679 $          1 $ 144,878 

Traffic engineering and operations 3,986 957 4,943 - - 4,943 

Service centers 24,128 -      24,128 - - 24,128 

Employee benefits 98,475 8,889 107,364 343 - 107,707 

Fare collection 44,093 - 44,093 - - 44,093 

Maintenance 73,792 1,014 74,806 - - 74,806 

Facilities and energy mgmt. operations 10,957 7,034 17,991 - - 17,991 

Turnpike patrol 41,234 - 41,234 - - 41,234 

Total cost of services $  352,542 $ 105,215 $ 457,757 $      2,022 $          1 $ 459,780 

 
 
Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2014 

Mainline 
Operating 

Mainline 
Capital 

Total 
Mainline 

Oil 
Franchise 

Motor 
License Total 

General & administrative $    52,508 $   88,718 $ 141,226 $        730 $          31 $ 141,987 

Traffic engineering and operations 3,966 - 3,966 - - 3,966 

Service centers 22,448 - 22,448 - - 22,448 

Employee benefits 83,810 7,503 91,313 221 - 91,534 

Fare collection 46,614 - 46,614 - - 46,614 

Maintenance 74,789 808 75,597 - - 75,597 

Facilities and energy mgmt. operations 9,850 7,112 16,962 - - 16,962 

Turnpike patrol 39,818 55 39,873 - - 39,873 

Total cost of services $  333,803 $ 104,196 $ 437,999 $        951 $          31 $ 438,981 

       

Note:  Certain amounts in the above table were reclassified to conform to the current period financial statements presentation. 
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APPENDIX C 
 

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE INDENTURE 
 

 The following sets forth the definitions of certain terms used in the Indenture and 
elsewhere in this Official Statement, and a summary of certain provisions of the Indenture.  
Reference should be made to the full text of the Indenture for a complete statement of all of these 
provisions and other provisions.  Copies of the Indenture may be obtained as described in the 
forepart of this Official Statement.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the 
meanings set forth in the forepart of this Official Statement. 
 

DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN TERMS 
 

 “Additional Bonds” shall mean Bonds of any series including Additional Senior Bonds 
and Additional Subordinated Bonds authorized under the Indenture and duly executed, 
authenticated, issued and delivered pursuant to the provisions thereof, other than currently 
Outstanding Bonds.  Such term shall include, without limitation, notes, commercial paper, 
mandatory tender bonds, bond and grant anticipation notes, variable rate bonds, capital 
appreciation bonds, obligations secured only as to regularly scheduled interest payments by the 
Tax Revenues and the Trust Estate and any other evidence of indebtedness which the 
Commission is legally authorized to issue under the Indenture. 
 
 “Additional Projects” shall mean the improvements, extensions and replacements to the 
Pennsylvania Turnpike System, other than the portions of the improvements, extensions and 
replacements which are financed or refinanced with the proceeds of Additional Bonds. 
 
 “Assumed Variable Rate” shall mean the maximum established rate for any Variable 
Rate Indebtedness then outstanding. 
 
 “Authenticating Agent” shall mean the Person or Persons designated and authorized to 
authenticate any series of Bonds or such Person designated by the Authenticating Agent to serve 
such function, and shall at this time be the Trustee with respect to the 2016 Bonds. 
 
 “Average Principal and Interest Requirements” shall mean, as to any Bonds under 
consideration, the sum of the Principal and Interest Requirements for the Fiscal Years contained 
in the period under consideration with respect to such Bonds divided by the number of fiscal 
years contained in such period.  Any determination of the Average Principal and Interest 
Requirements with respect to a number of series of Bonds outstanding shall be made based on 
the combined Principal and Interest Requirements of all such Bonds at the time outstanding.  The 
“period under consideration” shall mean the period beginning with the date of calculation and 
ending with the final maturity of Bonds under consideration. 
 
 “Balloon Indebtedness” shall mean a series of Bonds 25% or more of the principal of 
which matures on the same date and is not required by the documents governing such 
indebtedness to be amortized by payment or redemption prior to such date.  If any Series of 
Bonds consists partially of Variable Rate Indebtedness and partially of Fixed Rate Indebtedness 
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the portion constituting Variable Rate Indebtedness and the portion constituting Fixed Rate 
Indebtedness shall be treated as separate series for purpose of determining whether any such 
indebtedness constitutes Balloon Indebtedness. 
 
 “Bank” shall mean, as to any Series of Bonds, each financial institution (other than a 
Bond Insurer) providing a letter of credit, a line of credit, a guaranty or another credit or liquidity 
enhancement facility as designated in the Supplemental Indenture providing for the issuance of 
such Bonds. 
 
 “Bank Fee” shall mean any commission, fee or expense payable to a Bank pursuant to a 
Reimbursement Agreement (but not amounts payable as reimbursement for amounts drawn 
under a Credit Facility or interest on such amounts). 
 
 “Bond” shall mean any Additional Bond issued under the provisions of the Indenture. 
 
 “Bond Counsel” shall mean any attorney or firm of attorneys whose experience in 
matters relating to the issuance of tax-exempt obligations is nationally recognized. 
 
 “Bond Insurer” shall mean, as to any series of Bonds, the bond insurer undertaking to 
insure such Bonds. 
 
 “Bond Owner”, “holder”, “owner” or “registered owner” shall mean the Person in whose 
name a Bond is registered on the books maintained by the Bond Registrar except as otherwise 
provided in the Indenture. 
 
 “Bond Registrar” shall mean, with respect to the 2016 Bonds, that Person which 
maintains the bond register or such other entity designated by the Bond Registrar to serve such 
function, and shall initially be the Trustee with respect to the 2016 Bonds. 
 
 “Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday or a Sunday or a day on which 
banking institutions are required or authorized by law or executive order to remain closed in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  With respect to the 2016 Bonds, Business Day means any day 
other than (i) a Saturday or Sunday, (ii) a day on which the Trustee, Paying Agent or banks and 
trust companies in New York, New York are authorized or required to remain closed, or (iii) a 
day on which the New York Stock Exchange is closed. 
 
 “Certificates of Deposit” shall mean negotiable or nonnegotiable certificates of deposit, 
time deposits or other similar banking arrangements issued by the Trustee or by any bank or trust 
company, including any depositary hereunder, which has a combined capital and surplus of not 
less than $200,000,000, to be fully secured by Government Obligations or direct and general 
obligations of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  Such security shall have an aggregate 
market value, exclusive of accrued interest, at all times at least equal to the amount of such 
Certificate of Deposit.  Such security shall be deposited with a Federal Reserve Bank or with the 
trust department of the Trustee. 
 
 “Clearing Fund” shall mean the special fund of that name created by the Indenture. 
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 “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as the same may be amended. 
 
 “Commission Official” shall mean any commissioner, director, officer or employee of the 
Commission authorized to perform specific acts or duties by resolution duly adopted by the 
Commission. 
 
 “Consultant” shall mean a Person who shall be independent, appointed by the 
Commission as needed, qualified and having a nationwide and favorable reputation for skill and 
experience in such work for which the Consultant was appointed.  In those situations in which a 
Consultant is appointed to survey risks and to recommend insurance coverage, such Consultant 
may not be a broker agent with whom the Commission transacts business. 
 
 “Cost” as applied to any Project financed under the provisions of the Indenture, shall 
include, without intending thereby to limit or restrict any proper definition of such word under 
the provisions of the act authorizing such Project, all obligations and expenses and all items of 
cost which are set forth in the Indenture. 
 
 “Credit Facility” shall mean any letter of credit, line of credit, standby letter of credit, 
indemnity or surety or municipal bond insurance policy or agreement to purchase a debt 
obligation or any similar extension of credit, credit enhancement or liquidity support obtained by 
the Commission from a financial or insurance institution, to provide for or to secure payment of 
principal and/or purchase price of and/or interest on Bonds pursuant to the provisions of a 
Supplemental Indenture under which such Bonds are issued. 
 
 “Defeasance Securities” shall mean: 
 

1. Cash, 
2. U.S. Treasury Certificates, Notes and Bonds (including State and Local 

Government Series “SLGs”), 
3. Direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury which have been stripped by the U.S. 

Treasury and CATS, TIGRS and similar securities, 
4. Resolution Funding Corp. strips which have been stripped by the Federal Reserve 

Bank of New York, 
5. Pre-refunded obligations of a state or municipality rated in the highest rating 

category by the Rating Agency, and 
6. Obligations issued by the following agencies which are backed by the full faith 

and credit of the 
a. U.S. Export-Import Bank 
b. Farmers Home Administration 

Certificates of beneficial ownership 
c. Federal Financing Bank 
d. General Services Administration 

Participation Certificates 
e. U.S. Maritime Administration 

Guaranteed Title XI financing 
f. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
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Project Notes 
Local Authority Bonds 
New Communities Debentures – U.S. government guaranteed debentures U.S. 
Housing Notes and Bonds – U.S. government guaranteed public housing notes 

g. U.S. Public Housing Notes and Bonds – U.S. government guaranteed public 
housing notes and bonds 

 
“DTC” means The Depository Trust Company (a limited purpose trust company), New 

York, New York. 
 
“Enabling Acts” shall have the meaning set forth in the Indenture. 
 
“Event of Default” shall mean those events specified in the Indenture. 
 
“Extraordinary Event” shall mean the amendment or repeal of Section 54AA or 6431 of 

the Code as such sections were added by Section 1531 of the American Recovery and 
Reinvestment Act of 2009 (H.R. 1) pertaining to “Build America Bonds”) if the effect of such 
amendment or repeal is to reduce or eliminate the Issuer Subsidy. 

 
“Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Commission, currently the 12-month period 

beginning on the first day of June of each calendar year and ending on the last day of May of the 
following calendar year. 

 
“Fixed Rate Indebtedness” shall mean (1) any indebtedness other than Variable Rate 

Indebtedness and (ii) indebtedness which, except for this clause (ii), would be Variable Rate 
Indebtedness with respect to which the Commission has entered into an interest rate swap 
agreement with an entity which has an unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed long-term 
obligation rated in one of its three highest long-term rating categories (without reference to such 
gradations such as “plus” or “minus”) by each Rating Agency which has assigned a rating both 
to such indebtedness and to such obligation and pursuant to which agreement the Commission 
makes interest payments based on one or more rates of interest each of which is established at a 
single numerical rate for the entire remaining term of such agreement, provided that such 
Variable Rate Indebtedness shall be deemed to be Fixed Rate Indebtedness only while such 
agreement remains in effect and if any counterparty thereto is not in default thereunder, and 
provided further that, for purposes of determining whether the conditions set forth in the 
Indenture have been satisfied, such Variable Rate Indebtedness shall be deemed to be Fixed Rate 
Indebtedness only if the terms of such agreement provide that it will remain in effect as long as 
any Bond to which such agreement relates is Outstanding.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if two 
Series of Bonds constituting Variable Rate Indebtedness, or one or more maturities within a 
Series, are issued simultaneously with inverse floating interest rates providing a composite fixed 
interest rate for such Bonds taken as a whole, such Bonds shall constitute Fixed Rate 
Indebtedness. 

 
“Government Obligations” shall mean direct obligations of, or obligations, the principal 

and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America. 
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“Historic Tax Revenues” shall mean Tax Revenues for any 12 consecutive calendar 
months within the preceding 24 months, with such adjustments as may be required by the 
Indenture. 

 
“Indenture” shall mean the Indenture as amended and supplemented. 
 
“Interest Payment Date” has the meaning, respect to the 2016 Bonds, described in the 

forepart of this Official Statement. 
 
“Insurance Agreement” shall mean the Insurance and Reimbursement Agreement 

between the Bond Insurer for the 2003 Bonds and the Commission. 
 
“Issuer Subsidy” means the 35% cash subsidy payment made by the United States 

Treasury to the Commission relating to the 2009B Bonds and the 2009E Bonds pursuant to 
Section 54AA or 6431 of the Code (as such Sections were added by Section 1531 of the 
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (H.R. 1) pertaining to “Build America 
Bonds.” 

 
“Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements” shall mean, as to any Bonds under 

consideration, the maximum Principal and Interest Requirements for any succeeding Fiscal Year 
on account of the Bonds in question. 

 
“Oil Franchise Tax” means the “oil company franchise tax for highway maintenance and 

construction” imposed by the Commonwealth pursuant to 75 Pa. C.S.A. Chap. 95. 
 
“Oil Franchise Tax General Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the Indenture. 
 
“Opinion of Counsel” shall mean an opinion or opinions in writing signed by an attorney 

who is, or a firm of attorneys at law which has a member who is, admitted to practice before the 
Supreme Court of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania who may (except as otherwise expressly 
provided herein) be counsel to the Commission who renders the initial opinion to the purchaser 
of the Bonds, who shall not be unsatisfactory to the Trustee.  If such counsel be an individual, 
he/she shall not be, and if such counsel be a partnership or professional corporation, it shall not 
have as a partner or employee an attorney at law who is an officer or employee of the 
Commission, but such counsel may be regularly retained by or under contract with the 
Commission.  Such opinion or opinions may contain such exceptions, qualifications and 
limitations as may be customary under the circumstances. 

 
“Outstanding” means, when used with reference to 2016 Bonds, as of a particular date, 

all 2016 Bonds theretofore authenticated and delivered, except: (a) 2016 Bonds theretofore 
cancelled by the Trustee or delivered to the Trustee for cancellation pursuant to the provisions 
hereof; (b) 2016 Bonds which are deemed to have been paid in accordance with the provisions 
hereof; and (c) 2016 Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other 2016 Bonds have been 
authenticated and delivered pursuant to the provisions hereof. 
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“Parity Swap Agreement” shall mean an interest rate swap agreement or other agreement 
of a type described in the Indenture which satisfies (a) the requirements established in the 
Indenture and (b) which qualifies as a “qualified derivative agreement” under the Insurance 
Agreement, in order that some or all of the amounts payable by the Commission or the Trustee 
pursuant to such agreement may be secured by the Tax Revenues on parity with the Bonds to 
which such agreement relates.   

 
“Paying Agent” shall mean, with respect to the 2016 Bonds, initially, Manufacturers and 

Traders Trust Company, a New York state banking association. 
 
“Pennsylvania Turnpike System” shall mean the turnpike system of the Commission, all 

extensions and improvements thereto and any additional projects which may be financed under 
the provisions of the Enabling Acts. 

 
“Permitted Investments” (to the extent permitted by law) shall mean: 
 

A. Direct obligations of the United States of America (including obligations 
issued or held in book-entry form on the books of the Department of the Treasury, and 
CATS and TIGRS) or obligations the principal of and interest on which are 
unconditionally guaranteed by the United States of America. 

 
B. Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or 

guaranteed by any of the following federal agencies and provided such obligations are 
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America (stripped securities are 
only permitted if they have been stripped by the agency itself): 

1. U.S. Export-Import Bank (Eximbank) 
Direct obligations or fully guaranteed certificates of beneficial 
ownership 

2. Farmers Home Administration (FmHA) 
Certificates of beneficial ownership 

3. Federal Financing Bank 
4. Federal Housing Administration Debentures (FHA) 
5. General Services Administration 

Participation certificates 
6. Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA or “Ginnie 

Mae”) 
GNMA – guaranteed mortgage-backed bonds 
GNMA – guaranteed pass-through obligations 
(not acceptable for certain cash-flow sensitive issues.) 

7. U.S. Maritime Administration 
Guaranteed Title XI financing 

8. U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Project 
Notes 
Local Authority Bonds 
New Communities Debentures – U.S. government guaranteed 
debentures 
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U.S. Public Housing Notes and Bonds – U.S. government guaranteed 
public housing notes and bonds 
 

C. Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or 
guaranteed by any of the following non-full faith and credit U.S. government agencies 
(stripped securities are only permitted if they have been stripped by the agency itself): 

 
1. Federal Home Loan Bank System 

Senior debt obligations 
2. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC or “Freddie 

Mac”) 
Participation Certificates 
Senior debt obligations 

3. Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA or “Fannie Mae”) 
Mortgage-backed securities and senior debt obligations 

4. Student Loan Marketing Association (SLMA or “Sallie Mae”) Senior 
Debt obligations 

5. Resolution Funding Corp. (REFCORP) obligations 
6. Farm Credit System 

Consolidated systemwide bonds and notes 
 

D. Money market funds registered under the Federal Investment Company 
Act of 1940, whose shares are registered under the Federal Securities Act of 1933, and 
having a rating by S&P of AAAm-G; AAA-m and if rated by Moody’s rated Aa, Aal or 
Aa2. 

 
E. Certificates of Deposit secured at all times by collateral described in (A) 

and/or (B) above.  Such certificates must be issued by commercial banks, savings and 
loan associations or mutual savings banks.  The collateral must be held by a third party 
and the holders of the Bonds must have a perfected first security interest in the collateral. 
 

F. Certificates of Deposit, saving accounts, deposit accounts or money 
market deposits which are fully insured by FDIC, including BIF and SAIF. 
 

G. Investment Agreements, including GIC’s, Forward Purchase Agreements 
and Reserve Fund Put Agreements acceptable to MBIA (Investment Agreement criteria is 
available upon request). 
 

H. Commercial paper rated, at the time of purchase, “Prime-1” by Moody’s 
and “A-1” or better by S&P. 
 

I. Bonds or notes issued by any state or municipality which are rated by 
Moody’s and S&P in one of the two highest rating categories assigned by such agencies. 
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J. Federal funds or bankers acceptances with a maximum term of one year of 
any bank which has an unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed obligation rating of 
“Prime-1” or “A3” or better by Moody’s and “A-1” or “A” or better by S&P. 
 

K. Repurchase Agreements for 30 days or less must follow the criteria set 
forth in the Indenture.  Repurchase Agreements which exceeded 30 days must be 
acceptable to the Bond Insurer. 
 

L. Any other investments as approved by the applicable Bond Insurer. 
 
“Person” shall mean an individual, public body, a corporation, a partnership, an 

association, a joint stock company, a trust and any unincorporated organization. 
 
“Pledged Bonds” shall mean a Bond purchased by the Paying Agent or Trustee with 

amounts received pursuant to a drawing under a Credit Facility and pledged to or registered in 
the name of a Bank which is a provider of such Credit Facility or its designee. 

 
“Principal and Interest Requirements” shall mean (i) the amount of principal and interest 

becoming due with respect to Bonds in a Fiscal Year, calculated by the Commission or by a 
Consultant, plus (ii) Reimbursement Obligations payable or estimated by the Commission to be 
payable in such Fiscal Year (but only to the extent they are not duplicative of such principal and 
interest), plus (iii) the excess, if any, of amounts payable or estimated by the Commission to be 
payable by the Commission in such Fiscal Year with respect to interest rate swap agreements 
(but only to the extent that such excess would not be recognized as a result of the application of 
the assumptions set forth below) over amounts payable to the Commission in such Fiscal Year 
pursuant to interest rate swap agreements.  The following assumptions shall be used to determine 
the Principal and Interest Requirements becoming due in any Fiscal Year. 

 
(a) there shall be excluded from Principal and Interest Requirements for all purposes 

hereof any amounts which are payable (other than upon acceleration) exclusively from a fund or 
account other than the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund or the Subordination Bonds Debt Service 
Fund or a Credit Facility fund created by a supplemental indenture on parity with either such 
fund; 

 
(b) payments of principal or interest which are due on the first day of a Fiscal Year 

shall be assumed to be due on the last day of the immediately preceding Fiscal Year; 
 
(c) in determining the principal amount due with respect to Bonds in each Fiscal Year 

(unless a different subsection of this definition applies for purposes of determining principal 
maturities or amortization) payment shall be assumed to be made in accordance with any 
amortization schedule established for such debt, including any scheduled redemption of Bonds 
on the basis of Accreted Amount, and for such purpose the redemption payment shall be deemed 
a principal payment; 

 
(d) if any of the Outstanding Series of Bonds constitutes Balloon Indebtedness or 

Balloon Indebtedness and Variable Rate Indebtedness or if Bonds then proposed to be issued 
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would constitute Balloon Indebtedness or Balloon Indebtedness and Variable Rate Indebtedness, 
then such amounts as constitute Balloon Indebtedness shall be treated as if such Bonds were to 
be amortized in substantially equal annual installments of principal and interest over a term equal 
to the number of years then remaining to the final maturity of such Bonds; the interest rate used 
for such computation shall be: (i) in the case of Fixed Rate Indebtedness, the interest rate of such 
Bonds; and (ii) in the case of Variable Rate Indebtedness, the Assumed Variable Rate, provided 
that if the maximum interest rate payable by the Commission with respect to any or all Variable 
Rate Indebtedness has been limited pursuant to an interest rate swap agreement, then the interest 
rate to be used for the aforesaid computation with respect to the Variable Rate Indebtedness 
covered by such interest rate swap agreement shall not exceed the sum of (A) the maximum 
interest rate as so limited, and (B) the annual charges payable by the Commission pursuant to 
said Parity Swap Agreement, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the Variable 
Rate Indebtedness which is covered thereby, provided that if any or all of such Variable Rate 
Indebtedness then constitutes a Pledged Bond, the interest rate to be used for the aforesaid 
computation with respect to the principal amount of such Pledged Bond shall be 125% of the rate 
then applicable to the Commission’s Reimbursement Obligation under its Reimbursement 
Agreement with the Bank in question; 

 
(e) if any Outstanding Bond constitutes Tender Indebtedness or if any Bond then 

proposed to be issued would constitute Tender Indebtedness, then for purposes of determining 
the amounts of principal and interest due in any Fiscal Year on such Bond, the options or 
obligations of the owners of such Bonds to tender the same for purchase or payment prior to their 
stated maturity or maturities shall be treated as a principal maturity (but any such amount treated 
as a maturity shall not be eligible for treatment as Balloon Indebtedness) occurring on the first 
date on which owners of such Bonds may or are required to tender such Bonds, except that any 
such option or obligation to tender Bonds shall be ignored and not treated as a principal maturity 
if both (a) such Bonds are rated in one of the two highest long-term rating categories (without 
reference to gradations such as “plus” or “minus”) by each Rating Agency which has assigned a 
rating to any such Outstanding Bond at the request of the Commission or such Bonds are rated in 
the highest short-term note or commercial paper rating category by each Rating Agency which 
has assigned a rating to any such Outstanding Bond at the request of the Commission, and (b) 
any obligation the Commission may have, other than its obligation on such Bonds, to reimburse 
any person for having extended a credit or liquidity facility or a bond insurance policy, or similar 
arrangement, shall be a Reimbursement Obligation with respect to an obligation incurred under 
and meeting the tests and conditions set forth in the Indenture. 

 
(f) if any Bond proposed to be issued will be a Variable Rate Indebtedness, the 

interest rate on such Bond shall be assumed to be the Assumed Variable Rate, provided that if 
the maximum interest rate payable by the Commission with respect to any or all of such Bonds 
has been limited pursuant to an interest rate swap agreement, then the interest rate to be used for 
the aforesaid computation with respect to the Variable Rate Bonds covered by such interest rate 
swap agreement shall not exceed the sum of (A) the maximum interest rate as so limited, and (B) 
the annual charges payable by the Commission pursuant to said interest rate swap agreement, 
expressed as a percentage of the principal amount of the Variable Rate Bonds which is covered 
thereby, and provided further that if any or all of such Variable Rate Bonds then constitute a 
Pledged Bond, the interest rate to be used for the aforesaid computation with respect to the 
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principal amount of such Pledged Bond shall be 125% of the rate then applicable to the 
Commission’s Reimbursement Obligation under its Reimbursement Agreement with the Bank in 
question; 

 
(g) if moneys or Government Obligations (or, if one or more Credit Facilities are in 

effect which assure the timely payment of the principal of and interest on all Outstanding Bonds 
and if the Banks providing such Credit Facilities so agree in a written instrument filed with the 
Trustee, other Permitted Investments) have been irrevocably deposited with and are held by the 
Trustee or another fiduciary to be used to pay principal and/or interest on any specified Bond or 
Bonds or the fees and expenses of a Bank or a remarketing agent, then the principal and/or 
interest to be paid from such moneys, from Government Obligations (or other Permitted 
Investments, if permitted as described above) or from the earnings thereon shall be disregarded 
and not included in calculating Principal and Interest Requirements. 

 
“Project” shall mean the application of the proceeds of the 2016 Bonds described in the 

forepart of this Official Statement and any additional projects or refundings which are authorized 
by the Enabling Acts. 

 
“Qualified Financial Institution” shall mean (a) any U.S. domestic institution which is a 

bank, trust company, national banking association, a corporation, subject to register with the 
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System under the Bank Holding Company Act of 
1956; a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. or corporation or any 
other entity whose payment obligations are guaranteed by any of the foregoing whose unsecured 
obligations or uncollateralized long term debt obligations (or such obligations of any guarantor 
thereof) have been assigned a rating within the two highest rating categories by the Rating 
Agency or which has issued a letter of credit, contract, agreement or surety bond in support of 
debt obligations which have been so rated; (b) an insurance company with a claims-paying 
ability rated in the highest rating category by Rating Agency or whose unsecured obligations or 
uncollateralized long term obligations have been assigned a rating within the highest rating 
category by the Rating Agency; or (c) any banking institution whose unsecured obligations or 
uncollateralized long-term debt obligations have been assigned a rating within one of the two 
highest rating categories by the Rating Agency. 

 
“Rating Agency” shall mean each nationally recognized securities rating agency then 

maintaining a rating on any of the Bonds at the request of the Commission, unless the context 
only applies the term to one Series of Bonds, in which event it shall mean only such rating 
agency then maintaining a rating on such Series of Bonds.  Initially, “Rating Agency” means 
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and Fitch Ratings, Inc., or their successors. 

 
“Reimbursement Agreement” shall mean an agreement between the Commission and one 

or more Banks pursuant to which, among other things, such Bank or Banks issue a Credit 
Facility with respect to Bonds of one or more series and the Commission agrees to reimburse 
such Bank or Banks for any drawings made thereunder, including any security or pledge 
agreement entered into in connection therewith pursuant to which the Commission grants the 
Bank or Banks a security interest in any collateral to secure it obligations to the Bank or Banks. 
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“Reimbursement Obligation” shall mean an obligation of the Commission pursuant to a 
Reimbursement Agreement to repay any amounts drawn under a Credit Facility, to pay any 
interest on such drawn amounts pursuant to such Reimbursement Agreement and to pay any 
Bank Fee owed pursuant thereto. 

 
“Revenue Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the provisions of the Indenture. 
 
“Senior Bonds” shall mean the 2016A Bonds, the 2013A Bonds, the 2009A Bonds, the 

2009B Bonds, the 2009C Bonds, Series A of the 2006 Senior Bonds, the Series A and Series C 
of the 2003 Senior Bonds, and any Additional Senior Bonds issued under the Indenture which 
shall provide that such Senior Bonds are senior in right of payment and security to the 
Subordinated Bonds. 

 
“Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the Indenture. 
 
“Senior Bonds Sinking Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the Indenture. 
 
“Sinking Fund” shall mean the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund and the Subordinated Bonds 

Sinking Fund. 
 
“Special Record Date” shall mean the date established by the Trustee for the payment of 

interest on the 2016 Bonds not paid on a regularly scheduled Interest Payment Date. 
 
“Subordinated Bonds” shall mean the 2016B Bonds, the 2013B Bonds, the 2009D Bonds, 

the 2009E Bonds, the Series B of the 2006 Subordinated Bonds, the Series B of the 2003 
Subordinated Bonds, and any Additional Subordinated Bonds which may be issued under the 
Indenture which shall provide that such Subordinated Bonds are junior in right of payment and 
security to the Senior Bonds. 

 
“Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the 

Indenture. 
 
“Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund” shall mean the special fund created by 

the Indenture. 
 
“Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Requirement” shall mean that amount equal 

to one-half of the maximum Principal and Interest Requirements for any succeeding Fiscal Year 
on account of the Subordinated Bonds in question. 

 
“Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund” shall mean the special fund created by the 

Indenture. 
 
“Swap Receipts” shall mean any payments payable by a Parity Swap Agreement 

Counterparty; provided that termination payments payable by such Parity Swap Agreement 
Counterparty shall be considered a Swap Receipt only to the extent, and at such time as, the 
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Commission has determined that such payment (or portion thereof) will not be expended by the 
Commission to obtain a replacement Parity Swap Agreement. 

 
“Tax Receipts” shall mean the amounts received by the Trustee from the Commonwealth 

and paid from the Oil Franchise Tax. 
 
“Tax Revenues” shall mean the Tax Receipts or any receipts, revenues and other money 

received by the Trustee on or after the date of the Indenture from any tax or other source of funds 
from the Commonwealth in substitution and/or replacement of the Tax Receipts and the interest 
and income earned on any fund or account where said interest or income is required to be 
credited to the Revenue Fund pursuant to the Indenture, but excluding any moneys received by 
way of grant or contribution from any governmental agency or other entity specifically 
designated by the grantor or contributor for a particular purpose. 

 
“Tender Indebtedness” shall mean any Bond or portion thereof a feature of which is an 

option, on the part of the Bond Owner, or an obligation under the terms of such Bond, to tender 
all or a portion of such Bond to the Commission, the Trustee, the Paying Agent or other fiduciary 
or agent for payment or purchase and requiring that such Bond or portion thereof be purchased if 
properly presented. 

 
“Treasurer’s Certificate” shall mean a certificate signed by the Treasurer, Assistant 

Treasurer or Deputy Executive Director/Finance and Administration of the Commission 
containing the data specified in the Indenture. 

 
“Trustee” shall mean the Trustee at the time in question, whether original or successor. 
 
“2003 Bonds” shall mean collectively the $16,440,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated 

Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2003 and the $160,000,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue 
Bonds, Series C of 2003. 

 
“2006 Bonds” shall mean collectively the $75,425,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2006, and the $129,350,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated 
Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series B of 2006. 

 
“2009 Bonds” shall mean, collectively, the 2009A Bonds, the 2009B Bonds, the 2009C 

Bonds, the 2009D Bonds and the 2009E Bonds. 
 
“2009A Bonds” shall mean the $13,245,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, 

Series A of 2009 consisting of Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Subseries A-1 of 2009 
(Refunding) and Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Subseries A-2 of 2009. 

 
“2009B Bonds” shall mean the $127,170,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, 

Series B of 2009 (Federally Taxable-Issuer Subsidy-Build America Bonds). 
 
“2009C Bonds” shall mean the $15,461,246 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, 

Series C of 2009. 
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“2009D Bonds” shall mean the $25,290,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue 

Bonds, Series D of 2009 consisting of Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds Subseries 
D-1 of 2009 (Refunding) and Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Subseries D-2 of 
2009.  

 
“2009E Bonds” shall mean the $102,505,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue 

Bonds, Series E of 2009 (Federally Taxable-Issuer Subsidy-Build America Bonds). 
 
“2013A Bonds” shall mean the $23,120,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2013. 
 
“2013B Bonds” shall mean the $24,215,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue 

Bonds, Series B of 2013. 
 
“Variable Rate Indebtedness” shall mean:  (i) any indebtedness the interest rate 

applicable to which is established at the time of incurring of such indebtedness at a rate which 
can increase during the entire term thereof or will at some subsequent date be established at a 
rate which can increase during the entire term thereof; and (ii) indebtedness which, except for 
this clause (ii), would be Fixed Rate Indebtedness but with respect to which the Commission has 
entered into an interest rate swap agreement with an entity which (or the guarantor of whose 
obligation) has an unsecured, uninsured and unguaranteed long-term obligation rated in one of its 
three highest long-term rating categories (without regard to gradation such as “plus” or “minus”) 
by each Rating Agency which has assigned a rating both to such indebtedness and to such 
obligation and pursuant to which agreement the Commission makes interest payments based on a 
rate of interest which is not established at a single numerical rate for the entire remaining term of 
such agreement, provided that such Fixed Rate Indebtedness shall be deemed to be Variable Rate 
Indebtedness only while such agreement remains in effect and only if the counterparty thereto is 
not in default thereunder. 
 

THE INDENTURE 
 

Grant of Security Interest 
 
 Pursuant to the Indenture, the Commission has granted a security interest in and pledged 
and assigned unto the Trustee (i) all Tax Revenues, (ii) the right of the Commission to receive 
the Commission Allocation and any amounts of the Commission Allocation actually received by 
the Commission, (iii) all monies deposited into accounts or funds created by the Indenture (other 
than the Rebate Fund), (iv) all Swap Receipts, (v) the Issuer Subsidy and (vi) all investment 
earnings on all monies held in accounts and funds established by the Indenture (other than the 
Rebate Fund) (all of these items shall collectively be known as the “Trust Estate”) as security for 
the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon and as security for the satisfaction of any other 
obligation assumed by it in connection with such Bonds, including any Parity Swap Agreements, 
any Insurance Agreement and Reimbursement Obligations. 
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Limitations on Issuance of Indebtedness 
 
 The Commission covenants in the Indenture that it will not incur any indebtedness which 
is secured by the Tax Revenues while the Indenture is in effect except in accordance with the 
provisions of the Indenture. 
 
Issuance of Additional Bonds 
 
 Additional Senior Bonds and Additional Subordinated Bonds may be issued under and 
secured by the Indenture for the purpose of paying the cost of all or any part of any Additional 
Project or for the purpose of refunding all or any portion of the Bonds then outstanding and, if 
elected by the Commission as hereinafter set forth, all or a portion of the expenses incurred by 
the Commission in connection with the issuance of such Bonds. 
 
 Before any such Bonds shall be authenticated by the Authenticating Agent and delivered 
by the Trustee, there shall be filed with the Trustee the following:  (a) the documents required by 
the Indenture for issuance of Additional Bonds generally and for the particular type of Additional 
Bonds being issued; (b) a Supplemental Indenture executed by the Commission in an appropriate 
number of counterparts setting forth, subject to the provisions of the Indenture, the terms and 
provisions of such Additional Bonds; and (c) An opinion of Bond Counsel that the issuance of 
the Additional Bonds will not adversely affect the tax-exempt status of all outstanding Bonds. 
 
 Additional Bonds may be issued for the following purposes and subject to the following 
additional conditions: 
 
Issuance of Additional Bonds for any Additional Projects 
 
 Additional Senior Bonds and Additional Subordinated Bonds may be issued under and 
secured by the Indenture, to the extent from time to time permitted by law, at any time or times 
for the purpose of paying the cost of any Additional Project and for paying costs incurred in 
issuing such Additional Bonds and for necessary contributions to the Subordinated Bonds Debt 
Service Reserve Fund if Additional Subordinated Bonds are being issued. 
 
 Such Additional Bonds shall not be authenticated  by the Authenticating Agent nor 
delivered by the Trustee, unless there shall be filed with the Trustee the documents required by 
the Indenture for issuance of Additional Bonds generally and unless there shall be filed with the 
Trustee a Treasurer’s Certificate demonstrating and concluding that the Historic Tax Revenues 
were not less than 200% of the Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements on account of all 
Senior Bonds to be outstanding under the Indenture after the issuance of proposed Additional 
Senior Bonds and not less than 115% of the Maximum Principal and Interest Requirements on 
account of all Bonds to be outstanding under the Indenture after the issuance of Additional 
Subordinated Bonds. 
 
 In any computation of Historic Tax Revenues for purposes of the Indenture, if the rate or 
rates at which the Oil Franchise Tax was imposed or the percentage of Tax Receipts received by 
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the Commission during all or any part of the period for which any such calculation is made shall 
be different from the rate or rates at which the Oil Franchise Tax is imposed or the percentage of 
Tax Receipts received by the Commission in effect at the time such calculation is made, there 
shall be added to or deducted from said Tax Revenues so calculated, any increase or decrease in 
the Tax Revenues for such period which would result from such different rate or rates or 
percentage. 
 
Issuance of Additional Bonds for Refunding 
 
 Additional Senior Bonds and Additional Subordinated bonds may be issued under and 
secured by the Indenture, at any time or times, for the purpose of providing funds for refunding 
or advance refunding all of the outstanding Senior Bonds or Subordinated Bonds, respectively, 
of any series issued under the provisions of the Indenture, or any portion of the Bonds of any 
such series, including in each case the payment of any redemption premium thereon and the costs 
of issuance. 
 
 Before such Bonds shall be authenticated by the Authenticating Agent and delivered by 
the Trustee, there shall be filed with the Trustee the following:  (a) the documents required by the 
Indenture for issuance of Additional Bonds generally; (b) in case all or a portion of such Bonds 
are to be issued for the purpose of redeeming Bonds prior to their stated maturity or maturities, 
such documents as shall be required by the Trustee to show that provision has been duly made 
for the redemption of such Bonds; and (c) a certificate of an independent public accountant 
verifying that the proceeds (excluding accrued interest, but including any premium and after 
deducting an amount equal to all expenses incurred by the Commission in connection with the 
issuance of such Bonds to the extent that said expenses are to be paid from such proceeds) of 
such refunding Bonds and any investment income earned thereon shall be not less than an 
amount sufficient to pay the principal of and the redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds to be 
refunded, and, if permitted by law and deemed necessary by the Commission, the payment of 
interest thereon to the date of redemption. 
 
 The Authenticating Agent and Trustee, however, shall not authenticate and deliver such 
Bonds unless they receive a certificate signed by the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer of the 
Commission demonstrating, with respect to Additional Senior Bonds, that the percentage derived 
by dividing the amount of the Historic Tax Revenues by the Maximum Principal and Interest 
Requirements on Senior Bonds outstanding after delivery of such Additional Bonds shall be 
either (i) at least 200% or (ii) not less than the percentage obtained by dividing such amounts 
prior to delivery of such Additional Senior Bonds and with respect to Additional Subordinated 
Bonds, that the percentage derived by the amount of the Historic Tax Revenues by the Maximum 
Principal and Interest Requirements on Bonds outstanding after delivery of such Additional 
Subordinated Bonds shall be either (i) at least 115% or (ii) not less than the percentage obtained 
by dividing such amounts prior to delivery of such Additional Subordinated Bonds. 
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Clearing Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund, called the “2016 Clearing Fund,” which shall be 
held in trust by the Trustee for deposit and disbursement of the net proceeds of the sale of the 
2016 Bonds. 
 
Revenue Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Revenue Fund.”  The moneys in the 
Revenue Fund shall be held by the Trustee in trust and applied as provided in the Indenture. 
 
 The Commission acknowledges in the Indenture that it has irrevocably directed the 
Commonwealth to transfer all Tax Receipts which the Commission is entitled to receive from the 
Commonwealth to the Trustee for deposit into the Revenue Fund.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Commission covenants that any and all Tax Receipts or other Tax Revenues 
which it receives initially will be deposited into a segregated account of the Commission and will 
be transferred therefrom within one (1) Business Day following receipt, as far as practicable, 
with the Trustee or in the name of the Trustee with a depository or depositories designated by the 
Commission and approved by the Trustee, to the credit of the Revenue Fund. 
 
 All sums received by the Commission from any other source for paying any part of the 
cost of a Project for which any Bonds have been or will be issued shall be deposited into a 
separate fund (which may or may not be held by the Trustee) established by the Commission for 
the particular Project. 
 
Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund” which 
shall be held in trust by the Trustee until applied as provided in the Indenture.  The Indenture 
creates special accounts within the “Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund” designated the “Interest 
Account,” the “Principal Account” and the “Insured Swap Payment Account.”  All moneys held 
by the Trustee in the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund shall be applied in accordance with the 
Indenture. 
 
 The Trustee shall withdraw from the Revenue Fund and deposit to the applicable 
Account in the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund the amounts hereinafter specified which shall be 
applied by the Trustee for the purposes for which the same shall be deposited. 
 

(1) On or before the last Business Day of each calendar month, an amount 
which equals the amount necessary to pay, and for the purpose of paying, (i) one-sixth 
(1/6) of the interest due on the Senior Bonds on the next succeeding Interest Payment 
Date (or, in the case of the period from the date of issuance of the any Senior Bonds to 
the first Interest Payment Date for the applicable Senior Bond, a monthly amount equal to 
the product of the interest amount owed on such first Interest Payment Date divided by 
the number of months from the date of issuance of such Senior Bond to such first Interest 
Payment Date), which amount shall be deposited in the Interest Account, and (ii) any 
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amount due to the Bond Insurer with respect thereto; provided, however, so long as an 
Extraordinary Event has not occurred, the Trustee may assume for purposes of such 
calculation, that the Issuer Subsidy will be received by the Commission and deposited in 
the 2009B Issuer Subsidy Fund prior to such Interest Payment Date with respect to the 
2009B Bonds.  

 
(2) On or before the last Business Day of each calendar month, an amount 

which equals one-twelfth (1/12) of the amount necessary to pay (or, in the case of the 
period from the date of issuance of the any Senior Bonds to the first date on which 
principal is due on such Senior Bonds a monthly amount equal to the product of the 
principal amount owed on such first principal maturity date divided by the number of 
months from the date of issuance of such Senior Bond to such first principal maturity 
date), and for the purpose of paying, the principal amount of any Senior Bonds maturing 
on the next succeeding maturity date occurring on or before the second Interest Payment 
Date following such deposit, which amount shall be deposited in the Principal Account; 
provided, however, that no deposit shall be made pursuant to this clause (2) on any date 
which would duplicate deposits required to be made to the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund. 

 
(3) On the day due pursuant to a Parity Swap Agreement, an amount 

necessary to pay the Insured Swap Payment, which amount shall be deposited in the 
Insured Swap Payment Account of the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund. 
 

(4) On the dates specified in any Supplemental Indenture relating to 
Additional Senior Bonds, the amounts required to be deposited on said dates to the credit 
of the Interest Account or Principal Account pursuant to the provisions of such 
Supplemental Indenture for the purpose of paying the interest and the principal of such 
Additional Senior Bonds. 
 

All of such withdrawals, deposits and applications shall be on the same order of 
priority. 

 
In the event there is a deficiency in the amount required to be deposited into any account 

in the Senior Bond Debt Service Fund in any month, the amount of such deficiency shall be 
added to the amount required to be deposited in to the appropriate account in the Senior Bonds 
Debt Service Fund in the following month. 

 
The Trustee shall pay out of the Interest Account, from time to time, without further 

authorization from the Commission, and as the same shall become due and payable, the interest 
on the Bonds.  The Trustee shall likewise pay out of the Principal Account, from time to time, 
without further authorization from the Commission, and as the same shall become due and 
payable, the principal of the Senior Bonds, but only upon the presentation and surrender of the 
Senior Bonds.  The Trustee shall pay out of the Insured Swap Payment Account, from time to 
time, without further authorization from the Commission, and, as the same shall become due and 
payable, the Insured Swap Payment under the Parity Swap Agreement. 
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If at the time the Trustee is to make a withdrawal from the Senior Bonds Debt Service 
Fund the moneys therein shall not be sufficient for such purpose, the Trustee shall withdraw the 
amount of such deficiency from the moneys to the credit of the following funds or accounts in 
the following order: the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund and the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund. 
 
 
Senior Bonds Sinking Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Senior Bonds Sinking Fund” which shall 
be held in trust by the Trustee until applied as directed in the Indenture.  Contemporaneously 
with, and on the same order of priority as, making deposits described under “Senior Bonds Debt 
Service Fund,” and while any Senior Bonds are outstanding, the Trustee shall transfer on or 
before the last Business Day of each calendar month from the Revenue Fund to the Senior Bonds 
Sinking Fund one-twelfth (1/12) of the principal amount required on the next succeeding 
mandatory redemption date as specified in the Senor Bonds occurring on or before the first 
Interest Payment Date following such deposit (or such lesser amount which, when added to the 
principal amount of Senior Bonds purchased by the Trustee during the Fiscal Year pursuant to 
the second succeeding paragraph, shall equal the above amount); and provided that if any Senior 
Bond which is subject to mandatory redemption is at any time redeemed pursuant to an Optional 
Redemption, as described in the Senior Bonds, the principal amount of Senior Bonds of each 
maturity so redeemed may be applied as a credit against the principal amount of Senior Bonds of 
such maturity which is subject to mandatory redemption at such time as the Commission shall 
direct. 
 
 On the dates specified in any Supplemental Indenture or indentures relating to Additional 
Senior Bonds, the Trustee shall transfer from the Revenue Fund the amounts required to be 
deposited on such dates to the credit of the sinking, purchase or analogous fund, if any, 
established for such Additional Senior Bonds. 
 
 The moneys at any time on deposit to the credit of the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund or to 
be deposited thereto from the Revenue Fund may be applied by the Commission to the purchase 
of Senior Bonds of the same maturity of Senior Bonds to be called for mandatory redemption 
from the Senior Bonds Sinking Fund, and such moneys shall be withdrawn by the Trustee and 
applied to the payment of the purchase price of Senior Bonds which the Commission may agree 
to purchase or has paid provided that such purchase price is not in excess of 100% of the 
principal amount thereof.  At the time of any purchase of the Senior Bonds, the Trustee shall 
withdraw from the Interest Account of the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund any amounts 
deposited therein for the payment of interest on the Senior Bonds so purchased.  Any Bonds so 
purchased in lieu of redemption by the Commission shall be cancelled by the Trustee and no 
longer remain outstanding. 
 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund” 
which shall be held in trust by the Trustee until applied as provided in the Indenture.  The 
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Indenture also creates two separate accounts in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund to be 
known as the “Interest Account” and the “Principal Account.” 
 
 After the withdrawals described above, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Revenue 
Fund and deposit to the applicable Account in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund the 
amounts hereinafter specified which shall be applied by the Trustee for the purposes for which 
the same shall be deposited: 
 

(1) On or before the last Business Day of each calendar month, an amount 
which equals the amount necessary to pay, and for the purpose of paying, (i) one-sixth 
(1/6) of the interest due on the Subordinated Bonds on the next succeeding Interest 
Payment Date (or, in the case of the period from the date of issuance of the Subordinated 
Bonds to the first Interest Payment Date for the applicable Subordinated Bond, a monthly 
amount equal to the product of the interest amount owed on such first Interest Payment 
Date divided by the number of months from the date of issuance of such Subordinated 
Bond to such first Interest Payment Date), which amount shall be deposited in the Interest 
Account and (ii) any amount due to the Bond Insurer with respect thereto; provided, 
however, so long as an Extraordinary Event has not occurred, the Trustee may assume for 
purposes of such calculation, that the Issuer Subsidy will be received by the Commission 
and deposited in the 2009E Issuer Subsidy Fund prior to such Interest Payment Date with 
respect to the 2009E Bonds. 

 
(2) On or before the last Business Day of each calendar month an amount 

which equals one-twelfth (1/12) of the amount necessary to pay, and for the purpose of 
paying, the principal amount of any Subordinated Bonds maturing on the next succeeding 
maturity date (or, in the case of the period from the date of issuance of the any 
Subordinated Bonds to the first maturity date for the applicable Subordinated Bond, a 
monthly amount equal to the product of the principal amount owed on such first maturity 
date divided by the number of months from the date of issuance of such Subordinated 
Bond to such first maturity date), including any amounts due the Bond Insurer with 
respect thereto, which amount shall be deposited in the Principal Account; provided, 
however, that no deposit shall be made pursuant to this clause (2) on any date which 
would duplicate deposits required to be made to the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund; 
and 
 

(3) On the dates specified in any Supplemental Indenture relating to 
Additional Subordinated Bonds, the amounts required to be deposited on said dates to the 
credit of the Interest Account or Principal Account pursuant to the provisions of such 
Supplemental Indenture for the purpose of paying the interest and the principal of such 
Additional Subordinated Bonds. 

 
In the event there is a deficiency in the amount required to be deposited into any account 

in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund in any month, the amount of such deficiency shall 
be added to the amount required to be deposited in to the appropriate account in the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Fund in the following month. 
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The Trustee shall pay out of the Interest Account, from time to time, without further 
authorization from the Commission, and as the same shall become due and payable, the interest 
on the Bonds.  The Trustee shall likewise pay out of the Principal Account, from time to time, 
without further authorization from the Commission, and as the same shall become due and 
payable, the principal of the Subordinated Bonds, but only upon the presentation and surrender 
of the Subordinated Bonds. 

 
If at the time the Trustee is to make a withdrawal from the Subordinated Bonds Debt 

Service Fund the moneys therein shall not be sufficient for such purpose, the Trustee shall 
withdraw the amount of such deficiency from the moneys to the credit of the following funds or 
accounts in the following order:  the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund and the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund. 
 
Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund” 
which shall be held in trust by the Trustee until applied as directed in the Indenture.  After first 
having made the deposits into the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund, the Senior Bonds Sinking 
Fund and contemporaneously with, and on the same order of the priority as, making the deposits 
described under “Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund,” while any Subordinated Bonds are 
outstanding, the Trustee shall transfer on or before the last Business Day of each calendar month 
from the Revenue Fund to the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund one-twelfth of the principal 
amount required on the next succeeding mandatory redemption date as specified in the 
Subordinated Bonds occurring on or before the first Interest Payment Date following such 
deposit (or such lesser amount which, when added to the principal amount of Subordinated 
Bonds purchased by the Trustee during the Fiscal Year pursuant to the second succeeding 
paragraph, shall equal to the above amount); and provided that if any Subordinated Bond which 
is subject to mandatory redemption is at any time redeemed pursuant to an Optional Redemption, 
as described in the Subordinated Bonds, the principal amount of Subordinated Bonds of each 
maturity so redeemed may be applied as a credit against the principal amount of Subordinated 
Bonds of such maturity which is subject to mandatory redemption at such time as the 
Commission shall direct. 
 
 On the dates specified in any Supplemental Indenture or Indentures relating to Additional 
Subordinated Bonds, the Trustee shall transfer from the Revenue Fund the amounts required to 
be deposited on such dates to the credit of the sinking, purchase or analogous fund, if any, 
established for such Additional Subordinated Bonds. 
 
 The moneys at any time on deposit to the credit of the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund 
or to be deposited thereto from the Revenue Fund may be applied by the Commission to the 
purchase of Subordinated Bonds of the same maturity of Subordinated Bonds to be called for 
mandatory redemption from the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund, and such moneys shall be 
withdrawn by the Trustee and applied to the payment of the purchase price of Subordinated 
Bonds which the Commission may agree to purchase or has paid, provided that such purchase 
price is not in excess of 100% of the principal amount thereof.  At the time of any purchase of 
the Subordinated Bonds, the Trustee shall withdraw from the Interest Account of the 
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Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund any amounts deposited therein for the payment of 
interest on the Subordinated Bonds so purchased.  Any Bonds so purchased in lieu of redemption 
by the Commission shall be cancelled by the Trustee and no longer remain outstanding. 
 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Reserve Fund” which is a common debt service reserve fund for all Subordinated Bonds under 
the Indenture.  In each Fiscal Year after first having made the deposits into the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Fund and the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund described above and while 
any Subordinated Bonds are outstanding the Trustee shall transfer from the Revenue Fund on or 
before the Business Day immediately preceding an Interest Payment Date to the credit of the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund out of the balance if any remaining in the 
Revenue Fund the amount if any required to make the funds deposited in the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund equal to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement.  The Trustee shall also transfer the amount set forth in any Supplemental Indenture 
under which Subordinated Bonds are issued. 
 
 In the event the Trustee shall be required to withdraw funds from the Subordinated Bonds 
Debt Service Reserve Fund to restore a deficiency in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund 
or the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund, the amount of such deficiency shall be allocated pro 
rata among the accounts, any surety bond or policy and unallocated funds in the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund that relate to the series of Subordinated Bonds for which 
payment is coming due on the next succeeding payment date on the basis of the ratio that the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Requirement for each particular series of Bonds for 
which payment is coming due bears to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Requirement for all Series of Bonds for which payment is coming due on the next succeeding 
payment date. 
 
 In lieu of the deposit of money into or the maintenance of required amounts in the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund, the Commission may cause to be provided a 
surety bond or insurance policy as further described in the forepart of this Official Statement 
under “SECURITY FOR THE 2016 BONDS – Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve 
Fund.” 
 
 Except as provided in the Indenture with respect to refunding Subordinated Bonds, 
moneys held for the credit of the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be used 
for the purpose of paying interest on, maturing principal and mandatory sinking fund redemption 
price of Subordinated Bonds whenever and to the extent that the moneys held for the credit of 
the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund or any Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund shall be 
insufficient for such purpose.  If at any time the moneys and principal amount of any surety 
bond, insurance policy or letter of credit held for the credit of the Subordinated Bonds Debt 
Service Reserve Fund shall exceed the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Requirement, 
such excess shall be transferred by the Trustee to the credit of the Revenue Fund or used to 
reduce the principal amount of any surety bond, insurance policy or letter of credit. 
 



 

 C-22 
 

Oil Franchise Tax General Fund 
 
 The Indenture creates a special fund called the “Oil Franchise Tax General Fund” which 
shall be held in trust by the Trustee until applied as described-below.  After first having made the 
deposits provided in the Indenture and described above and while any Bonds are Outstanding, 
the Trustee shall transfer from the Revenue Fund on or before the Business Day immediately 
preceding an Interest Payment Date to the credit of the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund the 
balance, if any, after making the required deposits described above. 
 
 Except as otherwise provided in the Indenture, moneys held for the credit of the Oil 
Franchise Tax General Fund shall be withdrawn by the Trustee, without further authorization 
from the Commission, to make up deficiencies in any funds or accounts created under the 
Indenture, and absent any such deficiency, may be expended by the Commission, upon 
requisition to the Trustee, for any of the following purposes, with no one item having priority 
over any of the others, as long as such application of Oil Franchise Tax Receipts is permitted by 
law: (a) to purchase or redeem Bonds or any other obligations of the Commission; (b) to make 
payments into the Construction Fund; (c) to make improvements, extensions and replacements of 
the Pennsylvania Turnpike System; (d) to fund amounts payable by the Commission under a 
Parity Swap Agreement which are not Insured Swap Payments, such amounts shall be payable 
from the Oil Franchise Tax General Fund only if and to the extent that after such payment the 
Commission will have moneys available to pay debt service on the Senior Bonds for the next 
twelve (12) months; and (e) to further any lawful corporate purpose. 
 
Issuer Subsidy Funds 
 
 The Fifth Supplemental Indenture created funds designated the “2009B Issuer Subsidy 
Fund” and “2009E Issuer Subsidy Fund” for deposit of the Issuer Subsidy relating to the 2009B 
Bonds and 2009E Bonds, respectively, and so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is 
continuing under the Indenture, for application solely to the payment of interest on the 2009B 
Bonds and 2009E Bonds, respectively. 
 
 Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, funds on deposit in the 2009B Issuer 
Subsidy Fund shall be transferred to the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund and funds on deposit in 
the 2009E Issuer Subsidy Fund shall be transferred to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Fund and applied as described herein. 
 
Depositaries of Moneys, Security for Deposits and Investments of Moneys 
 
 All moneys received by the Commission under the provisions of the Indenture shall be 
deposited with the Trustee or with one or more other bank or trust companies to be designated by 
the Commission with the approval of the Trustee (any such depositary, including the Trustee, 
being herein called a “Depositary”).  All moneys deposited under the provisions of the Indenture 
with the Trustee or any other Depositary shall be held in trust and applied only in accordance 
with the provisions of the Indenture, and shall not be subject to lien or attachment by any creditor 
of the Commission. 
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 All moneys deposited with the Trustee or any other Depositary under the Indenture shall 
be continuously and fully secured unless or until invested as provided in the Indenture for the 
benefit of the Commission and the holders of the Bonds, by Government Obligations or direct 
and general obligations of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or otherwise in accordance with 
the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania governing trust funds of public bodies.  Such 
security shall have an aggregate market value exclusive of accrued interest at all times at least 
equal to the amount of moneys so deposited.  Such security shall be deposited with a Federal 
Reserve Bank or with the corporate trust department of the Trustee. 
 
 Moneys held in any of the funds or accounts under the Indenture may be retained 
uninvested, if deemed necessary by the Commission, as trust funds and secured as provided 
above or may be invested in Permitted Investments.  All such investments shall be made by the 
Trustee only upon the oral request of the Commission immediately confirmed in writing by a 
Commission Official specifying the account or fund from which moneys are to be invested and 
designating the specific investments to be acquired.  Moneys on deposit with respect to the 2016 
Bonds shall be invested by the Trustee solely in Permitted Investments, to the extent permitted 
by applicable law, at the written direction of the Commission. 
 
 All such investments made pursuant to the Indenture shall be subject to withdrawal or 
shall mature or be subject to redemption by the holder at not less than the principal amount 
thereof or the cost of acquisition, whichever is lower, not later than the earlier of (i) 15 years 
from the date of such investment or (ii) the date on which the moneys may reasonably be 
expected to be needed for the purpose of the Indenture.  The foregoing provisions shall not 
prevent the Commission or the Trustee from selling such investments at less than the principal 
amount thereof or the cost of acquisition. 
 
Covenants as to Tax Revenues 
 
 The Commission covenants in the Indenture that it will seek to enforce the pledge and 
appropriation of the Commonwealth with respect to the Oil Franchise Tax which is described in 
the recitals hereto, and it will petition the General Assembly for additional funds in the event that 
the Tax Revenues are inadequate to pay the amounts due hereunder. 
 
 The Trustee may and, upon receipt of written direction from the holders of not less than 
twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding and upon being 
indemnified to its satisfaction, shall institute and prosecute in a court of competent jurisdiction 
any appropriate action to enforce the pledge and appropriation of the Commonwealth with 
respect to the Oil Franchise Tax which is described in the recitals hereto. 
 
Other Covenants of Commission 
 
 Pursuant to the Indenture, the Commission has made the following additional covenants, 
among others, to the Trustee: 
 

(a) To promptly pay the principal of and the interest on every Bond issued 
under the provisions of the Indenture at the places, on the dates and in the manner 
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provided in the Indenture and in said Bonds and any premium required for the retirement 
of said Bonds by purchase or redemption, according to the true intent and meaning 
thereof, but only from the Tax Revenues, which Tax Revenues are pledged by the 
Commission to the payment thereof in the manner and to the extent hereinabove 
particularly specified, and from the remainder of the Trust Estate. 

 
(b) Not to create or suffer to be created any lien or charge upon the Tax 

Revenues, or any part thereof except the lien and charge of the Bonds secured by the 
Indenture and any Subordinated Indebtedness permitted pursuant to the Indenture. 
 

(c) Until the Bonds secured by the Indenture and the interest thereon shall 
have been paid or provision for such payment shall have been made, not to use the Tax 
Revenues for any purpose other than as provided in the Indenture, and not enter into any 
contract or contracts or take any action by which the rights of the Trustee or of the 
Bondholders might be impaired or diminished.  Notwithstanding the above, the 
Commission shall be permitted to incur Subordinated Indebtedness pursuant to the 
provisions of the Indenture. 
 

(d) To keep accurate records of its receipt of Tax Revenues.  Such records 
shall be open to the inspection of the holders of the Bonds and their agents and 
representatives. 
 

(e) To make no investment or other use of the proceeds of 2016 Bonds which 
would cause such Bonds to be “arbitrage bonds” as that term is defined in Section 148 of 
the Code, and all applicable regulations promulgated with respect thereto; to comply with 
the requirements of the Code and applicable regulations promulgated with respect 
thereto; to comply with the requirements of the code and applicable regulations 
throughout the term of the 2016 Bonds; and not to take any action, omit to take any 
action, or permit any other person to take any action or fail to take any action over which 
the Commission has control, which action or inaction would cause the interest on the 
2016 Bonds to be subject to federal income tax to a greater extent than on the date of 
issuance of such Bonds. 

 
Financial Statements; Available Information 
 
 The Commission also covenants in the Indenture, in each Fiscal Year, to cause an annual 
audit to be made of its books and account by an independent certified public accountant of 
recognized by and standing.  Promptly thereafter, reports of such audit shall be filed with the 
Commission and the Trustee, and copies of such reports shall be mailed by the Commission to 
all holders of the Bonds who shall have filed their names and addresses with the Secretary and 
Treasurer of the Commission for such purpose.  Each annual audit report shall set forth in respect 
of the preceding twelve-month period the findings of such certified public accountants whether 
Tax Revenues under the Provision for the Indenture have been applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Indenture.  Such audit reports shall be open to the inspection of the holders of 
the Bonds and their agents and representatives. 
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 The Commission further covenants that it will cause any additional reports or audits to be 
made as required by law and that, as often as may be requested, it will furnish to the Trustee, and 
the holder of any Bond such other information concerning the Tax Revenues as any of them may 
reasonably request and as may be easily provided by the Commission. 
 
Events of Default 
 
 The Indenture provides that each of the following events is declared an “event of 
default”: 
 

(a) payment of the interest on, or principal and premium, if any, of any of the 
Bonds shall not be made when the same shall become due and payable, either at maturity 
or by proceedings for redemption or otherwise provided that the failure to make a 
payment with respect to a Subordinated Bond shall not constitute an event of default with 
respect to Senior Bonds; or 

 
(b) the Commission shall for any reason be rendered incapable of fulfilling its 

obligations under the Indenture, including, without limitation, as a result of its existence 
being terminated or expiring; or 
 

(c) the Commission shall (i) apply for or consent to the appointment of a 
receiver, trustee, liquidator or custodian or the like for it or for all or a substantial part of 
its property, or (ii) admit in writing the inability to pay its debts generally as they become 
due, or (iii) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or (iv) be adjudicated 
a bankrupt or insolvent, or (v) commence a voluntary case under the United States 
Bankruptcy Code or file a voluntary petition or answer seeking reorganization, an 
arrangement with Creditors or an order for relief or seeking to take advantage of any 
insolvency law or file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed 
against it in any bankruptcy reorganization or insolvency proceeding, or action of the 
Commission shall be taken for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing, or (vi) take 
any corporate action or other action to authorize any of the foregoing, or (vii) if without 
the application, approval or consent of the Commission, a proceeding shall be instituted 
in any court of competent jurisdiction, under any law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization or relief of debtors, seeking in respect of the Commission an order for 
relief or an adjudication in bankruptcy, reorganization, dissolution, winding-up or 
liquidation, a composition or arrangement with creditors, a readjustment of debts, the 
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator or custodian or the like of the Commission 
or of all or any substantial part of its assets or other like relief in respect thereof under 
any bankruptcy or insolvency law, and, if such proceeding is being contested by the 
Commission in good faith, the same shall (A) result in the entry of an order for relief or 
any such adjudication or appointment, or (B) remain undismissed and undischarged for a 
period of sixty (60) days; 

 
(d) any proceeding shall be instituted, with the consent or acquiescence of the 

Commission, for the purpose of effecting a compromise between the Commission and its 
creditors or for the purpose of adjusting the claims of such creditors, pursuant to any 
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federal or state statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are under 
any circumstances payable from the Tax Revenues; or 
 

(e) the Commission shall default in the due and punctual performance of any 
other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or 
in the Indenture and such default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice 
specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied shall have been given to the 
Commission by the Trustee, which may give such notice in its discretion and shall give 
such notice at the written request of the holders of not less than ten percent (10%) in 
principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding, provided, however, that if the default 
cannot be remedied within thirty (30) days and the Commission begins to diligently 
proceed in good faith to remedy said default, then said default shall not be deemed to be a 
continuing one if, and so long as, the Commission shall diligently and continuously 
attempt to prosecute the same to completion. 
 

Remedies 
 
 Upon the happening and continuance of any default specified in (a) above with respect to 
the Senior Bonds, then and in every such case the Trustee may, and upon the written request of 
the holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Senior Bonds 
then Outstanding shall, by a notice in writing to the Commission, declare the principal of all of 
the Bonds then outstanding (if not then due and payable) to be due and payable immediately, and 
upon such declaration the same shall become and be immediately due and payable, anything 
contained in the Senior Bonds or in the Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding; provided, 
however, that if at any time after the principal of the Senior Bonds shall have been so declared to 
be due and payable, and before the entry of final judgment or decree in any suit, action or 
proceeding instituted on account of such default, or before the completion of the enforcement of 
any other remedy under the Indenture, moneys shall have accumulated in the Senior Bonds 
Sinking Fund sufficient to pay the principal of all matured Senior Bonds and all arrears of 
interest, if any, upon all the Senior Bonds then outstanding (except the principal of any Senior 
Bonds not then due by their terms and the interest accrued on such Senior Bonds since the last 
interest payment date), and the charges, compensation, expenses, disbursements, advances and 
liabilities of the Trustee, and all other amounts then payable by the Commission hereunder shall 
have been paid or a sum sufficient to pay the same shall have been deposited with the 
appropriate trustee, and every other default known to the Trustee in the observance or 
performance of any covenant, condition or agreement contained in the Senior Bonds or in the 
Indenture (other than a default in the payment of the principal of such Senior Bonds then due 
only because of a declaration under this Section) shall have been remedied to the satisfaction of 
the Trustee, then and in every such case the Trustee may, and upon the written request of the 
holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in the principal amount of the Senior Bonds 
not then due by their terms and then outstanding shall, by written notice to the Commission 
rescind and annul such declaration and its consequences but no such rescission or annulment 
shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair any right consequent thereon.   
 
 Upon the happening and continuance of any event of default specified in the Indenture, 
then and in every such case the Trustee may proceed, and upon the written request of the holders 
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of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding 
shall proceed subject to the Indenture to protect and enforce its rights and the rights of the 
holders of the Bonds under the laws of Pennsylvania or under the Indenture by such suits, actions 
or special proceedings in equity or at law, or by proceedings in the office of any board or officer 
having jurisdiction, either for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained 
in the Indenture or in aid of execution of any power therein granted or for the enforcement of any 
proper legal or equitable remedy, as the Trustee, being advised by counsel, shall deem 
reasonable or necessary to protect and enforce such rights. 
 
 In the enforcement of any remedy under the Indenture, the Trustee shall be entitled to sue 
for, enforce payment of and receive any and all amounts then or during any default becoming, 
and at any time remaining, due from the Commission for principal, interest or otherwise under 
any of the provisions of the Indenture or of the Bonds and unpaid, with interest on overdue 
payments at the rate or rates of interest specified in such Bonds (to the extent that payment of 
such interest is enforceable under applicable law), together with any and all costs and expenses 
of collection and of all proceedings under the Indenture and under such Bonds, without prejudice 
to any other right or remedy of the Trustee or of the holders of the Bonds and to recover and 
enforce judgment or decree against the Commission, but solely as provided herein and in such 
Bonds, for any portion of such amounts remaining unpaid, with interest, costs and expenses, and 
to collect (but solely from moneys available for such purpose) in any manner provided by law, 
the moneys adjudged or decreed to be payable. 
 
Application of Funds:  Senior Bonds 
 
 If at any time the moneys in the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund or the Senior Bonds 
Sinking Fund shall not be sufficient to pay the principal of or the interest on the Senior Bonds or 
an Insured Swap Payment as the same become due and payable (either by their terms or by 
acceleration of maturities under the Indenture), such moneys, together with any moneys then in 
the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund and Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund and any other 
moneys then available or thereafter becoming available for such purpose, whether through the 
exercise of the remedies provided for in the Indenture or otherwise, shall be applied as follows, 
subject to the payment of fees and other amounts owing to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture: 
 

(a) Unless the principal of the Senior Bonds shall have become or shall have 
been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied: 

 
FIRST:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of 

interest then due (including any amount due to the Bond Insurer with respect thereto 
under the terms of the Insurance Agreement and any Insured Swap Payment), in the order 
of the maturity of the installments of such interest, and, if the amount available shall not 
be sufficient to pay in full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, 
according to the amounts due on such installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without 
any discrimination or preference except as to any difference in the respective rates of 
interest specified in the Senior Bonds; 
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SECOND:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal 
of any of the Senior Bonds which shall have become due (other than Senior Bonds called 
for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the provisions of 
the Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest on such Senior Bonds from 
the respective dates upon which they became due, and, if the amount available shall not 
be sufficient to pay in full the principal of Senior Bonds due on any particular date, 
together with such interest then to the payment first of such interest, ratably according to 
the amount of such interest due on such date, and then to the payment of such principal, 
ratably according to the amount of such principal due on such date, to the persons entitled 
thereto without any discrimination or preference; and 

 
THIRD:  to the payment of the interest on and the principal of the Senior Bonds, 

to the purchase and retirement of Senior Bonds and to the redemption of Senior Bonds all 
in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture. 

 
(b) If the principal of all the Senior Bonds shall have become or shall have 

been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the principal 
and interest then due and unpaid upon the Senior Bonds with interest thereon as aforesaid and 
any Insured Swap Payment then due and unpaid without preference or priority of principal, 
interest or Insured Swap Payment over the other, or of any Senior Bond over any other Senior 
Bond, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the persons 
entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference except as to any difference in the 
respective rates of interest specified in the Senior Bonds. 

 
(c) If the principal of all of the Senior Bonds shall have been declared due and 

payable and if such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled as described 
above, then, subject to the provisions of paragraph (b) above, in the event that the principal of all 
the Senior Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, the moneys then 
remaining in and thereafter accruing to the Senior Bonds Debt Service Fund and the Senior 
Bonds Sinking Fund shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (a) above. 

 
Application of Funds:  Subordinated Bonds 
 
 If at any time the moneys in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund or the 
Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund shall not be sufficient to pay the principal of or the interest on 
the Subordinated Bonds as the same become due and payable (either by their terms or by 
acceleration of maturities under the Indenture), such moneys, together with any moneys then in 
the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund and any other moneys then available or thereafter 
becoming available for such purpose, whether through the exercise of the remedies provided for 
in the Indenture or otherwise, shall be applied as follows, subject to the payment of fees and 
other amounts owing, to the Trustee pursuant to the Indenture: 
 

(a) Unless the principal of all the Subordinated Bonds shall have become or 
shall have been declared due and payable, all such moneys shall be applied, subject to the 
application of funds for the Senior Bonds described above: 
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FIRST:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all installments of 
interest then due (including any amount due to the Bond Insurer with respect thereto 
under the terms of the Insurance Agreement), in the order of the maturity of the 
installments of such interest, and, if the amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in 
full any particular installment, then to the payment ratably, according to the amounts due 
on such installment, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or 
preference except as to any difference in the respective rates of interest specified in the 
Subordinated Bonds; 

 
SECOND:  to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the unpaid principal 

of any of the Subordinated Bonds which shall have become due (other than Subordinated 
Bonds called for redemption for the payment of which moneys are held pursuant to the 
provisions of the Indenture), in the order of their due dates, with interest upon such 
Subordinated Bonds from the respective dates upon which they became due, and, if the 
amount available shall not be sufficient to pay in full the principal of Subordinated Bonds 
due on any particular date, together with such interest, then to the payment first of such 
interest, ratably according to the amount of such interest due on such date, and then to the 
payment of such principal, ratably according to the amount of such principal due on such 
date, to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference; and 

 
THIRD:  to the payment of the interest on and the principal of the Subordinated 

Bonds, to the purchase and retirement of Subordinated Bonds and to the redemption of 
Subordinated Bonds, all in accordance with the provisions of the Indenture. 

 
(b) If the principal of all the Subordinated Bonds shall have become or shall 

have been declared due and payable all such moneys shall be applied to the payment of the 
principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Subordinated Bonds, with interest thereon as 
aforesaid, without preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal or 
of any installment of interest over any other installment of interest or of any Subordinated Bond 
over any other Subordinated Bond ratably according to the amounts due respectively for 
principal and interest to the persons entitled thereto without any discrimination or preference 
except as to any difference in the respective rates of interest specified in the Subordinated Bonds. 

 
(c) If the principal of all the Subordinated bonds shall have been declared due 

and payable and if such declaration shall thereafter have been rescinded and annulled as 
described above, then, subject to the provisions of paragraph (b) above, in the event that the 
principal of all the Subordinated Bonds shall later become due or be declared due and payable, 
the moneys then remaining in and thereafter accruing to the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Fund and the Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund and the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service 
Reserve Fund shall be applied in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (a) above. 

 
Holders’ Right to Direct Proceedings 
 
 Subject to rights of the Bond Insurer as set forth in the Indenture, anything in the 
Indenture to the contrary notwithstanding, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the 
Bonds then outstanding with respect to which the event of default has occurred shall have the 
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right, subject to the provisions of the Indenture noted above, by an instrument in writing 
executed and delivered to the Trustee, to direct the method and place of conducting all remedial 
proceedings to be taken by the Trustee hereunder, provided that such direction shall not be 
otherwise than in accordance with law or the provisions of the Indenture, and that the Trustee 
shall have the right to decline to follow any such direction which in the opinion of the Trustee 
would be unjustly prejudicial to any holder of a Bond not a party to such direction.  The Trustee 
may exercise any right to take any other action deemed proper by the Trustee which is not 
inconsistent with such direction. 
 
 No holder of any of the Bonds shall have any right to institute any suit, action or 
proceeding in equity or at law for the execution of any trust under the Indenture or for any other 
remedy thereunder unless such holder previously shall have given to the Trustee written notice of 
the event of default on account of which such suit, action or proceeding is to be instituted, and 
unless also the holders of not less than twenty-five (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then 
outstanding with respect to which the event of default has occurred shall have made written 
request of the Trustee after the right to exercise such powers or right of action, as the case may 
be, shall have accrued, and shall have afforded the Trustee a reasonable opportunity either to 
proceed to exercise the powers hereinabove granted or to institute such action, suit or proceeding 
in its or their name, and unless, also, there shall have been offered to the Trustee reasonable 
security and indemnity against the costs, expenses and liabilities to be incurred therein or 
thereby, and the Trustee shall have refused or neglected to comply with such request within a 
reasonable time; and such notification, request and offer of indemnity are declared in the 
Indenture in every such case, at the option of the Trustee, to be conditions precedent to the 
execution of the powers and trusts of the Indenture or for any other remedy hereunder.  It is 
understood and intended that no one or more holders of the Bonds hereby secured shall have any 
right in any manner whatever by this or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the security of 
the Indenture, or to enforce any right hereunder except in the manner herein provided, and that 
all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained in the manner provided 
in the Indenture and for the benefit of all holders of such outstanding Bonds. 
 
Notice of Default 
 
 The Trustee shall mail to the registered owners of the Bonds then outstanding at their 
addresses as they appear on the registration books, written notice of the occurrence of any event 
of default set forth in clause (a) above under “Events of Default” within thirty (30) days after any 
such event of default shall have occurred.  The Trustee shall not, however, be subject to any 
liability to any holder of a Bond by reason of its failure to mail any notice of default required by 
the Indenture. 
 
Supplemental Indentures Without Consent of Holders 
 
 The Commission and the Trustee may, from time to time and at any time, enter into such 
indentures or agreements supplemental to the Indenture as shall not be inconsistent with the 
terms and provisions of the Indenture for any of the following purposes:  (a) to cure any 
ambiguity or formal defect or omission in the Indenture or in any Supplemental Indenture, 
including without limitation defects which would, if not cured, cause the interest on any series of 
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Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes when such interest is not 
to be so includable; (b) grant to or confer upon the Trustee for the benefit of the holders any 
additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or security that may lawfully be granted to or 
conferred upon the holders or the Trustee; (c) to issue Additional Bonds pursuant to the 
Indenture; (d) to obtain, maintain or upgrade the then current rating of the Bonds or to obtain a 
Credit Facility; provided, however, no amendment with respect to obtaining a Credit Facility 
shall grant to the provider of the Credit Facility a lien with respect to the Trust Estate superior to 
that of any holder; (e) to create a common Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund for 
all Subordinated Bonds, provided that each entity which has issued a letter of credit, surety bond 
or bond insurance policy as to any Subordinated Bonds for all or a portion of the Subordinated 
Bonds Debt Service Reserve Fund shall have consented thereto, or (f) to make any other 
amendment which does not materially adversely affect the rights of the Trustee or of the holders. 
 
Supplemental Indentures with Consent of Holders 
 
 Subject to the terms and provisions contained in the Indenture, including the rights of the 
Bond Insurer, and not otherwise, the holders of not less than a majority (more than fifty percent 
(50%)) in aggregate principal amount of the Senior Bonds then outstanding and the holders of 
not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of the Subordinated Bonds then 
outstanding shall have the right, from time to time, anything contained in the Indenture to the 
contrary notwithstanding, to consent to and approve the execution by the Commission and the 
Trustee of such indenture or indentures supplemental to the Indenture as shall be deemed 
necessary or desirable by the Commission for the purpose of modifying, altering, amending, 
adding to or rescinding, in any particular manner, any of the terms or provisions contained in the 
Indenture or in any Supplemental Indenture; provided, however, that nothing in the Indenture 
contained shall permit, or be construed as permitting, (a) an extension of the maturity of the 
principal of or the interest on any Bond issued thereunder, or (b) a reduction in the principal 
amount of any Bond or the redemption premium or the rate of interest thereon, or (c) the creation 
of a lien upon or a pledge of revenues ranking prior to or (except as to Additional Bonds to the 
extent provided in the Indenture) on a parity with the lien or pledge created by the Indenture, or 
(d) a preference or priority of any Senior Bond or Senior Bonds over any other Senior Bond or 
Bonds or any Subordinated Bond or Bonds over any other Subordinated Bond or Bonds, or (e) a 
reduction in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds required for consent to such 
Supplemental Indenture.  Nothing contained in the Indenture, however, shall be construed as 
making necessary the approval by holders of the execution of any Supplemental Indenture or 
agreement described above under “Supplemental Indentures Without Consent of Holders.” 
 
Defeasance 
 
 If, when the Bonds shall have become due and payable in accordance with their terms or 
otherwise as provided in the Indenture or shall have been duly called for redemption or 
irrevocable instructions to call the Bonds for redemption shall have been given by the 
Commission to the Trustee, the whole amount of the principal and interest and the premium, if 
any, so due and payable upon all of the Bonds then outstanding shall be paid or there shall have 
been deposited with the Trustee or the Paying Agent an amount, evidenced by moneys or 
Defeasance Securities, certified by an independent public accounting firm of national reputation 
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to be of such maturities and interest payment dates and to bear such interest as will, without 
further investment or reinvestment of either the principal amount thereof or the interest earnings 
therefrom (likewise to be held in trust and committed, except as hereinafter provided), to be 
sufficient for the payment, at their maturities or redemption dates, of all principal, premium, if 
any, and interest on the Bonds to the date of maturity or redemption, as the case may be, and 
provision shall also be made for paying all other sums payable under the Indenture hereunder by 
the Commission, then and in that case the right, title and interest of the Trustee shall thereupon 
cease, determine and become void, and the Trustee in such case, on demand of the Commission, 
and upon receipt of an Opinion of Counsel stating in substance that all conditions precedent 
provided for in the Indenture relating to defeasance have been satisfied, shall release the 
Indenture and shall execute such documents to evidence such release as may be reasonably 
required by the Commission, and shall turn over to the Commission or to such officer, board or 
body as may then be entitled by law to receive the same any surplus in any funds or accounts 
other than moneys held in the Rebate Fund or for redemption or payment of Bonds. 
 
 The Indenture provides that in the event that the principal and/or interest due on Bonds 
shall be paid by the Bond Insurer pursuant to a Bond Insurance Policy, such Bonds shall remain 
outstanding for all purposes, not be defeased or otherwise satisfied and not be considered paid by 
the Commission, and the assignment and pledge of the Trust Estate and all covenants agreements 
and other obligations of the Commission to the registered owners of such Bonds shall continue to 
exist and shall run to the benefit of the Bond Insurer, and the Bond Insurer shall be subrogated to 
the rights of such registered owners. 
 
 If the Commission deposits with the Trustee Defeasance Securities sufficient to pay the 
principal or redemption price of any particular Bond or Bonds becoming due, either at maturity 
or by call for redemption or otherwise, together with all interest accruing thereon to the due date, 
interest on such Bond or Bonds shall cease to accrue on the due date and all liability of the 
Commission with respect to such Bond or Bonds shall cease.  Thereafter, such Bond or Bonds 
shall be deemed not to be outstanding under the Indenture and the holder or holders of such 
Bond or Bonds shall be restricted exclusively to the funds so deposited for any claim of 
whatsoever nature with respect to such Bond or Bonds, and the Trustee shall hold such funds in 
trust for such holder or holders. 
 
Subordination 
 
 The Subordinated Bonds shall be subordinate and junior in lien position and right of 
payment to the extent and in the manner hereinafter set forth, to all principal of, premium, if any, 
and interest on the Senior Bonds. 
 

(a) No payment on account of principal of and premium, if any, or interest on 
such Subordinated Bonds shall be made from the Tax Revenues or any amounts in the 
Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund or Subordinated Bonds Sinking Fund, nor shall any Tax 
Revenues be applied to the purchase or other acquisition or retirement of such Subordinated 
Bonds, unless full payment of amounts due and payable on or prior to such payment date, 
whether at maturity, by acceleration or otherwise, for principal of and premium, if any, and 
interest on all Senior Bonds has been made or duly provided for in accordance with the terms of 



 

 C-33 
 

the Indenture.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, no payment on account of principal of and 
premium, if any, or interest on such Subordinated Bonds shall be made from the Tax Revenues, 
nor shall any Tax Revenues be applied to the purchase or other acquisition or retirement of such 
Subordinated Bonds if at the time of such payment or application or immediately after giving 
effect thereto, there shall exist a default in the payment of principal of, and premium, if any, or 
interest on any Senior Bonds. 

 
(b) Upon any dissolution or winding up or total or partial liquidation, 

reorganization or arrangement of the Commission, whether voluntary or involuntary or in 
bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other proceedings, all principal of, premium, if any, and 
interest due or to become due upon all Senior Bonds shall first be paid in full, or payment thereof 
provided for in accordance with the terms of the Senior Bonds, and any deficiency in any fund 
created under the Indenture has been satisfied, before any payment from the Tax Revenues is 
made on account of the Subordinated Bonds.  In the event that, notwithstanding the foregoing 
provisions, any holder of Subordinated Bonds shall have received any payment or distribution of 
Tax Revenues or any amounts in the Subordinated Bonds Debt Service Fund or the Subordinated 
Bonds Sinking Funds, including any such payment or distribution which may be payable or 
deliverable by reason of the payment of the Subordinated Bonds (a “Distribution”), if there exists 
a default in the payment of principal of, premium, if any, or interest on any Senior Bonds at the 
time of the Distribution then and in such event such Distribution shall be received and held in 
trust for the holders of the Senior Bonds and shall be paid over or delivered forthwith to the 
Trustee for the benefit of the holders of the Senior Bonds to the extent necessary to pay all such 
Senior Bonds in full after giving effect to any payment or distribution made to the holders of 
such Senior Bonds concurrently with the Distribution made to such holder of Subordinated 
Bonds. 

 
(c) The provisions of (a) and (b) above are solely for the purpose of defining 

the relative rights of the Senior Bonds and the holders of Subordinated Bonds, and nothing 
herein shall impair, as between the Commission and the holders of the Subordinated Bonds the 
obligation of the Commission which is unconditional and absolute subject to the provisions of 
the Indenture to pay to the holders thereof the principal thereof and premium if any and interest 
thereon in accordance with its terms, nor shall anything therein prevent the holders of the 
Subordinated Bonds from exercising all remedies otherwise permitted by applicable law or upon 
default thereunder subject to the rights under (a) and (b) above of the Senior Bonds, as the case 
may be, to receive cash, property or securities otherwise payable or deliverable to the holders of 
the Subordinated Bonds. 

 
Rights of the Bond Insurer 
 
 The Second Supplemental Indenture, Third Supplemental Indenture and Fifth 
Supplemental Indenture contain a number of provisions required by the Bond Insurer.  Such 
provisions, among other things, grant the Bond Insurer the right to receive notices of certain 
events and other information, the right to consent to certain actions, acceleration rights, impose 
requirements for Permitted Investments, valuation, trustee related provisions, defeasance, the 
right to control certain remedies granted to the Owners of the 2003 Bonds, the 2006 Bonds or the 
2009A Bonds, as applicable, or the Trustee for the benefit of such Owner, and recognition as a 
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third-party beneficiary thereunder.  For the purposes of exercising certain voting rights under the 
Indenture, National Public Finance Guarantee shall be deemed to be the Owner of the 2003 
Bonds, Ambac Assurance Corporation shall be deemed to be the Owner of the 2006 Bonds, and 
Assured Guaranty Corp. shall be deemed the Owner of the 2009A Bonds.  However, following 
the issuance of the 2016 Bonds, the 2003 Bonds and the 2006 Bonds will no longer be 
outstanding.  
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The proposed form of the legal opinions of Obermayer Rebmann Maxwell and Hippel LLP and 
Houston Harbaugh, P.C., Co-Bond Counsel, is set forth below.  The actual opinions will be 
delivered on the date of delivery of the bonds referred to therein and may vary from the form to 
reflect circumstances both factual and legal at the time of delivery.  

 
 

September 7, 2016 
 

Re: Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission 
 $198,595,000 Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2016 
 $115,395,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series B of 2016 
 
To the Purchasers of the Bonds: 
 
 We have acted as Co-Bond Counsel to the Pennsylvania Turnpike Commission (the 
“Commission”) in connection with the issuance by the Commission of its $198,595,000 Oil 
Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series A of 2016 (the “2016A Bonds”) and its 
$115,395,000 Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series B of 2016 (the 
“2016B Bonds” and together with the 2016A Bonds, the “2016 Bonds”).  The 2016 Bonds are 
issued under and pursuant to an Act of the General Assembly of Pennsylvania approved July 18, 
2007, P.L. 169, No. 44 (“Act 44”); an Act of the General Assembly of Pennsylvania approved on 
November 25, 2013, No. 2013-89 (“Act 89”); and various Acts of the General Assembly 
approved on several dates, including the Act of May 21, 1937, P.L. 774; the Act of May 24, 
1945, P.L. 972l; the Act of February 26, 1947, P.L. 17; the Act of May 23, 1951, P.L. 335; the 
Act of August 14, 1951, P.L. 1232; and the Act of September 30, 1985, P.L. 240 to the extent not 
repealed by Act 44 (collectively with Act 44 and Act 89, the “Enabling Acts”),  resolutions of 
the Commission adopted on June 21, 2016 (collectively, the “Resolutions”), and pursuant to and 
under a Trust Indenture dated as of August 1, 1998, between the Commission and The Bank of 
New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as successor trustee, as amended and supplemented 
prior to the date hereof (the “Original Indenture”), and as further supplemented by the Seventh 
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 2016 (the “Seventh Supplemental 
Indenture,” and together with the Original Indenture, the “Indenture”).  Capitalized terms used 
and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Indenture. 
 
 The 2016 Bonds are fixed rate bonds dated their date of delivery and will bear interest 
from such date at the rates, and mature in the amounts and on the dates, as set forth in the 
Official Statement of the Commission related to the 2016 Bonds.  The 2016 Bonds will be issued 
only as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.  The 
2016 Bonds are subject to mandatory and optional redemption prior to maturity as more fully 
described in the Official Statement. 
 
 The 2016 Bonds are secured by a pledge of the “oil company franchise tax for highway 
maintenance and construction” pursuant to 75 Pa. C.S.A. Chap. 95 (the “OFT Act”) which is 
allocated to the Commission pursuant to 75 Pa. C.S.A. §9511(h) (the “Commission Allocation”). 
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 The 2016A Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current 
refunding of a portion of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue 
Bonds, Series A of 2006, currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 
$66,025,000; (ii) the advance refunding of all of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax 
Senior Revenue Bonds, Series C of 2003, currently outstanding in the aggregate principal 
amount of $160,000,000; (iii) the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission’s 
outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Senior Revenue Bonds, Series A-2 of 2009, currently outstanding 
in the principal amount of $2,120,000; and (iv) issuing the 2016A Bonds. 
 
 The 2016B Bonds are being issued to provide funds to finance the costs of (i) the current 
refunding of all of the Commission's outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue 
Bonds, Series B of 2003, currently outstanding in the principal amount of $16,440,000; (ii) the 
current refunding of a portion of the Commission’s outstanding Oil Franchise Tax Subordinated 
Revenue Bonds, Series B of 2006, currently outstanding in the principal amount of 
$122,205,000; (iii) the advance refunding of a portion of the Commission’s outstanding Oil 
Franchise Tax Subordinated Revenue Bonds, Series D-2 of 2009 currently outstanding in the 
principal amount of $860,000; and (iv) issuing the 2016B Bonds.   
 
 We have examined the proceedings relating to the authorization and issuance of the 2016 
Bonds, including, among other things: (a) the Enabling Acts and the OFT Act; (b) a certified 
copy of the Resolutions; (c) an executed copy of the Indenture; (d) the respective forms of the 
2016 Bonds; (e) various certificates executed by the Commission and/or the Trustee including 
certificates as to the authentication and delivery of the 2016 Bonds and a certificate with regard 
to Sections 103 and 141 through 150 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the 
“Code”); (f) the opinion of Doreen A. McCall, Esquire, Chief Counsel to the Commission with 
respect to the 2016 Bonds, on which we have relied; (g) the Form 8038-G of the Commission 
with respect to the 2016 Bonds; and (h) such constitutional and statutory provisions and such 
other resolutions, certificates, instruments and documents as we have deemed necessary or 
appropriate in order to enable us to render an informed opinion as to matters set forth herein. 
 
 In rendering our opinion, we have assumed the genuineness of all signatures (other than 
those of the Commission), the authenticity of all documents submitted to us as originals, the 
conformity to the original documents of all documents submitted to us as copies and the 
authenticity of certificates of public officials.  As to any facts material to our opinion, we have 
assumed the validity of and have not undertaken to verify the factual matters set forth in such 
agreements, certificates and other documents by independent investigation, and we have relied 
on the covenants, warranties and representations made by the Commission and the Trustee in 
such certificates and in the Indenture.  We have also assumed that the documents referred to 
herein have been duly authorized by all parties thereto other than the Commission and are, where 
appropriate, legally binding obligations of, and enforceable in accordance with their terms 
against, all such other parties. 
 
 Based upon and subject to the foregoing and the additional assumptions, qualifications 
and limitations set forth below, we are of the opinion that: 
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 1.   The Commission is a body corporate and politic, is validly existing under the laws 
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (the “Commonwealth”) and has the corporate power to 
execute and deliver the Seventh Supplemental Indenture, to carry out its obligations thereunder 
and to issue and deliver the 2016 Bonds. 
 
 2.   The 2016 Bonds have been duly and validly authorized, executed, issued and 
delivered by the Commission, are valid and binding limited obligations of the Commission, 
payable as to principal, interest, and all other obligations thereunder solely from and enforceable 
only against the revenues and receipts derived from the Trust Estate and any other properties and 
rights assigned or pledged under the Indenture as security for the debt evidenced by the 2016 
Bonds, except as such enforcement may be limited by laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and 
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
a proceeding in equity or at law) and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. 
 
 3. The Seventh Supplemental Indenture has been duly authorized, executed and 
delivered by the Commission and is enforceable against the Commission in accordance with its 
terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by laws relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, arrangement, moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and 
subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in 
a proceeding in equity or at law) and to the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases. 
 
 4. The Indenture creates the valid pledge of and security interest in the Trust Estate 
(as defined therein) as it purports to create. 
 
 5. Pursuant to the OFT Act, the Commission Allocation has been appropriated by 
the Commonwealth and the payment of the Commission Allocation to the Commission by the 
Commonwealth does not require any further legislative appropriation or approval. 
 
 6. Under existing laws of the Commonwealth, the interest on the 2016 Bonds is free 
from Pennsylvania personal income taxation and Pennsylvania corporate net income taxation, 
but such exemption does not extend to gift, estate, succession or inheritance taxes or any other 
taxes not levied or assessed directly on the 2016 Bonds or the interest thereon.   
 
 7. Interest on the 2016 Bonds is excluded from gross income for purposes of federal 
income taxation under existing statutes, regulations, rulings and court decisions.  The opinion set 
forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the Commission complies with all 
applicable federal income tax law requirements that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance 
of the 2016 Bonds in order that interest thereon continues to be excluded from gross income for 
purposes of federal income taxation.  The Commission has covenanted to comply with all such 
requirements.  Failure to comply with certain of such requirements could cause the interest on 
the 2016 Bonds to be includable in gross income retroactive to the date of issuance of the 2016 
Bonds.  Interest on the 2016 Bonds is not treated as an item of tax preference under Section 57 of 
the Code for purposes of the individual and corporate alternative minimum taxes; however, we 
call to your attention that under the Code, to the extent that interest on the 2016 Bonds is a 
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component of a corporate holder’s “adjusted current earnings,” a portion of that interest may be 
subject to the corporate alternative minimum tax.  We express no opinion regarding any other 
federal tax consequences relating to the 2016 Bonds or the receipt of interest thereon. 
 
 We express no opinion herein as to any matter not set forth in the numbered sections 
above, including, without limitation, with respect to, and assume no responsibility for, the 
accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Preliminary Official Statement or Official Statement 
prepared in connection with the 2016 Bonds, including the appendices thereto, and make no 
representation that we have independently verified the contents thereof. 
 
 We call to your attention that the 2016 Bonds do not pledge the general credit or taxing 
power of the Commonwealth or any political subdivision, agency or instrumentality of the 
Commonwealth, nor shall the Commonwealth or any political subdivision, agency or 
instrumentality thereof be liable for the payment of the principal of or interest on the 2016 Bonds 
(other than the Commission, to the limited extent described in the Indenture). 
 
 These opinions are rendered on the basis of federal law and the laws of the 
Commonwealth as enacted and construed on the date hereof. 
 
 The opinions set forth herein are given solely as of the date hereof, and we do not 
undertake to update or supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may 
hereafter come to our attention or any changes in law that may hereafter occur.  This opinion is 
rendered and may be relied upon solely in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby 
and may not be relied upon for any other purpose.   
 
     Very truly yours, 
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